

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2017

African American Males' Lived Experiences of Fathering Following Incarceration

Sherece Shavel Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations Part of the <u>African American Studies Commons</u>, and the <u>Family, Life Course, and Society</u> <u>Commons</u>

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Social and Behavioral Sciences

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Sherece Shavel

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Andrew Garland-Forshee, Committee Chairperson, Human Services Faculty Dr. Stacee Reicherzer, Committee Member, Human Services Faculty Dr. Dorothy Scotten, University Reviewer, Human Services Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer Eric Riedel, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2017

Abstract

African American Males' Lived Experiences of Fathering Following Incarceration

by

Sherece Shavel

MSW, Rutgers, the State University of New Jersey, 2004

BA, Seton Hall University, 2000

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Human Services

Walden University

May 2017

Abstract

In the United States, African American fathers are incarcerated at a disproportionate rate and have a poor prognosis of success. Although researchers have considered how crime, paternal abuse, poverty, and social disparities have affected African Americans, they have not adequately studied how formerly incarcerated African American fathers experience parenting. The purpose of this qualitative transcendental phenomenological study was to bridge this gap in knowledge by exploring the parenting experiences of formerly incarcerated African American fathers on parole. The research question focused on the parenting experiences of African American fathers obligated to mandatory supervision following an incarceration. A criterion-based sample of 9 African American fathers from the Midwestern region of the United States completed 2 in-depth interviews. Interviews were analyzed using phenomenological techniques, resulting in 9 central themes focused on social objectification, survival, change, the agency of fatherhood, and parent-child relations. Despite difficulties and challenges, the quality of the fathers' lives hinged on the quality of their relationship with their children. The findings and recommendations from this study may advance positive social change by stimulating and guiding the efforts of human service practitioners working to develop culturally relevant interventions, and raising the awareness of advocates working to influence legislators toward comprehensive policy reform. The application of this study's findings may provoke community members to strengthen their support for African American fathers returning to the community following incarceration.

African American Males' Lived Experiences of Fathering Following Incarceration

by

Sherece Shavel

MSW, Rutgers, the State University of New Jersey, 2004

BA, Seton Hall University, 2000

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Human Services

Walden University

May 2017

Dedication

I dedicate this dissertation to the two women that lived to be my life's inspiration. To my late mother, Catherine Ann Adams, thank you for teaching me how to courageously persevere through the many challenges in life. You showed your strength and helped me spread my wings to fly, thank you! You are the reason I can live each day purposely optimistic. To my late grandmother, Mountrey Moore, thank you for believing in me and guiding me down the road of success. You taught me how to live fearless and modeled the value of lifelong learning, thank you!

Acknowledgments

This endeavor was nothing less than life changing. I could not have completed this journey without the unwavering help from my Lord and savior Jesus Christ. You have showed yourself strong in my life while I travelled this road. You have satisfied my confidence in you and continue to quench the longing in my soul for more. There really are no words I can say to adequately express my love and appreciation for you being ever present with extraordinary strength, peace, and wisdom.

To Dr. Andrew Garland-Forshee (Chair & Content Expert), Dr. Stacee Reicherzer (Methodologist), and Dr. Dorothy Scotten (University Research Reviewer) – thank you for keeping a standard of quality and excellence throughout this entire journey. Your support and commitment to me will never be forgotten. Because of you, I am ready to pay it forward by leading and encouraging any student beginning their journey on the doctoral road to success.

To my family, friends, and neighbors – thank you for being my cheerleaders and keeping me accountable every step of the way.

To all the personnel at the local public libraries, police stations, community settings, and Kansas Department of Corrections offices I encountered for this study – thank you for supporting me by offering space within your environment to advertise, pursue, and accomplish my research objective.

To the men whose lives are reflected in this report – thank you for generously giving your time and energy to share your life story with me. All the best to each of you!

List of Tables	vi
Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study	1
Background	4
Problem Statement	8
Purpose of the Study	11
Research Question	13
Theoretical Framework for the Study	13
Nature of the Study	15
Definitions	18
Assumptions	21
Scope and Delimitations	26
Limitations	28
Significance	30
Implications for Social Change	
Summary	34
Chapter 2: Literature Review	37
Introduction	37
Literature Search Strategy	37
Theoretical Foundation	
Literature Review	52
Conceptualization of Fathering	

Table of Contents

Altered Fathering Across Time	55
Roles and Patterns of Fathering	58
Fathering and the Leverage of Criminal Justice	64
Contemplating African American Fathering	88
Summary	115
Chapter 3: Research Method	118
Introduction	118
Research Design and Rationale	118
Role of the Researcher	123
Methodology	127
Participant Selection Logic	128
Data Collection	139
Data Analysis and Interpretation	150
Issues of Trustworthiness	157
Credibility	159
Transferability	160
Dependability	162
Confirmability	164
Ethical Concerns and Procedures	166
Summary	170
Chapter 4: Results	171
Introduction	171

Setting	172
Demographics	172
Participant 1: Jeffrey	176
Participant 2: Micah	176
Participant 3: Willie	177
Participant 4: Richard	177
Participant 5: Darrin	178
Participant 6: Timothy	178
Participant 7: Harold	179
Participant 8: Corey	180
Participant 9: Jason	180
Data Collection, Management, Storage	181
Achieving Data Analysis	184
Evidence of Trustworthiness	187
Credibility	187
Transferability	188
Dependability	190
Confirmability	190
Presentation of Findings	192
Identity and Role	193
Fathers in Action	208
Living Beyond Day 30	234

Summary	244
Chapter 5: Discussion, Recommendations, and Conclusion	247
Introduction	247
Interpretation of the Findings	
Theme 1: A Father at the Crossroad	
Theme 2: Surviving on the Edge	
Theme 3: By the WayI've Changed	
Theme 4: It's Been Too Long Without You	
Theme 5: It Hurt Me but Helped Us	
Theme 6: I'm the Father	
Theme 7: It's Father Time	
Theme 8: No Family No Life	
Theme 9: A Work in Progress	
Limitations of the Study	273
Recommendations	276
Implications	278
Reflections and Conclusion	
References	
Appendix A: Research Announcement Flyer	
Appendix B: Participant Eligibility Form	
Appendix C: Participant Information Sheet	
Appendix D: Safety Protocol	

Appendix E: Interview Protocol	
--------------------------------	--

List of Tables

Table 1. Participant Demographic Variables	174
Table 2. Parental-Related Characteristics of Participants	175
Table 3. Central Themes from Clusters of Experience	194
Table 4. Participants' Estimated Total Quality Time Spent With Children per Week	227
Table 5. Participants' Expressed Dreams as Fathers on Parole	243

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

The penalty of imprisonment often introduces the consequence of community supervision that makes reintegration a rigorous activity. For formerly incarcerated fathers, the community reintegration process is particularly difficult because it involves recovery from prison and adaptation to former roles held in the family (Ramirez-Barrett et al., 2006; Herman-Stahl, Kan, & McKay, 2008; Marlow & Chesla, 2009; Miller & Spillane, 2012; Visher & Travis, 2011). The challenge of performing the acivities of supervision and reintegration while reuniting with familty presents a conflict that many formerly incarcerated fathers experience upon return to the community.

Another challenge that formerly incarcerated fathers face is the need to confront the social expectation to perform patterns of behavior associated with the identity and role of father. Researchers purport that formerly incarcerated fathers face challenges related to their identity and role because of socialized perceptions on parenting (Griswold & Pearson, 2005; Jeffries, Mehghraj, & Hairston, 2001; Kenemore & Roldan, 2006; Schneider, 2002), the influence of stigma associated with race/ethnicity (Levy-Pounds, 2013; Pieterse & Carter, 2007; Welch, 2007; Williams & Williams-Morris, 2000), the influence of stigma associated with incarceration and criminal justice involvement (Levy-Pounds, 2013; Miller & Spillane, 2012; Turney, 2014; Welch, 2007), and the process of community reintegration (Hirsch, Dietrich, Landau, Schneider, & Ackelsberg, 2002; Martinez, 2010; Pearson & Davis, 2003; Schneider, 2002; Visher & O'Connell, 2012). Yet, embracing the identity and role of father has been shown to counteract recidivism (Martinez, 2009). Researchers have found evidence confirming that family reunification and restoration are primary factors in the reduction of recidivism for males reintegrating into society (CCJ, 2006; Kenemore & Roldan, 2006; LaVigne, Naser, Brooks, & Castro, 2005; Naser & LaVigne, 2006; Petersilia, 2005). The active presence and mutual connection of family is necessary to improve the success of these fathers post incarceration.

Formerly incarcerated fathers are also challenged by reports of an unfavorable attitude and opinion toward criminal justice involved fathers in cases throughout the United States. The practical operation and effect of legal statutes like the Adoption and Safe Families Act of 1997 seemingly acquiesce to a negative or low regard for fathers with current and previous criminal history (Schirmer, Nellis, & Mauer, 2009). For example, the Supreme Court of New Jersey determined a ruling against the NJ Division of Youth and Family Services who sought to terminate the parental rights of a father on account of his extended period of incarceration (DYFS v. R.G. and J.G., 2014). Having the need to live through experiences affecting paternal identity and function escalates the difficulty formerly incarcerated fathers endure because of reintegration which reduces the likelihood of success after incarceration.

In the year 2006, public concern on the matter of parenting related to incarcerated and formerly incarcerated fathers experienced a boost in interest (Herman-Stahl, Kan, & McKay, 2008; McKay, Corwin, Herman-Stahl, Lindquist, Smiley-McDonald, & Siegel, 2010). The national appeal by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the National Responsible Fatherhood Clearinghouse, the Oklahoma Marriage Initiative (Dion, Silman, Strong, & Santos, 2009), and other approaches alike encouraged increased participation by human service professionals to address the identified concerns of incarcerated and formerly incarcerated fathers. Despite the increased interest, more community support is needed to realize an ongoing operation of accessible resources for fathers connected to the criminal justice system.

With scholarship and legislative attention seemingly focused primarily on the parenting needs and challenges of the maternal counterpart (Crowley, 2009; Dowd, 2012; Mason, 2012; O'Donnell, 2010), putting forth efforts to understand and respond to the parenting needs and challenges of formerly incarcerated fathers is essential (Jeffries, Mehghraj, & Hairston, 2001). I decided to focus my research on formerly incarcerated African American fathers parenting minor children because researchers have found that the impact of father absence is more severe among African Americans (Herman-Stahl et al., 2008; Perry & Bright, 2012; Western & Wildeman, 2009; Wildeman, 2014; Wildeman & Western, 2010; Woldoff & Washington, 2008). I decided to focus specifically on African American fathers who have been required to participate in community supervision because I could find no literature concerning these fathers lived experience. My research findings may provide insight to legislators, practitioners, and advocates about relevant interventions that would support current initiatives to advance father engagement among formerly incarcerated African American fathers under community supervision.

In this chapter, I present a summary of the applicable research literature and a statement about the research problem. I define the key concepts and terms, outline

boundaries of the study, and present potential contributions and implications for positive social change.

Background

Formerly incarcerated fathers receive minimal attention, but are an important population within the United States. Upon returning to the community, formerly incarcerated fathers have a high probability of being unemployed (Harris & Keller, 2005; Harrison & Schehr, 2004), in debt (Griswold & Pearson, 2005; Huang Mincy, & Garfinkel, 2005; Roberts, 2001; Sachs, 2000), and estranged from family (Naser & Visher, 2006; Schneider, 2002). They often battle health concerns (Cuddeback, Scheyett, Pettus-Davis, & Morrissey, 2010; Fazel & Baillargeon, 2010; Hammett, 2006; Kenemore & Roldan, 2006), low self-esteem, fear, social stigma, and discrimination (Turney, Lee, & Comfort, 2013; Woldoff & Washington, 2008). Having a previous history of incarceration complicates the challenge of reintegration prompting an urgent need for many fathers to establish familial connection post incarceration (Dyer, 2005; Tripp, 2001). Family reunification and preservation for formerly incarcerated fathers may ensure subsistence and the completion of court-related mandates while under community supervision (Travis & Stacey, 2010). The impetus to understand the needs of formerly incarcerated fathers is expanding. However, employment, housing, education, and recidivism seem to overshadow the need to invest concentrated effort to explore beyond these fundamental community adjustment concerns.

Apart from the need to adjust to life in the community, formerly incarcerated fathers bear the effect criminal justice involvement has on the quality of relationship they

have with their children. The research conducted by LaVigne, Naser, Brooks, and Castro (2005) found that the parent-child relationship can deteriorate due to incarceration. Dyer (2005) found that various interruptions, such as incarceration and court appointed mandates after incarceration, impact the extent to which fathers become engaged with their children. Interruptions of this kind have been noted to alter or sway the opinions fathers adopt about themselves (Dyer, 2005; Tripp, 2001). Regardless of self-perception, formerly incarcerated fathers have a duty to nurture the parent-child relationship. The awareness of incarceration by the child may stifle efforts to actively participate in rearing responsibilities irrespective of the fathers' legal custody status.

Assuming a parental role can help formerly incarcerated fathers to become contributing members of the family unit and productive members of the community (Herman-Stahl et al., 2008; Martinez, 2010). Parenting helps to develop and improve participation in everyday household activities that sustain survival and enriche the quality of life for family members. These activities may include preparing meals, taking children to school, assisting with homework, purchasing clothes and shoes, looking after child in the absence of their mother, and other duties that are commonly known as parental responsibility (Jones & Mosher, 2013; Threlfall, Seay, & Kohl, 2013). Formerly incarcerated fathers who are actively involved in parenting activities can become a valuable resource on behalf of their child (i.e., expand connections of support within the community) (Doyle et al., 2015; Threlfall, Seay, & Kohl, 2013). Regardless of their history of criminal offense, formerly incarcerated fathers are endowed with influence and authority as a parent (Coles, 2009; Leap, 2015). No other function or role in the home or community compares to the unique nature of being a father (Adamsons & Palkovitz, 2014).

Advocates for child welfare and maternal rights argue that fathers, both incarcerated and free, must be responsible for the sustained well-being of their children. They insist that fathers make continuous monetary contributions suitable for legal enforcement (Burghes, 1991; Freeman, & Waldfogel, 1998; Nepomnyaschy & Garfinkel, 2010; Roberts, 2001; Thatcher, 1990). A formerly incarcerated fathers' inability to provide care through monetary means is minimally considered. The requirement to pay is also held by the same standard as mandatory fines and retributions as determined by the criminal court (Roberts, 2001; Schneider, 2002; Travis & Stacey, 2010).

Pearson and Davis (2003) concluded that child support laws obstruct the parentchild relationship. The capacity and ability for formerly incarcerated fathers to become actively involved in the lives of their children may be weakened because they need to meet child support orders while readjusting to life in the community (Dyer, 2005; Pearson & Davis, 2003). Deliberate and habitual avoidance to connect with children by fathers managing challenges of community reintegration after incarceration is likely, and perhaps a contradiction since family support is a means to combat recidivism (CCJ, 2006; Kenemore & Roldan, 2006).

The common intervention of community supervision may inadvertently lessen parental involvement due to legally imposed demands on fathers (Scott-Hayward, 2011). Generally, court-mandated community supervision is in the form of probation or parole participation involving regular reporting (meeting with probation or parole officers) and drug testing. Failure to comply may lead to additional conditions, increase in time under community control, and even reincarceration (CCJ, 2006; Klingele, 2013). Either of these responses may impede the parent-child relationship especially if parental involvement was a challenge prior to incarceration (Snyder, Wormer, Chadha, & Jaggers, 2009).

Reentry efforts that fall under mandatory court-regulated supervision often include social service programming (i.e., parenting and job skills training) professing to reform the targeted individual and ease acclimation over the course of a designated period of time (Geither, 2012). Regular participation in program activities is often interpreted as evidence of success in achieving reentry (Gideon, 2009; Travis III & Stacey, 2010). The evidence regarding who is most likely to benefit from social service programming or what effects such programming may have is lacking (Listwan, Cullen, & Latessa, 2006).

Formerly incarcerated fathers face a variety of obstacles that affect their reintegration experience. Although I conducted an extensive review of the literature pertaining to formerly incarcerated African American fathers, I could not find research on the lived experience of formerly incarcerated African American fathers parenting minor children while under mandatory community supervision. Gaining a deeper understanding of the parenting experience for formerly incarcerated African American fathers may help foster their success in the reintegration process, and achieve a workable balance regarding supervision and parenting.

Problem Statement

The challenges associated with community reintegration have a culture-specific effect on the reintegration experience of formerly incarcerated individuals and their probability for post incarceration success. The challenges and the impact of community reintegration for African American males is perceived to be worse than other groups (Herman-Stahl et al. 2008; Perry & Bright, 2012; Western & Wildeman, 2009; Wildeman & Western, 2010; Woldoff & Washington, 2008), and the prognosis is poor for post incarceration success (Dyer, 2005; Kenemore & Roldan, 2006; Nelson, Deess, & Allen, 2011; Tripp, 2001; Woldoff & Washington, 2008). Restrictions in and interruptions to the process of community reintegration may influence the level and quality of parental involvement (Edin, Nelson, & Paranal, 2001; Western & Wildeman, 2009; Woldoff & Washington, 2008). They may also influence one's perception of self in performing the father role (Dyer, 2005; Perry & Bright, 2012; Tripp, 2001; Woldoff & Washington, 2008).

Any disruption to the community reintegration process may have a direct impact on family dynamics, stability, reunification, and restoration (Dyer, 2005; Kenemore, & Roldan, 2006; Lamb & Lewis, 2010; McRae, 2009; Pleck, 2010). Because father absence is a grave concern within the African American community (Herman-Stahl, Kan, & McKay, 2008; Perry & Bright, 2012; Western & Wildeman, 2009; Wildeman, 2014; Wildeman & Western, 2010; Woldoff & Washington, 2008), strengthening the relationship between parents and children is essential following incarceration. The parent-child connection is valuable for encouraging and positioning formerly incarcerated fathers to experience a positive process of community reintegration (Nunez-Neto, 2008). It is also important for improving the quality of life experience for these children (Roberts, Coakley, Washington, & Kelley, 2014; Zhang & Fuller, 2012).

After an extensive search of the literature, I was unable to find studies whose authors specifically examined the lived experience of African American fathers following an incarceration with conditions of community supervision. However, I identified research involving African American males including African American fathers. I found studies involving African American males typically focused on incarcerated African American fathers (Arditti, Smock, & Parkman, 2005; Naser & Visher, 2006; Reid, 2011; Tripp, 2001), African American fathers with criminal justice history but who were not under supervision (Rocha, 2014; Roy, 2006; Roy & Dyson, 2010; Shivy, Wu, Moon, Mann, Holland, & Eacho, 2007; Wilkinson, Magora, Garcia, & Khurana, 2009), noncriminal justice involved African American fathers (Fagan & Stevenson, 2002; Ives, Draper, Pattison, & Williams, 2008; Jones, 2010), African American fathers and the maternal counterpart (Edin, Tach, & Mincy, 2009; Hohmann-Marriott, 2008; Turney & Wildeman, 2013), African American fathers and their children (Caldwell, Rafferty, Reischl, Loney, & Brooks, 2010; Morman & Floyd, 2006), African American men as social fathers (Letiecq, 2007), formerly incarcerated African American men (Miller & Spillane, 2012), and African American men in society (Dowden, Gunby, Warren, & Boston, 2014; Doyle, Pecukonis, & Lindsey, 2013).

The research I identified explored critical subjects including reintegration, disenfranchisement, parenting skills, the birth of a child, role performance, self-identity, perceptions by children, education, employment, and other relevant concerns. The problem I have with the research that was identified is generally related to the participant sample and research focus. For instance, African American fathers may be included in research with fathers of other ethnicities (Turney & Wildeman, 2013; Visher, Bakken, & Gunter, 2013), or the research purpose was to explore the effect of incarceration (LaVigne, Naser, Brooks, & Castro, 2005). Although the identified research has purpose and relevance, the absence of scholarship attending to the lived experience of parenting for formerly incarcerated African American fathers while participating in community supervision is problematic. Researchers have concluded that post incarceration challenges are worse for African American men compared to other groups, and their probability of success is poor. For this reason, more scholarship is needed on the experience of formerly incarcerated African American fathers obligated to community supervision.

Expanding present knowledge related to the parenting experience of formerly incarcerated African American fathers is desirable and may be advantageous in reducing recidivism, father absence, family instability, and the keeping of destructive social barriers. Without an understanding of this experience, pessimistic views toward formerly incarcerated African American fathers and their ability to effectively function in the parenting role (Roy & Dyson, 2010; Schirmer, Nellis, & Mauer, 2009; Uggen, Manza, & Thompson, 2006) may remain despite current social initiatives promoting a heightened level of paternal engagement (Dion, Silman, Strong, & Santos, 2009; Peterson, Fontaine, Kurs, & Cramer, 2015).

Purpose of the Study

The available evidence related to persons with a history of incarceration reveals that there is an unfavorable effect of incarceration on the family relationship (Arditti, Smock, & Parkman, 2005; Kenemore & Roldan, 2006; La Vigne, Naser, Brooks, & Castro, 2005; Naser & Visher, 2006; Turney & Wildeman, 2013; Woldoff & Washington, 2008) in addition to the prospect of post incarceration success being adversely calculated. The need to learn about the unique experiences of African American fathers assuming a parental role has been identified in the research efforts of present day scholars (Dyer, 2005; Kenemore & Roldan, 2006; Nelson, Deess, & Allen, 2011; Woldoff & Washington, 2008). The empirical knowledge that we currently have about the experience of criminal justice involved fathers brings forward important concerns. For example, Arditti, Smock, and Parkman (2005) discovered that helplessness, regret, and restraint to involvement with children was part of the parenting experience for middle-aged criminal justice involved fathers. Research conducted by Woldoff and Washington (2008) found that formerly incarcerated fathers are less involved with children in comparison to fathers with minimal to no criminal justice involvement history. The need to expand the base of understanding about the experience of parenting specifically for criminal justice involved African American fathers shaped my focus for this study.

Moynihan (1965) positioned the institution of slavery as the cause of deterioration within the African American community and the African American family. The poor trajectory of African American males within the criminal justice system (Dyer, 2005; Kenemore & Roldan, 2006; Nelson, Deess, & Allen, 2011; Woldoff & Washington, 2008) and the trajectory of African American children with incarcerated parents (Dishion, Owen, & Bullock, 2004; Geller, Garfinkel, & Western, 2011; Kolvin, Miller, Fleeting, & Kolvin, 1988) influences the perception that African American males have a higher rate of absence from the family unit. The evidence presented to validate these claims, reviewed further in chapter 2, advances present knowledge and understanding of the condition, quality of life, and existing potential of males within the African American community. A continuous generation of knowledge about males within the African American community may strengthen and maintain a movement towards useful actions (Corbin & Strauss, 2015) that shift the state of the African American community and its male members.

This present study was conducted to examine the parenting experiences of formerly incarcerated African American fathers obligated to mandatory community supervision using a qualitative phenomenological research design. The use of qualitative research provided an opportunity for participating formerly incarcerated African American fathers to give an account of the parenting experience in their own words. Phenomenology, a specialized method of data analysis, was used to extract the meaning ascribed to the experience of parenting as expressed by each father participant. My overall intent for this study was to support and promote the growth of knowledge concerning the parenting experiences of formerly incarcerated African American fathers obligated to mandatory community supervision. Additionally, my intent was to contribute to the future development of culturally relevant intervention models and strategies for assisting formerly incarcerated African American fathers in returning to the community, provide insight and influence in the formation and implementation of family welfare policy, and to support the work of family reunification and restoration efforts involving formerly incarcerated African American fathers.

Research Question

What are the parenting experiences of African American fathers obligated to mandatory supervision following an incarceration?

Theoretical Framework for the Study

A theory may be represented more than one way in qualitative research to satisfy the purposes of inquiry. The philosophical perspectives of phenomenology and social constructionism is used in this study as the theoretical framework to focus the research investigation and to explain the behavior and attitudes of research participants. Groenewald (2004) described phenomenology and illustrated its use as a structural process in work focused on the phenomenon of talent and co-operative education. Similarly, I use phenomenology as a systematic structural process. The use of phenomenology as a method of inquiry kept my efforts focused on the essence of lived experience (Dahlberg, 2006; Moran, 2000; Moustakas, 1994; Osborne, 1990; Vagle, 2014; Van Manen, 1990). In this study, I used social constructionism as the theoretical application attending to the phenomenon. Using social constructionism to explain behavior and attitudes set my attention on the knowledge the father participants had about their reality (Berger & Luckmann, 1966; Burr, 2015; Gergen, 1985; Hoffman, 1990). As an overall lens, I used phenomenology and social constructionism to explore the parenting experiences of formerly incarcerated African American fathers participating in community supervision. The use of phenomenology and social constructionism helped guide my development of the research problem highlighting the need to learn the meaning and reality of parenting for the father participants. The research question I developed for the inquiry was formulated to capture the meaning and reality of lived experience as expressed by the father participants.

The use of phenomenology and social constructionism is appropriate as the theoretical framework for this study because each method respectively caters to how an individual interprets the world in which they live. The father participants' experience of parenting was documented using the data collection techniques of qualitative interviewing. The experience of parenting was different for each father participant. An account of the experience, as expressed by the father participants, was influenced by a social construction of reality point of view. Further explanation regarding the history and application of the theoretical framework is shared in Chapter 2.

Researchers indicated that incarceration interferes with, and negatively impacts the progressive experience of the parent-child relationship (Dyer, 2005; Kenemore & Roldan, 2006; Lamb & Lewis, 2010; McRae, 2009; Pleck, 2010). The findings from a few studies have shown the difference in relationship outcomes with resident and nonresident fathers (Edin, Tach, & Mincy, 2009; Hohmann-Marriott, 2009; Turner & Wildeman, 2013; Zhang & Fuller, 2012), as well as in regards to other factors like age, race, culture, socioeconomic status, social support network, and relationship with the maternal counterpart (Castillo & Sarver, 2012; Wilkinson, Magora, Garcia, & Khurana, 2009; Woldoff & Washington, 2008). In that, I conducted this study assuming a discouraging influence of incarceration and reintegration on the parent-child relationship. The individuals that volunteered to participate in this study was expected to articulate an incompatible consciousness of incarceration and community reintegration through their expression of lived experiences of parenting following an incarceration. An attempt to justify the expectation of discouragement and incompatibility is offered in Chapter 2.

Nature of the Study

My understanding about the characteristics uniquely attributed to qualitative research in the tradition of phenomenology shaped the rationale for its selection and use. The perspective of phenomenology is a descriptive approach to inquiry that requires yielding focus to the lived experience of an actively socialized human being (Burch, 1989; Gray, 2013; Lopez & Willis, 2004; Moran, 2000). Lived experience, as defined by Van Manen (2007), is "experience-as-we-live-through-it in our actions, relations and situations" (pg. 16). The pursuit of a revelation of meaning in the lived experience of everyday life makes phenomenology a captivating method of reflective questioning with a sense of wonder (Van Manen, 2014). Intentional focus on describing the real meaning of a lived experience classifies as the transcendental type of phenomenology (Creswell, 2014; Husserl, 2003); the specific approach I used to inform this study's research question. Attention is given to provide an understanding of transcendental phenomenology in Chapter 2. Considering that I attempted to learn and describe the constructed meaning of lived experience for formerly incarcerated African American fathers, my election of phenomenology was appropriate and preferred. The description of understanding about the meaning ascribed to the father participants' experience in parenting was derived by way of experiential evidence (Moran, 2000; Osborne, 1990). The idea of experiential evidence can be explained as an "awareness of matters in the most clear, distinct, and adequate way possible" in relationship to the phenomenon in question (Embree, 2001, pg. 6). The phenomenon I investigated in this study was parenting. For the purposes of this study, parenting is defined as the activity and interaction of developing and educating children (Berg-Neilsen, Vikan, & Dahl, 2002; Hoghughi, 2009).

The use of phenomenology has advanced and complemented this study's research purposes given the following allowances of the design tradition.

- Phenomenology allows focus on the essential meaning of individual experience (Lopez & Willis, 2014; Ritzer, 2007)
- Phenomenology allows investigation on the relational awareness of meaning between objectivity (i.e. external or material reality) and subjectivity (i.e. internal or experience, understanding, feelings) (Dahlberg, 2006; Moran, 2000; Moustakas, 1994).
- Phenomenology allows for a disinterest in generalizations appealing to a fixed concentration on achieving a retrospective description of parenting through an understanding of consciousness (Gray, 2013; Moustakas, 1994; Van Manen, 1990).

- Phenomenology allows for a description of the manner which parenting is experienced by formerly incarcerated African American fathers as opposed to determining whether the parenting style or parenting practices of formerly incarcerated African American fathers are "good" or "bad" (Moran, 2000).
- Phenomenology allows for an inductive collection of data to generate thick, rich descriptions of experience from the perspective of the formerly incarcerated African American father participant (Gray, 2013).
- Phenomenology aids the researcher and the research process by guiding the way in which to think about, collect, analyze, describe, and report data gathered (Anfara & Mertz, 2015).
- Phenomenology has interests compatible with social constructionist theory that embraces self-generation of knowledge and an attitude of openness to the phenomenon of parenting and its constructed meaning (Burr, 2015; Hycner, 1985).

The father participants in this study were engaged in the qualitative interviewing process using standardized open-ended and semi structured open-ended techniques. The procedures of transcendental phenomenology that function to acquire the essence of experience (i.e. epoche, transcendental phenomenological reduction, imaginative variation, etc.; Beyer, 2013; Creswell, 2013; Luft, 2002; Moran, 2000; Moustakas, 1994), explained more clearly in Chapter 2, were exercised to organize and analyze all data gathered. The organization and analysis of data was accomplished using the lens of social

constructionism to describe the experience of parenting as created by the formerly incarcerated African American fathers who participated in this study.

Definitions

Bracketing: See Epoche.

Community supervision: An inexpensive systematic approach to the delivery of criminal sanctions for low to moderate risk offenders where the methods of probation and parole are used to circumvent penal institutionalization and the effects associated with the experience; a practical community-based approach for reintegrating offenders and decreasing the probability or tendency to reoffend (Bonta, Rugge, Scott, Bourgon, & Yessine, 2008); conditions of a restrictive order to be carried out in community (Egan, 1995). Synonymous with *Community Corrections* and *Mandatory Community Supervision* in this study.

Epoche: A suspension of prior knowledge, beliefs, attitudes, understandings, judgments, etc. to embrace a new way of looking at the world (Husserl, 2003; Moustakas, 1994). Synonymous with *Bracketing* in this study.

Fathering: Marked by a pattern of behaviors and practices performed by the paternal relation for the purpose of developing children (Coleman & Ganong, 2009). Fathering in this study will be defined as meaningful behaviors of interaction with children that involves play, development, support, discipline, and other activities expressly qualified as fathering by research participants.

Horizon: Aspects of experience that are not known by way of perception, but are considered possibilities of experience that can be known by continuing acts of perceiving

and reflection (Moran, 2000); an overall context (Hycner, 1985); phenomenological concept of world (Luft, 2002).

Imaginative variation: The creation of structural descriptions; how the phenomenon is experienced in the world (Creswell, 2013; Moustakas, 1994; Patton, 2015).

Incarceration: Extended absence from the community due to institutional confinement for a continuous period of three or more years from the time of arrest (Flanagan, 1995).

Mandatory release: A condition of release that is allowed when an incarcerated individual meets the time of an originally imposed sentence with an accrued sum of good time credit. The accumulated good time credit becomes the remaining portion of the original sentence served under the status of community supervision (Ditton & Wilson, 1999; Solomon, Kachnowski, & Bhati, 2005).

Noema: The object of consciousness described phenomenologically and dependent upon the conscious act of perceiving (Magill, 1990).

Noesis: The activity of our consciousness that includes cognition, feelings, will, and attitudes (Magill, 1990).

Parole: An accepted method used in community corrections for the purpose of community supervision to manage the process of restoring and integrating formerly incarcerated individuals back into the community (Hanser, 2010); an early release condition imposed by a governing authority generally known as a parole board who

grants and approves the sanction of parole that requires community monitoring under the direct supervision of a parole officer (Egan, 1995).

Parent: The biological relationship between an adult and a child (Hoghughi, 2009, pg. 5).

Parenting: Purposive activities aimed at ensuring the survival and development of children - the activity of development and educating (Hoghughi, 2009, pg. 5). Parental everyday behavior towards offspring including parent's cognition, emotions, and attributions toward their child, as well as parenting attitudes and values (Berg-Neilson, Vikan, & Dahl, 2002, pg. 531).

Phenomenology: The observation and description of phenomena through an understanding of consciousness (Moran, 2000; Moustakas, 1994; Osborne, 1990; Zahavi, 2003).

Reentry: See Reintegration.

Reintegration: The facilitation of assistance to individuals returning to the community for the purpose of returning to a state of normalcy that offers and provides access to financial, educational, cultural, medical, civic, and recreational activities and services available within the community; assistance with maintaining positive relationships for support that includes reunification and stabilization of family-based relationships (McGregor & McConnachie, 1995; Nunez-Neto, 2008; The Quaker Council for European Affairs [QCEA], 2011). Synonymous with *Social Reintegration*, and *Community Reintegration* in this study.

Textural-Structural Synthesis: An effort to blend the textural and structural descriptions by composing a statement that presents the meanings and essences in the context of time and place from the perspective of the research participant (Hycner, 1985; Moustakas, 1994)

Transcendental phenomenology: A systematic approach aimed at describing the meaning of experience from a new fresh perspective (Finlay, 2009; Moustakas, 1994).

Transcendental phenomenological Reduction: The generation of textural descriptions relevant to the phenomenon being studied (Finlay, 2012; Groenewald, 2004; Moustakas, 1994).

Social constructionism: The generation of knowledge and understanding of the human world shaped by our seeing and experiencing the world through human interaction and activity (Andrews, 2012; Berger & Luckmann, 1966; Gergen, 1985; Heath, 2007). Synonymous with *Social Construction* in this study.

Assumptions

The perspectives of naturalistic inquiry, interpretive inquiry, and social constructionism were influences for this study. The assumptions of naturalistic inquiry support the idea of having multiple realities, with multiple parts interrelated and mutually influencing, that shift and differentiate the very nature of reality (Guba, 1981; Smith, 1984). In that, research takes place in the real-world or a natural setting that is particularly known and familiar to the research participant. The perspective of naturalistic inquiry assumes that the researcher and that which is researched is mutually dependent. The primary instrument of data collection and analysis in the naturalistic paradigm is,

therefore, the researcher (Guba, 1981; Krefting, 1991; Merriam, 2002; Smith, 1984). Without the researcher, that which is to become known cannot be discovered, and the knowledge that is hidden cannot be discovered without the pursuing efforts of the researcher. The perspective of naturalistic inquiry assumes that generalizations are impossible, and therefore research investigations seek to establish transferability between contexts (Creswell & Miller, 2000; Guba, 1981; Malterud, 2001).

The position of interpretive inquiry is that an individual's world is of importance and he/she cannot disassociate self from the experiences therein (Flick, von Kardorff, & Steinke, 2004; Lopez & Willis, 2004; Van Manen, 1990). The world as perceived by participants is therefore described and, in respect to Husserl's phenomenological perspective, was interpreted as expressed by participants to discover how the meaning of experience influences one's decisions (Lopez & Willis, 2004). The interpretive paradigm is set forth to understand the meaning of a lived experience without the expression of that experience controlled to fit into a predetermined system (Smith, Flowers, & Larkin, 2009). However, as pointed out by Van Manen (1990), the interpretive model of research in the phenomenological tradition is guided by procedures and techniques that lead the researcher to his/her purposeful end. The assumptions of interpretive inquiry uphold the expert knowledge of the researcher as useful and valuable to the research investigation because it authenticates or makes valid the need for the specific scholarly pursuit for knowledge (Koch, 1995; Lopez & Willis, 2004; Van Manen, 1990).

The philosophical view of social constructionism holds the position that the knowledge of reality is constructed (Andrews, 2012; Berger & Luckmann, 1966; Gergen,

1985), and all creation of fact is only meaningful within the context or framework it is situated (Andrews, 2012; Patton, 2015). Therefore, the construction of reality is a subjective creation, product, or article of the multifaceted exchanges within our social world (Gergen, 1985; Hoffman, 1990; Patton, 2015). The perspective of social constructionism holds that the reality individuals construct about their world and experience is true in accord and in agreement with the perceptions of others (Andrews, 2012; Patton, 2015). From the standpoint of social constructionism, one's experience of the world will produce different perceptions, meanings, and constructions of reality conforming to event, time and place (Burr, 2015; Lock & Strong, 2010; Patton, 2015).

Bearing in mind the evidence of present research, four key assumptions may be maintained concerning the disclosure of research participants that can fundamentally affect the significance of this study. First, this study could have made the assumption that all research participants engaged would convey adverse effects on experience associated with incarceration and reintegration as evidenced by statements related to beliefs, values, and decisions made concerning parenting involvement. As evidenced by Woldoff and Washington (2008), incarceration poses a negative impact on parental engagement for African Americans. As well, the events of incarceration and reintegration produce outcomes related to unemployment and under-employment (Pager, 2003; Pager, 2007; Western, 2006), poverty and homelessness (Gardner, Tuchman, & Hawkins, 2010; Geller & Curtis, 2011; Lee, Tyler, & Wright, 2010), challenges with health and mental health (Cuddeback, Scheyett, Pettus-Davis, & Morrissey, 2010; Turney, Wildeman, & Schnittker, 2012), a decrease in community and civic engagement (Clear, 2008; Lee, Porter, & Comfort, 2014; Uggen, Manza, & Thompson, 2006), social discrimination and stigmatization (Arditti, Smock, & Parkman, 2005; Kenemore & Roldan, 2006; Welch, 2007), familial strain (Naser & Visher, 2006; White, 2006; Wilkinson, Magora, Garcia, & Khurana, 2009); and challenges with paternal identity and involvement (Dyer, 2005; Tripp, 2001; Vesneski, 2011). For these reasons, such an assumption can be upheld.

Second, the events of incarceration, reentry, reintegration, family reunification, and the experience of various cultural, political, and social structures would influence the behaviors, and attitudes of fathers in relation to parenting. For instance, the enforcement of child support obligations may deter formerly incarcerated African American fathers from parenting involvement due to financial insecurity (Griswold & Pearson, 2005; Hatcher & Lieberman, 2003; May, 2004). The behaviors and attitudes of fathers may perhaps be influenced by the socialized representation of African American males that debilitate paternal self-identity and alter valued relational exchanges within society (Hall, 2001; Kim, 2014; Welch, 2007). Perhaps behaviors and attitudes of fathers are influenced by perceptions of being parented and responding to the duty of parenting shaping the messages African American fathers convey that ultimately becomes an intergenerational dialogue (Gordon, Nichter, & Henriksen, 2012; Roy, 2006). The condition and quality of life experience within the community advise the behaviors and attitudes embraced by African American fathers in relation to parenting (Letiecq & Koblinsky, 2004). The consequences around active criminal justice involvement exacerbate the already existing plight African American men have in regards to life and living within the community

(Dowden, Gunby, Warren, & Boston, 2014; Wilson, 2011). The above-noted assumption can be upheld considering these reasons.

Third, an assumption could be made that all research participants engaged would express time-specific limitations, miscalculated, and unforeseen interferences related to parenting involvement. Circumstances including intensity and duration of community supervision, changes to supervision requirements, reincarceration due to technical violation (Ostermann, 2013; Travis & Stacey, 2010), and other factors contribute to this assumption. Vesneski (2011) outlined the criteria for parental rights termination as outlined by the Adoption and Safe Families Act of 1997. Veneski confirmed criminal conviction and parental incarceration as an established condition for parental rights termination. The termination of parental rights is likely an interference particularly for residents of Kansas; a state with a minimal duty to provide assistance with reunification following termination (Revised Kansas Code, 2014). For the reasons noted, such an assumption can be upheld.

Finally, each of the research participants in this study identified self as a formerly incarcerated African American father. Although formerly incarcerated African American fathers connect the meaning of parenting to role-modeling and mentoring (Dill et al., 2016; Jones, 2010; Roy, 2006), this study could have made the assumption that the meanings attributed to the parenting experience would be, at a minimum, partially shaped by the incarceration experience.

All four of the assumptions can be upheld for this study given the reasons noted. However, with the need in phenomenology to suspend prior knowledge, beliefs, attitudes, understandings and judgments, each of the noted assumptions were abandoned in an attempt to manage the data with an awareness that is unbiased.

Scope and Delimitations

The research question for this study initially focused on the lived experience of fathers without concern for age, race/ethnicity or culture. It was initially assumed that the lived experience of fathers would focus solely on the performance of parenting activities given the current advocacy and social drive toward increased paternal presence and involvement with children. A different perspective was gained about the lived experience of fathers following an incarceration after reviewing the literature. As evidenced by existing scholarship, the challenge of community reintegration is perceived worse for African American males, and the impact of father absence is more severe within the African American community (Herman-Stahl, Kan, & McKay, 2008; Perry & Bright, 2012; Western & Wildeman, 2009; Wildeman & Western, 2010; Woldoff & Washington, 2008). With this understanding, the scope of the research was established to discover the lived experiences of parenting for African American fathers following an incarceration. The new focus for this study required a change to the research question to identify the goal of targeting formerly incarcerated African American fathers as opposed to criminal justice involved fathers of other cultures or ethnic groups.

The length of time served within an institutional setting was part of the acceptance criteria for voluntary participation in this study. Initially, the length of time served was characterized as long-term incarceration being marked by a period of 3 or more years within a correctional institution. The common viewpoint regarding long-term

incarceration, made known through literature review, differs from the initial position taken for this study. For example, long-term incarceration was marked by a confinement of more than 5 years by Flanagan (1980), more than 6 years for MacKenzie and Goodstein (1985), and more than 8 years for Wormith (1986). In recent times, Yang, Kadouri, Revah-Levy, Mulvey, & Falissard (2009) conducted a qualitative study with long-term incarcerates and defined long-term incarceration as 10 or more continuous years of imprisonment since the time of arrest. The initial position taken regarding longterm incarceration was rejected considering the perspectives offered in the literature. Use of the phrase "long-term incarceration" was abandoned and replaced by the term "incarceration" that also required an amendment to the research question. Incarceration for this study was marked by a period of continuous confinement for 3 or more years from the time of arrest.

The Midwest region of the United States was established as the targeted locale to draw eligible participants for this study. The Kansas City metropolitan area of the state of Kansas was exclusively chosen as the location of focus due to Kansas having an active involuntary parental rights termination policy and a disproportionate number of African American males involved in the states' criminal justice system. Because the convictions of post incarceration supervisees are predominantly non-sexual in nature, all persons having served time for offenses of a sexual nature were excluded from this study.

Parenting as a phenomenon is generally perceived as a common human experience. The unique experience of parenting for formerly incarcerated African American fathers obligated to mandatory community supervision is likely to not correspond with the general population. In this study, I used purposeful sampling to specifically identify the father-type targeted. The results were explained using social constructionism which is the conscious generation of knowledge and reality (Berger & Luckmann, 1966; Gergen, 1985; Gergen & Hosking, 2006; Hoffman, 1990). The findings may not be transferable to the general population because they are based on participants' interpretation of their parenting experience within a social context of criminal justice system involvement. However, the rich descriptions of experience obtained from the formerly incarcerated African American fathers are open to judgment for application with a comparable population and as well in other settings. Further, the transferability of this study is not found in the findings specifically, but in using social constructionism to advance research with formerly incarcerated African American fathers and there are a fathers. Social constructionism can be included in research with formerly incarcerated African American fathers in the context of familial and community engagement, mental health, employment, social participation and access, race and equality, health or education.

Limitations

The strengths of qualitative research are also accompanied by weaknesses. One strength of qualitative research is found in its design with the discovery of meaning as its most prized asset. For this study, the meaning and reality of parenting was based solely on the perceptions of participants as opposed to being the result of statistical analysis. The participants in this study were the primary data source and were engaged in the research process under natural conditions to produce in-depth descriptions of their experience. The data collection method, qualitative interviewing, was time-consuming and required extensive probing to arrive at comprehensive conclusions (Maxwell, 2009). The analysis and interpretation processes were quite laborious because they required meticulous effort to arrive at a meaningful understanding of the data.

Qualitative research is subjective and requires the establishment of reliability and credibility (Denzin & Lincoln, 2011; Maxwell, 2009; Ritchie, Lewis, Nicholls, & Ormston, 2014). To assure reliability, consistency of the research process, all steps taken to accomplish the research goal was documented by way of an audit trail (Akkerman, Admiraal, Brekelmans, & Oost, 2006; Cutcliffe & McKenna, 2003; Miles, Huberman & Saldana, 2013) involving a subsequent dependability audit (Guba, 1981; Shenton, 2004). The in-depth interviews were audio-recorded and subsequently transcribed (Fossey, Harvey, McDermott, & Davidson, 2002; Jacob & Ferguson, 2012). Each transcription created was checked for accuracy and corrected upon the identification of error (Jacob & Ferguson, 2012). Careful attention was given to assure consistency in coding with safeguards to minimize inappropriate adjustments, shifts, or changes to established coding during the process of data analysis (Creswell, 2013; Rubin & Rubin, 2012). To establish credibility, peer debriefing, member checks, and thick descriptions were used to effectively articulate research findings (Creswell & Miller, 2000; Guba, 1981; Morrow, 2005; Toma, 2011). The father participants were asked to review the descriptions and themes developed from the interviews (Cho & Trent, 2006; Guba, 1981; Patton, 2015; Rudestam & Newton, 2015).

In qualitative research, bias on the part of the researcher threatens the authenticity of findings due to the injection of his/her own culture, values, history, beliefs, and experiences (Bowen, 2005; Koch & Harrington, 1998; Petty, Thomson & Stew, 2012). The credibility in this sense was established by continuous self-reflection and selfawareness through the practice of reflexivity (Cunliffe, 2003; Flick, 2014; Maxwell, 2013; Patton, 2015). The practice of reflexive journaling along with performing a confirmability audit helped to maintain transparency and assure the trustworthiness of findings (Flick, 2014; Petty, Thomson & Stew, 2012; Whittemore, Chase & Mandle, 2001). In addition, the dissertation methodologist reviewed the process of analysis in order to help ensure its fidelity (Bowen, 2005).

This study was also limited because I focused specifically on African American fathers. Only those participants whose actual time served in a correctional setting within a range of 3 to 10 years was chosen. The standard used excludes formerly incarcerated fathers who were sentenced to serve time within the chosen range but were granted early release. This study was limited to non-custodial non-resident fathers having a non-sexual offense history living within an urban community of the mid-western United States.

Significance

Social service programs, family support networks, and formerly incarcerated fathers may find the work of this study important because it reveals hidden realities of parenting while obligated to community supervision. This subject deserves more research contribution from the scholarly community to enact change. Advocacy conversations and efforts may be provoked after the publication of this study; a benefit worthy of anticipation. According to the CCJ (2006), reintegration following an incarceration is challenging because of the need to achieve a favorable state of stability and normalcy. It is difficult for the parent-child relationship to grow while the parent is incarcerated and examination of the relationship after incarceration is necessary. Understanding the impact community supervision has on parental involvement and activity may aid in the development of improved models and strategies for assisting formerly incarcerated fathers while living in the community. The result of studies in this area may help human service professionals integrate reformed formerly incarcerated fathers in work against juvenile delinquency. An increase of knowledge in this area may support the existence of family restoration efforts in individualized mandatory supervision plans drafted prior to an offender's release. The findings from research in this area may also provide evidence about the extent institutional parenting education activities translate in the community.

The evidence confirming the importance of family in the reentry process (CCJ, 2006; Kenemore & Roldan, 2006; La Vigne, Naser, Brooks, & Castro, 2005; Naser & La Vigne, 2006; Petersilia, 2005) does not dismiss or lessen the challenges formerly incarcerated fathers must negotiate in managing parental responsibilities against community supervision. Gaining an understanding of the parenting experience as related to the injection of court-mandated obligations will be beneficial to program design and implementation catering to the population of formerly incarcerated persons. In addition, understanding the influence of court-related obligations in the initial stages of reentry and the impact it has on parental involvement for formerly incarcerated African American

fathers will aid practitioners in their efforts to contribute to the adjustment process for both parent and child.

Implications for Social Change

The need to confront threats of supervision violation on technical conditions and the realized obstacles related to parenting are implications for social change, practice, and advocacy on behalf of formerly incarcerated fathers. Professionals and program developers may act as social change agents by using cultural diversity to improve parental involvement for formerly incarcerated fathers considering system-wide challenges. Human service practitioners may (a) teach formerly incarcerated fathers effective parenting strategies and offer support in parenting activities that are expressly difficult, (b) establish parenting mentors that cater to the cultural context of formerly incarcerated fathers, and (c) assist program developers in designing and duplicating programs proven effective and efficient.

Formerly incarcerated fathers may be held to legal conditions like restitution and child support in addition to community supervision. Advocates in favor of establishing available and accessible opportunities to aid the success of formerly incarcerated fathers may engage the legislative process to realize social change. For instance, advocates in support of formerly incarcerated fathers may lobby for policy incentives that encourage active parenting involvement and honor efforts toward satisfying legal obligations like child support (Hatcher & Lieberman, 2003; Turetsky, 2007). Advocates may support and promote exemption of demands that pose added strain to the reintegration process and perhaps inevitably result in reincarceration. Additionally, community members

supporting the positive reintegration of formerly incarcerated fathers may raise awareness on the relational effects system imposed barriers have on community adjustment, prosocial identity and role function.

The termination of parental rights can be a devastating blow to a formerly incarcerated father choosing to pursue reform (Travis, McBride & Solomon, 2005). Prior to incarceration, fathers may have vital roles in the care and support of their children (Schneider, 2002; Travis, McBride & Solomon, 2005). The termination of parental rights due to incarceration or felony conviction, per implementation of the Adoption and Safe Families Act of 1997 and Kansas Statute 38-2269, will not only sever the legal obligation of the father to care and support the child, but as well create a significant wedge in the developing parent-child relationship (Solomon-Fears, 2009).

Kansas Statute 38-2269, a derivative of the Adoption and Safe Families Act of 1997, may not have a great impact of harm in all circumstances, but for instances where the policy is unjustly imposed, it is perhaps devastatingly damaging to the parent and the child partly due to its invasive nature (Schneider, 2002). I posit that the provisions outlined in both legislations were intended to have positive implications primarily for the child and as well as for the state; minimizing state risk for accounts of child abuse and neglect. The implementation of these policies increased the demands on states regarding child welfare and exacerbated complications regarding social services practice in the field (Travis, McBride & Solomon, 2005). Amendment of such legislation, as mentioned above, may be advantageous to the structure and development of community, family, and significantly supportive of release and recidivism efforts being tackled by the gamut of client-focused professionals working in the field (Travis, McBride & Solomon, 2005).

Finally, bringing reform issues to the forefront may stimulate community members to embrace and/or support assimilation efforts reducing acts of discrimination and prejudice. As a social work professional my role may be to guide formerly incarcerated fathers in efforts to identify and understand acts of discrimination that present barriers to development. I may offer efforts to process formerly incarcerated fathers through realities of discrimination in order to exercise self-determination and attain self-actualization. On the other hand, my role may be to disseminate information regarding research findings and policy milestones to mental health practitioners, prerelease coordinators including the monitors of parole supervision, educators, and the employment community. Active and ongoing public support for positive community reintegration will help to intensify the influence necessary to assure that formerly incarcerated fathers receive the assistance they need and the essential use of qualified skilled professionals is accentuated. Despite all judgment, formerly incarcerated fathers are human beings that deserve just treatment and equal access to resources that will promote responsible fatherhood and law abiding citizenship.

Summary

The high rate of incarceration in the United States created an inevitable reality of criminal justice involved fathers. Most fathers among the population of criminal justice involved males will return to the community expected to resume a life exhibiting prosocial norms. The challenges associated with a return to the community are believed to impact a father's ability to maintain an exceptional level of parental engagement particularly if required to negotiate multiple legal obligations.

The consequence of incarceration and the process of community reintegration hinders formerly incarcerated African American fathers' involvement in the parenting activities of their minor children (Woldoff & Washington, 2008). The lived experience of parenting for formerly incarcerated African American fathers is believed to be shaped by one's involvement with the criminal justice system in addition to numerous social interactions with others in the community. Our current base of knowledge is deficient regarding the lived experience of formerly incarcerated African American fathers serving time under the conditions of community supervision. New discoveries about the parenting experience of formerly incarcerated African American fathers obligated to community supervision enhances our current understanding and aids the process to restore, reunite, and nurture the parent-child relationship.

The reason for conducting this study was to capture the meaning and reality of parenting from the perspective of formerly incarcerated African American fathers obligated to community supervision. I used qualitative interviewing to gather information-rich descriptions from the father participants which informed the research question for this study. The remaining is a synopsis of the chapter that follow outlining the details of the research process.

In Chapter 2, the theoretical framework for this study which involves transcendental phenomenology and social constructionism is explained. A review of the literature is provided to put forward the concerns related to incarceration, reintegration, community supervision, and parenting that impact the lives of African American fathers connected to the criminal justice system. The findings of previous studies are outlined to illustrate relevant challenges faced by African American males connected to the criminal justice system shaping a discussion on the impact these challenges have on fathering.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

Introduction

The attitudes and views held by criminal justice involved fathers influences their parenting behaviors which affect the overall condition of families and communities (Wronka, 2008). Based on my review of the literature, there is little known about the parenting experiences of formerly incarcerated African American fathers who are required to participate in a community supervision program. In this study I examined the lived experiences of formerly incarcerated African American fathers parenting minor children while under community supervision. I seek to raise the awareness of legislators, practitioners, advocates, and community members on the meaning and reality of parenting for formerly incarcerated African American fathers obligated to community supervision.

In this chapter, a synopsis of the literature establishing the relevance of the problem is shared in addition to the literature search strategies I used in conducting my research. A description of the theoretical framework for this study is given including the rationale for its present application. An overview of scholarly discussion regarding the attitudes and influences of African American fathers and the impact of criminal justice system involvement on the male parenting role is provided.

Literature Search Strategy

A review of existing literature was necessary to understand and acknowledge scholarly perspectives on the theories chosen to focus inquiry and to explain the information obtained by research participants. The review of existing literature enabled me to learn and incorporate scholarly insights on fathering, incarceration, community reintegration, and parental involvement in general. I used the following research engines and databases while conducting my literature review: Academic Search Complete, SocINDEX with Full Text, PsychInfo, EBSCOhost, Google Scholar, ProQuest Central, SciVerse, Criminal Justice Periodicals, PsycARTICLES, ScienceDirect, Credo Reference, SAGE Online Journals, Wiley Online Library, DeepDyve, Questia, and SAGE Knowledge. I used resources of the following university libraries: the University of Saint Mary, Rutgers State University of New Jersey, Seton Hall University, and Walden University.

Following are the terms, phrases, and combinations of terms that I used to access scholarly works relevant to this study: offender, criminal offender, ex-offender, parole, probation, reintegration, reentry, father, parenting, parent role, community corrections, parole conditions, parental involvement, formerly incarcerated fathers, ex-offender + parenting, ex-offender + parenting + involvement, ex-offender + parenting experience, community + reintegration, fathers + incarceration, community corrections + fathers, reentry + parenting, ex-offender + fathers + parenting, ex-offender + attitudes + parenting, ex-offender + father + parenting + attitudes, ex-offender + parental involvement, ex-offender + family, reintegration + community, ex-offender + society, exoffender + community corrections + society, felon + parental rights, African American men + fathering, racial identity + fathering, paternity + child support, stigma + reintegration + African American men, offenders + health + African American men, African American + spirituality, social construction, social theory + social construction, phenomenology, transcendental phenomenology, Husserl, and in-depth interview + phenomenology. I established search alerts through Walden Library and Sage Publications for notification on newly available material applicable to this study. Additionally, scholarly sources were discovered by review of the reference lists of scholarly works of interest to this study.

Theoretical Foundation

The perspectives of transcendental phenomenology and social constructionism ws used to provide the theoretical basis for my examination of the lived experience of formerly incarcerated African American fathers obligated to post release supervision. Phenomenology, in general, focuses on the essence of a lived experience. Referred to as the study of essences, phenomenology is concerned not with cause or interpretation, but with observation and description of phenomena through an understanding of consciousness (Moran, 2000; Moustakas, 1994; Osborne, 1990). Use of phenomenology shaped the framework for understanding the meaning of experience about fathers following an incarceration. In particular, the perspective of transcendental phenomenology became the systematic structure aimed at describing the meaning of the formerly incarcerated fathers lived experience in parenting.

Social constructionism, correspondingly, was used to examine the unique socially and culturally fashioned worldviews that affects the essence and meaning of experience. The presentation of social constructionism as a secondary framework is given in further detail following a review of transcendental phenomenology and its application to this study. The development of phenomenology happened on account of an intense and passionate quest to realize a universal ontology for all a priori sciences (Husserl, 1962). The philosophical movement toward phenomenology inspired scholars to embrace the work and attitudes of a host of philosophers including Immanuel Kant, Georg Wilhelm Friedrich Hegel, Paul Ricoeur, Martin Heidegger, Franz Brentano, and Jean-Paul Sartre (Audi, 1995; Moran, 2000). Edmund Husserl, a German mathematician turned philosopher, has been acknowledged and praised for being the father of phenomenology and chief of the phenomenological movement that illustrated a love for both philosophy and scholarship (Borchert, 2006; Giorgi, 2006; Moustakas, 1994).

Husserl viewed science as being in jeopardy of failing to remain practically sound and sought to reestablish knowledge, credibility, order, and usefulness for a sound view of human existence (Magill, 1990). Husserl emphasized the human experience, declaring it significant and of particular priority in comparison to experimental knowledge (Moustakas, 1994). For Husserl, the uniqueness of human existence is reason enough to distinguish understanding of the human experience separate from the physical world.

As Husserl matured, his philosophical position regarding phenomenology underwent transition leading to the birth of a transcendental perspective influenced by the work of Rene Descartes. The publication of Husserl's *Logical Investigations* (1900/01) is understood to represent the period when he adopted transcendental phenomenology as a philosophy (Beyer, 2013; Luft, 2002; Moran, 2000). Transcendental phenomenology attempts to balance both objective and subjective approaches to human existence to capture the very origin of an experience.

Although transcendental phenomenology involves a number of elements, the examination of lived experiences of fathering following an incarceration will focus on the element of essences as produced by way of phenomenological analysis and transcendental-phenomenological reduction (Husserl, 2003). Phenomenological reduction, as put forth by Husserl (1917), is the technique required to achieve a thoroughly refined state of awareness absent of all mental contamination comprised of presupposition and preconceived knowledge. The process of transcendentalphenomenological reduction begins with *epoche* which requires a deliberate suspension of prior knowledge, beliefs, attitudes, understandings, judgments, etc. in order to embrace a new way of looking at the world (Husserl, 2003; Moustakas, 1994). The investigative function of epoche drives researchers toward an examination of the world by training our consciousness to see and identify what we see then articulating it descriptively (Moustakas, 1994). Following the dismissal or exclusion of all bias, transcendentalphenomenological reduction realigns our awareness to view the world that has been simply reduced to phenomena with fresh new eyes, leading back to the very root of the meaning attributed to the world according to our experience of it (Moustakas, 1994).

The origin of the transcendental philosophy begins with Descartes meditative path and representation of the ego, with the ego denoting intellectual processes. Descartes (1960) concluded that the essence of experience is grounded in having an existence of consciousness – a being with the nature and capacity to think. In support of Descartes, Husserl stood on the idea that human mental acts are intentional and clarified this certainty presenting his concepts of *noesis* and *noema*. The activity of our consciousness, also referred to as mental or ego acts, is distinguished noesis. Noesis is literally perceiving and includes cognition, feelings, will and attitudes (Magill, 1990). Noesis is real and fundamentally necessary in the discovery of essences. For example, the seeing of a balloon is recognizing that the balloon exists. On the other hand, noema, the object described phenomenologically, is characterized as unreal and dependent upon perceiving (noesis). Noema has being, but is made up entirely of essences that do not change, and remain either solo or together with other essences prior to any experience (Magill, 1990). Noema is void of reality but has essential being attributed to it by the structure, properties, and qualities that encompass acts of perceiving.

The relation between the perceiving and the object brings forth its essence. To clarify further, "an essence is, simply, a phenomenon's style, its way of being, and thus the essence cannot be separated from the phenomenon that it is the essence of" (Dahlberg, 2006, p. 18). The seeing of a balloon, for example, recognizes that the balloon exists, but to attain that the balloon is colorful and soft actualizes the balloon into an experience of consciousness. The quality of the balloon, colorful and soft, owes its actuality in consciousness to noesis – the act of perceiving (Magill, 1990). As put forth by Husserl (2003), the balloon, for example, is perceived as a whole unit of essences and the identity of it is only one part of an overall experience. The balloon is, therefore, one piece of the conscious understanding of an experience. Fathering perceived as a unit, in keeping with Husserlian thought, has specific ingrained traits that together form an experience. The specific character, uniqueness, or style of fathering, is a trait of

consciousness with its essence possessing open possibilities that are ready and waiting to be explored (Dahlberg, 2006; Husserl, 2003).

Further, the relation between noesis and noema, perceiving and that which is perceived, brings forth its essence. For Husserl, essences are the intentional character of the objects themselves seen in the experiences of the everyday world (Dahlberg, 2006; Moran, 2000). Within experiences objects are presented or regularly reoccur in a diversity of appearances (i.e. perspectives, occasions, seasons, ages, degrees, etc.), "each is a unity of a multiplicity with ever-shifting manners of appearance, a unity of its particular perspectives, its particular differences of a subjective here and there" (Husserl, 2003, p. 14). Unity in regards to an object is according to its presentation of appearance (Husserl, 2003) in an intentional experience inevitably comprised of its essence. Because we live in a world of essences (Dahlberg, 2006; Husserl, 2003; Moran, 2000; Vagle, 2014), our examination of intentional experiences – identifying the relationship consciousness [our awareness] has toward objects [what exists in the world] - clarifies the quality of its intended meaning (Dahlberg, 2006; Husserl, 2003; Moustakas, 1994; Vagle, 2014).

Phenomenology, in its various forms, has been applied across a broad spectrum of professional disciplines investigating an extensive array of problems. Scholarship embracing phenomenology may integrate the orientation philosophically, as a model for inquiry, as a theoretical framework, an analytical perspective, or framework in research methods (Marshall & Rossman, 2015; Patton, 2015). The work offered by Wilkinson, Magora, Garcia, and Khurana (2009) exercises a research method grounded in the orientation of phenomenology. Wilkinson et al. utilized phenomenological analysis to arrive at the meaning of fatherhood for 416 males between the ages of 16 and 24 years. The participants of this study were deemed qualified under criteria that includes having a history of violent offending, and current residence within one of two specified inner-city neighborhoods inside the New York City area. The research conducted by Wilkinson et al. (2009) is relevant to this study solely on the basis of its use of phenomenological analysis which will be applied to bring forth the essences of fathering following an incarceration.

Since the wake of its popularity, the transcendental approach to phenomenological inquiry has been applied to research in a range of professional fields including education (Cilesiz, 2009; Mittal & Wieling, 2006; Moerer-Urdahl & Creswell, 2004; Mottern, 2013; Premberg & Lundgren, 2006; Wattchow, 2004), health and medicine (Chan, Levy, Chung, & Lee, 2002; Coward, 1990; Kluge, 2002; Martins, 2008; Williams, Moffatt, & Franks, 2004), business and employment (Berglund, 2007; Conklin, 2011; Gibbons, Woodside, Hannon, Sweeney & Davison, 2011; Gordon, 2011), and counseling (Pretorius & Hull, 2005; Rupprecht, 2011). The use of transcendental phenomenology in research with formerly incarcerated fathers on parole appears to be absent in the literature.

Social Constructionism, the second theory chosen for this study, is principally the sociology of knowledge. Based in a postmodern theoretical perspective, social constructionism is generally concerned with the generation of knowledge and understanding of the human world (Berger & Luckmann, 1966; Hoffman, 1990; Patton,

2015). The philosophy prescribed to social constructionism supports the idea that any understanding of the world is shaped by a seeing of the world through human interaction and activity (i.e. communication, family, culture, etc.), and therefore challenges the very basis of common knowledge (Gergen, 1985). The human social relationship is fundamental to the construction of knowledge and reality as it is to be crafted in consciousness (Gergen & Hosking, 2006). The perspective of social constructionism must not be confused with social constructivism, although commonly used interchangeably (Patton, 2015). Both constructionism and constructivism are founded in the creation of knowledge within a social context. However, constructivism places emphasis on the act or experience of learning as a result of social interaction, holding value, validation, and esteem to one's imitable encounter with the social world; constructionism places emphasis on the cultural artifacts that are created as a result of social interaction shaping the seeing and feeling of things, contributing to a definitive interpretation of the world (Gergen, 1985; Hoffman, 1990; Patton, 2015). The relationship between human thought and its corresponding social situation, basic concern for the sociology of knowledge, delivers an impression of human experience that supports the use of the social constructionist perspective in this study.

The philosophical perspective of social constructionism has a contentious history that, in its beginning, involved the scholarship of nineteenth-century innovative German intellectuals. The onset of the sociology of knowledge is believed to have primarily emerged from the studies produced by Karl Marx (1818-1883) on consciousness and the social environment (Berger & Luckmann, 1966). In his work, *A Contribution to the*

Critique of Political Economy (1904), Marx described his journey through intellectual inquiry and concluded that "it is not the consciousness of men that determines their existence, but, on the contrary, their social existence determines their consciousness" (pg. 11-12). Marx's interpretation of economic relations and community is a credited source for the establishment of the sociology of knowledge and its principle thought, the quality or state of being aware is established and governed by a common collective existence with others (Berger & Luckmann, 1966, pg. 5-6).

Although described briefly, Marxist views on the sociology of knowledge lacked popularity and support as positions and ideas held by nineteenth-century German thinkers in opposition to the Marx's doctrine surfaced (Berger & Luckmann, 1966). Max Scheler (1874-1928), highly respected trailblazer on the sociology of knowledge, was first to use the phrase *sociology of knowledge* and offered a philosophical understanding with his most notable principle, knowledge of existence as a member of society is a priori to individual experience (Becker & Dahlke, 1942; Berger & Luckmann, 1966), genetically preceding the development of self-consciousness and self-value (Becker & Dahlke, 1942). The significance of society in Scheler's sociology of knowledge is presented by Becker and Dahlke (1942):

Foremost is the social character of all knowing. Second, the perspective of social interests determines the selection of the objects of knowledge only, not its content, and still less its validity (a point that Scheler continually stresses). Third, the structure of society determines in part the forms of the mental processes through which knowledge is reached, though he insists that all functional thought-

forms be secured by grasping the essence – *Wesenserfassung*, not socially determined – of the objects themselves (pg. 319).

Karl Mannheim (1893-1947), also recognized as a chief pioneer in the move toward a sociology of knowledge, was first to enact an investigative focus on the subject. In the year 1922, Mannheim presented his doctoral thesis, *Structural Analysis of Epistemology*, investigating the participation of society as a basis for knowledge (Mannheim, 1952). In a later work, *Ideology and Utopia: An Introduction to the Sociology of Knowledge* (1936), Mannheim continued his exploration in the sociology of knowledge asserting that,

The world is known through many different orientations because there are many simultaneous and mutually contradictory trends of thought (by no means of equal value) struggling against one another with their different interpretations of "common" experience. The clue to this conflict, therefore, is not to be found in the "object in itself" (if it were, it would be impossible to understand why the object should appear in so many different refractions), but in the very different expectations, purposes, and impulses arising out of experience (pg. 241).

The scholarship of Marx (i.e. conception originates in human activity), Scheler (i.e. knowledge is given in society before experience), and Mannheim (i.e. conception is influenced by its social environment), as given for particular example, has made a significant contribution to human social behavior situated in the environment. The conversation on the subject also includes praised scholars such as Edmond Husserl (1859-1938), Martin Heidegger (1889-1976) Theodor Geiger (1891-1952), Maurice Merleau-Ponty (1908-1961), Michel Foucault (1926-1984), Thomas Luckmann (1927-Present), Peter L. Berger (1929- Present), and Ken Gergen (1935-Present). To offer an exhaustive history and definition of social constructionism is to go against the goal of this discussion that is to affirm the application of social constructionism as used in this study. Moving in that direction, it is fitting to reference the works of Peter L. Berger and Thomas Luckmann who together advanced the conversation on the sociology of knowledge. In their systematic exposition, The Social Construction of Reality: A Treatise in the Sociology of Knowledge (1966), Berger and Luckmann offered a broad spectrum approach to the sociology of knowledge to incorporate that which is acceptable knowledge in the relational certainty of human existence. The influences of key scholars in the movement toward a sociology of knowledge, such as Scheler and Mannheim, was acknowledged by Berger and Luckmann and is unmistakably detected through the principles and conclusions offered in their work. Providing interpretation on the everyday life, Berger and Luckmann assumed the following principles and conclusions that are particularly relevant to this study:

- Human mental perception or awareness always has object focus (pg. 20).
- Our mental perception or consciousness can fluctuate in and out of different realities that generate an experience of internal disturbance or upset characterized as a shock (pg. 21).
- The most important experience of others is face-to-face interaction characterized by reciprocal typifications that determine actions and become anonymous the farther they are from the face-to-face situation (pg. 30-34).

- Knowledge of everyday life is socially distributed yet unequally shared (e.g. shares with all, shared with some, not shared at all). "I share my professional expertise with colleagues, but not with my family, and I may share with nobody my knowledge of how to cheat at cards" (pg. 46).
- The accumulation of various types of experiences establishes a social stock of knowledge to be used in everyday life that is communicated generationally and differentiates reality by degrees of familiarity. The social stock of knowledge also supports and shapes typifications to be used in everyday life (pgs. 41-46).

My understanding of the everyday life as presented by Berger and Luckmann was the benchmark used to describe the parenting perceptions held by the formerly incarcerated African American fathers in this study. Research with fathers, on fathering, father involvement, father identity, etc. has been realized using social constructionism, or some derivation, to establish a theoretical basis or a conceptual understanding of analysis and interpretation. Variation in the use of social constructionism seems to be widespread. In that, efforts to discover research comparable to this study proved to be quite challenging. A social constructionist approach to examining the lived experiences of fathers following an incarceration was unfounded; however, research conducted by Ratele, Shefer, and Clowes (2012) apply social constructionism in a way that is generally relevant to this study.

Using the social constructionist framework, Ratele, Shefer, and Clowes (2012) applied discourse analysis to exact how meaning is created toward the communicative use of the "absent father", and "bad father" language on fatherhood. The authors conducted semi-structured interviews with 29 males residing in Cape Town South Africa who were either biological or social fathers in their community. The context of the constructed meanings for fathering experiences was understood to be socially influenced by the region's history of apartheid, unemployment, poverty and inequality in postapartheid South Africa, gender inequality, the burden of HIV/AIDS, and violence-related mortality (Ratele, Shefer, & Clowes, 2012). Other than the interviewing approach to research, the work completed by Ratele, Shefer and Clowes utilizing social constructionism parallels this study in assuming the influences of race and civil inequality, discrimination, stigmatization, marginalization, poverty, community unrest, and other factors of concern.

I applied transcendental phenomenology and social constructionism together to describe the parenting experiences of African American fathers following an incarceration in the context of community reintegration. Social constructionism provided some degree of comprehension on a father's transition from incarceration to the community. For example, an experience of shock, as presented by Berger and Luckmann (1966), occurs as a result of conscious movement from one reality to another. Regardless of the different spheres of reality present in consciousness, what emerges is a clear attentiveness to the reality of everyday life that is ordered and objectified prior to appearance, "the here of my body and the now of my present" (Berger & Luckmann, 1966, pg. 22). As an uncomplicated illustration, fathers returning to the community following an incarceration with conditions of supervision exercise activities that are ordered and actualized in advance of arrival. Public transportation such as taxi or train, existing prior to arrival in the community, may be used as tools to accomplish activity that perhaps sets the order for which each activity will make sense and generate meaning in the reality of everyday life. Fathers, in this illustration, may present an experience of everyday life based on the "world within my reach" creating an attentive consciousness determined by what he does, have done or plan to do (Berger & Luckmann, 1966, pg. 22). Thus, the activity of being becomes his reality of everyday life.

Lastly, the experience of being is socially created (Berger & Luckmann, 1966; Burr, 2015; Levy, 2014). The raising of a child, fathering in particular, is a phenomenon (Adamsons, 2016; Adamsons & Palkovitz, 2014). Therefore, the experience of fathering is a socially created phenomenon derived from an environmental context solely understood by the individual constructing the true situation that exists in his world, the reality of everyday life (Martins, Pinto de Abreu, & Barbieri de Figueiredo, 2014). To arrive at the essential meaning of individual experience is the intent pursued with the use of transcendental phenomenology. My use of transcendental phenomenology may lead to a fresh new view of fathering, producing a pure description of its reality as presented in the world of African American fathers following an incarceration with conditions of community supervision.

Fathering is not strictly biological (Coleman & Ganong, 2009; Ives et al., 2008; Lamb et al., 1987), but contingent on social and historical processes that shape the individuals' perceptions of parenting (Dick, 2011; LaRossa, 2007). The use of social constructionism will help explore the unique socially and culturally fashioned worldviews that have an effect on the essence and meaning of experience. As a combined framework, transcendental phenomenology and social constructionism may allow observation of the objective and subjective material of experience to arrive at a description and overall meaning of the everyday reality of African American fathers parenting experience following an incarceration while obligated to community supervision.

Literature Review

The system of criminal justice is understood to be a contributing factor for the experience of homelessness, housing instability, unemployment, low educational achievement, and other dilemmas pertinent to assimilation and adjustment to life after imprisonment. Such conditions as these mentioned, and others unspoken, makes the desire and attempt toward family reunification and restoration that more beneficial for citizens recently released from prison (Dyer, 2005; Travis & Stacey, 2010). Involvement in the criminal justice system is perceived a hindrance to family reunification and restoration and has been determined to deteriorate the parent-child relationship (LaVigne, Naser, Brooks, and Castro, 2005). In my view, directing attention to the parent-child relationship is necessary since formerly incarcerated fathers are less involved with their children compared to other father types (Woldoff & Washington, 2008). More importantly, involvement in the criminal justice system affects the level of paternal participation as well as the attitudes and thoughts attributed to the parenting role (Dyer, 2005).

The socialized perceptions on parenting craft an even greater struggle for formerly incarcerated fathers in regards to satisfying the standards and expectations of responsible parenting behaviors (Griswold & Pearson, 2005; Jeffries, Mehghraj, & Hairston, 2001; Kenemore & Roldan, 2006; Schneider, 2002). The strain of release, adjusting to key roles in the family (i.e. parent), court-mandated obligations (i.e. fines, restitution, child support, community supervision) in addition to the need to secure housing, employment, and comfort in an unstructured environment, creates potential that a formerly incarcerated father will evade efforts to participate in parenting behaviors (Dyer, 2005; Pearson & Davis, 2003). On the other hand, parental involvement may be the saving grace for formerly incarcerated fathers who desire to live a reformed productive life as a positive contributing member of society (Edin, Nelson, & Paranal, 2001; Dill et al., 2016).

Research on fatherhood and fathering surfaced in the 1970s and was presented more extensively in the 1990s (Cabrera, Tamis-LeMonda, Bradley, Hofferth, & Lamb, 2000; Marsiglio, Amato, Day, & Lamb, 2000) showing a reason for international concern (Baker et al., 2004). Interest in fatherhood and fathering continues in present day exploring various social and cultural shifts that shape the function of the role, meaning of the role, and its generational impact (Coates & Phares, 2013; Kalil, Ziol-Guest, & Coley, 2005; Ratele, 2012). For research purposes, an examination of the scholarship on fatherhood and fathering was completed. The following sections present a general understanding of the idea of "father" and "fathering" to establish an intellectual foundation of parenting with insights related to fathers connected to the criminal justice system.

Conceptualization of Fathering

The label of father has been grounded on the premise of being physiologically crafted male and having human offspring (Langeveld, 1944; Ortner, 1972). The general definition of the terms 'male' and 'father' coincide suggesting universal acceptance of a gender specific distinction related to reproductive characteristics and participation in the act of procreation. However, true realization and manifestation of fatherliness demand the application of tangible and intangible substances yielding a widespread conception that translates beyond mere physiological existence (Lamb, Pleck, Charnov, & Levine, 1987). Being a father and the idea of fatherliness is more than conceiving a child with a female partner designating biological likeness. Fathering is anchored by the execution of a pattern of behaviors and practices that cultivate the development of offspring (Coleman & Ganong, 2009; Lamb et al., 1987). The assumed purpose and influence of fathering merges with personal and socialized perceptions of *maleness* and *manhood* that cannot be isolated, to frame the practice and performance of such role (Hunter & Davis, 1994).

The father role manages constant negotiation with needs, motivations, internal discord, and external complexities related to self, children and the broader community (Dick, 2011; Kolvin, Miller, Fleeting, & Kolvin, 1988). To comprehend the purpose and act of fathering is to become conscious of the gender-specific expectations and obligations that are socially constructed and imposed by society on males having non-

adult children (Morman & Floyd, 2002) in conjunction with male identity and the lived experience (Dick, 2011).

The basic quality that grants a person the authority to profess the designation of father, one having the natural ability of male reproduction, is shifting away from the traditional view to one that incorporates a broader perspective (Coleman & Ganong, 2009; Gillis, 2000; Lamb, Pleck, Charnov, & Levine, 1987). The idea of social fathers (Richter et al., 2012; Turney & Wildeman, 2013) and gay fathers (Berkowitz, 2007; Tornello, Farr, & Patterson, 2011) is part of the broader perspective. In this study, I focused solely on individuals who are male with the natural ability to reproduce, and are currently participating in parenting activities for the purpose of rearing children that were biologically conceived.

Altered Fathering Across Time

The position and expression of fathering endure cycles of transformation induced by political, social, religious, economic, and cultural components (Dick, 2011). Shifts in familial consciousness, relation, role function, and everyday activity are a fragment of our collective historical existence (Dick, 2011; Marsiglio, Amato, Day, & Lamb, 2000; Summers, Boller, Schiffman, & Raikes, 2006). With America's diverse composite of ancestry, the typical paternal reality is expected to involve a mass of experiences and interpretation of experience. The habits, manners, attitudes, and socially driven codes across time has become a source for understanding and articulating the historical experiences of men raising children while living in the United States. Given our evolution of life and living, with an array of different versions of historical expression, it is perplexing and problematic to capture the pureness of meaning and perception of fatherliness in times past. Civil, business and commerce, religious, and political happenings (i.e. slavery, war, eugenics, industrialization, depression, People's Temple, civil rights, social welfare, family and child welfare, women's suffrage, technology, etc.) converted understandings and expectations particularly on father performance while subjecting varied weight to its established function (Crowley, 2009; Darity & Turner, 1972; Davis-Kean & Tang, 2015; Franklin & James, 2015; Ginther, 2015; Hall, 1988; Johnson & Johnston, 2015; LaRossa, 2007; McLoyd, 1998; Moynihan, 1965). Social happenings continue to shift the perspectives and expectations on the identity and role of the father in present day.

Historical happenings provide unquestionable evidence on the changes in parenting experiences and attitudes related to paternal liberties and authority (Coleman & Ganong, 2009; Geddes, 2008; Long, 2004; Puckering, 2009; Rickets, 1989), particularly for men. Prior to the era of industrialization, for example, a father's function primarily involved teaching and coaching children in academics and moral standards that were expected to be displayed outside the home (Coleman & Ganong, 2009; Geddes, 2008). The fathers of present day are expected to go beyond teaching and coaching to assume duties of nurturing and mentoring (Ives, Draper, Pattison, & Williams, 2008; Krampe, 2007; Morman & Floyd, 2006; Summers, Boller, Schiffman, & Raikes, 2006). The preindustrial authority of fathers portrayed a structure of control that supported the family's program of survival mimicking the likeness of a production center (Coleman & Ganong, 2009; Griswold, 1993). The fathers of present day may adopt and engage in a parenting model of shared fluctuating responsibility to attend to the rearing needs of children. Life in the pre-industrialized world held fathers in a more superior position of responsibility and authority in comparison to their female counterpart. The fathers of present day uphold a position of responsibility and authority, but may not necessarily be more superior. In this respect, fathers may be held to function from a mutually balanced position of parental duty with their female counterpart.

The maternal experience has ruled in conversation about parenting that has overshadowed the significance of the paternal position. Evidence of this fixation of the maternal experience can be discerned by viewing the historical progression of developmental theories such as Bowlby's theory of attachment and Freud's stages of psychosexual development (Crain, 2011; Geddes, 2008; Matas, Arend & Sroufe, 1978; Shoben Jr, 1949). The focus on maternal parenting is seen in social policy concerning marital separation and custody (Derdeyn, 1976; Kay & Philips, 1966; Kelly, 1994). The overall belief that mothers are better suited to care for children as opposed to fathers seems to prevail (Dowd, 2012; Mason, 2012; O'Donnell, 2010). With that, the role and responsibility of fathers faded from traditional expectancies in light of socioeconomic development and the execution of justice. The preference of mother over father fed the surge of paternal absence perhaps endorsing an attitude of exemption concerning the parenting activities of teaching, coaching, and discipline that were once primarily reserved for the father (Gillis, 2000; Lamb & Tamis-Lemonda, 2004). If such an attitude of exemption exists as a consequence of maternal preference, the lived experience of fathers in parenting may be shaped by and associated with this reality.

Roles and Patterns of Fathering

The function of males in the role of father as presented in this section is guided by contemporary western understandings, heteronormativity, and the concept of a sex/gender system (Kimmel, 2006; Nielsen, Walden, & Kunkel, 2000; Rubin, 1975). Cultural expectations for father involvement has changed from an acceptable casual presence, to a secondary job-sharing position, to now one that insists on increased engagement in roles previously accepted as primarily maternal functions such as nurturing and caregiving (Wall & Arnold, 2007). The role of father is also believed to have become more voluntary (Forste, 2002) holding to present perspectives that question the degree of influence fathering has on the child.

Fathers bring a unique presence to the parenting equation that is neither onedimensional nor insignificant (Coles, 2009; Geddes, 2008; Doyle et al., 2015; Johnson, 1996; Lamb & Tamis-Lemonda, 2004). The diverse function of the male in parenting caters to the well-being and development of their children as well as the welfare and development of the male himself (Eggebeen & Knoester, 2001; Forste, 2002). The state of a father's existence plays a part in his experience of involvement with his children (Jones & Mosher, 2013). The experience of parenting for formerly incarcerated fathers may present with challenges that differ from fathers without a history of incarceration. The following sections offer brief descriptions of common roles and patterns of fathering providing a general understanding of the responsibility a father may have in the development of his children. General insights into the possible experience of the formerly incarcerated fathers' involvement in parenting are also offered.

Provider. Traditionally, the primary responsibility for the male or father in the home centered on securing the means for subsistence (Forste, 2002; Wall & Arnold, 2007). The role of provider or breadwinner is therefore perceived to have a sense of personal fulfillment, upholding the satisfaction of wage earner, supporter, and manager of resources (Day, 2004; Roy, 2004). A study conducted by Griswold and Pearson (2005) provided evidence to the reality of employment being the key factor absent in exercising the provider role among formerly incarcerated parents. Any sense of satisfaction to be experienced is potentially delayed given the issues of employability confronted in the community during the phases of reintegration.

For formerly incarcerated fathers, the provider function is commonly identified by way of child support payments and other informal monetary support given to assist with ongoing caregiving needs (Nepomnyaschy & Garfinkel, 2010). Offering another perspective in research on father involvement, Garasky, Stewart, Gundersen, and Lohman (2010) emphasized the presence of in-kind support (i.e. the purchase of clothing, shoes, food, diapers, etc.) and visitation as two additional features associated with the provider function of fathering. The expectation to exercise the provider role and the absence of resources to do such a function creates strain for formerly incarcerated fathers leading to illegitimate efforts to acquire resources or a decision to reject the responsibility altogether (Forste, 2002; Lewis Jr., Garfinkel, & Gao, 2007).

Protector. Another primary function traditionally held by fathers is that of protector. The importance of this role has cultural implications, however, the socialized principle message to be heard and perceived by fathers is that they are the primary guardians or providers of safety for the family (Brownson, & Gilbert, 2002; Summers, Boller, Schiffman, & Raikes, 2006). In a qualitative study conducted by Summers, Boller, Schiffman, and Raikes (2006), the idea of "good father" involved the function and ability to care for children by way of protecting them from potential danger and harm. The activities that illustrate the protector role as likely performed by fathers involve the monitoring of social connections like friends and dating partners, observing music and television programming to shield from inappropriate exposure, inspecting surroundings while child is sleeping, providing guard when child is fearful or insecure, keeping child from playing with or by electrical outlets, and other such activities that align with this function (Palkovitz, 1997; Summers, Boller, Schiffman, & Raikes, 2006). The father as guardian has been shown to contribute to the emotional well-being of their children as well as prevent adolescent delinquent behavior (Cabrera et al., 2000; Furstenberg & Harris, 1993; Harris, Furstenberg, & Marmer, 1998).

Nurturer. The function of caretaking or nurturing children is perceived the maternal responsibility (Cabrera et al., 2000). An existence of current social pressure is actively shifting caretaking and nurturing in such a way to realize a maternal/paternal balance of responsibility. Nurturing is typically depicted in regards to behaviors like taking a child to school, preparing meals, or bathing; activities that are observable and measurable by way of time (Palkovitz, 1997). A study that explored men's experiences in

fathering (Ives et al., 2008) revealed the believe, as perceived by participants, that nurturing (i.e. caring for, providing for, protecting, spending time with, etc.) is a fixed responsibility to the child. The conclusions of the study established nurturing as a moral obligation that was valued much greater than the significance of biological relatedness.

The ability to function as a caregiver may be problematic for fathers who live separately from their children (Doherty, Kouneski, & Erikson, 1998), have a strained relationship with their maternal counterpart (McBride, Brown, Bost, Shin, Vaughn, & Korth, 2005), are economically unstable (Harris & Keller, 2005; Henry & Jacobs, 2007), or are legally barred to some degree from connecting with their children (Brodie, Paddock, Gilliam, & Chavez, 2014; Ives, Draper, Pattison, & Williams, 2008). The father-child mutual contact and relational exchange is judged critically important though research estimates that the amount of time fathers spend with their children is significantly less than their maternal counterpart (Doyle, Pecukonis, & Lindsey, 2013).

The stable and long-lasting nurturing presence of fathers has been shown to realize a quality-filled positive relationship with children and in turn generate positive perceptions of fathering (Doyle, Pecukonis, & Lindsey, 2013; Smetana, Metzger, & Campione-Barr, 2004; Veneziano, 2003). The presence of father nurturance has importance as early as infancy for the purpose of influencing children's ability to interact actively with both parents (Doyle, Pecukonis, & Lindsey, 2013). Over the course of time, the provision and need for nurturance are believed to diminish for the child upon reaching the age of 18 (Doyle, Pecukonis, & Lindsey, 2013). Formerly incarcerated fathers are perhaps challenged with finding and having opportunities to nurture their children before the need for it ceases.

Mentor. Fathers functioning as mentor is another traditional feature that shapes the experience of paternal involvement (Coles, 2001; Forste, Bartkowski, & Jackson, 2009; Hamer, 1997; Hawkins, Bradford, Palkovitz, Christiansen, Day, & Call, 2002; Summers, Boller, Schiffman, & Raikes, 2006; Wall & Arnold, 2007; Veneziano, 2003). The idea of modeling involves and is influenced by the father's perceptions of and experience with his father (Gordon, Nichter, & Henriksen, 2012), father's perceptions of self as parent and experiences of parenting (Roy, 2004), and the child's perception of and experience with the father (Krampe, 2009; Veneziano, 2003) in performing mentoring behaviors.

Mentoring or role modeling is conceivably illustrated by fathers helping their children act and look a certain way, learn new things, develop new skills, and among other things problem solve life-related challenges. (Drakich, 1989; Krampe, 2007; Wall & Arnold, 2007). The respondents in the study conducted by Summers, Boller, Schiffman, and Raikes (2006) held mentoring/role modeling as a high quality priority necessary for exposing children to the world and teaching them social values. Researchers established mentoring or role modeling as an attribute of "good" fathering particularly because it requires effort and availability on the part of the parent (Morman & Floyd, 2006; Summers, Boller, Schiffman, & Raikes, 2006).

Regardless of the source of mentoring wisdom, fathers perceive this function as an indispensable obligation (Summers, Boller, Schiffman, & Raikes, 2006). The challenge for formerly incarcerated fathers may be around social gatekeepers who block father-child interaction, and the probable constraints on time due to satisfying daily system imposed obligations.

Disciplinarian. The ability to provide structure, control, and correction is another feature of parental involvement held as a function of fathering (Brownson & Gilbert, 2002; Carlson, 2006; Hamer, 1997; Hawkins, Bradford, Palkovitz, Christiansen, Day, & Call, 2002; Ives, Draper, Pattison, & Williams, 2008; Wall & Arnold, 2007). Discipline is a means to foster constructive growth in character by teaching and encouraging selfcontrol, respect, integrity, social values, and a moral sense of living (Doyle et al., 2015; Hamer, 1997; Johnson, 1996; Summers, Boller, Schiffman, & Raikes, 2006). The reason fathers readily assume the responsibility of discipline has been explained in present day scholarship. Primarily, fathers hold an unfavorable view concerning the disciplinary actions taken by other caretakers involved in their child's life (i.e. mother, grandparent, etc.) (Hamer, 1997; Hauari and Hollingworth, 2009). In performing discipline activities, the perception of consistency and fairness are essential for fathers (Hamer, 1997; Summers, Boller, Schiffman, & Raikes, 2006). Taking up the responsibility to discipline assures fathers that their sense of proper control, respect, and moral grounding is continually carried out with their children.

The ability to execute this role is a challenge for formerly incarcerated fathers who are hindered by social gatekeepers, strained relational connection with their maternal counterpart, and a lack of knowledge of such concerns existing due to absence from the child's primary residence.

Fathering and the Leverage of Criminal Justice

By virtue of one's distinct personality, knowledge, skill, and motivation, the experience of a father parenting his child is perhaps incapable of duplication. The need and push for increased involvement on the part of fathers is a testament to the widespread acceptance that father influence is more significant than previously claimed. The contribution of fathers to the activity of parenting may be swayed as a result of obligation or former connection to the criminal justice system. In the following sections, fathering will be discussed with regard to the criminal justice system. A brief history of community supervision will begin the discussion followed by an outline of influences that may present within the experience of parenting for formerly incarcerated fathers. Insights specifically tethered to formerly incarcerated African American fathers will be given to establish a probable base of understanding on the parenting experience.

The sanction of supervision. A historical review of the U.S. response to crime and punishment reveal changes in approaches taken to regulate anti-social behavior. Alternative means of punishment, in contrast to imprisonment, included flogging, mutilation, branding, public humiliation, workhouse, exile/banishment, sanctuary, the benefit of clergy, and recognizance (Foucault, 1977; Hanser, 2010; Roth, 2011) which were freely practiced prior to the American Civil War. The social changes in opinion and attitude created a shift away from punitive measures of punishment to those more rehabilitative in nature to encourage positive social existence.

Alexander Maconochie, known as the father of parole, is credited with influencing the earliest development of the offender classification system and establishing an elaborate presentation of indeterminate sentencing. (Hanser, 2010; Roth, 2011). Indeterminate sentencing holds the idea of granting early release to prisoners for performing a certain amount of labor or upholding a certain level of good behavior (Ditton & Wilson, 1999; Hanser, 2010; Roth, 2011). The use of early release in offender processing was predicated on the belief that unwanted conduct by offenders can be altered through the use of desirable incentives (Hanser, 2010; Larkin Jr, 2014)). Early release is commonly referred to as parole. Characterized as a back-end sanction (Hanser, 2010; Klingele, 2013), parole is a distinct state of transition between freedom and confinement, dependence and autonomy (Hanser, 2010; Werth, 2011).

Parole is a systematic tool exercised to manage the process of restoring and integrating formerly incarcerated individuals to a state of productive citizenship within the community (Hanser, 2010). The United States Parole Commission is the principal authority concerning the approval and delivery of parole services for persons released to the community following a federal sentence. The governing authority concerning approval and delivery of parole services for persons released to the community following a state sentence vary across each state. Parole authority may be directed, for instance, at the state-level executive branch (e.g. Alabama, Kentucky, North Carolina), state-level judicial branch (e.g. Colorado, Kansas, New Jersey), local-level executive branch (e.g. California, New York, Oregon), local-level judicial branch (e.g. Illinois, Texas, West Virginia), or a combination of authority structures (e.g. California, Minnesota, Ohio, Pennsylvania) (Hanser, 2010).

The operational rule by which post-conviction release (i.e. parole) is granted to individuals leaving a corrections-related institutional setting is of some importance in relationship to community supervision. Individuals returning to the community following a period of incarceration may be released in accordance with the unconditional rulehaving no obligation to community supervision, or the conditional rule – consenting to a particular program of community supervision. The granting of community supervision permitted according to the conditional rule of release is accepted under a discretionary or mandatory arrangement. Discretionary release, mostly supported prior to the 1970s, is realized through the overarching authority of a parole board that operates to make release and revocation decisions, promulgate requirements for conditional release, frame policies and practices related to parole supervision, and offer advice about sentencing policies and new legislation (Bonta, Rugge, Scott, Bourgon, & Yessine, 2008; Ditton & Wilson, 1999; Hanser, 2010; Paparozzi & Guy, 2009; Petersilia, 1999; Roth, 2011; Solomon, Kachnowski, & Bhati, 2005; Werth, 2011). In their function, parole boards create what is believed to be an individualized program of conditions and activities intended to assure successful transition from imprisonment to community, yielding favorable outcomes realized by the offender (Ditton & Wilson, 1999; Paparozzi & Guy, 2009; Petersilia, 1999; Roth, 2011; Werth, 2011). Upon discretionary release by a parole board, an offender is then subject to a system of monitoring or a coordinated structure of supervision within the community (Roth, 2011). Public partiality toward discretionary release drastically faded entering the 1980s along with the elimination of federal and state systems of parole (Hanser, 2010; Petersilia, 1999).

In contrast, a mandatory condition of release is attained devoid of any parole board structure. A mandatory release is applicable when an incarcerated individual meets the time of an originally imposed sentence with an accrued sum of good time credit (Solomon, Kachnowski, & Bhati, 2005). The accumulated good time credit becomes the remaining portion of the original sentence to be served under the arrangement of community supervision (Ditton & Wilson, 1999; Solomon, Kachnowski, & Bhati, 2005). The rise of determinate sentencing and truth-in-sentencing laws, intended to make certain offenders serve a substantial portion of their prison term (Ditton & Wilson, 1999; Solomon, Kachnowski, & Bhati, 2005; Hanser 2010), led to the recognized favored position of mandatory release within the United States in present day (Maruschak & Parks, 2012). Mandatory release to community supervision was, in part, the focus when approving individuals to participate in this study.

From confinement to community. Mandatory supervision has a systematically placed social cost that influences the experience of fathering subsequent to an incarceration. Individuals afforded the exchange of institutional confinement for community living assent to an arrangement of specified terms and conditions. Research within the United States regarding parole conditions presents a pattern of jurisdictional similarity (Travis III & Stacey, 2010) suggesting a perceived commonality in the operational experiences realized by conditionally released individuals. Through service research Travis III and Stacey (2010) ascertained a universal compilation of parole conditions within the United States that includes agreement to acquire and maintain adequate employment, stable housing, payment of fines and restitution, participation in

educational programming, schedule and attendance at regular meetings with parole/probation officer, successful completion of substance abuse treatment or some series of therapeutic programming, refrain from association with court determined undesirable persons, and consistent upkeep of one's status of law-abiding citizenship. Although not exhaustive, the list of required commitments ordered for completion by supervised individuals can be daunting after extended isolation from the community (Hanser, 2010; Klingele, 2013).

An increase in the number of parole conditions per supervisee appears to be a growing trend resulting in a rise in technical violation convictions (Travis & Stacey, 2010). Of the number of persons released with community supervision requirements, approximately 40% return to prison for a new crime or technical violation (Travis & Stacey, 2010). The 2012 report by the Bureau of Justice Statistics made known that approximately 12% of the parolee population was re-incarcerated on the cause of parole violation by end of the year 2011 (Maruschak & Parks, 2012). By the end of 2013 27% of the state parole population was re-incarcerated due to parole violation (Carson & Golinelli, 2013). Although indicating a decrease in parole violation reincarceration from the previous year (Carson & Golinelli, 2013; Maruschak & Parks, 2012), parole violation penalties have a sure impact on the reintegration process like incarceration since a return to institutional confinement is the customary solution. The scope of commitment around parole supervision may interfere or interrupt the process of parent-child reunification and relationship permanence for fathers who are battling parental rights termination, foster care regulations, adoption proceedings, and an overall return to father involvement

(Hirsch, Dietrich, Landau, Schneider, Ackelsberg, Bernstein-Baker & Hohenstein, 2002; Martinez, 2010).

The process and activity of community reintegration following an incarceration particularly challenges men with child-rearing obligations. The quality of life experienced deteriorates more than prior to incarceration as a result of active criminal justice system involvement (i.e. parole and probation), challenges related to achieving a feasible level of stability, and re-establishing familial connection while negotiating personal needs and aspirations (Snyder, Wormer, Chadha & Jaggers, 2009). The issue of community reintegration for men is of concern particularly because incarceration impedes personal and social development (QCEA, 2011; Wilkinson, Magora, Garcia & Khurana, 2009), devalues the responsibility of manhood as accepted by offenders seeking a second chance (Arditti, Smock & Parkman, 2005; Roy & Dyson, 2010), invalidates ones' pursuit to actualize society's definition of "man" and "father" (Dyer, 2005; Marsh, 1988; Martinez, 2010), and reserves the value of trust generally afforded by society (Nelson, Deess & Allen, 2011).

The activity of community reintegration gives rise to oppressive behaviors by members of society finding cause to infringe on the basic human rights of formerly incarcerated individuals (Arditti, Smock & Parkman, 2005; Kenemore & Roldan, 2006; Woldoff & Washington, 2008; Wronka, 2008). Acknowledging self as a person undergoing the process of community reintegration inadvertently brings about restriction regarding opportunity and access to social privileges (Hirsch, Dietrich, Landau, Schneider & Ackelsberg, 2002; Piehl, 2009; Porporino & Robinson, 1992; Schneider, 2010), and proliferate social ills like discrimination and economic deficiency (Dowd, 2005; Gardner, Tuchman & Hawkins, 2010; Schindler & Coley, 2007; Schneider, 2010). The process of community reintegration also has significant implications for family (Caldwell, Rafferty, Reischl, Loney & Brooks, 2010; Griswold & Pearson, 2005; Pearson & Davis, 2003), community development and progression (Wronka, 2008).

Fathers and family. Arditti, Smock, and Parkman (2005) conducted a phenomenological study interviewing 51 middle-aged fathers with minor children who were anticipating an upcoming release. The methodological approach of this study incorporated Weiss and Fine's theory of method and the concept of people as meaning makers to produce descriptions of father experience one month preceding release. The eligible participants included incarcerated fathers with at least one child under the age of 18 years, a scheduled release date set one month after the interview, and having convictions not to include sex crimes or violent acts against a family member. Additional characteristics of participants included an average age of 35.5, more than half of participants being identified as Caucasian, having more than one child with more than one partner, approximately 85% having at least a high school diploma, and having a current average incarceration of 24 months. The interviews with 51 middle-aged fathers revealed the presence of helplessness and regret ("it's been hard to be a father"), identity shifts and ambivalence ("I really don't know whether to give up or try..."), parenting involvement ("I am being the best dad I can"), visitation difficulties ("they wonder where I am"), and variations in the father-mother relationship ("I feel like the mother is the problem", "she keeps us connected") (Arditti, Smock, & Parkman, 2005). The results of

the study confirmed that fathers experience difficulty maintaining a relationship with children during incarceration and harbor an intense desire to reunite and build a relational connection with children upon release.

Incarceration considerably impedes the communication and nurturing process between fathers and their children potentially beyond repair. A quantitative analysis conducted by Woldoff and Washington (2008) using a linear regression model to explore the engagement of fathers with their children revealed that on average formerly incarcerated fathers proved less engaged. Factors that likely contributed to the lack of engagement are suggested by the findings of the study to include the level of interference by way of penal supervision, impulsivity, a low degree of education, lack of employment, negative rapport with maternal counterpart, and age.

Researchers provided evidence on the importance of active family connection as a support mechanism to stabilize and maintain success following an incarceration. As previously referred, Arditti, Smock, and Parkman (2005) delivered an empirical investigation with incarcerated fathers in anticipation of community reentry and identified changes in father identity along with illustrations signifying the influence of family involvement in the social reintegration process. Kenemore and Roldan (2006) used grounded theory to explore the experience of 12 ex-offenders following an incarceration; eight men and four women between the ages of 28 and 55 years with a current release timeframe of one year or less. The participants were engaged in ten hourlong semi-structured interviews and received monetary compensation. The researchers reported a mutual history of abandonment, violence, early onset of criminal activity, and

failure among participants. More importantly, the studys researchers made known post incarceration experiences outlining matters related to perceived social isolation, strained access to necessities for survival (i.e. employment, housing, etc.), feelings of optimism and hope toward *staying straight*, and aspirations to become a role model for their children and others. The challenges identified in the study by Kenemore and Roldan bring understanding to the life stories of formerly incarcerated individuals and supports the overall value of positive family connection to encourage an optimal transition to life in the community.

For Martinez (2010) optimum existence within the community is most probable when formerly incarcerated individuals assume identities that influence pro-social behavior. Using the theory of role accumulation, Martinez conducted a qualitative investigation with 10 pairs of African American and Latino formerly incarcerated persons between the ages of 19 and 26 years. The research was achieved with active participation by family members of the identified formerly incarcerated persons. Martinez gave emphasis to the significance of upholding pro-social non-criminal identities to establish and maintain productive citizenship. The results of the study indicated that a pro-social role like that of father stimulates valuable interactions and relationships, leading to cognitive and emotive gratification given the tasks performed in accordance with the ascribed role. As studied by Martinez, formerly incarcerated males assuming the role of father are believed to have a greater probability for a positive value-based post incarceration life experience. Because a formerly incarcerated male assumes the role of father their propensity toward participation in illegitimate behavior is likely reduced.

In their study, Nelson, Deess, and Allen (2011) reported the outcomes of 49 individuals released from incarceration and returned to New York City under mandatory community supervision. More than half of the participants were males convicted of drugrelated offenses and had served time in a New York state institution for a period ranging from 2 to 36 months. The participants in this study completed seven interviews; the first two weeks prior to the date of release, the second at the time of release, the third 24-48 hours after release, the fourth, fifth and sixth taking place weekly, and the final interview happening 30-35 days after release. The researchers explored areas of employment, housing, substance use, and community resources. Nelson, Deess and Allen's research concerned with the issues of family support and influence is of particular importance. The participants in this study was asked to complete two scales, the Family Strength Index and Individual Success Index, introduced in conjunction with the seven interviews. Analysis of the data originating from the two scales indicated a strong relationship between family connection and individual success ($R^2 = .240, p < .0003$). The formerly incarcerated persons released within the first 30 days to strong supportive family association were more likely to experience success due to having an active means for stable subsistence, accountability, and encouragement.

Employment. As a condition of parole supervision, recent research conducted on the issue of reintegration and recidivism confirmed that employment and financial stability are essential to the success of formerly incarcerated individuals living in the community (Nunez-Neto, 2008; Varghese, Hardin, Bauer & Morgan, 2010; Visher, Winterfield & Coggeshall, 2005). The attitudes and judgments regarding formerly

incarcerated individuals and their capacity to perform satisfactorily within the work environment create a barrier to job access and opportunity (Pager, 2007; Pager & Quillian, 2005). Varghese, Hardin, Bauer and Morgan (2010) conducted a logistic regression analysis with 275 college students to examine attitudes in hiring practices of individuals with criminal histories. The results revealed that individuals with criminal histories were approximately 15% less likely referred for employment. There were fluctuations realized based on the severity of the offense. The degrees of severity related to an offense was a considerable factor noted by Visher, Winterfield, and Coggeshall (2005) in their quantitative synthesis and meta-analysis of 33 correctional vocational programs. The conclusions from the study advised the use of community employment assistance services to specifically support individuals without a GED or high school diploma, little to no work history, and a recent conviction involving incarceration.

Employment training and placement is a necessary resource to repel economic hardship and preserve means of survival, regardless of personal background. Article 23 of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights reinforces that position by the established freedom code that states, "everyone has the right to work, to free choice of employment, to just and favorable conditions of work and to protection against unemployment" (Wronka, 2008, p. 284). Yet, individuals returning home following an incarceration are met with rejection, restriction, and disadvantage regarding opportunities for employment (Lewis Jr., Garfinkel, & Gao, 2007). Formerly incarcerated individuals confront a disadvantaged reality as a job-seeker regardless of active willingness to provide full disclosure of criminal justice history and full display of pro-social attitudes and behaviors applicable to the workplace.

Success in acquiring employment allows for the ongoing financial support that essentially provides stability in the parent-child relationship. Finding gainful employment alleviates the impulse to engage in criminal activity for purposes of survival and subsistence which violate parole conditions and other commitments toward rehabilitation (Griswold & Pearson, 2005; Nelson, Deess & Allen, 2011). The challenges around obtaining steady employment following an incarceration bring attention to the fact that any connection to the criminal justice system is a costly disadvantage.

Child Support. A significant portion of criminal justice system involved individuals are parents with minor children. By midyear 2007, Glaze and Maruschak (2010) reported that an estimated 809,800 state and federal detainees were parents to minor children. Of the calculated 1,518,535 incarcerates within our nation's borders in 2007, 52% of state detainees and 63% of federal detainees were a parent to at least one minor child (Glaze & Maruschak, 2010). The number of parents incarcerated increased by 79% between 1991 and 2007 that undoubtedly increased the number of child support claims generated. The results from a study conducted by Sorensen and Zibman (2000) revealed that child support may account for nearly 40% of a family's income; however, the actual payment of child support becomes an issue when factors of race, economic status, education, and criminal background come into play.

The impact of legislation like child support is suggested to stimulate an avoidance response in newly released parents who do not possess the means to satisfy such legally-

based financial obligations (Griswold & Pearson, 2005; May, 2004; Roberts, 2001; Sachs, 2000; Turetsky, 2007) despite legislative presumptions (Harris, 2011). Formerly incarcerated individuals are potentially subject to as much as 65% garnishment of wages after obtaining employment (Griswold & Pearson, 2005; Huang, Mincy, & Garfinkel, 2005; Roberts, 2001; Solomon-Fears, 2009). With the existence of state statutes that permits arrest and incarceration for failure in adhering to child support orders (Brito, 2013; Evans, 2014), newly released parents commonly request for assistance in meeting child support obligations (Pearson & Griswold, 2005). Although release violations do not occur specifically for inability to pay child support fines, the potential for re-arrest presents the prospect for violation. The potential for crisis due to elevated strain and stress is sure (Gideon, 2009; Griswold & Pearson, 2005; Roberts, 2001; Sachs, 2000) particularly due to the strain caused by debt repayment seeking efforts of collection authorities (Cammett, 2006; Hanser, 2010).

Research confirms that child support reduces child/family poverty (Solomon-Fears, 2009; Sorensen & Zibman, 2000), yet the payment of such obligation can be made only when suitable income is present and consistent. Laws guiding child support enforcement are state specific although the national standard in execution is to successfully collect payment on behalf of the minor child. The experience or state of incarceration in many instances does not qualify one for termination or deferment of child support obligations (Pearson, 2004). Additionally, incarcerated individuals may be responsible for retroactive pay, birth costs, court fees, and interests especially if the custodial parent is receiving welfare benefits (May 2004). The existence of child support debt coupled with anticipated hardships of finding employment due to having a criminal history creates high levels of stress that could potentially lead to an episode of a crisis (Cammett, 2006; Griswold & Pearson, 2005; Roberts, 2001; Sachs, 2000).

Housing. Securing suitable housing, as it is declared an innate freedom under the Universal Declaration of Human Rights (Wronka, 2008), is not effortless or void of significant challenge for fathers following an incarceration. Formerly incarcerated individuals face difficulty acquiring or occupying "suitable" housing; suffering eviction or being subject to extreme liabilities (Hirsch, Dietrich, Landau, Schneider, & Ackelsberg, 2002; Schneider, 2010). The research reported by Nelson, Deess, and Allen (2011), Kenemore and Roldan (2006), and Naser and Visher (2006) confirmed that family support is vital for formerly incarcerated individuals for purposes of lodging accommodation.

During the time of incarceration family relationships are at risk of becoming strained, posing intense difficulty concerning reentry for the incarcerated individual (Geller & Curtis, 2011). Some of the research uncovered on the issue of family relationship strain assert that family members distance themselves because their incarcerated loved one becomes a burden financially and emotionally (Naser & Visher, 2006), and the facility where their loved one is contained is outside a perceived reasonable travel distance (QCEA, 2011). The family of an incarcerated individual may respond to their loved one with abrupt inattentiveness as a result of shame and anger over the nature of the offense (Schneider, 2010). Any expression of perceived suspicion around paternity or inability to maintain child support by an incarcerated individual likely causes conflict and strain which establishes a relationship barrier between the incarcerated and their significant other (Pearson & Davis, 2003; Wilkinson, Magora, Garcia, & Khurana, 2009). Consequently, when there is no active or available family support, attaining suitable housing is a serious challenge for individuals reintegrating back into the community (Schneider, 2010).

The persons obligated under the program of parole are responsible for securing suitable housing to support the montoring and assessment mission of community supervision (Travis III & Stacey, 2010; Yahner, Visher, & Solomon, 2008). It is not uncommon for an individual to be released from a correctional setting without suitable long-term housing in the community (Walker, Hempel, Unnithan, & Pogrebin, 2014). The potential for a discontinuation of housing causing formerly incarcerated persons to endure multiple relocations is also probable (Yahner, Visher, & Solomon, 2008; Harding, Morenoff, & Herbert, 2013). The challenges around securing suitable housing may not be accepted as reasonable justification for failing to follow a housing plan or either acquire suitable housing within the community. To walk away from a containment facility to live in the community without the security of suitable housing accommodations leaves one to consider undesirable and less dignified options such as public shelter, boarding with strangers, sleeping in abandoned buildings or other low traffic areas within the community (i.e. parks, alleys, inoperative bridges, etc.) (Geller & Curtis, 2011). In such cases, the odds for successful reintegration are slim because the individual becomes susceptible to former destructive attitudes and behaviors (Nelson, Deess & Allen, 2011), counteracting any progress made while reintegrating back into the community.

Education. Research on education with formerly incarcerated adults provides evidence of impact on the process of reintegration (Osborne & West, 1979; Pearson & Davis, 2003; Porporino & Robinson, 1992). Low degrees of intellectual ability have been linked to anti-social behavior in both children and adults (Holland, Clare & Mukhopadhyay, 2002; Lindsay, Taylor, & Sturney, 2004; Loeber, Burke, Lahey, Winters, & Zera, 2000) making access, availability and opportunity for education even more significant. The fathers who seek to improve or reignite relationships with their children following an incarceration may experience difficulty in assisting with academic or learning needs (Booth & Booth, 1993; Gale & Cosden, 1997), and therefore may internalize a notion of failure when presented with such challenges by their children.

Formerly incarcerated fathers who are engaged in educational programming may experience a decrease in anxiety around perceptions of incompetence, increase the capacity to confidently support children in learning and other academic interests, as well as build confidence in commitments toward rehabilitation (Fagan & Stevenson, 2002; Lamb & Tamis-Lemonda, 2004). Because low degrees of intellectual ability has been linked to anti-social behavior, educational pursuits by formerly incarcerated fathers may influence pro-social behaviors in children, family and familiar individuals within the community. Improved intellectual ability advances the capacity for employability and widens the access and opportunity to higher wage earning positions to meet financial obligations particularly around the care of children (Matsuyama & Prell, 2010; Shapiro, 1999). Education, with all its wonderful attributes, may not be perceived as such in view of community reintegration challenges following an incarceration (Listwan, Cullen, & Latessa, 2006; Thompson, 2004). Formerly incarcerated fathers may find educational activities to be a challenge to family reunification and preservation because of the need to devote one's time (Scott-Hayward, 2011); a high valued commodity after an incarceration.

Time. The value and use of time have a relationship to a person's behavior patterns and perspectives (Brisline & Kim, 2003; Matsumoto & Juang, 2008). In the United States, the perception of and orientation to time are distinguished by the idea of clock time which emphasizes the seconds, minutes, and hours present in the day as opposed to the events or experiences that take place therein (Brisline & Kim, 2003). A clock time orientation provides an understanding in regards to the attitude toward flexibility and pace of time. Punctuality, for example, is of most importance and lateness is considered a blatant disregard for the value of one's time (Brisline & Kim, 2003).

Considering the view and use of time in the context of formerly incarcerated fathers returning to the community is important and necessary, especially for individuals who spend a significant sum of time satisfying community supervision directives. Measuring father involvement using a multivariate analysis, Yeung, Sandberg, Davis-Kean and Hofferth (2001) discovered that the degree of external obligation outside the home (i.e. work, school) decreases the amount of time spent with children. An increase of involvement was found present particularly during the weekend suggesting a decline in external obligation, thus leaving availability for family-specific activity.

For supervised individuals, community corrections authority designates and consumes usage of time that necessitates mandatory directives as a top priority. A failure to adhere and complete required daily tasks is no excuse on the part of the supervised, and is as well laden with consequences. However, family involvement particularly related to children has an expectation of one's time that perhaps introduces a conflict despite the mandatory directives given by the corrections authority.

Parental Rights Termination. In 2008, research attentive to the United States estimated 1.7 million children with at least one parent incarcerated (Glaze & Maruschak, 2010; Solomon-Fears, 2009). Of the more than 800,000 persons released back into the community under court restricted supervision, almost half of them were parents of minor children (as cited in Travis & Stacey, 2010; Glaze & Maruschak, 2010; Solomon-Fears, 2009). Because research suggests that family reunification and restoration is beneficial to the reentry process the issue of parental rights termination is a worthy topic for discussion.

The Adoption and Safe Families Act of 1997, enacted by former President Bill Clinton, requires states to terminate the rights of a parent who has a child sustained in an out of home placement for 15 months within a 22-month timeframe (Child Welfare, 2011). If the child is under kinship care or determination is made that parental rights termination is not in the best interest of the child, termination is circumvented (Child Welfare, 2011). The legislation also gives states the ability to make independent determinations regarding the guidelines surrounding parental rights termination (Solomon-Fears, 2009). In Alaska and California, for example, legislation has been enacted that "relieves the state of making reasonable efforts to reunify families" (Travis, McBride & Solomon, 2005, p. 8) specifically in cases where reunification is perceived inappropriate or harmful to the child (Child Welfare, 2011).

The state of Kansas outlines justification for the termination of parental rights within a statute regarding the care of children (Revised Kansas Code, 2014). According to statute 38-2269, a court of law "may terminate parental rights...when the court finds by clear and convincing evidence that the parent is unfit by reason of conduct or condition which renders the parent unable to care properly for a child and the conduct or condition is unlikely to change in the foreseeable future" (Revised Kansas Code, 2014). There are a variety of conditions that apply to involuntary termination of parental rights including conviction of a felony and imprisonment, failure to pay child support, and "lack of effort on the part of the parent to adjust parent's circumstances, conduct or conditions to meet the needs of the child" (Revised Kansas Code, 2014). With the highest number of termination criteria, the state of Kansas agitates a growing concern around the issue of parental rights termination (Novak, 2013).

The matter of parental rights termination, as a result of the Adoption and Safe Families Act of 1997, intensified with regard to incarcerated and formerly incarcerated fathers despite the positive impact the parent-child relationship is believed to have on recidivism (CCJ, 2006; Genty, 2002). Between the years 1997 and 2002, the number of reported parental rights termination cases among people in the criminal justice system grew by 250 percent in contrast to a 30 percent growth between the years 1992 and 1997 (Genty, 2002). In that, parental rights termination is an imminent threat for incarcerated and formerly incarcerated individuals; one that is a huge challenge to battle (Schneider, 2002). The notice of involuntary termination of parental rights for an active institutionalized parent is overwhelming, demoralizing, and stressful although involvement is limited. Learning about an involuntary termination of parental rights subsequent to returning home from an incarceration is damaging to the hopeful father anticipating increased parental involvement with his child. Additionally, an involuntary termination of parental rights weakens familial support toward efforts around reintegration and parent-child reunification.

In a different perspective, parental rights termination is a beneficial policy executed on behalf of children whose parents are abusive (mentally, emotionally, and physically) to them and others. This policy is useful as well as when executed in cases where the parent suffers from severe mental instability. To consider the direct impact a statute of this nature has on the community is also appropriate. For example, the cost of kinship and foster care has an expensive tag that is potentially burdensome to tax paying citizens due to the allocations of state funds to support such placements (Solomon-Fears, 2009). The social, mental, and emotional costs associated with this kind of care is felt by the child, his/her family, and the appointed caretaker (Travis, McBride & Solomon, 2005).

The present dispute around parental rights termination remains at a heightened level. In recent times, the Supreme Court of New Jersey ruled against the states' child protective services agency who sought to terminate the rights of a father on account of his extended period of incarceration (DYFS v. R.G. and J.G., 2014). The New Jersey child protective services agency was judged unsuccessful in proving by clear and convincing evidence that parental rights termination was needed. Consequently, incarceration was rejected as being sufficient for the termination of parental rights. In general, overtly acknowledging a formerly incarcerated person for performing successfully in the role of a parent is unconventional practice. Formerly incarcerated fathers are subject to an arbitrary judgment declaring them incompetent or conceivably unsuccessful given their history of criminal justice involvement (Genty, 2002). As favored and promoted by Schneider (2002), formerly incarcerated fathers are believed to have the capacity to hold a loving, caring parental relationship with their children regardless of criminal involvement or history.

In spite of state and federal efforts, it is meaningful to note that the legal establishment of parenting does not negate the moral, value-based, and innate association and sense of duty that compels one to act in the manner that constitutes fathering. The dynamics of the parent-child relationship are immensely complex and cannot be regulated completely by a court of law (O'Donnell, 2010).

Health and Mental Health. An experience of physical and mental health decline is an extremely probable consequence for most incarcerates due to the closely confined nature of correctional environments, and the state of overcrowding and sub-par ventilation (Fazel & Baillargeon, 2010; Hammett, 2006; MacNeil, Lobato, & Moore, 2005). The individuals detained in correctional institutions for reasons related to committing an offense typically enter with pre-conditions of health and mental health, and usually experience some degree of deterioration while incarcerated. The ailments of high concern for correctional institutions include HIV/AIDS (Bryan, Robbins, Ruiz, & O'Neill, 2006; Hammett, 2006), hepatitis B and C (Fazel & Baillargeon, 2010; Harzke, Baillargeon, Paar, Pulvino, & Murray, 2009), tuberculosis (MacNeil, Lobato, & Moore, 2005; Noeske, 2012), diabetes (Greifinger, 2007), psychosis, bipolar, schizophrenia and major depression (Baillargeon, Penn, Thomas, Temple, Baillargeon, & Murray, 2009; Caverley, 2006), sexual and physical violence (Kerbs & Jolley, 2007; Wolff, Blitz, Shi, Bachman, & Siegel, 2006; Wolff & Shi, 2009), suicide (Bonner, 2006; Spaulding, Seals, McCallum, Perez, Brzozowski, & Steenland, 2011) and other causes of death (Fazel & Benning, 2006; Useem & Piehl, 2006). The conditions of HIV/AIDS, hepatitis C, and tuberculosis are experienced among incarcerated individuals at a rate five to ten times higher than the general public (Hammett, Roberts, & Kennedy, 2001; LaVigne & Cowan, 2005).

The individuals returning to the community following an incarceration have elevated medical concerns that may involve issues related to mental health (Cuddeback, Corsi, Long, Booth, Kutner, & Steiner, 2011; Mallik-Kane &Visher, 2008). In research conducted by Cuddeback, Scheyett, Pettus-Davis, and Morrissey (2010), formerly incarcerated individuals are more likely to suffer from infectious diseases, blood disorders, skin disorders, co-occurring substance use disorders, and schizophrenia. Formerly incarcerated individuals are more likely to suffer from multiple medical conditions including general medical-related ailments (Cuddeback et al., 2010). The suffering severity of a medical-related ailment may reduce any inclination of realizing a favorable state of health, being convincingly employable, and the capacity to achieve a state of overall stability during the process of reintegration (Mallik-Kane & Visher, 2008).

Formerly incarcerated individuals are estimated to have originated from disadvantaged minority-based communities where they likely return during the process of reintegration (Western, 2006; Wheeler & Patterson, 2008). There is a high probability that the communities receiving formerly incarcerated persons requiring physical and mental health support lack the ability to provide the necessary treatment services for them to maintain optimal health (LaVigne & Cowan, 2005; Luther, Reichert, Holloway, Roth, & Aalsma, 2011; Wheeler & Patterson, 2008). After their return to the community, formerly incarcerated individuals typically require follow-up treatment to manage their specific physical and mental health-related conditions after the first 30 days of release (Binswanger et al., 2011). Access barriers to treatment may include a lack of knowledge of available services and how to access them, long wait times at mental and physical health care facilities, the absence of providers to refill chronic medications as necessary, challenges in obtaining proof of citizenship documents (i.e. birth certificate, social security card, driver's license, etc.), excessive fees required to pay for medication and treatment services, and the inability of treatment services to match the individuals' level of need (Binswanger et al., 2011; Luther et al., 2011; Mallik-Kane & Visher, 2008). The lack of access and continuation of access to medical support services enhances the challenges faced during the reintegration process.

The experience of failing efforts to seek assistance leads formerly incarcerated individuals to declare their health as either fair or poor by their eighth month in the community (Mallik-Kane & Visher, 2008). The formerly incarcerated men with poor

health are at a greater risk during the process of reintegration than those with fairly good health. A significant risk is the experience of reincarceration. Formerly incarcerated men suffering from poor health conditions have been reported to experience reincarceration at a higher rate (Mallik-Kane, & Visher, 2008) perhaps as a result of reengaging in crimebased activities (Belenko, 2006; Binswanger et al., 2011; Golembeski & Fullilove, 2005; Luther et al., 2011). The perceived quality of physical and mental health not only increases the probability of reincarceration but has an influence as well on life expectancy.

Within the first 30 days of return to the community, formerly incarcerated individuals are at an extremely high risk of death (Rich, Wakeman, & Dickman, 2011; Wakeman, McKinney, & Rich, 2009); much greater than during incarceration (Binswanger, Stern, Deyo, Heagerty, Cheadle, Elmore, & Koepsell, 2007). Individuals with previous substance abuse history are likely to relapse during this time increasing the risk for experiencing overdose (Belenko, 2006). An experience of a drug overdose has been found to be a primary cause of death among newly released individuals in addition to cardiovascular disease, homicide, and suicide (Binswanger et al., 2007). The presence of mental and emotional upset may come prior to a relapse of substance use for previous abusers introducing the potential to dismiss any possibility of successful reintegration back into the community.

Questions surrounding the association between incarceration, health care costs and community well-being have been raised in view of the high rate of incarceration in the United States (Ahalt, Binswanger, Steinman, Tulsky, & Williams, 2011; Golembeski & Fullilove, 2005). The high rate of infectious and non-contagious chronic disease, physical disability, substance abuse, and mental health experienced by the population of incarcerated and formerly incarcerated individuals is deemed a threat to society (Binswanger, Redmond, Steiner, & Hicks, 2011). The community-based transmission of diseases, the cost of social programs for the treatment and management of conditions, and the potential for incidence of violence due to relapse or psychological breakdown is of concern (Baillargeon & Hoge, 2010; Belenko, 2006; Clear, 2007; Mallik-Kane & Visher, 2008; Rich, Wakeman, & Dickman, 2011; Wakeman, McKinney, & Rich, 2009).

Because of the specialized need for care among formerly incarcerated individuals with health and mental health concerns, family support is likely to be lower than one without these conditions (Mallik-Kane & Visher, 2008). A formerly incarcerated father having low family support conceivably leaves a child susceptible to the effects of long standing paternal absence, and a father existing outside the reality of ongoing paternal engagement.

Contemplating African American Fathering

African American fathers experience the same challenges outlined previously related to the population of incarcerated individuals. However, the effect of community reintegration for African American fathers following an incarceration is understood to be positioned within the context of realities around the African American existence in the United States (Unnever, 2014). A discussion about African American fathers may be incomplete without giving thought to this history. Unnever and Gabbidon (2011) posit that African Americans exist with a racialized worldview that shapes their beliefs and behaviors in relationship to self and others. Therefore, an understanding of the lived experiences of African Americans living in the United States is only possible when ascertained within a context of race-relations (Unnever & Gabbidon, 2011).

The cultural nuances specific to African Americans may alter the perception of a father's experience and may change the way in which the reality of parenting is described. Situating the realities of the African American experience into a workable perspective creates the framework for an increased awareness of culturally specific matters that may shape the African American fathers' post incarceration experience in parenting. In the next section, a profile of the African American historical and present day experience in the United States is given. The discussion concludes with an outline of possible impressions assumed by formerly incarcerated African American fathers managing the process of community reintegration.

Racism: plague from a dark past. In ancient history and throughout the late middle ages, identification of a person or group was articulated void statements about physical features, but of attributes akin to geography, language, occupation, patterns of behavior, and religion (Coombs, 2013; Smedley, 1998). Ancient understanding and practice of identification and group representation are believed to have been abandoned during the colonial era by the first generation of European settlers within the borders of what is presently known as the United States (Plous & Williams, 1995; Smedley, 1998). Individual and group identity was given a characterization that rested on the belief that one group, the *white representation*, is superior to all other groups (Rodriguez, 2007). Consequently, race identity and racism were introduced exploiting the physical features

89

of a human being, particularly the color of one's skin (Arat, 2006).

Racism, the immoral plague infecting American society, has been recognized as a socially invented construct (Arat, 2006; Berry, 2015). The beliefs and intentions of racism were instituted through the practice and public justification of slavery driven by the white representation (Arat, 2006; Feagin, 2014). The distorted consciousness of racial identity advanced purposes centered around inferiority, oppression, discrimination, prejudice, intolerance, and stereotyping (Arat, 2006; Bankston, 2006; Feagin, 2014; Rodriguez, 2007; Smedley, 1998; Spooner, 1997). In promoting this altered view of identity, a racialized hierarchy was established and supported giving social meaning to the physical characteristics of a human being.

The operation of racism. The early 1600s through the late 1800s marks the era of human trafficking and trading when Africans immigrated to what is presently known as the United States and forced into a position of dehumanization and oppression (Coombs, 2013; Degler, 1959; Rodriguez, 2007). First generation Africans to the states and their enslaved descendants braved hundreds of years in bondage catering to the greed, ill will, and attitude of inferiority held by the white representation (Wilson, 2012; Rodriguez, 2007). An unquestionable allegiance to supremacy was the absolute demand (Balkin & Levinson, 2012; Spooner, 1997). The operation of slavery subjected the first generation of enslaved Africans and their enslaved descendants to physical abuse and torture, intimidation, isolation, sexual exploitation, moral, intellectual, and psychological deterioration (Altman, 1997; Rodriguez, 2007; Taylor, 2005). The first generation of enslaved Africans and their enslaved descendants were stripped of natural existence and

citizenry by the white representation who fabricated a realization of barbarism, repulsiveness and animal likeness, explicitly pronouncing this group as being only threefifths of a human (Maltz, 2013; Rodriguez, 2007).

The practice of slavery forbid the first generation of enslaved Africans and their enslaved descendants from owning property, attaining education, participating in governance (i.e. vote, uphold the presidency, etc.), or exercising choice related to life, liberty, justice, and the pursuit of happiness (Balkin & Levinson, 2012). To uphold a lasting white republic, the enslaved were conditioned as chattel and suppressed mostly without guilt or a sense of moral decay being acknowledged by perpetrators (Feagin, 2014). There were oppressive practices imposed for the sake of satisfying an appetite for money, power, opportunity, and privilege eligible to only those defined free (Spooner, 1997). Slavery, therefore, was no more than a vehicle used to uphold the constructed ideology and system of superiority by the publicly perceived majority. The experience of slavery was ruthless and cruel as publicized by the accounts of men who recalled their memory of being a slave and described it characteristically in common with existing as a wild animal (Public Broadcasting Service, 2005).

The reality of slavery was the manifestation of a racist ideology that appealed to the immoral disdain held by the white representation against individuals and groups determined different and inferior. Pro-slave owners and supporters legally and morally justified slavery using biblical scriptures as evidence. The "curse of Ham", based on the biblical account of ancient Egypt's' slavery program, was put forth by the white representation as proof that Africans were divinely destined to a life of slavery (Rodriguez, 2007). While pro-slave owners and supporters proclaimed the curse of Ham, the enslaved declared a divine destiny of triumphant liberation as evidenced by the deliverance of God's people from Egyptian slavery through the work of Moses. The Bible created a spiritual grounding that instilled an unwavering faith, hope, and resilience within the hearts and minds of the first generation of enslaved Africans and their enslaved descendants. The belief in a higher power and biblical scriptures as absolute truth shaped the foundation of identity and unity amid turmoil and depravity.

The operation of racism maintained white-on-black dominance (Feagin, 2014). In time, the misery and exasperated immoral treatment experienced by the first generation of enslaved Africans and their enslaved descendants incited nonconformist initiatives by both advocates and the enslaved insisting rights of freedom (Altman, 1997; Taylor, 2005). The institution and practice of slavery was upheld by the U.S. Supreme Court prior to constitutional abolishment in 1865 with the enactment of the thirteenth amendment. Immediately following the constitutional abolishment of slavery arose a systematic program to deny African Americans their emancipated rights under the United States Constitution. Using the tenth amendment as justification, the states took legal efforts to replace slave laws by creating *black codes* that were purposed to bind African Americans to social, economic, political, and physical oppression (Altman, 1997; Sigler, 1998). Becoming an American citizen came at a high cost partially paid with an immense amount of bloodshed and tears. Sorrowfully, the cost of freedom required even more.

Unrelenting battle against racism. Racial inequality failed to cease with the constitutional abolishment of slavery. Perhaps, the existence of racially devised

difference was maintained and elevated in many respects to compensate for the legal ban on slavery. The era of reconstruction, marked by the period of 1865 through 1880, began a new phase of life within the United States for African Americans. Acquiring lawful citizenship as an African American within the states was welcomed perhaps as a social rebirth endowed with both civil and public rights (Franke, 1999). However, the newly gained rights were exercised as defined and regulated by the dominant majority (Franke, 1999). The formation of black codes placed strict parameters on rights assumed by African Americans for the purpose of controlling their integration into society and preserving white purity (Sigler, 1998). The efforts to become a civilized people within the states were not met without much struggle, sacrifice, and daunting persistence by African Americans. To their dismay, the year 1881 presented a new obstruction toward the fight for equality with the rise of the Jim Crow caste system.

The ideology of racism held by the white representation was sustained as the status quo by establishing a legal and authoritative act for segregation. The Jim Crow system of social control, expansion of the black codes, openly permitted discrimination and prejudice against African Americans that was expressly made justifiable using various tactics consisting of eugenics, theology, Darwinism, science, and political rhetoric (Goff, Williams, Eberhardt, & Jackson, 2008; Sigler, 1998). African Americans existed from a position of segregation in every facet of life – separate schools, churches and Bibles, libraries, hospitals, prisons, neighborhoods, entrances to public places, travel, cemeteries, playgrounds, drinking fountains, restrooms, restaurants, and other life-related affairs (Carter, 2008; Fass, 2004; Jim Crow Museum, 2014). Any open resistance, or

perceived resistance, to the program of segregation brought an assortment of consequences that included unjust jailing, confiscation of property, shooting, lynching, castration, dismemberment, and burning (Rodriguez, 2007). The organized groups like that of the Ku Klux Klan carried out cruel and undue acts of violence against African Americans that were utterly condoned (Arat, 2006; Bankston, 2006; Rodriguez, 2007). There proved little protection for African Americans, particularly in the south, attributable to the existence of an anti-equality justice system controlled by the white representation.

Segregation became the painstaking undignified standard of American life for African Americans for over 85 years. In the course of that time, constant portrayal and emphasis on the "inferior being" ideology was proliferated by socially segregated norms and images established in the culture (Fass, 2004). As part of that standard, African Americans were incessantly insulted without just recourse. Derogatory exclamations magnified resentment held by African Americans who were referred to as niggers, coons, darkies, monkeys, apes, and bastards (Fass, 2004; Goff, Williams, Eberhardt, & Jackson, 2008; Pilgrim, 2012). African Americans were disenfranchised civilly being subjected to unfair testing to vote or participate in democracy (Franke, 1999). There were disproportional realities in education with the presence of ill-prepared teachers, repetitious teaching practices due to an inadequate academic curriculum, lack of access to academic resources, and use of rundown facilities (Branch, 2015; Fairclough, 2000; Fass, 2004). Acquiring an education was also pursued in secret or engaged in by students using extreme caution as explained by Susie King who recalled wrapping her books in paper to hide them (Smithsonian National Museum of American History, 2015).

In entertainment, music was segregated referring to works of African American artists as *race records*, prior to being coined *rhythm and blues*, and marketed under the social order of segregation (Roy, 2004). African Americans used in commercialized works were obliged to perform *coon songs* while commonly depicted in grotesque exaggeration (Mahar, 1999; Roy, 2004) to maintain a dehumanized characterization of being like a raccoon (i.e. lazy, inarticulate, easily frightened, chronically idle, etc.) (Pilgrim, 2012). One of the great African American artists of this era, Robert Allen Cole [1868-1911], began his musical career as a coon-song composer and produced the work *Mr. Coon, You're all Right in Your Place* that dramatized the sadistic stereotype ascribed to African American men. The work draws attention to the era's common sentiments that labeled African American men as hypersexualized vicious deviants and illustrated the common unjust action of lynching (Library of Congress, 2014).

In other aspects of existence, African Americans were restricted from patronizing certain eateries or required to utilize the "blacks only" entrances such as a back door or alley. There were restrictions on travel as evidenced by the Negro Motorist Green Book published from 1936 through 1964 identifying the roadways, hotels, tourist homes, restaurants, shops, service stations, and taverns that were safe for African Americans to visit (NY Public Library, 2015; Seiler, 2006). African Americans negotiated many risks of harm when traveling by car, and were limited to "blacks only" sections of trains and buses when using public accommodations (Carter, 2008).

A social bias and ignorance affected all facets of life for members of the African American community. As the years progressed, expressions of rejection toward the Jim Crow social order was made by African Americans and supporters of equal rights that took the form of riots, protests, boycotts, and various political movements. The role of the U.S. Supreme Court added to the significance of this era in history. The 1896 landmark ruling by the U.S. Supreme Court in *Homer A. Plessy v. John H. Ferguson* gave credence to racial segregation making it lawful for states to function consistent with an agenda of oppression. The U.S. Supreme Court 1954 ruling in *Brown v. Board of Education* generated momentum for the national civil equality movement by declaring segregated schools unconstitutional. Although the 1954 ruling did not overturn the *Homer A. Plessy v. John H. Ferguson* decision, upholding racial segregation in public accommodations was a landmark decision that corroborated anti-segregation sentiment.

For the purposes of this discussion, all the details concerning the condition and magnitude of experience for African Americans during the Jim Crow era must be reserved. It is fitting to note that the everyday life experience of African Americans in the social context of the Jim Crow era required one to yield to practices of exclusion and hate centered on an overtly manifested acceptance of white-on-black dominance. African Americans stood on the bravery and hope of their ancestors fighting the powers that lived by demanding complete and equal rights to life, liberty, justice, and the pursuit of happiness. A host of courageous and committed leaders and organizations were birthed and operated during this time that sacrificially fought for the cause of equality. The Civil Rights Act of 1964 marked the end of the Jim Crow caste system. Nevertheless, the uninterrupted strife by reason of its existence lingers.

Still an unsettled community. African Americans continue in the fight for equality even now being 50 years beyond the era of Jim Crow. Though progress has been made the struggle remains without a definitive end (Wilson, 2012). While negotiating the discriminatory effects against their survival, African Americans have to wrestle with a marginalized existence. Presently, the communities and neighborhoods where formerly incarcerated African Americans commonly reside are debilitated and depressed by homelessness, unemployment, low education, parental absence, crime, alcohol and drug addiction, drug trafficking, gang association and violence, lack of access to sustaining resources, community blight, and poor community relations (Alexander, 2012; Wilson, 2011; Wilson, 2012). These concerns show evidence of deterioration within the African American community and were deemed an after-effect of slavery (Moynihan, 1965). An after-effect presumed intentional. Outlined in the blueprint of American civilization was the desire to sustain a racially divided society (Degler, 1959; Spooner, 1997). A plan that formerly enslaved Frederick Douglas has been recalled to have projected would transition African Americans from a state of being a "slave to an individual" to "the slave of society" (as cited in Feagin, 2014).

Racial hierarchy and racialized identity render a struggle for African Americans to overcome the remnants of a dark past involving slavery. The contamination of race consciousness by the philosophical declarations of the white majority has infected all social and political systems of American society (Alexander, 2012; Wilson, 2012; Unnever, 2014). The influence of a flawed ideology of race drives pessimistic opinions about African American men. The sentiments are expressed typically by terms like gangster, hustler, and thug, propagating the stereotype of being untrustworthy, unruly, dangerous, and incorrigible (Bankston, 2009; Slatton & Spates, 2014; Tyler, 2014). A study conducted by Unnever (2014) revealed that such stereotypes heighten the likelihood an African American male will commit an offense. Conversely, the stress of living in view of socially constructed unfavorable stereotypes lead African American men to shift and change their behavior to alleviate any tension that may arise from their presence when around others (Franklin & Boyd-Franklin, 2000; Slatton & Spates, 2014). The rate and degree to which this kind of behavior shifting occurs among African American males is regrettably unknown.

The influence of a flawed ideology of race has an impact on how people publicly and privately relate to African American men. The disturbing demoralizing person-toperson exchanges in present day tend to employ communication tactics historically used to achieve racially biased intents. Offensive language and ridicule, for instance, may be used to express hostility or contempt without the threat of physical harm. An illustration of this point can be found in reviewing the lyrics of the racist chant uttered by members of the Sigma Alpha Epsilon college fraternity at the University of Oklahoma (Moyer, 2015). The members of the fraternity used the racial slur *nigger* and referenced the unjust act of lynching in a chant purposed to express open rejection to the inclusion of African American students as members of the fraternity. To further illustrate the impact of racism, a city police officer in White Plains New York made a racially offensive remark to an African American male before he was fatally shot by the second responding officer. His offensive remark, "we have to talk nigger," was explained by alleging the individual was "emotionally disturbed" (Liebson, 2012). A substitute teacher at an Illinois middle school was reported using the racial slur *nigger* several times during an 80-minute class, directing this remark toward the students who were present (Weingus, 2014).

Intentional acts of hostility, contempt, and hatred against African Americans can be executed by individuals within the same community. A non-profit administrator was federally prosecuted for racially offensive outbursts made to African American employees (Cawthon & Sgueglia, 2013). Account of the outbursts by the non-profit administrator was reported to last for several minutes in length and included utterances of the racial slur *nigger* asserting justification in its use as a depiction of character or disposition. The media reports, eyewitness accounts, and expert commentary on happenings like the ones mentioned have reawakened and reenergized widespread conversations and social movement on the subject of racial discrimination, prejudice, and intolerance. Any sense of weariness felt by the African American community may at times overshadow in progressing the current struggle, but every triumph is imagined to deliver momentum to withstand the fight against all acts of hate-induced unjust treatment (Maron, 2015).

Society's way of thinking about and characterizing African American men remains problematic. Despite all efforts expended over the course of many years to overcome social bias, African Americans are still regularly confronted by the civil and political prejudice that overruled the past (Alexander, 2015; Dowd, 2012; Leap, 2015; Pieterse & Carter, 2007). African American men are likely judged negatively or perceived threatening in ordinary everyday life circumstances (Taylor, 2014; Wilson, 2012). For example, when seen wearing a dark hooded sweater, driving an expensive car in a certain neighborhood, or reciting rap lyrics while walking down the street, passive spectators then typecast African American men according to unfavorable socially constructed views (Johnson & Stanford, 2002). African American men observe unwarranted reactions to their presence that may be revealed by, for instance, a woman clutching her purse in passing or when being followed while in a store in search for a particular item to purchase (Franklin & Boyd-Franklin, 2000). Events like these indicate a long-lasting stereotype that characterizes African American men as unruly, dangerous, and incorrigible (Bankston, 2009; Slatton & Spates, 2014; Tyler, 2014). Judgment becomes increasingly harsh when the individual is known to have involvement with the criminal justice system.

The leader of the United States, President Barack Obama, publicly proclaimed that the spirit and appearance of racism are presently found in every aspect of life (Maron, 2015). The United States system of criminal justice is believed to be the most common form of racial bias against African Americans and plays a significant role in shaping the lived experience of African American men (Alexander, 2012). According to the International Centre for Prison Studies (2015), the United States has the second highest rate of incarceration in the world, achieving a 500 percent increase over the last 30 years. Totaling over 2.2 million, the United States also has the largest prison population in the world (International Centre for Prison Studies [ICPS], 2015). There exists in the United States an epidemic of mass incarceration where the African American male is disproportionately represented. As an illustration, 67 percent of Ferguson Missouri's population is African American which comprises 90 percent of the city's arrests (Haile, 2015). African American males were the largest group imprisoned within the nation's state and federal facilities at yearend 2013 and had the highest imprisonment rate compared to all other ages and groups (Carson, 2014). Once convicted, African Americans are sentenced 10% longer than other groups for the same crime (United States Sentencing Commission, 2010).

The issue of mass incarceration has been coined the "new Jim Crow" (Alexander, 2012), and gives weight to the concern of an increasing absence of African American men within the community (Haile, 2015). As like in the times of the black codes and Jim Crow, African American men in the present day are often confronted by acts of police profiling, harassment, and abuse that has in many cases ended in avertable fatalities. Recent cases of misfortune involving African American men, the fatal death of Michael Brown by a Caucasian police officer in Missouri (Shoichet, 2014), and the fatal death of Walter Scott by a Caucasian police officer in South Carolina (Swaine, 2015), were believed to have been exercised on the basis of hatred. Violence motivated by hate is particularly alarming when executed by persons appointed to protect and serve the public. Another illustration of hate-related violence is the fatal execution of nine church attendees by a Caucasian male claiming to be a white supremacist (Eversley, 2015). The perpetrator, however, was not a member of law enforcement.

With respect to Americans who uphold racially biased views, their attitude and manner of conduct toward members of the African American community may not change regardless of public outcry. The U.S. Supreme Court's June 25, 2015 ruling to uphold the Fair Housing Act of 1968 (*Texas v. Inclusive Communities Projects,* 2015), a significant civil rights milestone, and the debate over the removal of publicly displayed confederate flags across the nation supports the conversation and movement against racial disparity while emphasizing its present reality. A social columnist published the work, *So the confederate flag has come down. What the heck do we do now?* (Archibald, 2015), that put forth his view on the issue of removing publicly displayed confederate flags. According to Archibald (2015), the removal of publicly displayed confederate flags is akin to a kind deed since the issue is not about confederate flags, but of something profoundly more severe.

The greater and more serious issue for the United States is knowing that the impact of a flawed racial ideology goes beyond the belief that race is the primary determinant of natural qualities and capabilities, or that one group is more superior to another. Extended beyond the surface is a growing deep-seated intense and extreme sentiment of dislike for others corresponding to the socially fabricated ideology of race and racial intolerance. While sharing her knowledge about unjust treatment of vulnerable and marginalized persons in the United States, Catherine Davis, founder of the National Black Prolife Coalition, blatantly rejected the characterization of racism in her commentary. She asserted that the issue of race and identity in America is not racism, but "skin colorism" (Ketola, 2015). Davis explains, "we assign value to people based on the

color of their skin, and then act according to the value we assign" (Ketola, 2015). Despite the fact we live in a pluralistic society the racial divide reinforces vulnerable persons becoming more vulnerable and victims of disparity eventually being re-victimized.

African American males having this understanding may present themselves guarded and often questioning the intentions of others when interacting especially with persons outside their community. Remaining consciously sensitive to the intentions of people is more or less an effect of a socially ingrained fear felt by African American men concerned particularly with defending oneself against the suspected evil motives of others (Franklin & Boyd-Franklin, 2000). On the other hand, African American men may harbor intense emotions of anger consequently related to knowledge gained from the history of inequality, perceived discrimination, and directly enduring the effects of disparity (Franklin & Boyd-Franklin, 2000; Unnever, 2014). African American men harboring intense unhealthy emotions related to living amid the realities of racial bias are at risk of acting in ways that unfortunately affirm socially constructed negative perceptions ascribed to members of the African American community.

Racial inequality, frequently identified as a significant obstruction afflicting the community of African Americans living in the United States (Wilson, 2011), has no boundaries of gender, sexuality, geography, occupation, religion, or the like. A few remarks were given recently on the issue of racial disparity by the first African American in the highest office of the United States, President Barack Obama. In his commentary, President Obama acknowledges that racism and racial disparity remains a seriously present reality within the United States and urges that we extract hope from gained

progress knowing that movement toward racial justice continues (Maron, 2015). All hope to realize an end to discriminatory and divisive practices that keep the curse of a dark past alive is coupled with African Americans staying persistent, resilient, and forgiving. The ability to maintain persistence, resilience and to exercise forgiveness is as a result of the spiritual consciousness cultivated and strengthened during the ages of slavery (Brown, 2013; Rodriguez, 2007; Thomas et al., 2013). A shared spiritual consciousness among African Americans supported the certitude to configure a unified community of believers that would challenge oppressive powers of the day. The organized spiritual congregations within the African American community heavily influenced cultural identity and spearheaded many of the civil rights movements birthed throughout the nation's history.

As part of the spiritual grounding around American socialization (DeSouza, 2014; Rodriguez, 2007), African Americans were driven to maintain strong family bonds that stretched beyond natural kinship. Caring and supporting one another has become an essential part of African American identity and culture. Racism, however, has been blamed for depriving the African American community of its identity (Smedley, 1998) provoking persons to disregard, limit, or ignore the necessity and opportunity to maintain relational connection. To counteract the impact of race-based discrimination and prejudice, African Americans create and support occasions to ban together as a united group to preserve and affirm the importance of family and community in addition to continuing the fight for equality (Kershaw, 2001; Thomas et al., 2013). Historical organizations like the Prince Hall Freemasonry, National Association for the Advancement of Colored People (NAACP), the Southern Christian Leadership Conference (SCLC), and the National Pan-Hellenic Council (NPHC), operate in part to encourage community and promote efforts toward equality. Observances like the celebration of Black history reserved for the month of February, emancipation day or Juneteenth reserved for the month of June, and Kwanzaa reserved for one week across the months of December and January are valued community-based traditions enjoyed annually around the world.

The traditions established for and by African Americans like the ones mentioned are set to further educational objectives, preserve opportunities around the building of family and community, maintain a sense of hope, defend the African American heritage, and assure the historical battle for freedom and equality is never forgotten (Brown, 1994; Carter, 1997; Ferguson & Young, 1995; Harper & Quaye, 2007; McCoy, 2011; Pleck, 2001; Scannapieco & Jackson, 1996). Although the African American community remains unsettled its strength of persistence, resilience, and forgiveness amid social and institutional disparity offers hope to one of its most vulnerable citizens, the formerly incarcerated African American father.

Offenders Fathering Amidst Bias. Interest in the practice and performance of African American fathering has increased significantly in part due to the trend of mass incarceration and father absence. Although a decline in the prison population became evident in the year 2007 (Carson & Golinelli, 2013; Glaze & Parks, 2012) the decline ceased by yearend 2013 with a 4% prison population increase (Carson, 2014). With the rise in prison populations, imprisoned African American fathers remain at an elevated level (Carson, 2014). The high rate of incarceration among African Americans, 3%

African American males imprisoned on December 31, 2013 compared to 0.5% Caucasian males (Carson, 2014), presumes that a substantial number of African Americans return to the community. In the Kansas City metropolitan area specifically, more than 4,000 releases occur annually realizing over 14,000 individuals under community supervision over the course of a given year (Geither, 2012; McDonald, Holsinger, 2010). In that, the potential for African American fathers to be successful depends on their ability to adjust to life beyond the correctional facility and balance that with the duty of responsible fathering.

Formerly incarcerated African American fathers return to the community with a pre-existing knowledge and experience of discrimination. As an African American, there exists the social issue of racism or colorism appearing in every aspect of the everyday life (Ketola, 2015; Maron, 2015). African American men are judged and labeled unruly, dangerous, and incorrigible (Bankston, 2006; Tyler, 2014). The purported characterization of African American men in society endorses an angry, reckless, weak-minded portrayal that, in many ways, affirms African American men as a social nuisance (Franklin & Boyd-Franklin, 2000; Goff, Williams, Eberhardt, & Jackson, 2008; Unnever, 2014).

As offenders, African American men may recognize the parallels criminal justice system involvement has with slavery, segregation, and racism. Slavery stripped African American men of their independence as a consequence of an oppressed reality consisting of being defined as human property that was owned, bought, and sold (Rodriguez, 2007; Taylor, 2014). Segregation required strict practices of isolation, coupled with racism, demoralized one's healthy sense of self (Finkelman, 2009; Sigler, 1998; Wright, 2013). The criminal justice system places African American men in a position of being perceived as human property which eliminates the sense of manhood and personal security, preserves feelings of separateness by reason of being barred from exercising common rights and privileges, and discredits the positive consciousness of self and distinct uniqueness of character (Alexander, 2012; Arat, 2006; Binder, 2002; Kann, 2001; Rodriguez, 2007). As fathers, African American men are judged as being poor rolemodels incapable of responsibly nurturing a child toward becoming a positive contributing member in society (Leap, 2015).

Discrimination is a multifaceted experience for criminal justice system involved African American fathers. The life history of criminal justice involved African American fathers almost certainly includes living through some reality of drug trafficking, gang association, substance abuse, and violence (Belenko, 2006; Leap, 2015). Additionally, formerly incarcerated African American fathers are likely returning to communities where housing restrictions prohibit occupancy by persons with a felony conviction, and the denial of social program assistance is highly probable. Trying to negotiate the need to reinvent a life that is legally and socially acceptable becomes complicated for formerly incarcerated African American fathers given that the experience of discrimination extends beyond self to the immediate family (Lee, Porter, & Comfort, 2014; Marbley, & Ferguson, 2005; Turney, 2014; Wildeman, 2014).

The children of criminal justice system involved parents are prone to suffer most from discrimination (Turanovic, Rodriguez, & Pratt, 2012), and are susceptible to leading

anti-social lives (Huebner & Gustafson, 2007; Murray & Farrington, 2005; Roettger & Swisher, 2011). Because children observe and negotiate life according to what they see as opposed to what they hear from their parents, the impact of exposure to unhealthy selfdestructive behaviors by criminal justice system involved parents place children at a greater level of elevated risk (Johnson & Stanford, 2002). The children of criminal justice system involved parents are assumed delinquent by society despite evidence to prove the assumption and are subject to suffer ill-treatment hindering their potential to lead a prosocial life (Dishion, Owen, & Bullock, 2004; Geller, Garfinkel, & Western, 2011; Kolvin, Miller, Fleeting, & Kolvin, 1988; Leap, 2015).

The impact of disparity within the criminal justice system may encourage African American fathers to live intentionally in a state of social marginalization and alienation. Making a choice to disconnect in some way for the purpose of guarding self against experiencing stigma within social settings may lead to the operation of alternative forms of civic engagement and socialization (Lee, Porter, & Comfort, 2014). As presented by Lee, Porter, and Comfort (2014), parents who return home after incarceration may view living in the community from a different perspective than the general public, and may make decisions according to their adopted perspective. Distrust in government and negative attitudes toward law enforcement, reduced political participation, and the perception of discrimination are a few positions found to be byproducts of parental incarceration (Lee, Porter, & Comfort, 2014). For African American fathers, distrust and skepticism may have already existed as an internalized attitude toward government and law enforcement (Leap, 2015). African American fathers with a history of criminal justice system involvement may regard incarceration as a rite of passage (Dailey Jr., 2001; Leap, 2015; Livingston & Nahimana, 2006; Maruna, 2011) or an institution of socialization (Lee, Porter, & Comfort, 2014). The adopted position on incarceration, a rite of passage or institution of socialization, may be incorporated in processes and activities devoted to rearing their children. Ethnic pride and the awareness of racial bias may be integrated in the development of children increasing their capacity to live not exclusively with a double consciousness (Du Bois, 1899; Rodriguez, 2007), having an African American perspective and a European-American perspective, but with a multi-level consciousness of the world (McAdoo, 2002).

Formerly incarcerated African American fathers are likely to have strained family relationships upon returning to the community. The ability to connect with family reduces some stress related to housing (Harding, Morenoff, & Herbert, 2013; Schneider, 2010) and employment (Shivy, Wu, Moon, Mann, Holland, & Eacho, 2007; Varghese, Hardin, Bauer, & Morgan, 2010). Once back in the community, formerly incarcerated African American fathers desire to reconnect with their children and the probability of having multiple children with multiple partners is high (Edin & Nelson, 2013; Leap, 2015). The more maternal partners involved in the parent-child reunification process the more complex the circumstances become. Formerly incarcerated African American fathers will likely have to contend with the mothers of their children excessively guarding or declining opportunities to interact with their child (McBride, Brown, Bost, Shin, Vaughn, & Korth, 2005; Perry & Bright, 2012). Several reasons that may contribute to the gatekeeping of children include the mother finding a new intimate partner (Perry & Bright, 2012), or the need to shelter the child from the stigma and discrimination that is associated with incarceration and reintegration (Turney, 2014). In view of the trajectory of African American children with criminal justice system involved fathers (Besemer & Farrington, 2012), any efforts made toward realizing healthy father-child relations will require cooperation from the maternal partner, and the involvement of both relative and non-relative social figures within the community to assist with assuring that success (Letiecq & Koblinsky, 2004).

The pressures around carrying out the function and responsibility of parenting come with socially suggested directives that may present discrepancy. Formerly incarcerated African American fathers often are exposed to messages meant to direct the motivation and function of role performance that perceptibly has a consistent theme of contradiction. For instance, the message "fathers are protectors" may be perceived or heard but, the ability and experience of maintaining this particular role function may be hindered by legally imposed restrictions as a result of custody battles or criminal justice system involvement. According to Brownson and Gilbert (2002), a scenario of this kind poses gender role conflict that ultimately influences participation and involvement in the father-child relationship. For active participation to be less burdensome, formerly incarcerated African American fathers may reconstruct parenting role-related messages making them more specialized to fit their circumstances.

There is a high probability that formerly incarcerated African American fathers do not have a frame of reference for what it means to be a good father. Many formerly incarcerated African American fathers consider themselves raised by the streets and seek to find positive father figures to receive guidance in parenting (Leap, 2015). In general, fathers are likely to share stories and give advice when interacting with their children in hopes to make an impact on their positive development. The practice of storytelling along with family and culture-specific events may be used by formerly incarcerated African American fathers to shape the attitudes and behaviors of their children (Banks-Wallace, 2002; Hughes et al., 2006; McAdoo, 2002; Roy, 2006). Regular storytelling, participation in culture-specific and family-based events act as a conduit helping African American fathers engage their children (Ashbourne, Daly, & Brown, 2011; Hutchinson, & Cedebaum, 2011), and affirm their paternal identity as an African American male living in community (Gordon, Nichter, & Henriksen, 2012; Roy, 2006). In striving to be the best father they can be, seeking the highest quality of well-being for their child, formerly incarcerated African American fathers will not only receive messages but will give messages. The principle message criminal justice system involved African American fathers desire to communicate to their children is, "you have to be better than me. You have to be better than Daddy" (Leap, 2015).

The prognosis of success for African American fathers returning to the community after incarceration is poor given that post incarceration difficulties are estimated worse for African American males compared to other ethnic groups (Dyer, 2005; Kenemore & Roldan, 2006; Nelson, Dees, & Allen, 2011; Woldoff & Washington, 2008). The potential for incarceration and reincarceration is high for African American fathers leading to an overwhelming proportion of father absence and female headed single parent homes within the community. For these reasons, and others previously mentioned, formerly incarcerated African American fathers will likely be referred to community-based programs to help manage their process of return.

The community programs and organizations that cater to reentry efforts would be most useful since the specific concerns of formerly incarcerated individuals will be a central focus. Formerly incarcerated African American fathers will perhaps be referred to a program like *Second Chance* (www.secondchancekc.org) that provides assistance with accessing employment, housing, transportation, medical and mental health services. Depending on the severity of circumstance, formerly incarcerated African American fathers may be referred to a program like *Catholic Charities*

(www.catholiccharitiesks.org) that provides food, clothing, and support obtaining legal documents like birth certificates and government issued identification cards. To support the need to secure employment, formerly incarcerated African American fathers may be encouraged to seek assistance from a program like *M.E.N.S. Wear, Inc.* (www.menswearinc.org) that teaches employability skills while helping men develop a positive image by adorning themselves in professional-like attire.

The probability formerly incarcerated African American fathers will return to the community in debt is high. Child support arrearages likely contribute to the debt formerly incarcerated African American fathers hold (Griswold & Pearson, 2005; May, 2004). To avoid an ultimate arrest on the basis of child support debt (Brito, 2013; Evans, 2014), formerly incarcerated African American fathers may seek assistance from resources in the community to prevent further violation of their child support order. A resource like

Connections to Success (www.connectionstosuccess.org) may be sought to receive individualized child support assistance and participate in a child support debt compromise program. A steady compliance with child support by formerly incarcerated African American fathers may reduce the experience of tension and difficulty from their maternal counterpart, and help assure needs of the child are afforded in their absence (Griswold & Pearson, 2005; Solomon-Fears, 2009).

The function of mentoring and the reference of wisdom for performing mentoring behaviors has cultural implications. The research findings suggest that fathers, generally speaking, take role-modeling cues from their fathers. However, there is a high probability that the role-modeling wisdom held by formerly incarcerated African American fathers was accepted from their mother or a social figure within the community as a result of father absence or the perception of "bad" fathering (Coles, 2001; Forste, Bartkowski, & Jackson, 2009). Furthermore, African American fathers share the burden of maturing children in what Johnson and Stanford (2002) refers to as racial discipline. The reality of living in a society where racialized inequality exists requires a specific focus on teaching and developing the social consciousness of children that lead to a capacity to confidently navigate the challenges of discrimination and prejudice (Hughes & Chen, 1997; Hughes et al., 2006; Johnson & Stanford, 2002; McAdoo, 2002). Since building community through care and support is part of the African American culture, formerly incarcerated African American fathers may be encouraged to seek the support of positive persons in the community to realize success in mentoring (Geither, 2012).

The struggle to rediscover life beyond incarceration while negotiating an environment affected by racialized tension may motivate formerly incarcerated African American fathers to go beyond themselves seeking strength and the resolve to persevere. Formerly incarcerated African American fathers may be encouraged to seek assistance from a program like *ReEngage, Inc.* (www.reengageinc.org) that empowers African American men to develop plans and strategies to overcome barriers. Upon return to the community, African American fathers will be prone to sensory deprivation having to adjust to life with a significantly reduced amount of restraint and control (Bonner, 2006; Haney, 2012; Hanser, 2010). Receiving ongoing assistance from a program like *Beyond the Conviction* (www.beyondtheconviction.org), founded by formerly incarcerated men who use a support group model to help former incarcerates adjust to life in the community, may be highly desired by formerly incarcerated African American fathers.

Consistency and fairness in discipline are particularly important for African American fathers who perceive inevitable social challenges and high risk factors related to the experience of life and living within the United States (Geddes, 2008; Gordon, Nichter, & Henriksen, 2012). As a consequence of stigma related to race and a history of criminal justice system involvement, formerly incarcerated African Americans experience discrimination in the community that likely produces psychological distress (Turney, Lee, and Comfort, 2013), and requires specialized attention toward sustained measures of positive coping. Formerly incarcerated African American fathers diagnosed with a stigmatized medical condition like HIV/AIDS may experience a more intense degree of psychological distress requiring specialized attention (Galvan, Davis, Banks, & Bing, 2008). Because the African American culture has deep roots as a spiritually grounded community, formerly incarcerated African American fathers may pursue aid and support from a local church organization. Churches and religious-based organizations within the African American community offer an array of culturally specific services and programs that could meet the needs of formerly incarcerated African American fathers (Unnever, 2014).

Gaining the capacity to exercise self-discipline, maintain healthy family relationships, and cope with social stressors would be constructive for formerly incarcerated African American fathers. Learning how to be a positive contributing member of society, exercising self-discipline, positively channeling negative energy, and being active as a responsible father will be essential. Connecting with favorably productive people in the community will help formerly incarcerated African American fathers practice responsible behaviors that would positively increase their capacity for success during the process of reintegration and in nurturing the father-child relationship.

Summary

The labor of parenting is instinctively and deliberately achieved by absorbing the condition in which life and living occur (Haas & O'Brien, 2010; Kolvin, Miller, Fleeting & Kolvin, 1988). As social perceptions and attitudes concerning the function and authority of parenting change the expression of fathering changes (Dick, 2011). The necessity of male presence and involvement in parenting has been a steady thread in our nation's fabric, yet interest in the lived experience of parenting has fared marginally for formerly incarcerated African American fathers.

The realities that have an impact on community reintegration efforts following an incarceration were duly noted. Each reality becomes a distraction as formerly incarcerated African American fathers attempt to, for example, find meaning in life and gauge the trustworthiness of others immediately following an incarceration. Pre and post release, formerly incarcerated African American fathers tend to experience an increase of anxiety and disappointment partly due to the new sense of freedom and the knowledge of changes within family and community (Hanser, 2010).

The current emphasis on the male presence and participation in parenting is of importance to those seeking to build and enhance the quality of life as experienced by the most vulnerable children of society (Geddes, 2008). Unfavorable trends of elevated incarceration rates amongst African American men within the United States are of critical interest relative to the status of youth development and socialization (Kolvin et al, 1988; Murray, 2007; Patterson & Stouthamer-Loeber, 1984; Whelan, 1954). Following an incarceration, the responsibility of parenting being presented in conjunction with social reintegration may be, for some African American fathers, a duty that becomes second to others. On the other hand, formerly incarcerated African American fathers may see the duty of parenting as life's saving grace (Edin, Nelson, & Paranal, 2001; Dill et al., 2016) reinforcing a reinvented identity, purpose, authority, and pursuit of self-discipline (Kenemore & Roldan, 2006; Martinez, 2010; Nelson, Deess & Allen, 2011).

In the forthcoming chapter, I present the research design and research methodology. I explain transcendental phenomenology and how it provides the systematic structure necessary to describe the meaning and reality of parenting for formerly incarcerated African American fathers using the lens of social constructionism. The issues of trustworthiness and the ethical procedures related to this study are discussed before concluding with the chapter summary.

Chapter 3: Research Method

Introduction

The purpose of this transcendental phenomenological study was to examine the lived experience of formerly incarcerated African American fathers parenting minor children while obligated to community supervision. I aspired to make a contribution to the current base of knowledge because I view an investigation of this kind as necessary to the advancement of work with formerly incarcerated African American fathers. The framework of transcendental phenomenology and social constructionism was used to capture the lived experience of the fathers. In this chapter, I provide an overview of my research design, methodology, role in the study, data collection, and analysis procedures. I also consider concerns related to trustworthiness and ethics as they related to my investigation.

Research Design and Rationale

The central question for research was developed taking into account the reported impact of incarceration on African American men (Arditti, Smock, & Parkman, 2005; Dyer, 2005; Lynch & Sabol, 2004; Pearson & Davis, 2003; Perry & Bright, 2012; Tripp, 2001; Uggen, Manza, & Thompson, 2006; Woldoff & Washington, 2008), and the present deficit of available knowledge about the experience of parenting for formerly incarcerated African American fathers. I attempted to answer the following question: What are the parenting experiences of African American fathers obligated to mandatory supervision following an incarceration? Generating a trustworthy and sound answer to this question required careful selection of a research design that would be compatible with the purposes of investigation.

Developing a research design is an important process that requires much consideration to assure the production of a work that is both relevant and of quality. Such a design relies on efficiency, effectiveness, and successful functioning of all components (Maxwell, 2013). The decision for adopting a research design required careful consideration of my subject, research question, assumptions, worldviews, and preferred strategy for inquiry. With all these things considered, I decided that a qualitative approach would be most suitable for my research.

Qualitative research is an approach used for conducting a scholarly inquiry. The qualitative research approach focuses on describing and understanding meanings attributed to a human experience or social problem (Christians & Carey, 1989; Creswell, 2014; Denzin & Lincoln, 2005). Research in the qualitative design tradition traverse disciplines and subjects with its many perspectives and approaches related to cultural and interpretive studies (Christians & Carey, 1989; Denzin & Lincoln, 2005).

Qualitative researchers are not concerned with numbers, which is a chief characteristic of the quantitative tradition, but with using words to inductively focus on the individual meanings of a human experience or social problem (Creswell, 2014; Denzin & Lincoln, 2011; Malterud, 2001; Marshall & Rossman, 2015; Merriam, 2002; Miles, Huberman, & Saldana, 2013). Because qualitative research is unstructured and open to interpretation, it requires reflection and ongoing inquiry; going from general to specific (Flick, 2014; Maxwell 2009; Smith, Flowers, & Larkin, 2009). My effort to understand the lived experience of African American fathers following an incarceration is attuned with the creative process of investigation held by the qualitative research tradition.

In this study, I intended to describe the meaning and significance of human interaction and activity, which is a central objective of qualitative inquiry (Christians & Carey, 1989; Ritchie, Lewis, Nicholls, & Ormston, 2014; Van Manen, 2014). I view the parenting experience of formerly incarcerated African American fathers as a matter that warrants and needs intense contemplation and continuous examination. Use of the qualitative research tradition aided the generation of knowledge on the parenting experience for formerly incarcerated African American fathers and inspired a cause for further exploration.

The use of theory in qualitative research is valuable to the investigation process as it helps inquirers keep an aim toward realizing intended goals (Anfara & Mertz, 2015). The theory is applied in various ways to properly align the process of investigation (Anfara & Mertz, 2015; Somekh & Lewin, 2011). In sharing their individual research activities, for example, Few, Stephens, and Rouse-Arnett (2003) used the viewpoint of black feminist theory to explain issues of power and representation in research with African American women. Weiner-Levy (2009) used a feminist ethical perspective to conduct research with Israeli Druze women who were experiencing exclusion due to personal pursuits deemed contrary to the cultural norm. In the same way, the theoretical perspective of social constructionism described the representation of experience as expressed by the formerly incarcerated African American fathers who participated in this study.

I used the model of transcendental phenomenology to guide my research inquiry. The model of transcendental phenomenology fulfilled the means to describe lived experience from a fresh perspective (Husserl, 1913/1962; Husserl, 1913/1982). From the standpoint of Husserl, individuals' initial understanding of meaning originates from their experience with a phenomenon through their senses and must be described, explained, and made sense of by way of interpretation. The knowledge about experiences that we have is only known by our perceptions and senses which are stimulated to bring forth all conscious awareness (Husserl, 1913/962; Husserl, 1913/1982; Patton, 2015). The technique of transcendental phenomenology brought a valuable strategic focus toward achieving the purposes of this study.

The theoretical orientation of social constructionism illuminates the influence of culture on our personal selves that translate into how we see things in the world (Burr, 2015; Cunliffe, 2003; Patton, 2015). The idea of reality, as per social constructionism, is based on the context and value of some structure of experience (Berger & Luckmann, 1966; Patton, 2015). A persons' reality is built and influenced in accordance with an understanding of his or her social context. Because of its use to describe constructions of reality, I view social constructionism as an appropriate theory for answering my research question.

I considered and subsequently rejected alternative approaches for answering the research question. The research question may be addressed using a narrative approach

focusing on two individual participants as the unit of analysis. The narrative approach to inquiry has the purpose of telling the story of a lived experience (Miller, 2007; Moen, 2006) as opposed to describing the meaning of a lived experience as in phenomenological research. This distinguishing factor led me to reject the possibility of using narrative research to achieve the purposes of this study. The approach of ecological psychology focuses on the intersection of human behavior and the environment, assuming what is necessary in search of new understanding about the human experience (Besthorn, 2002; Hughes, Rodriguez, Smith, Johnson, Stevenson, & Spicer, 2006). The primary focus of an ecological psychology investigation may be the individual; however, the lived experience of a person in action within a natural environment is the focus of investigation (Charles & Sommer, 2012). I would have had to change the focus of my study to adopt ecological psychology as an approach to research. For this reason, ecological psychology was rejected.

Given the circulation of evidence on the adverse impact incarceration has on family relationship (see Arditti, Smock, & Parkman, 2005; Dyer, 2005; Hirsch, Dietrich, Landau, Schneider, Ackelsberg, Bernstein-Baker, & Hohenstein, 2002; LaVigne, Naser, Brooks, & Castro, 2005; Murray, 2007; Pearson & Davis, 2003; QCEA, 2011), the lived experiences of formerly incarcerated African American fathers obligated to community supervision warrants practical exploration. An increase in understanding of fathering around this particular circumstance presents an opportunity to examine further the perceived impact reintegration has on the African American father, the family unit, and community. With statistical determinations suggesting African American males are a significant portion of the criminal justice involved population (Nunez-Neto, 2008; Perry & Bright, 2012; Petersilia, 1999; Petersilia, 2005; Uggen, Manza, & Thompson, 2006), establishing further insight into the experience of fathering for African American fathers creates the ability to conceive and establish fresh approaches that are most applicable toward work with this population.

The central point of interest for this study was the experience of parenting. The concentrated effort was specifically on the designation of fathering emphasizing my sole concern for the paternal experiences of the African American male. As presented in Chapter 1, I identify fathering as meaningful behaviors of interaction with children that involves play, development, support, discipline, and other activities expressly qualified as fathering by the research participant. Incarceration was recognized as an extended absence from the community due to institutional confinement for a continuous period of three or more years since the time of arrest.

Role of the Researcher

My primary researcher role as related to data collection was to be the primary instrument (Marshall & Rossman, 2015; Seidman, 2013). The method of qualitative interviewing invites and nurtures a mutual researcher-participant relationship that exists on the basis of trust and respect (Rubin & Rubin, 2012). The researcher-participant relationship entertains reciprocal exchanges during the process of engagement yielding to information-rich data. In order to successfully build rapport to obtain information-rich data, Rubin and Rubin (2012) advised researchers to present themselves in a way that is meaningful to participants. I recognize this suggestion as a relational technique expected to reassure the needed opportunity for honest dialogue. Applying the advice of Rubin & Rubin (2012), I presented myself to participants not as a general researcher, but as a researcher concerned with making the lived experience of formerly incarcerated African American fathers known to the public. I gained the acceptance of participants by clarifying my role as a voice articulating the lived reality of parenting for formerly incarcerated African American fathers. In this way, qualitative interviewing as an interpersonal process was established and then encouraged (Josselson, 2013) ultimately producing a collaborated effort of constructed lived experience. The function of my role as the researcher was important, however, the distinct features of who I am as a person were additionally important and had bearing on my perceived position and the presence of potential bias.

Being a female researcher without a history of incarceration, having conducted research with formerly incarcerated males, accentuated the distinct gender and status differences in the researcher-participant relationship. The reality of having a non-parent status added to the difference that existed in relation to formerly incarcerated fathers. The given differences affirm an "outsider" identity. The term "outsider" represents the position of a researcher who performs an investigation with participants not sharing a cultural, linguistic, ethnic, national and religious heritage, or imagined community (Fine, 1994; LaSala, 2003; Weiner-Levy, 2009). Existing research concerning the researcher-participant relationship suggests that the position of an outsider on the part of the researcher increases the likelihood for maintaining objective and neutral while upholding personal and professional boundaries (Mullings, 1999).

On the contrary, "insider" represents the position of a researcher who performs an investigation with participants sharing cultural, linguistic, ethnic, national, religious heritage, imagined community, and other relevant qualities (Al-Makhamreh & Lewando-Hundt, 2008; Bhopal, 2001; Ganga-Scott, 2006; Weiner-Levy, 2009). My identity as an African American with inner-city upbringing presented a commonality for the researcher-participant relationship. As an insider, researchers are believed to obtain acceptance (Dwyer & Buckle, 2009), establish legitimacy with participants (Tinker & Armstrong, 2008), and gain trust and openness leading to an extensive collection of meaningful data during the investigation process (Tinker & Armstrong, 2008). Tinker and Armstrong (2008) argue that researchers inevitably assume both the insider and outsider role at varying points in the research process. In spite of the obvious differences previously mentioned, the presence of similarities existed and varied among research participants influencing a need to shift insider/outsider positioning (Tinker & Armstrong, 2008) throughout the data collection process.

My personal and professional endeavors have been heavily influenced by my identity as an African American female growing up in an inner-city within the eastern region of the United States. The direction of my personal and professional pursuits was swayed by other elements of my individuality to include personality, Christian-based values and beliefs, innate ability, occupation as a licensed social worker, and the impressions of all lived experiences. Each of these factors created the potential for bias. Acknowledging the potential for bias was essential in minimizing its influence during the research process (Chenail, 2011; Shenton, 2004). My challenge as the researcher was to reject any inclination to assume as opposed to inquisitively learning all there is to know about the participants' experience of the phenomenon (Chenail, 2011). Additionally present was the challenge to successfully exercise the skills necessary to attain the participants' acceptance and trust to candidly disclose all that was necessary to achieve the goals of the investigation (Dwyer & Buckle, 2009; Tinker & Armstrong, 2008).

The environment in which I lived during childhood was oppressive and depressing. I lived surrounded by an assortment of negative lifestyles perpetuating the stereotypes connected to the African American community. A lack of purpose and drive for education, spirituality, and prosperity seemed common. Prior to my first year as an undergraduate student, I devoted myself to enhancing the lives of those stimulated and nurtured by the inept customs of the urban culture. My drive to empower members of the African American community sparked a decision to pursue Social Work as a career that began and continued in working with the population of incarcerated adults. The experience gained over the course of the last 15 years working with the population in different regions of the country made it possible for me to build rapport, gain acceptance and trust to effectively conduct the process of data collection. I recognized the evident challenge of acknowledging presumptions and managing them with discipline and skill. My presumptions as the researcher were documented and reported to include the influence of beliefs, values, knowledge, and experiences during the research process.

Researcher bias is a crucial matter for all researchers to consider and carefully work through (Chenail, 2011; Krefting, 1990; Shenton, 2004). Established strategies exist to support efforts to ensure neutrality and objectivity in research (Chenail, 2011; Hycner, 1985; Krefting, 1990; Miles, Huberman, & Saldana, 2013; Moustakas, 1994; Shenton, 2004). For this study, the presence of researcher bias was managed by committing to the practice of maintaining an audit trail. Further management of bias was accomplished by executing the process of epoche / bracketing as specifically known to phenomenological research. Phenomenological epoche requires active reflection and annotation of thoughts and feelings that arise potentially influencing the outcome of research. Member checks were conducted to make certain my presumptions and preferences did not influence the collection of data before the process of analysis. The participants were offered opportunities to review and correct collected data to assure that their statements and views are reflected accurately.

Methodology

The Midwest region of the United States was the geographic location of interest for this study, specifically the Kansas City metropolitan area. The Kansas City metropolitan area is a two-state region spreading across 14 counties located along the border of the Kansas and Missouri River (Mid-America Regional Council, 2014a). The focus was solely on the Kansas side of the two-state region which is estimated to have a combined population of over 969,000 (Mid-America Regional Council, 2014b).

The research location, the Kansas City metropolitan area on the side of Kansas, consists of 6 counties (i.e. Atchison, Douglas, Johnson, Leavenworth, Miami, and Wyandotte) having a combined total of 38 municipalities. Approximately 5,848 persons comprised the community supervision population in the state of Kansas at the close of the year 2012 (Cadue, 2013b). At the end of May 2013, there were 5,646 individuals under post release supervision which comprised of in-state and out of state residents supervised in Kansas (Cadue, 2013a). The statistical data available was not sufficient in noting demographics specifically identifying fathers among the population. Consequently, the size of the population of fathers with community supervision conditions within the Kansas City metropolitan area of the state of Kansas was unknown.

Participant Selection Logic

As an investigator making decisions about research design, the issues of sampling strategy and sample size were relevant prior to the collection of data. The method of qualitative research design allows for the use of a purposeful sampling approach that focuses on identifying individuals that will provide information-rich data to describe or evaluate the phenomenon relevant to a study (Creswell, 2013; Patton, 2015). For this study, the decisions I made regarding sampling strategy required critical thinking to address the questions of who, what, when, and how of the process (Marshall, 1996; Mason, 2010). The decisions I made about selection criteria defined the specific standards of research participation in detail for all interested individuals (Englander, 2012; Ritchie, Lewis, Nicholls, & Ormston, 2014). The determination I made regarding sample size required a bit more of critical thinking (Patton, 2015; Ritchie, Lewis, Nicholls, & Ormston, 2014). In the following sections, I offer an explanation on the decisions concerning sampling strategy, selection criteria, and sample size as related to this study.

Sampling Strategy. Having a sampling strategy that aids the data collection process was certainly valuable. A criterion-based purposeful sampling strategy was used

to depict lived experiences from the participants' perspective. My rationale for the use of criterion-based purposeful sampling was to assure specific focus on the phenomenon of interest by way of selecting subjects that would deliver information-rich material. Importantly, criterion-based purposeful sampling is not used to make generalizations, but for the intent of gaining meaningful insight into an identified phenomenon (Patton, 2015). I view purposeful sampling, in particular, as appropriate and necessary for securing the participants most suitable for informing this study (Fossey, Harvey, McDermott, & Davidson, 2002; Morrow, 2005; Onwuegbuzie, & Leech, 2007).

The recruitment of research participants began with initial contact to community sources that included the state department of corrections, local offices for community corrections, and local public libraries. My initial contact with the state department of corrections was for identifying the community corrections offices that service the highest number of community supervised males. I visited the identified local community corrections offices and petitioned to post my research announcement flyer (see Appendix A) in client accessible areas to announce the need for research participants. I contacted the local public libraries initially to obtain the guidelines and process for space reservation and to make advance reservation for three information sessions. The research announcement flyer was distributed by way of posting in public libraries and other local settings that potentially attracted members of the targeted population. All interested individuals were asked, per a statement on the research announcement flyer, to contact me with questions or to communicate interest in this study. The individuals that responded to the call for research participation acted voluntarily and were not permitted

to participate if their participation was understood or was being used as a coercive technique or alternative to established community supervision conditions.

Selection criteria. Determination of eligibility and subsequent selection for participation in this study was based on the participants expressed verification of meeting all predetermined criteria. The individuals that voluntarily participated in this study needed to affirm being a male person having a recent incarceration experience lasting for a minimum period of three years. The individuals needed to affirm having a recent release happening within 6-12 months of study participation with day reporting as a condition of mandatory community supervision. The participants needed to affirm being between the ages of 28 and 50 years and currently residing in an urban community within or no more than 25 miles outside the targeted geographical location at the time of participation.

The age prerequisite criterion was a noteworthy deciding factor for research participation. The established age range criterion is consistent with research conducted by Glaze and Maruschak (2010) on the demographics of incarcerated parents. Glaze and Maruschak found that more than half of male state and federal incarcerates were a parent to minor children with 63% to 74% between the ages of 25 and 55. The population of male incarcerates within the state of Kansas (92% of the total corrections population) and the state of Missouri (approximately 90% of the total corrections population) partially corresponds with the age demographic of incarcerated fathers determined by Glaze and Maruschak (Roberts, Goddard, Graves, & Williams, 2013). The population of conditions of community supervision (Roberts, Goddard, Graves, & Williams, 2013) representing the arrival of over 4,000 reintegrating offenders returning annually to the Kansas City Metropolitan area (Geither, 2012; McDonald & Holsinger, 2010). I made the decision to set the age range criterion to begin at 28 with a maximum age limit of 50. The age range criterion ensured that selected participants represented the most concentrated group of criminal justice involved African American males returning to the community. As a result of the Kansas and Missouri Interstate Compact for Adult Offender Supervision, selected participants may represent residents of Kansas with previous confinement within a Kansas or Missouri correctional facility (Billinger, 2013).

To further establish eligibility for participation individuals were asked to affirm non-custodial parental obligation for at least one child over the age of three years and under the age of 17 years living outside participant's home. I presented a copy of the Participant Eligibility form (Appendix B) once a verbal assertion to meeting study criteria was given. The review of and written signature on the Participant Eligibility form by each participant validated and confirmed eligibility (the meeting of predetermined criteria) for selection and participation in this study. The interested individuals who revealed having an offense that was sexual in nature as noted on the Participant Eligibility form were determined ineligible for participation.

Every individual that expressed an interest was given an opportunity to receive more details about this study. I invited potential participants to attend one of three information sessions held at the local public library to openly explain the nature of this study and its activities (i.e. time requirements, outlined activities, the location of events, compensation, etc.). The individuals that attended the information session was informed of the challenges and potential risks related to active involvement. I provided this information in writing as well as verbally through the open forum to allow for a public platform of information exchange. All participants were notified that a written agreement of consent was a firm prerequisite for participation.

Sample Size. The sample size in qualitative design is determined by the knowledge a researcher wants to discover, the reason the knowledge discovery is needed, the consequence of not knowing, the advantages of knowing, and the available time and resources necessary for discovery (Patton, 2015; Ritchie, Lewis, Nicholls, & Ormston, 2014). Schindler and Coley (2007) performed a qualitative study investigating the issue of parenting with nine homeless fathers. The authors engaged each participant for 45-90 minutes by telephone or in-person using in-depth interviewing as their data collection strategy. Kenemore and Roldan (2006) conducted qualitative research on the reintegration experience following an incarceration with 12 probation involved adults, eight of whom were males. The study subjected each participant to 10 one-hour openended interviews. Martinez (2009) performed qualitative research on 12 formerly incarcerated males of Los Angeles County to explore issues of community reintegration. The author engaged each informant in open-ended interviews to gather the necessary data for the study. Milner (2003) and Sheris, (2011), both completing dissertation requirements, performed research using samples below 15 participants and adopted interviewing as the strategy for data collection.

Qualitative inquiry is commonly known to have a small sample size within its design. Identifying individuals, settings, and activities that will produce the information necessary to answer developed research questions is noted as the primary concern for qualitative researchers as opposed to sampling size (Maxwell, 2013). Additionally, the manner in which to determine sample size in qualitative inquiry is quite unclear. There is no definitive rule that can be applied (Creswell, 2013; Marshall, 1996; Mason, 2010; Patton, 2015). There are no statistical formulas to define sample size such as in quantitative design that uses a sample size analysis relying on statistics (Frankfort-Nachmias, & Nachmias, 2008). Because of the depth and breadth of qualitative inquiry, it is believed the discretionary judgment of the designer and stakeholders to decide the best approach to establishing a sufficient sample size. The use of a small sample is acceptable in qualitative inquiry and conducive to information-rich investigation and the intention of not producing generalizations (Creswell, 2013). With concerns for saturation, the need to achieve results with more depth as opposed to breadth, and constraints on time in conducting doctoral research, I upheld the goal of engaging six to ten participants in research.

I considered several factors of concern to determine the sample size for this study. The factors of concern included the purpose of inquiry, time availability, budget, access restrictions to the research site, and the amount of extensive detail needed to answer the developed research question. As previously stated, the purpose of this study was to examine lived experience as personally perceived by formerly incarcerated African American fathers who are parenting minor children while obligated to community supervision. The research sites of choice had access restrictions due to their communitybased nature (i.e. public library). The issues of feasibility (i.e. posting of research flyer, no involvement, no request for assistance or partnership), transportation (i.e. participants solely responsible for own transportation), and the nature of my professional status (corrections professional working in the state of Kansas) was considered and determined to be satisfactorily tailored to work with a small sample of participants. The decisions made regarding feasibility and transportation in addition to my professional status yielded favorable access to a Kansas state regulated community corrections setting to request advertising space announcing this research opportunity.

Procedures. The information listed below reflects the action steps that were necessary for participant recruitment, participant selection, and data collection.

- Received IRB approval on October 22, 2015 (approval # 10-22-15-0256384).
- 2. Contacted the department of corrections, local community corrections offices, and local public libraries to establish the ability to advertise the need for research participants using an announcement flyer.
- 3. Posted and disseminated research announcement flyer (see Appendix A) in highly accessible areas within local community corrections offices, on bulletin boards of local public libraries, and around other community settings that attracted members of the targeted population.
- 4. Potential participants that made contact by phone or email to express interest were invited to attend one of three information sessions held at a

local public library. Each session had an allotted time of one hour. Potential participants were encouraged to attend the information session within the allotted hour to receive details about this study and answers to questions regarding involvement. Potential participants that attended an information session and expressed a desire to participate were asked to review established criteria and affirm eligibility. The Participant Eligibility form (see Appendix B) was provided for written signature to validate eligibility.

- 5. Eligible participants were asked to provide initial informed consent and were then scheduled for an interview as per his availability. The local public library was the preferred location for interviewing; however, a change in location was entertained as necessary considering the circumstance of the participant. Only public locations were accepted as an alternative meeting location.
- 6. Interviews began with participants reviewing details about this study including associated activities, the role of participant, potential risks, community resources to assist with debriefing needs following the interview experience, and status of compensation. Participants were informed about the voluntary nature of participation in this study that supported their ability to terminate the interview process and withdraw their voluntary involvement status at any time. Participants then reviewed

and completed the informed consent form. A copy of the form was provided to each participant.

- Participants were provided the participant information sheet (see Appendix C) to complete. I answered all related questions.
- 8. The first 5-10 minutes of the interview was used to establish rapport with participants which were necessary to encourage openness and trust. Prior to the first question being asked participants were reminded that the interviewing process would include digital audio recording.
- 9. Interview questions were presented using an interview protocol (see Appendix E) to conduct standardized open-ended interviews with participants. The entire interview dialog was recorded and digitally tracked using an audio recording device that assured data accuracy and provided the ability to prepare for follow-up interviewing.
- 10. The interview process consumed 60-90 minutes of time. At the conclusion of the interview, participants were provided with a list of community resources to assist with debriefing whether or not distress was experienced.
- 11. Participants were asked to assist in confirming the accuracy of the information gathered by reviewing the interview transcript once available.
- 12. Participants completing the first interview were asked to agree to a followup interview. I scheduled the date and time of the meeting that was set in accordance with participant availability.

- 13. Participants were asked to identify a location in their community to advertise this research study that was both accessible and visible to potentially eligible individuals.
- 14. The recording device was checked after each interview to assure process was recorded as intended.
- 15. Post-interview notes were taken immediately following the interview and after listening to the audio recording prior to transcription. Post-interview notes were taken for the purpose of processing details about the interview setting, the actual interview, the information received, impression of the researcher, and any issues observed that required some degree of adjustment for follow-up interviews.
- 16. Participant interviews were transcribed within 72 hours following contact. Transcripts received an alphanumeric label to correspond with the associated research participant.
- 17. The transcription of each interview was reviewed once transcribed to take notes relevant to the information gathered.
- 18. Transcripts were made available and provided to participants for review in the manner requested (i.e. email or printed copy hand delivered or mailed) after the 72-hour period designated for transcription following an interview.
- 19. Follow-up interviews were conducted using a semi-structured approach and use of an interview guide. Follow-up interviews with participants

asked and explored questions on predetermined topics or subjects that came to be of interest during or following the first interview with the participant. Procedures 7-18 were followed.

- 20. Participants requesting changes to their transcript were asked to submit that request in writing (i.e. remarks on the transcript, email, etc.). An alternative submission (i.e. phone call, brief meeting at the local public library) was considered according to needs of the participant. Verification of transcripts was requested again of participants following any changes made. The transcript verification process ended once participant agreed to its full accuracy.
- 21. The data collected was organized and analyzed using phenomenological research processes and the aid of a qualitative software program known as NVivo (version 11). Details regarding the analysis process can be found in the section titled "Data Analysis and Interpretation" of this current chapter.
- 22. After the data collection phase, I sent a "Thank You" letter to all participants and offered the ability to receive a summary of this study's results once the dissertation was finalized and approved. Participants were advised to provide instructions on the manner of receipt for their summary of this study's results.

Data Collection

Qualitative researchers spend a great deal of time gathering data to satisfy the needs expressly identified for their study (Maxwell, 2009; Richards, 2015). Researchers have options regarding collection techniques and the management of data. For this study, I used in-depth interviewing which is the conventional method chosen in qualitative research for data collection. This method is one that is preferred by naturalistic researchers because it supports the collaborative relational connection between researcher and participant who generate knowledge that is valuable to the world (Rubin & Rubin, 2012; Smith, Flowers, & Larkin, 2009).

The strengths and weaknesses of in-depth qualitative interviewing have been noted (Bowen, 2005; Dickson-Swift, James, Kippen, & Liamputtong, 2007; Langford, 2000; Orb, Eisenhauer, Wynaden, 2000; Patton, 2015; Rubin & Rubin, 2012; Sturges & Hanrahan; 2004; Whiting, 2008), yet its appeal and effectiveness related to the purposes of qualitative research remain firm. The researcher-participant relationship is crucial in regards to the outcome of in-depth interviewing (Josselson, 2013; Rubin & Rubin, 2012). Underlying forces pertinent to the researcher-participant relationship such as the negotiation of trust, cooperation, boundaries, disclosure, and reciprocity, effect the process of information gathering, and the degree of its depth and quality (Marshall & Rossman, 2015; Maxwell, 2013). Nonetheless, in-depth interviewing, executed skillfully, allows the researcher to explore experiences in great detail to understand and describe meaning while reaching across barriers, often as an amateur, forming knowledge about the experience to share with the world (Rubin & Rubin, 2012). Researcher conduct in-depth interviews by creating open-ended questions intended to draw specific information from interviewees (Rubin & Rubin, 2012; Smith, Flowers, & Larkin, 2009). Interviewing is an act of communication and referred to as a purpose-driven conversation (Janesick, 2011; Marshall & Rossman, 2015; Rubin & Rubin, 2012; Smith, Flowers, & Larkin, 2009) that requires a different kind of preparation and skill separate from that of observation. Interviews can be performed in a variety of ways yet its application is only suitable according to the nature of inquiry and its purposes.

My use of in-depth interviewing as a method for data collection was appropriate because it allowed the fathers to express in their own words the lived experience of parenting while obligated to community supervision. More specifically, I applied the method of phenomenological interviewing which is a specialized form of in-depth qualitative interviewing based in the tradition of phenomenology and characterized by the execution of specific processes (Marshall & Rossman, 2015; Moustakas, 1994; Van Manen, 1990). The process of phenomenological interviewing begins with epoche/bracketing, continues with phenomenological reduction, and concludes with structural synthesis. These processes as related to phenomenological interviewing are discussed in further detail later in this chapter.

In this study, I used a standardized open-ended approach for initial interviews and a semi-structured open-ended approach for all follow-up interviews. According to Patton (2015), the standardized approach is the best way to guard against variations, and the process of questioning will remain consistent for each interview. A standardized openended interview approach is noted uncomplicated and organized in regards to data analysis (Devers & Frankel, 2000) as the researcher is able to quickly retrieve responses to research questions for each participant (Maxwell, 2013; Patton, 2015).

The semi-structured open-ended interview approach provided a level of flexibility not available using the standardized approach (Galletta, 2013; Whiting, 2008). Use of the semi-structured interviewing technique allowed for my previously determined topic to be explored conversationally with probes and spontaneity (Rubin & Rubin, 2012). The semistructured technique also permits unexpectedly arising topics relevant to answering the research question to be introduced and probed during the interviewing process (Patton, 2015; Rubin & Rubin, 2012; Whiting, 2008).

Instrumentation. The primary instrument for this study was the researcher (Marshall & Rossman, 2015; Seidman, 2013). In this role, I sought to learn as much as possible about parenting as experienced by the fathers in this study (Chenail, 2011; Vagle, 2014). The standardized open-ended interview technique I used to focus the data gathering process was structured using an interview protocol (Appendix E). The creation of an interview protocol was necessary to provide a starting point for the data collection process (Josselson, 2013), facilitate disclosure of the participants experience (Rubin & Rubin, 2012), obtain rich thick descriptions of experience (Moustakas, 1994), reduce the probability of researcher bias (Qu & Dumay, 2011), and establish a basis for follow-up interviewing.

The interview protocol was designed using the model for interview guide construction put forth by Kici and Westhoff (2004). In Kici and Westhoff's model the

interview guide is divided into three segments, (1) the opening phase that is set to inform the research participant, (2) the main phase that is set to gather information pertinent to the research question, and (3) the closing phase that is set to debrief with the research participant and review next steps of the investigation process. Following the model promoted by Kici and Westhoff, I idesigned the opening phase of the interview protocol to include an introduction reminding research participants of this studys' purposes, the timeframe for the interview, review of the informed consent, and completion of the Participant Information Sheet (Appendix C). I used the Participant Information Sheet to gather background information about each participant and to provide a warm-up for participants before asking core interview questions. According to Jacob and Ferguson (2012), it is best to start with the basic questions first. I designed the closing phase of the interview protocol to include comments thanking participants for their time, solicitation of immediate impressions by research participants, and distribution of available resource contacts within the community offering debriefing assistance if desired following the interview.

I designed the main phase of the interview protocol using carefully constructed pre-formulated questions in accordance with my review of the scholarly literature (Jacob & Ferguson, 2012; Rubin & Rubin, 2012). The main phase included a theme-based sequence of ten questions that were asked to elicit substantive information necessary to answer the research question (Kici & Westhoff, 2004). I used the interview protocol to ask each participant the same sequence of theme-based questions assuming that the questions were phrased in such a way to elicit relevant information (Qu & Dumay, 2011), and assuming research participants were the subject experts qualified to provide the material needed to inform the research question (Vagle, 2014).

The questions I created for the interview protocol was structured according to the mini-tour and subjective open-ended question type (Rubin & Rubin, 2012; Seidman, 2013). I used mini-tour questions to explore or reconstruct the details of a particular event or experience (Rubin & Rubin, 2012). I used subjective questions to focus on the thinking and feeling of experience (Seidman, 2013). Keeping with the Kici and Westhoff model, I formulated the interview questions using simple, clear, unbiased language with short and easy to understand explanations. General guidelines offered in addition to Kici and Westhoff (2004) were used to formulate the questions within the interview protocol. Smith, Flowers, and Larkin (2009) advised the mixed use of descriptive, narrative, and evaluative questions to allow for free-flowing disclosure. The guideline was also suggested by Jacob and Ferguson (2012) and was therefore applied in the construction of interview questions.

I created the principal questions within the main phase of the interview protocoal using the phrase "please describe" as opposed to "what" and "why" to avoid impressions of preconception or bias (Rubin & Rubin, 2012), to prevent the participant from having a sense of being evaluated, devalued (Kici & Westhoff, 2004; Qu & Dumay, 2011), and to diminish power shifting within the researcher-participant relationship (Jong & Jung, 2015; Nunkoosing, 2005). The wording of the questions focused on the description of experience particularly seeking information that does not coincide with what is already known and understood about the parenting experience as related to formerly incarcerated African American fathers (Boyce & Neale, 2006).

I established content validity by reviewing and testing of the interview protocol. The criteria put forth by Kici and Westhoff (2004) for the construction of interview guides was modified and used to coordinate a review of the interview protocol. A review process to establish content validity was advised and performed by Kici and Westhoff (2004), and Havens and Vasey (2005) in order to evaluate the structural quality and relevance of the instrument. I took the advice of these researchers and coordinated a review process for the interview protocol. The reviewers evaluated the sequence of questions, language, clarity, complexity, opinion of possible interpretation, and overall fitness to the population and research question. I provided the criteria for the review in the form of a list of 17 assessment questions that was explained to each reviewer. The first review occurred following the second draft of the protocol and was completed by a pastor/counselor with experience working with the targeted population. After I received feedback from the first reviewer I made the suggested revisions before arranging for the second review.

The second review to establish content validity occurred after the third draft of the protocol. The review was completed by a community-based attorney that has experience working with the targeted population. After receiving feedback from the second reviewer I made the suggested revisions. The interview protocol was also tested by members of the targeted population to establish validity. Using members of the targeted population for content validation is an approach that is acceptable and recommended (Hammer, Bennett,

& Wiseman, 2003; Haynes, Richard, & Kubany, 1995; Vogt, King, & King, 2004). I conducted two consecutive test interviews with members of the targeted population who reside outside the research location. I received feedback about the interview protocol following each test interview and made the revisions as suggested.

Kici and Westhoff (2004) advised construction of interview guides that are simple, clear and easy to read. To ensure this criterion was met, I assessed the interview protocol for comprehension according to the English language development standards outlined by the World-Class Instructional Design and Assessment Consortium (WIDA, 2012). Additionally, I tested the interview protocol tested using the Flesch-Kincaid readability formula for reading ease and grade level (www.readability-score.com). The test produced a reading ease score of 70 and a grade level score of 6.4. Using multiple readability formulas, the interview protocol was scored at an average grade level of 7.4. Overall, the readability tests indicated that the interview protocol satisfied the readability standard set for text read by persons amid the general public.

Special considerations. As a researcher becomes accustomed to the art of interviewing using modern designations (i.e. web-based interviewing, blogs, chat talks, etc.), cultural and ethical implications must be carefully considered (Patton, 2015). For instance, language barriers may require interpreter assistance or request by the participant to make use of modern technologies (i.e. email, video conference, phone conference, chat, etc.). It is important to contemplate the consequences of using modern technologies to avoid potential breaches of informed consent, anonymity, confidentiality, and conflict of interest standards (Mertens, 2014). Furthermore, qualitative interviewing traditionally

caters to the researcher-participant dynamic as a human relationship (Josselson, 2013), and is thought essential to the data gathering process (Orb, Eisenhauer, & Wynaden, 2000). Use of modern technologies in place of direct relational connection weakens the researcher-participant relationship and eliminates the act of immersing self in the investigation process (Meho, 2006; Sturges & Hanrahan, 2004). For these reasons, I used the traditional direct person-to-person method of interviewing to avoid the disadvantages associated with the use of modern technologies.

I carefully avoided the use of closed-ended questions as they can hinder the ability to capture the information needed to answer the research question. The use of judgmental language in the delivery of questions and responding judgmentally through non-verbal gestures during an interview was also avoided (Kici & Westhoff, 2004; Nunkoosing, 2005). Speaking clearly, providing an overview of the purpose and expectations, and keeping track of time during interviews was important to the quality of data I gathered and my ability to establish rapport with the fathers (Maxwell, 2013; Smith, Flowers, & Larkin, 2009). Another factor I considered involved the potential for participant distress due to the sharing of sensitive information during the process of interviewing (Nunkoosing, 2005; Patton, 2015). I maintained awareness as to the verbal and non-verbal cues given by fathers that indicated a reaction requiring special attention. In these special circumstances, I delivered a response that was respectful, supportive, and non-coercive (Josselson, 2013). I offered and reminded the fathers of their ability to refuse any sharing of information, and had the ability to request the withholding of information from being reported (Patton, 2015; Rubin & Rubin, 2012).

I actively considered the concern for anonymity and confidentiality. In qualitative research, the matter of confidentiality is habitually included in discussions about ethical procedures to protect and reduce harm to research participants (Clark, 2006; Gibson, Benson, & Brand, 2012; Kaiser, 2009; Meho, 2006). The problem regarding focus on confidentiality is that the representation of its application in research is sometimes confused and as well impossible to uphold as a guarantee (Corbie-Smith, Thomas, William, & Moody-Ayers, 1999; Wiles, Crow, Heath, & Charles, 2006). The term of confidentiality is quite frequently used synonymously with anonymity, and the indication of anonymity is misplaced (Piazza & Bering, 2008; Wiles, Crow, Heath, & Charles, 2006).

Smith, Flowers, and Larkin (2009) advised that anonymity is all that qualitative researchers can offer research participants. The claim of this constraint is solely due to the definition of the term confidentiality which is based on the indication of secrecy and censorship (Flick, von Kardorff, & Steinke, 2004; Gibson, Benson, & Brand, 2012). The idea of anonymity is based on the indication of being unknown, unidentified, and undistinguished which also entails privacy (Piazza & Bering, 2008). Qualitative researchers are not able to offer or promise true confidentiality without abandoning research purposes that partially exist to guide the practice of making public subjective experiences (Nunkoosing, 2005). True anonymity occurs only when there is no connection to the identity of the participant and the respective data, and identification is unable to be made by no person including the researcher (Piazza & Bering, 2008; Whiting, 2008). In that, the assurance of anonymity appears to be all there is to offer.

The position of anonymity and confidentiality require proactive consideration to assure minimal risk and harm to participants. I incorporated the conditions for anonymity and confidentiality into the processes for this study bearing in mind the importance of clear application. I made a full disclosure of the research purposes, risks, benefits, and activities to all research participants (Jong & Junk, 2015). The documentation for voluntary consent addressed concerns of anonymity and confidentiality. I required the eligible fathers to acknowledge and assent to the conditions of anonymity and confidentiality before allowed to continue with research participation (Whelan, 2007; Wiles, Crow, Heath, & Charles, 2008).

I exercised the conditions of anonymity by replacing participant identity information with alphanumeric codes that were known only by the researcher (Orb, Eisenhauer, & Wynaden, 2000). I recorded the research interviews and the audio files were destroyed immediately following the process of transcriptions (Fossey, Harvey, McDermott, & Davidson, 2002; Jacob & Ferguson, 2012). My knowledge about the fathers' involvement in this study was not advertised or shared in order to uphold confidentiality (Kaiser, 2009; Ogden, 2008). My discussion about and relation to the fathers' involvement was restricted to the faculty members of the dissertation committee (Flick, von Kardorff, & Steinke, 2004). I notified the fathers of the legal limits of confidentiality and the circumstances that would require public disclosure (Gibson, Benson, & Brand, 2012; Israel, 2004).

While engaged in the interviewing process I sought to protect the interests of participants and the research purposes while proactively applying safety measures for the

sake of self and interviewee (Nelson, 2004; Smith, Flowers, & Larkin, 2009). It is important to emphasize my safety in the process of inquiry since the idea of protection and security in research is largely concerned with the research participant (Patterson, Gregory, & Thorne, 1999). The personal protection and security of the researcher warrant attention especially in research with high-risk populations and with purposes around sensitive subjects (Dickson-Swift, James, Kippen, & Liamputtong, 2007). A qualitative study, conducted by Sturges and Hanrahan (2004) with visitors and officers from county jails of a northeastern state of the United States, compared the use of in-person and telephone in-depth interviews and acknowledged that there is a concern for researcher safety in qualitative field research.

The issue of safety has been genuinely offered as a factor of high importance (Dickson-Swift, James, Kippen, & Liamputtong, 2007; Langford, 2000; Patterson, Gregory, & Thorne, 1999; Patton, 2015; Sturges & Hanrahan, 2004). Researchers are therefore advised to calculate potential risks of harm prior to the data collection process and execute strategic actions to minimize and eliminate risks (Dickson-Swift, James, Kippen, & Liamputtong; Langford, 2000; Patton, 2015). In accordance with the recommendations put forth by Dickson-Swift, James, Kippen, and Liamputtong (2007), Langford (2000), Nelson (2004), and Patterson, Gregory, and Thorne (1999), I created a safety protocol (see Appendix D) to minimize risks during the research process. I modified the safety protocol as necessary throughout the research process to account for unforeseen concerns of risks to safety. I upheld the safety protocol as a priority before, during, and after all participant contact.

Data Analysis and Interpretation

Qualitative research is flexible in that guidelines and procedures for implementation are not definitive. Exercising a broad range of creativity is legitimately allowed in respect to the purposes and the conceptual lens of research. When it comes to the specific approach to analysis, the choice and scope of activity depend on the analytical intellect and style of the researcher. As a qualitative researcher, I must be confident in his or her ability to perform the activities of their study and should apply complicated processes only if it is appropriate and feasible. I developed this study in a manner that is appropriate and practical. The strategies and techniques used cater to creativity and my style as a Social Work practitioner.

The techniques accepted by transcendental phenomenology were incorporated to capture the lived experiences of formerly incarcerated African American fathers parenting minor children while obligated to community supervision conditions. Particularly, I recorded the meaning of lived experience as described by the fathers by performing the tasks of phenomenological epoche, transcendental phenomenological reduction, imaginative variation, and synthesis. I performed three note-taking activities prior to the application of the above phenomenological techniques to stimulate thought, awareness, and logical understanding of the collected data.

During the process of investigation, I acquired raw data using the technique of interviewing. I began specific strategies for the organization and analysis of data began conclusion of the first participant interview and continued simultaneously throughout the data collection process. The decision to progress through the data collection and analysis activity in this manner comes in view of the advice offered to qualitative researchers (Maxwell, 2013; Merriam, 2002; Miles, Huberman, & Saldana, 2013; Moustakas, 1994; Patton, 2015; Siedman, 2013). During the process of investigation, as declared by Maxwell (2013), qualitative researchers bear a tendency to postpone data analysis inadvertently creating a mass accumulation of data that advances the already challenging nature of the activity. Maxwell's statement is consistent with the sentiment presented by Merriam (2002) who believes the putting off of data analysis is to surrender the need for credibility and reliability, provoking a catastrophe.

To counteract any potential inclination to suspend analysis, I adopted a systematic approach to the task of data organization and analysis. In that, I accomplished the first step in data analysis by performing a post-interview note-taking activity to capture details concerning the interview setting, the actual interview process, information received, impressions related to thoughts and feelings, and emerging topics appropriate for future exploration. I conducted the interview using an audio recording device that was replayed establishing a second post-interview note-taking activity. I subsequently transcribed the recorded interviews to bring forth written accounts of interactions with each father. As presented by Kowal and O'Connell (2004), transcripts reproduce the transitory nature of conversation into a printed form allowing for its use in research analysis, complementing what was recorded and digitally tracked through the use of an audio recording device. The process of transcription, and my reading and thinking about interview transcripts facilitated the third post-interview note-taking activity. Creswell (2013), Maxwell (2013), and Merriam (2002) support the use of all three strategies as valuable opportunities to bring about meaningful thought, critical awareness, and logical understanding of the research data.

Phenomenological Epoche. Husserl's idea of epoche, also known as bracketing (Creswell, 2013; Groenewald, 2004; Hycner, 1985; Merriam, 2002; Moran, 2000; Moustakas, 1994; Patton, 2015), requires a suspension of one's established system of knowledge to embrace that which freshly enters into consciousness (Kockelmans, 1967; Moustakas, 1994). A deliberate disregard for prior knowledge, beliefs, experiences, motivations, judgments, and the like, is an indispensable practice that inhibits the direct influence of such biases that will inevitably direct one's seeing and thinking (Kockelmans, 1967; Moustakas, 1994). Kockelmans presentation on the meaning of epoche as put forth by Husserl is to shift one's attitude (i.e. outlook, position, mindset, opinion) to attain the ability to reduce the experienced world to a world of phenomena. I performed the Phenomenological epoche as advised by Moustakas, specific-concentrated focus and reflective-meditation. Researchers are advised to apply focus to a specific situation or issue and, in isolation, attend to existing thoughts and feelings related to the situation or issue, setting aside all biases to return to view the situation or issue through new eyes. Reflective-meditation, different than specific-concentrated focus, permits the movement of biases in and out of consciousness, being open and responsive to them as with all unbiased awareness. The biases are identified, annotated, and reviewed until its influence on consciousness ceases allowing for an uninfluenced view of the situation or issue.

Transcendental Phenomenological Reduction. The transcendental

phenomenological reduction technique, the second phase of the analysis process, focuses on the generation of textual descriptions relevant to the phenomenon being studied. To perform this technique a repetitive process of looking and describing the specific qualities relevant to the experienced phenomenon was required (Groenewald, 2004; Moustakas, 1994). As presented by Moustakas (1994), researchers must engage self in a process of skilled, well-defined contemplation giving considerable attention to the qualities and characteristics of experience to clearly identify and articulate meaning. The inability to reflect stifles the production of relevant depictions of the phenomenon. To perform transcendental phenomenological reduction, the researcher is tasked with applying the techniques of epoche / bracketing and horizonalization leading to a textual description of the phenomenon. I performed the transcendental phenomenological reduction as advised by Groenewald (2002), Hycner (1985), and Moustakas (1994).

The first phase of the reduction process, epoche or bracketing, requires the researcher to isolate the text of collected data (i.e. statements, phrases) that connects directly to the specific experience or phenomenon being studied (Groenewald, 2004; Moran, 2000; Patton, 2015). What remains following the process is the contents of consciousness itself (Moran, 2000), the data in its purest form. Looking at the phenomenon from different vantage points produces variations in appearance that as well alters the illumination of meaning or the perception of what previously appeared (Moustakas, 1994). The identification of new features of an experience, known as horizons, creates an unlimited discovery of possibilities for perception. The properties

present or appearing in relation to a particular experience, horizons, conveys the very nature of the phenomenon (Moustakas, 1994). The researcher considers each horizon and textural quality with equal value to understand and describe the experience or phenomenon being studied (Moustakas, 1994; Patton, 2015). The horizons and textural qualities are then organized into units of meaning removing redundant and overlapping themes (Groenewald, 2004; Hycner, 1985). Ultimately, the clusters of meaning become a narrative portrayal of the ingredients, parts, or the "what" of the phenomenon being studied excluding essence (Creswell, 2013; Groenewald, 2004; Hycner, 1985; Moustakas, 1994; Patton, 2015).

In particular, it is important to acknowledge the need to execute persistently the activity of epoche or bracketing during the phase of transcendental phenomenological reduction. A deliberate suspension and disregard for one's system of prior knowledge is invaluable and necessary in phenomenological data analysis. Consistent with this point, Hycner (1985), Moran (2000), Moustakas (1994), Smith, Flowers, and Larkin (2009) acknowledges the value in suspending beliefs, feelings, preferences, inclinations, expectations, and understandings to produce a work that is exceptional in accordance with phenomenological principle.

Imaginative Variation. Following the activity of transcendental phenomenological reduction, imaginative variation focuses on creating structural descriptions of experience with the phenomenon. Specifically, imaginative variation is concerned with "how" the phenomenon is experienced in the world (Creswell, 2013; Moustakas, 1994; Patton, 2015). The imagination is used to illuminate the states, circumstances, and positions to bring visual understanding and characterization of our experiences (Moustakas, 1994). The states, circumstances, and positions that exist or are present gives support to, foundation or basis of, or cause for the phenomenon. In other words, imaginative variation or structural meaning is noesis, "the act of perceiving, feeling, thinking, remembering, or judging – all of which are embedded with meanings that are concealed and hidden from consciousness" (Moustakas, 1994, p. 69).

I performed imaginative variation as advised by Moustakas who outlines the corresponding steps as follows: (1) open consideration for the unpredictable fluctuating appearances of potential structural meanings that form the basis for textual meanings, (2) the seeing and accepting the themes and contexts that justify the appearance of the phenomenon, (3) consideration for universal structures (i.e. time, space, body, relation to self, relation to others, etc.) that give rise to the feelings and thoughts related to the phenomenon, and (4) a search for illustrative examples that clearly demonstrate the constant structural themes that make possible structural descriptions of the phenomenon. Imaginative variation opens a boundless pit of possibilities of the phenomenon to be reflectively discovered and explored. I returned to the process of reflection which was necessary in this phase of the process to minimize the interference of researcher bias (Hycner, 1985).

Textural-Structural Synthesis. The final phase of the process, textural-structural synthesis, is an effort to blend into a functioning or unified whole the textural and structural descriptions previously produced. The delineation of parts or units of meaning (i.e. noematic and noetic phases) are intuitively fused together to arrive at a whole entity

consisting of meaning and essences (Hycner, 1985; Moustakas, 1994; Patton, 2015). As advised by Moustakas, I accomplished textural-structural synthesis by composing a statement that presents the meanings and essences in the context of time and place from the perspective of the fathers. Hycner (1985) suggests acknowledging the meaningful differences that exist among participants; a step I incorporated into the performance of this final phase of analysis.

Use of Technology. Establishing a clear strategy on how data will be handled is essential for satisfying researcher obligations like data organization, search and retrieval, analysis, and the reporting of findings (Miles, Huberman, Saldana, 2013). Contemporary strategies for the collection and management of data likely involve the use of computer software programs in hope to minimize the time-consuming demand of the research process. My use of computer software permitted and supported a straightforward stressfree management of data (Richards, 2015; Weitzman, 2000). Several research software options were available for use. I followed the advice of Miles, Huberman, and Saldana (2013) who said the election of a computer software program to conduct research should be based on research methodology and the capacity of use as established by the software's capabilities.

I used the computer software program NVivo 11, developed by QSR International, to store, manage, and analyze data obtained during the data collection process to satisfy the need for data organization, privacy, anonymity and confidentiality, reliability, and reporting. All the materials obtained in the process of conducting this study (i.e. recruitment items, audio recordings, transcripts, note-taking activities, coding and analysis data) were managed using Microsoft Word and NVivo 11.

My method of collecting physical paper documents (i.e. participant eligibility, informed consent, participant information) helped to expedite the early processes of investigation. The paper documents were subsequently scanned and uploaded into the NVivo 11 software program and downloaded on a password protected computer located in my home office. Once I received the paper documents they were placed and sealed in a privacy envelope kept in my possession until arriving at the location where the process of electronic storing occurred. The standardized and semi-structured interviews were conducted using a password protected digital recorder that remained in my possession until the transcription process was complete. I transcribed all digital recordings using Microsoft Word and subsequently uploaded to NVivo 11 for management and storage.

Ultimately, all the data was scanned, transcribed, and uploaded to be managed and maintained electronically. I backed up all the data using a password protected USB storage device and cloud storage account to avoid loss, damage, and recovery failure. The documents and data associated with this study will be maintained for 5 years except for the digital recordings that were destroyed immediately following transcription. At the close of the 5th year, all documents and data will be destroyed.

Issues of Trustworthiness

The concern for trustworthiness is grounded in the need to produce meaningful, credible, and empirically sound findings as a result of qualitative inquiry (Given & Saumure, 2008; Morrow, 2005; Shenton, 2004; Toma, 2011). The idea of trustworthiness

has been extended and adopted as an alternative to the conventional model for assessing the quality of research inquiry (Guba, 1981; Siedman, 2013). In quantitative research, the standard of judgment is measured by the evidence of internal validity – whether the cause for the conclusions expressed are directly correlated or associated with the variables introduced, external validity – whether the research is universally applicable to larger populations and settings, reliability – whether the research instrument is suitable or fit to consistently produce the same results, and objectivity – whether conclusions are communicable, consistent, and attested by outside observations and findings (Frankfort-Nachmias & Nachmias, 2008; Krefting, 1991).

The language, focus, and strategy of quantitative criteria is commonly applied in accordance with statistical control and manipulation methodologies that can clearly restrain probable threats in advance (Creswell, 2014; Frankfort-Nachmias & Nachmias, 2008; Guba, 1981; Maxwell, 2013). On the contrary, the qualitative approach, where rich descriptions are at the heart of inquiry, maintains obligation to control for probable threats at every point of the research process (Creswell, 2013; Maxwell, 2009; Patton, 2015). Considering the differences in assumptions and positions when it comes to the scientific and naturalistic paradigms, the language, focus, and strategy used to judge the quality of scientific research has been determined ineffective and inappropriate for qualitative inquiry (Guba, 1981; Marshall & Rossman, 2015; Siedman, 2013). As a replacement, I used the four standards of measure as given in the model presented by Guba (1981), the evidence of *credibility, dependability, transferability,* and

confirmability, to ensure the trustworthiness standards of quality and empirical soundness were reached.

Credibility

The approach to addressing the concern for credibility underlines the belief held by naturalistic inquirers that multiple realities exist in contact with participants (Cunliffe, 2003; Guba, 1981; Merriam, 2002; Moen, 2006). The multiple realities that emerge are shaped by factor patterns that are expected to influence the process and closing stage of interpretation (Guba, 1981). In that, I used specific strategies during and after inquiry to increase the likelihood of producing reasonable and valuable conclusions. I used the strategies of peer briefing and member checking during inquiry (Cho & Trent, 2006; Guba, 1981; Patton, 2015). I was subject to continual review of methods and insights gained during the process of investigation due to having the status of doctoral candidate (Bowen, 2005; Guba, 1981; Rudestam & Newton, 2015). The faculty members of my dissertation committee performed the function of peer debriefing to guide the progression of the research, to assure high-quality, and firm credibility (Bowen, 2005; Rudestam & Newton, 2015).

With its earliest use in the 1920s (Miles, Huberman, & Saldana, 2013), member checking has become an established technique in qualitative inquiry to develop positive rapport and support the right of informed consent with research participants (Rudestam & Newton, 2015). Member checking is understood as being at the heart of credibility and has been yielded high esteem and respect (Guba, 1981). Following the data collection process, I engaged each father in the member checking process by offering them the opportunity to view their transcript for accuracy.

I made an effort to establish what Guba (1981) refers to as structural corroboration once the data collection process was completed. Intentionally searching through the data and interpretations to identify all discrepancies present is structural corroboration. I reviewed the data generated from interviewing the fathers to identify the information that was not in agreement with social constructionist views. I explored alternative logical conclusions for the data points that did not support the established interpretive direction of the investigation. All discrepancies were located, acknowledged and reported. The final effort to establish credibility was in returning to member checking to assess the full account of inquiry.

Transferability

The Naturalist perspective upholds the belief that truth is connected to time, space, and context (Guba, 1981; Patton, 2015; Shenton, 2004). With this study framed in the qualitative tradition, the goal was not to produce generalizations that would cross time, space, and context (Guba, 1981; Miles, Huberman, & Saldana, 2013). The findings were too specific to environment and individual to appropriately assume a broad perspective (Morrow, 2005; Shenton, 2004). The aim of qualitative inquiry in regards to transferability is to establish practical conclusions that may perhaps be transferable depending on the characteristics discovered. More specifically, the purpose of this study was to describe the meaning fathers in this study ascribed to the experience of fathering in the context of post incarceration supervision. To account for the situational uniqueness of the inquiry, I used several techniques to produce context-relevant findings sufficient to assess the degree to which transfer can occur.

My recruitment of participants involved a sampling strategy that became the first technique employed to establish transferability. The sampling strategy, criterion-based purposeful sampling, helped me obtain the most relevant data possible to represent participants' experience of parenting. The sampling strategy facilitated selection of the fathers who had direct experience in fathering and was capable of providing information-rich material to inform my research question (Devers & Frankel, 2000; Guba, 1981; Morrow, 2005).

During the investigation process, I collected thick descriptive data to provide the basis for assessing the transferable fitness of the characteristics uncovered. As put forward by Miles, Huberman, and Saldana (2013), a data accounting sheet may be used to track the collection of data obtained by each participant. I incorporated the technique of using a data accounting sheet to provide a visual report on the progress of content collected in answering the research question. The data accounting sheet helped me plan and focus subsequent participant contacts after the initial contact to achieve the goal of obtaining thick content-rich descriptive data.

Once the phase of data collection was complete, the final technique to establish transferability was to develop thick descriptions from the data obtained. According to Morrow (2005), thick descriptions of data is not just in relation to the participant's experience with the phenomenon, but also includes detailed reporting on the context and culture of experience with the phenomenon and the point of saturation. In this study, I

explored fathering and described it from the perspective of formerly incarcerated African American fathers obligated to community supervision. Thick descriptions consisted of cultural characteristics related to African American men with incarceration histories. I explored the context in which fathering experiences occurred was and described them from the perspective of the fathers. According to Morrow (2005), acquiring a variety of sources for the collection of data is necessary to achieve richness, breadth, depth, and saturation. In-depth interviewing was the primary source to acquire data; however, I used post interview notes and member checks were used to attain the point of data saturation.

Dependability

Researchers utilizing qualitative design have to take account for the instabilities that potentially arise in data collection. The concern is in relation to the procedures used to acquire, analyze and interpret the research data. Additionally, the consistency and general acceptability of processes used are of concern for the sake of subsequent replication and scrutiny of the research inquiry (Krefting, 1991; Schwandt & Halpern, 1988). To account for the reality of instability, and to produce credible trustworthy research, I developed an audit trail for this study. The creation of the audit process was initially introduced in the 1980s by Edward Scott Halpern whose dissertation fashioned the process after financial auditing practices in the world of accounting (Akkerman, Admiraal, Brekelmans, & Oost, 2006; Cutcliffe & McKenna, 2004; Miles, Huberman, & Saldana, 2013). Audit trails are encouraged for use by qualitative researchers (Guba, 1981; Lincoln & Guba, 1982; Marshall & Rossman, 2015; Miles, Huberman, Saldana, 2013; Morrow, 2005; Patton, 2015; Rubin & Rubin, 2012; Schwandt & Halpern, 1988;

Shenton, 2004; Smith, Flowers, & Larkin, 2009); however, Cutcliffe and McKenna (1999) question whether the technique devalues the intuitive decisions likely to be made by qualitative researchers during the analysis I used this techniqe to establish dependability during the research inquiry.

The audit trail consisted of raw data (i.e. interview transcripts, memos, notes, data accounting sheet, etc.), categorized data (i.e. transcendental phenomenological reduction and imaginative variation), and analyzed data (i.e. textural-structural synthesis). The audit trail catered to a data-oriented approach as discussed by Shenton (2004) to furnish records outlining the stages of progression during the inquiry. According to Schwandt and Halpern (1988), an audit trail must be organized in such a way that supports the ongoing management of data, controls the potential for error, and increases the researcher's adherence to a code of integrity throughout the process. Advocates of the audit trail refer to the method of preparation and implementation put forth by Schwandt and Halpern (1988) who emphasizes the involvement of an auditor to guide the procedures of organization with the investigator. My auditor was the faculty member appointed as the chairperson of my dissertation committee. The faculty member reviewed and accepted all plans and tasks regarding the organization, management, and close of the audit trail.

Following data inquiry, a dependability audit was conducted (Guba, 1981; Schwandt & Halpern, 1988). The purpose of the dependability audit was to determine whether the processes incorporated to collect, categorize and analyze data were aligned with generally accepted practice (Fossey, Harvey, McDermott, & Davidson, 2002). The dependability audit was performed by the faculty member appointed as chairperson of my dissertation committee.

Confirmability

Although considered an exaggeration as a method to establish trustworthiness and quality (Cutcliffe & McKenna, 2004), confirmability has become a credible criterion in qualitative inquiry. Confirmability is concerned with the products, results or outcomes of inquiry and their consistency with the data gathered (Guba, 1981; Morrow, 1995). To assure the findings of the research investigation are not distorted, I retained the burden of demonstrating integrity during the research process. As a naturalistic inquirer, integrity is critical since the potential for the researcher's experiences and base of knowledge to influence outcomes is extremely probable. To account for the natural reality of this effect, I established confirmability during the research inquiry with the practice of reflexivity.

Reflexivity is defined by Guba (1981) as a deliberate disclosure of assumptions that influenced the development of research questions and research conclusions. Maxwell (2013) is certain that expending efforts to limit any impression the researcher has on inquiry is not of particular importance. The principal aim of reflexivity, according to Maxwell (2013), is to understand how the researcher has influenced the interview process and described conclusions. To arrive at this end, I completed the task of reflexive journaling on a daily basis to record all reactions to the research process and procedures (i.e. attitude, thoughts, emotions, shifts, changes, etc.) (Flick, 2014).

Reflexive journaling is a proactive response to the threats of researcher bias, fault, and inconsistency concerning research data (Bowen, 2005; Koch & Harrington, 1998;

Petty, Thomson, & Stew, 2012). For research findings to qualify as a reliable and credible source of authority, disclosure regarding the experience, training, and personal history of the researcher is necessary (Patton, 2015; Petty, Thomson, & Stew, 2012; Van Manen, 1990; Whittemore, Chase, & Mandle, 2001). The information regarding my experience, training, and personal history and its impact on the research process was acknowledged in the practice of reflexive journaling. As encouraged by Koch and Harrington (1998), the self-awareness and self-correction noted by way of reflexive journaling was subsequently incorporated into the final report on the research for this study.

My final attempt to establish confirmability occurred after data inquiry was complete. As like with dependability, a confirmability audit was conducted by the faculty member appointed as chairperson of my dissertation committee. The confirmability audit is believed to be the chief strategy for establishing credibility and trustworthiness as related to the outcomes of inquiry (Guba, 1981; Krefting, 1991; Schwandt & Halpern, 1988). However, Schwandt and Halpern (1988) state that confirmability auditing is particularly challenging because of the difficulty in documenting interpretations and conclusions as opposed to the tracking of processes. Because of this limitation, the accuracy and safekeeping of research-related documentation were crucial.

Confirmability audits are intended to assess whether findings are consistent with the data gathered during the phase of collection (Akkerman, Admiraal, Brekelmans, & Oost, 2006; Miles, Huberman, & Saldana, 2013; Morrow; 2005), and that all discrepancies are acknowledged and reported (Lietz & Zayas, 2010; Meyrick, 2006). The auditor judged my research outcomes to determine if conclusions were logical, reasonable and free of researcher bias (Creswell, 2014; Lincoln & Guba, 1982; Maxwell, 2013; Shenton, 2004).

Ethical Concerns and Procedures

The ethical considerations relevant to this inquiry include (a) exploitation of participants, (b) full disclosure and consent of participation, (c) researcher partiality due to values and personal background, (d) anonymity and confidentiality, (e) misconduct toward or disempowerment of participants, and (f) sensitivity to the special needs of participants in the research process.

I kept the fathers of this study informed through direct communication and by way of detailed documentation of the benefits and challenges. Neither participant was coached or coerced to participate (Kvale, 2007; Mertens, 2014). Each father was at liberty to seek additional understanding or clarity regarding this study as well as decline participation at any point in time (Marshall & Rossman, 2015; Rubin & Rubin, 2012). I communicated changes regarding the research process as related to participant involvement in a timely fashion using a means that was appropriate and expedient. In the event a father declined or withdrew from the research process I made attempts to identify an alternative candidate using the primary criterion-based purposeful sampling strategy.

Qualitative inquiry poses alarm for the well-being of participants in that research is being conducted in a safe and ethically sound manner (Corbin & Strauss, 2015; Orb, Eisenhauer, & Wynaden, 2000; Ritchie, Lewis, Nicholls, & Ormston, 2014). The practice of open communication with the fathers in regards to voluntary consent, anonymity, and confidentiality was my operating standard. I made the fathers aware of the nature of this study, and as well the interview schedule and all unanticipated changes that affected participation (Josselson, 2013; Whelan, 2008; Wiles, Crow, Heath, & Charles, 2008). I addressed the issue of confidentiality by notifying the fathers of the extent their participation would be disclosed (Gibson, Benson, & Brand, 2012; Israel, 2004). I shared all my interactions with the fathers with all faculty members appointed to oversee this study's research activity. I made the fathers aware of this certainty, and, therefore, was informed of the established plan to uphold anonymity (Miles, Huberman, & Saldana, 2013; Orb, Eisenhauer, & Wynaden, 2000). The actual identity of the fathers was protected by the previously mentioned record-keeping plan. Each father was personified through the representation of their experience to ensure the safeguarding of identity, and to reduce the risk of direct harm. Through my use of member checking participants had the opportunity to certify their voice as it was to be represented in this study.

The concern for participants experiencing abuse during the research process called for proactive measures to lessen the risk of any occurrence. The potential for participants to become distressed, agitated, or irritated during the interviewing process was acknowledged. Prior to the start of an interview, I asked the fathers to inform me if an experience of discomfort, a sense of heightened anxiety, or emotional pain occurred. I offered fathers an opportunity to take a break or end the interviewing process (Rubin & Rubin, 2015). None of the fathers experienced discomfort requiring immediate attention or assistance from the crisis response service (Josselson, 2013). None of the fathers required transfer to a medical or mental health facility or needed me to provide on-site support prior to medical transfer. I gave a listing of community support and assistance programs to each father at the conclusion of their interview whether or not distress was experienced (Ritchie, Lewis, Nicholls, & Ormston, 2014).

Researchers are advised to acknowledge and operate under an established set of ethical standards to reduce the potential for harm during the research process (Josselson, 2013; Kvale, 2007; Mertens, 2014; Morrow, 2005; Orb, Eisenhauer, & Wynaden, 2000; Patton, 2015; Ritchie, Lewis, Nicholls, & Ormston, 2014; Seidman, 2013). The National Association of Social Workers (NASW) is the authority for which my standards of ethical practice were derived. The NASW Code of Ethics outlines core values that practitioners must uphold that include (a) social justice, (b) dignity and worth of a person, and (c) integrity (NASW, 2010). During the research process I regularly reviewed and was reminded of my commitment to uphold standards of ethical practice regardless of personal convictions, beliefs, and preferences, for the sake of self, the father participants, and my colleagues within the academic and human services community. I maintained my focus on the research goals; keeping in mind the value this type of research holds for practitioners in society.

In order to acknowledge objectivity, remain fair, and unemotional during the research process (The National Academies Press, 2009) it was necessary for me to have an open and honest conversation with someone unaffiliated with the research inquiry to provide critical feedback relevant to my involvement in the research process (Corbin, Strauss, 2015; Dickinson-Swift, James, Kippen, & Liamputtong, 2007). An independent professional, who remained unknown and uninvolved in the research, was identified prior to the start of the data collection process. I kept a working relationship with this

professional until the conclusion of the research project for the purpose of preserving physical, mental, and emotional well-being.

Lastly, monetary payment for research participation is an ongoing controversy. Attending to the double-sided conversation regarding payment to research participants was necessary to make an informed decision regarding the position most suitable for this study. Sears (2001) outlined current models used to make decisions regarding participant compensation that I considered. The influence of monetary payment or compensation was of concern for several reasons, (1) participants may disregard limitations and risks (McNeil, 1997; Slomka, McCurdy, Ratliff, Timpson, & Williams, 2007), (2) participants' motivation may be primarily based on payment and fail to be honest about eligibility and experience (Bentley & Thacker, 2004; Russell, Moralejo, & Burgess, 2000), (3) there is potential for perceived coercion or exploitation (Corbie-Smith, Thomas, Williams, & Moody-Ayers, 1999; Wilkinson & Moore, 1999), and (4), it may potentially lessen the importance of consent to participate in research (Head, 2009).

Although monetary compensation is intended to support a successful recruitment process, the risk of offering an incentive to participate in this study may have been greater than the intended benefit. My assumption was that all identified participants would voluntarily share their experiences willingly because of the advantage of having their stories told, and their voices heard with the potential for large-scale exposure. Therefore, the fathers identified and subsequently engaged in this study was asked and chose to be involved of his own accord without the persuasion or coercion of compensation.

Summary

In this chapter, I provided an overview of the research design to communicate the methods and tools that were used to conduct this transcendental phenomenological study. To make known the lived experience of parenting for formerly incarcerated African American fathers obligated to community supervision, I used an in-depth interviewing technique. The interviewing process helped me acquire thick descriptive data to inform my research question. The data gathered during the interview process was analyzed using phenomenological techniques that allowed me to develop logical, reasonable, unbiased conclusions. My case for ensuring quality and trustworthiness of research was also presented.

The forthcoming chapter gives an account of the lived experience of fathering as expressed by the fathers in this study during two separate interview encounters. The information pertaining to this study's research setting, participant demographics, data collection, and analysis procedures is reported. I will present the evidence of trustworthiness before concluding with a chapter summary.

Chapter 4: Results

Introduction

The purpose of this transcendental phenomenological study was to examine the lived experience of formerly incarcerated African American fathers parenting minor children while obligated to post release supervision. I intended to raise awareness about these fathers' experience and influence the development of culturally relevant interventions that strengthen and support family structures with formerly incarcerated African American fathers. The research location for this study, the Kansas City metropolitan area, experiences an annual increase in the population by 4,000 persons due to the release of incarcerated males who are likely subject to mandatory post release supervision (Geither, 2012; McDonald & Holsinger, 2010; Roberts, Goddard, Graves, & Williams, 2013). The statistical reports I retrieved were limited concerning post release supervised individuals. Consequently, the number of formerly incarcerated African American fathers participating in community supervision within the state of Kansas, specifically within the Kansas City metropolitan area, was unknown at the time of this study's reporting. Glaze and Maruschak (2010), however, found that more than half of male state incarcerates within the United States are parents of a minor child. Furthermore, 92% of the total corrections population within the state of Kansas is estimated to be males who are expected to return to the community under post release supervision (Roberts, Goddard, Graves, & Williams, 2013).

Based on the statistical reports, I viewed African American fathers as being a sizeable portion of the population of criminal justice involved persons. I conducted my

investigation with formerly incarcerated African American fathers serving post release supervision to expand the base of knowledge presently available concerning their experience in parenting. To capture the reality of lived experience as expressed by participants, I posed the research question: What are the parenting experiences of African American fathers obligated to mandatory supervision following an incarceration? In this chapter, I give an overview of the research setting, the characteristics of participants, details on data collection and the results before concluding with a chapter summary.

Setting

I collected the data for this investigation in a natural setting that was known and familiar to each father. A total of five different local city and county public libraries served as the designated space to conduct interviews. Each father was engaged on two separate occasions: the initial interview and follow-up interview. With the exception of two follow-up interviews, all interviews took place in a private study room of the library. One follow-up interview was completed by phone while one follow-up interview was completed on a community bench within 50 feet of the fathers' home. I conducted the phone follow-up interview with participant Timothy because he was confined to his home by community supervision authorities. I used an alternative meeting location for my interview with participant Darrin because he was confined to a one block radius of his home by community supervision authorities.

Demographics

In this study, I interviewed nine formerly incarcerated African American fathers who had returned to the community within 6 to 12 months of study participation. All the fathers said they resided and currently participated in the parole supervision program within the Kansas City metropolitan area, or 25 miles outside of the area. Once determined eligible for participation, the fathers shared demographic information by completing the participant eligibility form (see Appendix B) and the participant information sheet (see Appendix C). All the fathers said that the information they gave on both forms was accurate and granted permission for its use. I have summarized this information in Tables 1 and 2. Table 1 provides the information shared on the participant eligibility form in addition to the individuals' highest grade level completed and job title as stated on the participant information sheet.

I replaced the names of participants with an alphanumeric label, and this alternative label was used to manage the flow of all data gathered from and forwarded to each father. In an effort to maintain confidentiality, I convey the alphanumeric code assigned to each father by using a randomly chosen pseudonym. I use the assigned pseudonym to discuss each participants' characteristics and experience as gathered during the data collection process. I introduce the nine participants in this study according to the date of their initial interview.

Table 1

Participant	Age	Nature of conviction	Prison term	Custody status	Reporting frequency	Highest grade	Job
Jeffrey	45	Drug	12 yrs.	Parole	Monthly	1 yr. college	Carpenter
Micah	37	Drug, assault	13 yrs.	Parole	Monthly	12th	Cook
Willie	40	Aggravated battery	3 yrs.	Parole	Biweekly	GED	Construction
Richard	49	Robbery	9 yrs., 8 mos.	Parole	Weekly	GED	Cook
Darrin	28	Drug	3 yrs.	Parole & Probation	Weekly	1 yr. college	Construction
Timothy	28	Robbery	3 yrs., 4 mos.	Parole	Biweekly	12th	Machine Operator
Harold	49	Drug, theft	3 yrs., 6 mos.	Parole	Monthly	8th	Unemployed
Corey	35	Kidnapping, aggravated assault	3 yrs. 8 mos.	Parole	Monthly	Some college	Retired Military
Jason	28	Drug	4 yrs. 6 mos.	Parole	Monthly	12th	Landscaping

Participant Demographic Vo	iriables
----------------------------	----------

The information in Table 2 provides an overview of parenting-related characteristics that were shared by participants on the participant information sheet.

Table 2

Participant	# of children	Age/gender of Minor(s)	Custody status of minor(s)	Frequency of contact w/minor(s)	Maternal parent defined	Relationship w/maternal parent
Jeffrey	9	3, male	Joint	Daily	Fiancé	Intimate
Micah	4	14, female 17, female	Partial Partial	Weekly Daily ^b	Past Past	Strained Strained
Willie	5	11, female 12, female	None None	Varies Varies	Past Past	Damaged Damaged
Richard	5	12, female 14, female 14, female	None None None	Weekly Weekly Weekly	Past ^a	Strained
Darrin	2	2, male 6, female	Partial Partial	Daily Daily	Past ^a	Strained
Timothy	2	3, male 6, male	Joint None	Daily Biweekly	Current Past	Intimate Strained
Harold	1	9, female	None	Varies	Past	Positive
Corey	2	10, female 12, male	Joint Joint	2x/month Daily	Wife ^a	Positive
Jason	1	10, female	None	2x/month	Past	Strained

Parental-Related Characteristics of Participants

^aMinors have the same maternal parent; ^bContact is indirect via phone and Facebook.

Participant 1: Jeffrey

Jeffrey is a 45-year-old African American father with 2 adult daughters, 6 adult sons, and 1 son who is of minor age. His son, 3 years of age, was focused on in this study. Jeffrey spent 12 years in a correctional facility in the state of Missouri as the result of a drug related conviction. He was transferred thereafter to the state of Kansas to be monitored under parole supervision with the Kansas Department of Corrections. Jeffrey reported being employed as a full-time temporary carpenter and reported spending time with his children every 3 months. While engaged in this study, Jeffrey was successfully released from parole supervision and is hoping to marry his fiancé, the mother of his 3year-old son, in the near future.

Participant 2: Micah

Micah is a 37-year-old African American father with 1 adult daughter, 1 adult son, and 2 daughters who are of minor age. His daughters, 14 and 17 years of age, were focused on in this study. Micah spent 13 years in a correctional facility in the state of Kansas as the result of a conviction related to drugs and a conviction related to assault. At the time of this study, he was being monitored under parole supervision by the Kansas Department of Corrections with hope for a successful release in the near future. Micah reported being employed as a full-time cook and reported spending time with his 14-yearold daughter twice a week, connecting with his 17-year-old daughter by phone and through Facebook. Micah reported having a monthly check-in requirement to his parole officer, and a weekly requirement to pay for and attend parenting class every Thursday as part of the conditions of his parole supervision.

Participant 3: Willie

Willie is a 40-year-old African American father with 2 adult daughters, 1 adult son, and 2 daughters who are of minor age. His daughters, 11 and 12 years of age, were focused on in this study. Willie spent 3 years in a correctional facility in the state of Kansas as the result of an aggravated battery conviction. At the time of this study, he was being monitored under parole supervision by the Kansas Department of Corrections with hope for a successful release sometime during the year 2017. Willie reported being employed as a full-time construction worker and reported seeing his children as often as made possible. According to Willie, he prefers to see his children every day but admits to having a damaged relationship with the mothers of his 11-year-old and 12-year-old daughters that affect his ability to spend time with each of them. Willie reported having a weekly check-in requirement to see his parole officer and a weekly requirement to pay for and attend drug class as part of the conditions of his parole supervision.

Participant 4: Richard

Richard is a 49-year-old African American father with 1 adult daughter, 1 adult son, and 3 daughters who are of minor age. His daughters 12, 14 and 14 years of age, were focused on in this study. Richard spent 9 years and 8 months in a correctional facility in the state of Kansas as the result of a robbery conviction. At the time of this study, he was being monitored under parole supervision by the Kansas Department of Corrections with hope for a successful release sometime during the year 2017. Richard reported having full-time temporary employment as a dietary cook in the healthcare industry. He also reported seeing his children every weekend and sometimes during the week when he visited them while they were at school. Richard reported having a weekly check-in requirement to see his parole officer that included submitting to mandatory drug testing. He reported a weekly requirement to pay for and attend several classes that included drug treatment and parenting support. He also reported a requirement to avoid any contact with local law enforcement as part of the conditions of his parole supervision. After the initial interviewing process was completed with Richard he became inaccessible. Approximately 30 days after his initial interview I learned that Richard was re-incarcerated as a result of him violating the conditions of parole supervision.

Participant 5: Darrin

Darrin is a 28-year-old African American father with 2 children who are of minor age. Both of his minor children, son age 2 and daughter age 6, were focused on in this study. Darrin spent 3 years in a correctional facility in the state of Kansas as the result of a drug related conviction. At the time of this study, he reported being monitored under probation and parole supervision by the Kansas Department of Corrections with no knowledge of when he would be released from either supervision type. Darrin reported being employed as a full-time temporary laborer in the construction industry. He reported having partial custody of both of his children who he sees every day. Darrin reported having a weekly check-in requirement to see his parole officer as part of the conditions of his parole supervision.

Participant 6: Timothy

Timothy is a 28-year-old African American father with 2 children who are of minor age. Both of his minor children, son age 3 and son age 6, were focused on in this

study. Timothy spent 3 years in a correctional facility within the state of Kansas and Missouri as the result of a robbery conviction. At the time of this study, he reported being monitored under parole supervision by the Kansas Department of Corrections with no knowledge of when he would be released from parole supervision. Timothy reported being employed as a full-time temporary machine operator. He reported having joint custody of his 3-year-old son who lives with him and sees him every day. In regards to his 6-year-old son, Timothy reported that he sees him every other week. Timothy reported having a bi-weekly check-in requirement to see his parole officer as part of the conditions of his parole supervision.

Participant 7: Harold

Harold is a 49-year-old African American father with 1 daughter who is of minor age. His daughter, 9 years of age, was focused on in this study. Harold spent 3 years and 6 months in a correctional facility within the state of Kansas and Missouri as the result of a conviction related to drugs and a conviction related to theft. At the time of this study, he reported being monitored under parole supervision by the Kansas Department of Corrections with no knowledge of when he would be released from parole supervision. Harold reported being unemployed, but occasionally takes advantage of small odd jobs. He reported not having custody of his daughter and seeing her once or twice a month. Harold reported having a monthly check-in requirement to see his parole officer that includes submitting to mandatory drug testing. He reported having a weekly requirement to pay for and attend drug class as part of the conditions of his parole supervision.

Participant 8: Corey

Corey is a 35-year-old African American father with 2 children who are of minor age. Both of his minor children, daughter age 10 and son age 12, were focused on in this study. Corey spent 3 years and 8 months in a correctional facility in the state of Kansas as the result of a kidnapping and aggravated assault conviction. At the time of this study, he reported being monitored under parole supervision by the Kansas Department of Corrections with no knowledge of when he would be released from parole supervision. Corey is a retired military officer previously serving with the United States Army. Corey reported being retired, unemployed, and having no immediate intent to secure employment in any capacity. Since choosing not to maintain full-time employment, Corey spends his time reading, exploring future entrepreneurial opportunities, caring for his son, and setting goals for he and his family. Corey reported having joint custody of both his children. His 12-year-old son lives with him and his 10-year-old daughter, who lives with her mother, sees him twice a month. Corey reported having a monthly check-in requirement by phone with his parole officer, and a check-in requirement to see his parole officer every three months as part of the conditions of his parole.

Participant 9: Jason

Jason is a 28-year-old African American father with 1 daughter who is of minor age. His daughter, 10 years of age, was focused on in this study. Jason spent 4 years and 6 months in a correctional facility in the state of Kansas as the result of a drug related conviction. At the time of this study, he reported being monitored under parole supervision by the Kansas Department of Corrections with no knowledge of when he would be released from parole supervision. Jason reported being employed as a full-time temporary landscaper. He reported having no custody of his daughter who he sees every other weekend. Jason reported having a monthly check-in requirement to see his parole officer as part of the conditions of his parole supervision.

Data Collection, Management, Storage

The recruitment of participants began October 22, 2015, and concluded on May 15, 2016. I identified the fathers in this study using a criterion-based purposeful sampling strategy. I announced the need for volunteers to participate in this study using a detailed flyer. I initially posted the flyer in public areas within all the communities targeted for this study including public libraries, community centers, police stations, and on community boards. I distributed the flyer to individuals at local grocery stores, banks, barbershops, restaurants, and retail stores. The criteria of "formerly incarcerated" and "under community supervision" made recruitment efforts in the community challenging. According to Jeffrey, the first identified eligible participant for this study, active supervisees will not openly expose or disclose their involvement with the criminal justice system to the general public for reasons related to stigma, prejudice, and discrimination.

After thirty days of failed success in recruitment, I contacted the state department of corrections for permission to post a flyer announcing the research opportunity within local community corrections offices. Within 10 days, I received permission from the state department of corrections to post my announcement within the local community corrections offices covering the targeted research location. My professional experience as a Social Worker in the field of corrections led me to instinctively become acquainted with the personnel managing the local community corrections offices. Building a positive rapport with the local community corrections office personnel was critically important for ensuring that my research opportunity was received, posted, and visible in client accessible areas. The rapport I developed with the local community corrections offices made it possible for me to be invited to hold information sessions at the local office for the purpose of recruitment. There were three information sessions conducted at three different local community corrections offices covering the targeted research location.

Interest to voluntarily participate was communicated verbally in person, over the phone, and in writing using email. The individuals identified in person and who expressed interest by phone or email was invited to attend a meeting at the local public library. I asked potential participants to confirm their ability to volunteer for my research opportunity by reviewing and completing the participant eligibility form (see Appendix B). Once eligibility was confirmed, I provided the fathers with the informed consent and participant information sheet (see Appendix C) for review and completion before the process of interviewing began. I gave a copy of the informed consent to each father participating in the study. The signed informed consent and completed participant information sheet was collected and sealed in a privacy envelope that remained in my possession.

I engaged the fathers in two separate interviewing processes using a standardized and semi-structured open-ended approach. The initial interview was guided by an interview protocol, and the follow-up interview was guided by information gathered during the initial interview. I conducted each interview using a series of open-ended questions. I recorded and digitally tracked all initial and follow-up interviews using an audio recording device and subsequently transcribed the collected data as presented in detail in Chapter 3. The initial interview was an average duration of 80 minutes in length and the follow-up interview was an average of 30 minutes in length. I completed a total of 17 interviews with nine formerly incarcerated African American fathers.

At the conclusion of each initial interview, I provided the fathers with a list of community resources and then scheduled their follow-up interview. During this time, participants made decisions regarding receipt of the interview transcript that was reviewed for accuracy and used to establish a basis for the follow-up interview. I completed post interview notes immediately after the interview, after initial review of the audio recording, and after interview transcription. I offered the fathers three options for receipt of their interview transcript that included email, USPS priority delivery, and inperson delivery. The method chosen fluctuated among the fathers. All three of the options given was used a minimum of four times during the data collection process. A verbal or written approval of the initial interview transcript was received prior to the follow-up meeting.

The follow-up interview was completed with eight of the nine eligible fathers engaged in this study. I asked the fathers to make decisions about the transcript verification process after each follow-up interview. Additionally, I reminded the fathers about their ability to receive a copy of the official study results and expressed my desire to show my appreciation for their participation with a "Thank You" letter. The eight remaining fathers provided me with instructions on the receipt of a "Thank You" letter and copy of the official study results. I forwarded all "Thank You" letters to participants after their verbal or written approval of the follow-up interview transcript was received.

All the forms I collected and generated during the stage of data collection was scanned and uploaded to a password protected computer located at my home. I destroyed the original paper/handwritten documents after a digital copy was created. The audio file of each interview was destroyed immediately following the process of transcription. All the data related to this study was managed, stored, and is being maintained in accordance with the described details presented in Chapter 3.

My goal for this study was to engage a sample of six to ten African American fathers in research. During the period of recruitment 37 individuals expressed an interest to voluntarily participate in this study. Of the 37 individuals that expressed an interest, 21 was found ineligible during the initial screening, four was confirmed eligible but withdrew prior to the initial interview, and three was confirmed eligible then became ineligible during initial interview due to making assertions that went against this study's selection criteria. Richard, a confirmed eligible participant, was actively engaged in research but was reincarcerated after his initial interview. The concluded the phase of data collection after eight eligible participants completed both the initial and follow-up interview.

Achieving Data Analysis

Four phases of specific strategies were performed to complete an analysis of the raw data gathered while using the in-depth interview technique. The analysis of data was not postponed, but began at the conclusion of the first participant interview and continued simultaneously throughout the interviewing process with each father (Maxwell, 2013). I performed a post interview note-taking activity prior to leaving the interview site. The activity allowed me to record details about the interview setting, the interview process, the information gathered during the interview, and any impressions related to thoughts, feelings, and areas to explore during follow-up interviewing. A post interview note-taking activity was performed a second time when reviewing the audio recorded interview prior to transcription. I completed my transcription using Microsoft Word and subsequently transferred the transcribed data to NVivo 11 to complete the text-based analysis electronically. During the process of transcription, I recorded my impressions and then expanded them after transcription while reading and thinking about the interview encounter. I performed the strategy of post interview note-taking at three different key points in order to generate meaningful thoughts, gain critical awareness, and logical understanding of the described experience (Maxwell, 2013; Merriam, 2002).

The post interview note-taking strategy guided the process of reflective meditation also known as phenomenological epoche (Kockelmans, 1967; Moustakas, 1994). Reflective meditation required me to identify and isolate the specific situations and issues disclosed by participants that triggered a bias response. I consciously attended to my pre-existing thoughts and feelings, recorded and reviewed them several times in order to decrease their influence on my seeing and thinking about the articulated experience of participants. The process of post interview note-taking and reflective meditation concluded the first phase of data analysis. The second phase of data analysis was transcendental phenomenological reduction which focused on identifying relevant structures or textural descriptions of the parenting experience as articulated by fathers in this study. I used the selective reading approach to review and isolate statements and phrases that relate specifically to the parenting experience (Groenewald, 2004; Moran, 2000; Patton, 2015; Van Manen, 1990). I considered the isolated statements and phrases from various points of view and organized them into thematic units of descriptive experience. The thematic units or themes of descriptive experience represented the parts or the "what" of the parenting experience (Groenewald, 2004; Hycner, 1985; Moustakas, 1994; Patton, 2015) as articulated by the fathers.

The third phase of data analysis was imaginative variation that focused on identifying relevant structural descriptions that formed the basis for textural descriptions of the parenting experience. I performed imaginative variation as instructed by Moustakas (1994) and involved exploring and considering the context of experience that provoked the feelings and thoughts shared by the fathers related to parenting. The illustrative examples in the data gathered was isolated and reviewed to uncover the states, circumstances, and positions that support the experience of parenting as articulated by the fathers. The structural themes represented the "how" of experience in parenting as articulated by the fathers (Moustakas, 1994; Patton, 2015).

Textural-Structural Synthesis was the final phase of data analysis. I fused together the textural and structural descriptions in the context of time and place forming a composed statement that represents the meanings and essences of parenting as experienced by the fathers. I identified the differences that exist among the fathers for the purpose of reporting.

Evidence of Trustworthiness

Trustworthiness is a formulated model used to establish the quality of research. I used the model for trustworthiness presented by Guba (1981) to assess the quality of this phenomenological study. I measured the standard of quality by the evidence of credibility, dependability, transferability, and confirmability. These four standards of measure was defined and explained in Chapter 3. An explanation on how different strategies were used to establish each standard of measure is outlined below.

Credibility

The concern regarding credibility is centered on a belief held by naturalistic inquirers that multiple realities exist in contacts with participants (Cunliffe, 2003; Guba, 1981; Merriam, 2002; Moen, 2006). For this study, I incorporated specific strategies to help minimize the influence of emerging realities. The first strategy, peer briefing, was a continual standard of protocol due to my status as a doctoral candidate. The methods and insights presented related to my investigation was reviewed at every stage by the faculty members of my dissertation committee. I received ongoing feedback to improve the quality of the research and assure a high-quality standard was achieved (Bowen, 2005; Rudestam & Newton, 2015).

The second strategy, member checking, was satisfied by giving the fathers two opportunities to review transcripts. I presented the first opportunity for review after the initial interview, and the second opportunity was presented after the second interview. Each of the fathers corresponded with me either by phone or email to discuss the information recorded in their transcript and to make known any changes needed. Each father was asked to provide approval after rechecking the data for requested changes. The fathers communicated their approval in-person, by phone, or by email. Their communicated approval gave me permission to move the data analysis process forward. All the fathers actively engaged in both member checking occasions except for Richard who was not available to engage in this two stage process due to reincarceration.

The third strategy, structural corroboration, occurred after all the data was gathered. I thoroughly searched the data for discrepancies. Any discrepancy identified was reported.

Transferability

The goal of transferability was not to produce generalizations, but to establish practical conclusions applicable to formerly incarcerated African American fathers obligated to parole supervision (Guba, 1981; Miles, Huberman, Saldana, 2013; Morrow, 2005; Shenton, 2005). I achieved transferability by exercising appropriate and relevant strategies during and after the research inquiry. The first strategy I used was criterion-based purposeful sampling. Criterion-based purposeful sampling was necessary for me to ensure the information gathered was specific to the experience and context being targeted. I made known the criteria for participation by a clearly displaying my research flyer in accessible areas in the community, and by hand delivering the flyer to potential participants. I required all potential participants to affirm their eligibility for participation before being accepted.

The second strategy was the technique of qualitative interviewing. I viewed the individuals accepted for participation as capable of providing information-rich material to inform my research question. I engaged all the eligible fathers in two separate in-depth interviewing events, responding to a series of open-ended questions, for the purpose of describing the details related to their experience as formerly incarcerated African American fathers obligated to parole supervision. I recorded the responses given by each father and digitally tracked their responses using an audio recording device. I subsequently transcribed, reviewed, and analyzed all the data recorded during the interviewing process.

A data accounting sheet, the third strategy for transferability, was completed after each interview contact to track the responses given by each father, and to devise an interview plan for my follow-up encounter (Miles, Huberman, & Saldana, 2013). The description of experience shared by the African American fathers in this study, in addition to post interview notes and member checks, helped me achieve data richness, breadth, depth, and saturation (Morrow, 2005). Lastly, I developed thick descriptions from the data gathered taking into consideration the time, context, and cultural factors of experience reported during each interview encounter (Guba, 1981; Miles, Huberman, & Saldana, 2013). My goal was to establish practical conclusions applicable to formerly incarcerated African American fathers obligated to parole supervision. The description of experience given by the African American fathers in this study is specifically applicable to fathers living according to the same unique cultural context of experience.

Dependability

In this study, my aim was to achieve dependability by maintaining consistency in the data collection process. An audit trail process helped me to establish consistency by reducing the potential for any data collection instability. I developed the audit trail using raw data, categorized data, and analyzed data which presents the phases of progression in working with the data. I consistently organized, managed, and stored electronically the information-rich material gathered by each father using the procedures outlined in Chapter 3. My development and use of an audit trail process helped me to manage the flow of data and to easily identify errors requiring correction.

A dependability audit was performed by the faculty member appointed as chairperson for my dissertation committee. The faculty member completing the audit found my audit trail acceptable according to current qualitative research practices.

Confirmability

I established trustworthiness and quality by showing evidence aligned with investigative integrity. The idea of investigative integrity, findings being consistent with the data gathered, was my goal in establishing confirmability. The first strategy I exercised aimed at preventing distortions of findings was completed prior to data collection. The research instrument, an interview protocol (see Appendix E), was evaluated for overall fitness to the research population and research question (Havens & Vasey, 2005; Kici & Westhoff, 2004). As discussed in Chapter 3, I drafted the criteria for evaluating the interview protocol and presented it to the protocol reviewers. The interview protocol was first reviewed by a pastor/counselor and then reviewed by a community-based attorney; both individuals with extensive experience working with the targeted population. I also coordinated the voluntary testing of the interview protocol with members of the targeted population who are not participants in this study. I conducted a test interview with two members of the targeted population as the final effort to produce an easy to understand, unbiased, and relevant research instrument (Boyce & Neale, 2006; Rubin & Rubin, 2012; Seidman, 2013).

A second strategy was exercised at the point of initial contact with potential research participants. To have consistent findings it is necessary to gather raw data that is reliable and applicable. In part, my goal was to achieve confirmability by building a positive rapport with participants (Dwyer & Buckle, 2009; Maxwell, 2013; Smith, Flowers, & Larkin, 2009; Tinker & Armstrong, 2008). During initial contact with potential participants, my position as the researcher and professional status as a licensed social worker was revealed. The presentation of my disclosure included a brief history working with individuals connected to the criminal justice system and defining the goals for this study. My introduction clearly communicating these two points was critical in building camaraderie. My effort made to be honest with potential participants, in addition to being perceived an insider as an African American woman, helped to create a safe atmosphere for open and honest disclosure during each interview encounter. Throughout the data collection process, I remained inquisitive seeking to learn from the expert informant, the formerly incarcerated African American father (Chenail, 2011), and rejected the inclination to make assumptions.

The third strategy, reflexive journaling, was used to capture attitudes, thoughts, emotions, shifts, and changes throughout the data collection and analysis process (Flick, 2014; Petty, Thomson & Stew, 2012; Whittemore, Chase & Mandle, 2001). I conducted a three-part note taking process following every interview encounter to record the details about the interview setting along with impressions regarding the interview. During analysis, I reviewed my pre-recorded notes often and recorded new notes were taken as the process of analysis moved forward.

A confirmability audit was performed by the faculty member appointed as chairperson for my dissertation committee. The faculty member conducting the audit determined that my research findings are free of investigator bias.

Presentation of Findings

All nine participants were engaged in a series of open-ended questions to capture their experience of parenting as a formerly incarcerated African American father obligated to parole supervision. Using Microsoft Word and NVivo 11, the data gathered from the fathers during in-depth interview contact was first organized according to each open-ended question asked. I explored the organized data and discovered 701 general units of experience. I examined the units of experience and then organized them into 70 clusters of experience. I reviewed and judged the clusters for redundancy among illustrations of experience and the ability to combine or group like clusters. At the conclusion of this process, I reduced the clusters from 70 experiences to 20 experiences and then arranged them into three classifications. I examined the clusters of experience themes representing the experience of parenting following incarceration as articulated by the African American fathers in this study. A summarized view of the clusters of experience, classifications, and central themes is presented in Table 3.

I focused the investigative process of this study to answer the research question: What are the parenting experiences of African American fathers obligated to mandatory supervision following an incarceration? The units of experience I identified was are relevant and necessary to answering the research question. I present the results of investigation in accordance with the identified central themes to describe the lived experience as articulated by the fathers. The excerpts of the fathers' responses to the interview questions is void of identity characteristics and disclosures about their location. The inclusion of this information poses a breach to confidentiality.

Identity and Role

The thoughts and feelings presented about self and role as an African American father obligated to parole supervision is the focus for this classification. This classification includes three central themes: *A Father at the Crossroad, Surviving on the Edge*, and *By the Way...I've Changed*. I presented the questions related to this classification during the initial and follow-up in-depth interview encounter with the fathers.

Table 3

Central Themes from Clusters of Experience

Clusters of experience	Classification	Central themes
African American father on parole Thinking/feeling as a father	Identity and Role	A father at the crossroad Surviving on the Edge By the wayI've changed
Acceptance by children Admission of guilt to children Apology/forgiveness to children Explanation for absence to children Interactions most gratifying/problematic Learning who children are Parenting practices Parenting conflicts Perception of parole Promise to children Rejection by children Seeing children first time Sense of failure/regret	Fathers in Action	It's been too long without you It hurt me but helped us I'm the father It's father time
Ability to be a father Biggest accomplishment Lessons by children Motivation while on parole Unique about experience	Living Beyond Day 30	No family, No life A work in progress

A father at the crossroad. At the start of their initial in-depth interview, I deliberately asked the fathers first to describe what it means to be an African American father on parole. This question helped to facilitate a relaxed, comfortable, and safe atmosphere for honest open disclosure. The question also acted as a precursor to the more sensitive questions that followed; bringing into context the individuals whose experiences were represented in this study. Being an African American father on parole was interpreted negatively by most of the fathers. This central theme is based on the perceptions held by most of the fathers that parole and its associated mandates can inconveniently interfere, interrupt, or interject activities of being a father and contribute to one being isolated within the community. Although a few of the fathers seemingly was surprised by the question, each offered a response.

When asked to describe what it means to be an African American father obligated to parole supervision, Jeffrey responded by saying "that's a tough one." After pausing briefly, he stated the need to automatically accept that parole will be "in your business":

That's a tough one. To be an African American father comes with responsibilities of making your child, son or daughter, better than you are. Teach them not to make mistakes that you have made...walk and do the right things. Being under supervision as a father you have to allow these people to be in your business...when you're going to see your child, what you're doing for your child, how you gonna take care of your child. The supervision part is really rough because there are things that you wanna do with your child that they make hard for you.

Jeffrey continued explaining by stating:

It's when you wanna spend time with your child they wanna know where you gonna be, how long you gone be with your child, or and if the mother of your child is gonna be around while you're there. So quality time you have to make basically a schedule for them. And that makes it hard because sometimes you don't know how much time you're gonna have...under supervision you have a certain time to be out and you have to get back to wherever they have you at. So, that's hard.

Micah agrees with Jeffrey about there being some difficulty as a parolee, but his perspective places an emphasis on the child support system:

Well right now it means...it's kinda a stressful situation because I mean, with being on parole and...having to deal with child support system right now and having to deal with the different things that happen to be taken out of my check because of child support. Back child support. So it's like...I feel like I'm under a lot of pressure. Pressure sometimes gets to my nerves... cause I feel like I'm under a lot of pressure, but I don't feel like it's nothing I can't bare though...

When asked to explain where he believes the pressure comes, Micah explained:

The child support system as far as like them taking 65 dollars out of my check every two weeks. I feel like that's like my responsibility as a man to pay back child support, but I don't want it to where it be a burden on me to where I be struggling to where you know I don't have means to pay no other than my child support... If I work at a fast food sometimes be slow so that next week I probably wouldn't be able to work as many hours. So I might only get 30 hours instead of 40 hours. Plus along with the other taxes being tooken out along with everything else. I've learned to adjust and accept the fact that I gotta pay child support and pay it properly...

Willie's interpretation of being an African American father on parole was also expressed in view of pressure. In Willie's view, parole acts as a restrictive force more so for African American males than any other because of pressure from the community:

I believe it's a little bit more strict for us. I believe the boots on our neck and everything else like that to really prove that we can become part of the community based on what our crime might have been or whatever. There isn't really any leniency for us I believe. I truly believe that the justice system is one-sided. We get a lot of the negative backlash with everything I believe.

Willie was asked to share more regarding his understanding:

I believe the community sees African American males as a threat to community safety. We have been responsible for a lot of violence in the past and that's what people remember. It's one of those things we're constantly having to fight through whether we're doing an awesome job or when we're just getting out looking for work and stuff like that. I believe skin color plays a big role in whether or not you get hired or not and no skill.

Darrin agrees with Willie that the community influences what it means to be an African American father on parole. He responded from a perspective of color and race: To me, when it comes to color...color is a big thing. I can see it. Even though they don't say it, I can see it. Prison, big thing. Out here, not really big to me cause I stay in my environment. I mess with my kids, my sister and them, the people I love...that African American stuff it only affects me for real when I get around them people. And I see they reaction, the way they treat me, the way they acknowledge me...I hate being on probation. I hate all of it...just something I have to go through...for the problems I done made for myself. Consequences. Darrin continued sharing his understanding:

As a African American I feel like we limited. We're already looked down upon. We have to shine in some area to even be looked at like we're doing something or being somebody. And I ain't saying to the world I'm just saying as our self, we feel like we nobody. Because that's how society treats us and if we ain't out here doing the most, it's hard to comfort ourselves.

Jason has a subtle interpretation compared to Darrin on the meaning of being an African American father on parole. His statement of "just another black man" seems to suggest a common and reasonable moment in an African American father's life, and therefore does not believe parole is significant as an African American father:

It means it's just another black man that got a hold on him. I don't think it makes it harder at all cause if you gonna be a father, you gonna be a father whether you on supervision or not. Although a little harder, yeah. Because getting out of prison it's hard to get jobs. So it's probably harder to take care of your kids at times with parole fees and all that. Once you get a job it shouldn't be too hard. Corey has a similar interpretation of being an African American father on parole when it comes to his use of the term "just" that suggests a common and reasonable moment in the life of an African American father. However, he explains there is a "cycle" created by the "system" where the significance of the African American father on parole has been reduced inanimately to a symbol of being:

Honestly, from the top of my head the first thing that pops up is just another number. And the reason why I feel that way, briefly and quickly said, is because I feel like there's so many African American men that either set themselves up or is not paying attention enough. End up in the system and then become part of the system. I hate to say it like that, but some of them ain't smart enough to catch on to the cycle and take they self out of the cycle...I would have to say just another number...when people quote-unquote care about you they put more into it. Just like a father caring for a child, or a mother caring for a child. You put so much of yourself into that child to make sure they come up in a certain manner. In my aspect with dealing with the system...you feel like just another number.

Harold's understanding of what it means to be an African American father on parole is in full contrast to the other fathers. He interprets being an African American father on parole as a "benefit" that promotes a fathers' personal and relational well-being:

Something that needs to be done minimum. It feels like minimal effort.

It's benefit really cause it's getting you on the right track of life. You know what I mean. Cause you're in a situation where you need some help. So under the supervision phase, you can't do certain things like you wanna do so that distracts

stuff from you doing what you wanna do. Like I say, if I wasn't under supervision there ain't no telling what I'd be doing. I'll be probably wilding out or something, or anything. But I know I can't do nothing. That's helping me. It's rough around here but I don't care about no money or nothing. I got life. I'm living right now, I'm breathing real good, I can go get me a meal. I go home and eat. Like I said, you gotta get yourself together to take care of yourself.

Richard was asked to share what it means to be an African American father on parole. He acknowledged that, as an African American father, being on parole "it's hard." However, he could not offer an explanation on what it means to be an African American father on parole.

Surviving on the edge. This central theme is based on the expressed views of the fathers describing their feelings about being an African American father obligated to parole supervision. When sharing their feelings, the fathers associated fear with being a supervised parolee that could negatively affect their ability to be an active father. When given the opportunity to discuss his fears about being an African American father obligated to parole supervision, Jeffrey stated:

That they would send you back. That they would take you away from your family for the least little thing that you do. Being under supervision, the cops already know you on parole...and you can't even get arrested for traffic ticket or any of that. And the first thing that they do is take you away from your family again. So the fears being an African American father under supervision is the fear of having your children do your time with you again. That society won't let you be a father. They rather for you to be a dad because a dad can come and go, but a father gone stay there...so my fears is that they'll take you away from your family again. As much as they can.

Jeffrey's expressed concern is in response to his belief that society is opposed to African American males being fathers. Timothy responded by saying, "getting locked back up, being stereotyped, and job firing you. It's a whole bunch of negative to it having that label on you." His expressed fear is about parole being a "label" that subjects one to things that are harmful or bad. Harold stated having a fear of being re-incarcerated as a result of a substance use habit:

...they probably would lock me up for giving them a dirty u.a. [urine analysis] for marijuana or something. Locking me up, taking me away from my daughter, my family, my life for a drug issue I'm trying to accomplish. I'm in drug class and I'm not hurting nobody...my fears is not being able to see her or something happening to me or something happening to her. That's my fear.

Harold acknowledges his issue with marijuana and it being a potential cause for him to lose the ability to be an active father and present member in his family. When Jason was given an opportunity to share about fears of being an African American father on parole supervision, he stated:

Just that I'm on supervision and they kinda got a control on my life. I kinda fear doing anything wrong and going back for a p.v. [parole violation] or something. That's what I fear...not being able to be a father to my kid. That's my number one fear. Jason's expressed concern is about making a mistake while on parole that would result in him losing the ability to be a father. In contrast to the other fathers, Corey expressed a fear that is solely based on his understanding of society. Corey responded by saying:

...societal views point blank, period.... Societal stereotypes bother me because I don't say everybody's racist. I don't say everybody has a issue with African American, minorities or whatever, but there are people that do. There are some people that might not be a race issue but just a stereotype issue. Cause we hear if you're African American or a black person, or you look like this, or you are here in this area, or you done did this, or this done happened to you before then you're this way... Don't judge somebody by what has, or what has been...A lot of people sometimes feed into that. A lot of ignorant people feed into it and that's what kills me.

Corey's expressed concern is about being judged by society because of his "hardship." He advised, "...don't talk about something you haven't experienced yourself.... don't sit there and try to be pro-self judging someone over something you never went through." Corey communicated that people should first learn the person and "then judge that person accordingly." Richard also described his fear in a way that is different than the other fathers:

You could best believe I'm afraid out here cause of things that I did do in the past, you know. My life then wasn't a easy picking out here.... I did a lot of dirt in my life and like I tell them in class, I run into a lot of people out here in the streets and stuff.... I can sit back and remember I done did something to them so I'm worried about if they gone do something to me. So that's why I say sometimes

I'm in fear. But I'm not afraid, I'm just in fear.

Richard's fear is about the potential to experience retaliation because of happenings in the past. At the end of his statement, Richard clarified that his expression of being "afraid" is a concern and not a debilitating internal sense of emotion.

By the way...I've changed. This central theme describes the understanding fathers had about incarceration and reentry. All the fathers of this study served lengthy sentences and claimed that their extended time away from home gave them plenty of time to think. The fathers were asked to share their thoughts and feelings by explaining how incarceration effected their view of self as a father. Richard, who takes pride in caring for his twin daughters, expressed feeling like he let his children down. He explained, "I never been in any of my kids life when they was young." Richard continued:

When I left my kids was babies, but then when I come out here they was like 12 years old, 11 and 12 years old. So I was wondering how I was gonna adapt to that, but my kids they love they father so I gotta show them love in return and do what a dad supposed to do.

Incarceration for Richard made him feel like a failure as he exclaimed "I let them down." Despite the feeling of failure, he recognized that his kids "love they father" and that influenced him to "take care his kids." A sense of failure was also expressed by Jeffrey who asserted, "I failed my children, my parents, I failed myself." Incarceration led Jeffrey to conclude, "you can't discipline your kids over the phone." By claiming "I failed" Jeffrey recognized his personal responsibility as a father which stands without connection to the criminal justice system. Darrin referenced the confiscation of his personal property upon incarceration. Regarding incarceration he said, "it changed everything...they took everything from me." Darrin continued sharing his thoughts:

"If I would have never went to prison...I would've never changed. I've always been a good dad with my daughter...cause I had so much money...going to prison made me see what I'm showing them."

Incarceration for Darrin led him to experience loss and forced him to question his understanding of reality. Prior to his incarceration, being a father was about what his money could buy. During the time of incarceration, Darrin indicated a shift in his understanding to consider what he was teaching his kids by the lifestyle he was leading. Incarceration led Darrin to conclude that money is not everything:

...I chose my kids over everything else...I was all about money...I came home and tried to be so much more.

Harold also explained how incarceration led him to experience loss:

It really affected me...I wasn't there for my daughter when she was born. To be there to talk to her, to feed her, to hug her, to hear her when she cry, to see the tears cover her eyes. I didn't get to see none of that...

Incarceration for Harold separated him from his daughter, caused him to miss a portion of her life, and prevented him from building a relationship. The loss of time with his daughter due to incarceration, along with being a witness to the circumstances of his friends, has sparked a sense of urgency for Harold to build a "beautiful relationship" with his daughter. I'm in the same situation right now as my friends is. They had they daughter when they wasn't around they momma. They didn't have no communication with they daughter. But now they daughters growed up. They got beautiful relationship. But I don't wanna wait that long. I wanna have some relationship with my daughter right now while she's nine years old. I done missed that nine years really cause I been incarcerated during that time.

Micah acknowledged his "baby mother" for helping him realize "I wasn't right for my child." In sharing how incarceration changed his thoughts and feelings about being a father, Micah stated:

...at that time of my life I felt like that was a burden to me. Cause of course I had my little cloudy ways of thinking...I was probably out there a little bit too tough out in the streets...I'm pretty much straighten up myself...so my integrity is strong for my kids.

He continued by explaining what he told his youngest daughter:

...you only got one father. I don't care if you got a father-in-law or whatever. You only got one father so you better learn to get to know me. Cause my father he's like 56 something like that, and my brother he hates him. He's like "aww he ain't never done nothing for me," but I said "but you know what when he gone, he gone." How many people you know that dreads when they father or they mother gone and they don't have no chance to get the chance to know them... get to know me. I wanna get to know you cause we don't know if we gone...tomorrow ain't promised to nobody...

Micah also explained having to change for the sake of connecting with his daughter, "I'm having to adjust to her personality...she was raised under different ways than the way I was raised." Micah stated that his change is related to having an "anger problem." He associated the offense that led to incarceration with his battle with anger. He expressed gaining "a little bit more acceptance" which helps him to stay calm. Micah openly credits this calming ability to his time away from home due to incarceration. For Micah, incarceration helped him to learn the need to have self-control, flexibility, and to find value in being a father. Incarceration triggered the feeling of shame and disappointment for Jason as a father:

...my feelings was hurt about being incarcerated again and not being there for my daughter...but, it didn't really effect my thinking...it just made me wanna get out and do better.

A strengthened sense of desire to be a father overshadowed Jason's emotional pain leading to a vow to "do better". On the other hand, Willie expressed that incarceration gave him a cause for concern about being a father:

...how do I explain myself to my child or my children when they're doing something that could lead them to be incarcerated and stuff. How am I gonna justify where I'm coming from versus where they're at? ...It just made me really wanna latch on them and be like, "look I seen guys and girls your age coming in and out of prison and everything else like that. I really would like you to slow down. Don't be in a rush to live now. You got your whole life ahead of you...finish school." Willie recognized the impact his life had on his children as well as the responsibility he had toward them through observing youth in prison while incarcerated. He explained, "I know my decision to parent really started with them." For Willie, incarceration helped him to realize the duty of role modeling as a father and to think of himself as a mentor for his children. Timothy claimed that incarceration helped him to reach a state of maturity as a father:

If I didn't get incarcerated, then I don't think I would've been able to show them how to be a man...it kinda opened my eyes up and I learned a whole bunch of stuff that may have turned me...from a boy into a man.

Incarceration led Timothy to conclude that he does not want to be unknown or replaced by another:

...I don't want my kids to look at me like "that's not my daddy" or looking at somebody else like that's their father or something like that.

Timothy claimed that he first has to be his best as a father so his children can be their best. Additionally, he expressed the importance of being a father who is reliable and resourceful.

...it may sound selfish, but...take care of yourself first...if I don't got nothing, they don't got nothing... kinda create my own foundation so that if they need something and I'll be able to do that. Daddy can do that. Daddy ain't gotta go to grandma and ask her for this and that...do what a typical father would do. Incarceration helped Timothy embrace his identity as a father by considering the responsibility and active role to take in his children's life.

Fathers in Action

For this classification, there were four central themes identified: *It's Been Too Long Without You, I'm They Father, It Hurt Me but Helped Us*, and *It's Father Time*. The central themes focus on the lived experience of returning back to the community. The details communicated in this section are about thoughts, feelings, and stories that illustrated the happenings of returning back to the community as a father on parole supervision.

It's been too long without you. Most of the fathers in this study was eager to see their children upon release from prison. This central theme is based on the thoughts and feelings held by fathers when seeing their children for the first time. Their accounts described feelings of anxiousness and wandering what the child thinks about their father. Each of the fathers presented a different understanding of their first encounter with their children upon release from prison. When asked to describe what it was like seeing his daughter for the first time, Harold said, "it was beautiful!" He offered an account of that day:

When I seen her I was in the car. When I seen her she was walking to the car and I was just looking at her out the window. She was getting out of school. I'm sitting in the car and I see my daughter running out to the car and she looking all happy and stuff. She get in the car and I'm like "What's up?!" She was like "Nothing. How you doing?" I said "You looking pretty." ...So we got in and went to her house and we got to talking and stuff. Then we got on the highway and went to my house and spent 3 days together. We just sit around and talked. Played

just a little bit, but we sat around and talked. We ate. She played with my nieces and my nephews and stuff. It was nice. Like love at first site or something.

Harold said he was "excited and felt relieved." While incarcerated he did not see his daughter. Although he was away for "so long" he said the time spent with his daughter was "like she been there all the time. I was relieved instantly. That love was there. It's just that it's been missing. We ain't seen each other." Darrin described himself as being "happy" when he seen his children for the first time. His son didn't know him because he was incarcerated before the time of his birth:

My son didn't talk to me. He was kinda acting scared. My daughter ran, "Daddy!" That's what made him like, "Who he?" You know I seen him start looking at me like, "Who he?" She over there, "Daddy!" She love me. Straight Daddy's girl. Love's me. My daughter is 6 now. She just, "Dad!" I'm talking about, there was a party when I walked in the house and dude just wouldn't mess with me. She just sit there and messed with me for like, I think I chilled with her for like two days. Darrin continued and said, "I felt good, but I thought I would feel a little bit better." He was asked to share more about his feelings and described a sense of "comfort" with his

children present, but a sense of loss and despair when they were gone:

I felt good. But, I thought I would feel a little bit better. Because I was so hyped up about seeing these kids and everything. And that made me feel so good and everything. But, I just thought that was the only thing I needed in life when I got out of prison. Like "Once I get that I'm good. I don't need nothing else. I'm gone push myself." They gave me my comfort I wanted. I was comfortable. I was good. But soon as they left it was like I ain't have no life. You know, they left and it was just like "What now?" You know what I mean. She ain't gone let you have them. You can't keep them every day. It just went from me being so excited to the day that they left. It was just like everything started going back downhill. So it was just like man, I didn't know what to do about life for real. I almost drug myself back into that hole for real.

Timothy portrayed a similar circumstance regarding his first time seeing his children. His youngest son was born after he was incarcerated but visited with him "a couple times" while in prison. Timothy visited his youngest son first and described feeling rejected by him.

I would see him playing and coming towards his grandma and his momma and auntie and it wasn't none of that for me. Right off the back it wasn't like that. Like I'm tryna let him know. I'm tryna hug him and kiss him and stuff like that. He might take a hug and a kiss, but he didn't really know who's this dude kissing me or whatever. It kinda made me sad cause he was showing them more love than he was showing towards me. I didn't expect it, but it's something that I kinda thought maybe that would happen. He wouldn't just be open to me right off the back.

Jeffery described his first encounter with his children as being "emotional." He stated he was "teary eyed" and he "just hugged them." Jason's daughter was present at the facility when he was released:

I came out the gate and she was standing there with my mom. She ran to me. I hugged her. Told her "I love you." And she told me she love me back. I told her, I said "I'm hungry." She said "Me too." "We gone go get some breakfast." Jason laughed several times while sharing his short story. He continued:

I just asked her how she been doing. How she doing in school. Has she been helping her mom out around the house. How she feel that I'm back home, is she happy or not...I was just happy. It was like it was not real. I was happy. It seemed like it wasn't real. Just excited. Kinda nervous cause I hadn't seen her in visits, but to do like 4 and a half years and then get out and just be able to be around her with no guards or nothing. I was kinda nervous a little bit because I didn't know how she thought of me as a dad.

Jason explained that his daughter told what she thought of him as a dad, "she loves me. Yeah, she just told me she love me and told me don't go back. Told me stay out." When Corey was asked to describe the first time he saw his children and stated he saw them the first day he was released. He said, "I told them I love them." Corey had mixed feelings, "had a real warm side but happy feeling inside," but "sad because I missed so much." Corey said he "had a lot of thoughts going through my head the moment I saw them, but I was happy that I could see them and spend time with them. I embraced them. I was emotional. Teary eyed. Told them I love them." Willie expressed his thoughts and feelings about the first time he saw his daughters:

I was just thinking like, Am I gonna be able to carry a conversation with her or am I just gonna sit there and stare at her. I did more staring than I did carrying a conversation. But I was happy. I was smiling from ear to ear the whole time...I was like "Your sister been telling me you play the violin, you like to dance and sing, and everything else." She was like "Yes I do." I asked her about the songs that she plays, and she says she plays everything. So I don't know what everything is. I don't know if that's classical or anything else, but I know I just couldn't help but just sit there and just stare at them. I barely ate cause I was just staring at them the whole time. I was excited just to be there. I got hugs. Just a wonderful day.

Micah was asked to share his first encounter with his daughter, "I said she look just like me and I gave her a hug." He gave a burst of laughter and then repeated himself, "she look just like me and I gave her a hug." Micah was asked to share more and said, "she just smiled and got in the car" and began laughing.

It hurt me but helped us. The fathers described efforts to restore the relationship with their children that was mentally and emotionally challenging. This central theme is based on the statements made by fathers to restore the relationship with their children. Most of the fathers expressed a sense of failure and regret. For instance, when talking about his thoughts and feelings about returning to the community as a father, Richard said "I feel I let them down." Jeffrey had that same sentiment:

I let my kids down cause I left them out here to defend for they selves even though they had mothers...it was my responsibility to raise my kids with the mothers. I failed my children, my parents, I failed myself...not being in they life all the time or always being there for them was a choice that I made and that was something that I regret.

Timothy expressed a sense of failure and regret by claiming he was "careless" acting selfishly:

Sometimes I'll put myself before their responsibilities and I wasn't really looking at the bigger picture as far as what a child really needs from their father. I wasn't really giving them that.

Darrin explained, "I wasted my life running around being this n**** for a whole lot of people that don't even mean nothing to me." Willie's sense of failure and regret was similar. He said, "I was detached. I really wasn't home. I was always in the streets." Micah's sense of failure and regret was also similar to Darrin and Willie:

I didn't have a chance to raise her, or I didn't have a chance to change her diaper, I didn't have a chance to teach her how to be a little woman or teach her how to be respectful...at the time of my life I felt like that was a burden to me...I was probably out there a little bit too tough out in the streets..."

After seeing their children for the first time some of the fathers gave some kind of explanation for their absence. Jeffrey is a former gang member and was fully engaged in street life that involved the distribution of drugs. Because of his lifestyle, he chose to stay away from his children as a way to protect them. Jeffrey stated that the mothers of his children spoke favorably on his behalf to his children, "ya'll thought he was a bad father for not giving you time, he was a good father because he allowed ya'll not to see or not be in the vicinity where you could get hurt." Jeffrey chose to change his life while incarcerated. He described his explanation to his children regarding his absence prior to incarceration:

...they wanted the time, and I had to be the one to tell 'em that "it was never ya'll it was always me. My lifestyle was...I had made this decision before yall was born, but I never thought that it would get to the point to where I couldn't carry or take yall with me anywhere. The neighborhood gym I could take yall to, the mall downtown I could take yall to, but other neighborhoods I couldn't...I couldn't"it's not a good feeling when you can't leave your neighborhood. And when you do leave your neighborhood you have to have all this protection or you have to be with a whole bunch of people. I never wanted my kids to experience none of that. So, "if me wanting to save ya'll lives caused me not to spend time with ya'll, that's my fault." And they understand it now.

Harold stated that he explained the reason for his absence to his daughter, but did not offer the details of his conversation. He said, "I just told her my situation that I been in trouble." Willie explained that his daughter just asked him questions, "…what you do? Why you do it? Did you do this? Did you do that..." Corey, a veteran of the US Army, explained that his children experienced extended absences from him due to deployment:

I gotta admit my kids done seen me go and come a lot with the military. When they became rapid deployments it was me there for like maybe 6 months, 4 months, bam gone. Then with me getting out and finally being around them again then it was like just 6 months, bam he's gone. He's gone for 3 something years and then all of a sudden he pops back up again. You know I can understand. I tried to review it from a child's perspective. You know "This dude he do magic tricks. Bam! Gone! And then he pop up like, what's up ya'll!" It was kinda hard because before when I was in the military I could explain to an extent. "I'm going over here. I'm going to do such and such." Or I could say "Okay, daddy's going to war." "Well, what's war?" "Such and such and such and such and such and such and such." But it was different.

Corey stated that he made the decision not to discuss the reason for his incarceration absence with his children:

I never wanted to explain to them the situation especially now at that age. And not even now I still haven't explained to them yet. I would rather wait until they get to a age, maybe 15 or so, and I'll sit down and I'll explain to them the situation. But all I told them is "I'm sorry that I had to be gone. It's probably my fault." I said more in depth with it "It's my fault and I hope ya'll still love me and forgive me." I said "I'll just do my best never to be away from you again." I said "I thought after me getting out of the military, I thought me going away from ya'll and leaving ya'll for long period of time would've changed" but I said "I messed that up." And then I said "I'm gonna really do everything in my power that I can not to let this happen again."

Corey explained that he apologized to his children without intending to take full responsibility, accept blame, or admit guilt:

I'm sorry that I had to be gone. It's probably my fault...I hope ya'll still love me and forgive me...sorry, I really am. I'm truly sorry that I had to put you through something because of my ignorance.

Admitting guilt was necessary for Jeffrey to mend the relationship with his children: I have two boys by the same young lady. And, they always was angry and I had to tell them "your animosity should never be with her or with him cause he was here when I didn't wanna be here...she never left you. I'm the one you should have animosity with ...you should be angry with." I have a son that I had custody of...I had to give him back to his mother and he did not like that at all, and he felt abandoned. "The choices that I made was my mistake...don't hold any animosity towards your mother, it's my fault."

Some of the fathers made confessions of commitment to their children. For instance, Micah expressed his devotion to his children and said, "I'm not gone give up on them...I got a strong intuition to be in their life...I always pay child support...and stay out for her...she wasn't asked to be here...I'll give her my last." Willie confessed his commitment and said, "I want them to know that I'm there through anything...I love my kids...I'll do anything for my kids. I want them to know that." When Richard picked up his kids from school on the day of his release he attempted to evoke a strong sense of confidence. He assured them his commitment stating, "hey, believe me, everything gonna be all right." Corey expressed commitment to his children by being present all the time. Currently unemployed and living each day attending to the needs of his children, he confessed his commitment stating, "I been steadily showing them that 'guess what? I ain't going nowhere. I'm here." Corey promised his children, "I'll do my best never to be away from you again...I'm gonna really do everything in my power that I can not to let this happen again...I'm gone show you that daddy's gone be here..."

A few of the fathers articulated being rejected by their children initially. For instance, Harold's daughter, who lives 3 hours away, told him "I don't want you to come over my house." He believes his daughter asked him to stay away because she knew he would only be around for a couple of hours before returning home. Jeffrey described pleading with his daughter for a chance to be a part of his grandchildren's life and was told, "it's gone take a minute. You have to earn that trust back." Jeffrey explained that the message from his daughter "hurt, but it was the truth because I knew I had lied to my kids a lot...they love me enough to tell me that." Micah talked about his daughter constantly reminding him of his absence by "bringing up the fact that I was in prison for 13 years and she been making it on her own for 13 years..." Despite the rejection, the fathers remained dedicated to creating a lasting bond with their children and was able to arrive at a place of acceptance by their children. For instance, Jeffrey explained while holding back tears that his children said to him, "That's my father...that's what we wanted to clear the air...just keep doing what you have to do. We accept what you can do." Jason expressed that when he heard his daughter say, "I love you...don't go back" it made him "feel bad." He explained by saying "... I mean it kinda felt good though...she loves me and I'm hearing it from her...give me a reason to not get in trouble again."

I'm the father. This central theme is based on the stories shared by fathers to illustrate the challenges they faced involving the mother of their children, and persons

holding guardianship. In many of the illustrated accounts, the fathers explained efforts to coordinate, compromise, and fully exercise their perceived parental right as a father. The illustrations were offered after sentiment toward the mother or guardian as held by the father was expressed. For instance, when asked about his relationship with the mother of his children, Richard declared "I hate those son of a guns." He described a damaged relationship with issues around substance abuse. Richard stated that his children "don't wanna see their mom" and shared a story of his previous encounter with her:

I called myself being a man and say "Hey. If you wanna see her I'll let you see her." But when she did come to see her she was intoxicated. I didn't want that around. You know what I'm saying. So I asked her to leave. She wouldn't leave... I called the police on her. But I did step up and be a man and say "... I'll help her get out of jail." But...when I helped get her out of jail I said "This is how we gone do this. That was the first time of you seeing your daughter in about 4 years, 5 years and this is how you gone act." I said "No. You keep your distance. I'll keep my distance." I get phone calls from her right now and be wondering how she got my number. She'll ask me could I see them, could I bring this for them. I don't need your help. You take that on back to the store.

Richard also discussed a conflict regarding his expectation to respect his role as the father and allow him to act like the father to his children:

Knowing that when they come over they're at ease because my sister she rides them. I don't ride them and sometimes I have to call her and be like "Sis, you need to back up and take 10 steps." But then she'll get mad at them and she'll say something to 'em then they come back and they tell me. That kinda like pisses me off because they're not doing nothing they're supposed to do. They supposed to come to me and tell me what's going on.

Darrin also described a conflict regarding expectation, but from a different perspective. The relationship with his children's mother is strained and he explained that "I think the main deal with her is she be trying to hurt me." He talked about a time she demanded him to "come get my son" and he responded by saying "you know I ain't got no license. I ain't never have a license in my life." Darrin believes his children's mother "don't care like I do." He went on to say, "I ain't saying she don't care. Them her kids, she gotta care. But she don't care to the extent I care. And maybe because I don't have them all the time." Although he does not have his children all the time, Darrin expects their mother to care for them as he does when they are with him. He questions whether she is tired or lazy:

I can't really say why she is the way she is sometimes. And she ain't a bad mom. I don't like when my son always walk around with a dirty butt. I done seen my son with a dirty diaper and she take her time and wait to change it and I'm like "Man, change this dude diaper! Here, come here man. Change his diaper immediately if he poop or pee. That's how he get rashes and stuff." Like she'll rather sleep all day then sit down and play the games with the kids or something. That's what she'll do. She'll sleep all day. And I be like "Man!" She ain't installing herself into them kids. I feel she deal with them cause she have to. Not to say she don't love them. Them her kids, she love them. But I feel like it's more of a "I gotta do it" than "I wanna do it."

Micah talks about his conflict of expectation with his daughter's mother who wants him to be his daughter's friend. Micah refuses to embrace his daughter as a friend because she does not respect him as her father:

...my youngest daughter...I believe that she just need to be introduced to what I'm trying to introduce her to, but with her mother more or like trying to say you gotta be her friend before her father. So that's the big dilemma...was a big dilemma, but I'm trying to tell her I don't have friends that disrespect me. I don't know no person in the world is gonna have a friend that disrespect them nor allow them to disrespect them so we can't build no kinda bond unless we build it on respect first. So me and her mother we wrestling back and forth with that.

The fathers described instances where they were prevented from seeing their children. Richard stated, "from the mom to the grand-mom, you know. That's a painful feeling when you wanna be in your kids' corner you got somebody that won't let you." Darrin described this kind of conflict regarding his children:

I go over there to get my son, man they talking bout he sleep. "Listen, it's 11:30, 12. Okay, I understand he sleep but this is the only ride I got to come get him. I got to get all his stuff. Take him way out south. This the only ride I got." "Well, I'm just gone call you when he wakes up." I was like "I always have to do this. I shouldn't have to do this for ya'll to really see what ya'll doing." "Well, I'll just call you when he wakes up." Like I told her "You don't call me when he wakes

up. You don't do that." I said "Look, this what I said when I stop messing with your daughter is that ya'll gone keep the kids from me. Okay, it's not his choice to come with me or not."

Darrin continued by describing how his children's mother works to control his active involvement:

They manipulate my kids man...this how they grandma does it or they momma, they'll be like "Do you wanna go with your daddy or do you wanna stay with your momma?" And I just look at them and I be like "Why'd you do that?!" "What did I do?" I tell them soon as they do it. I do not be faking. As soon as they do it "Why'd you do that?! You just conned the boy into staying here. You conned him into it. He was ready to go and you just did that for no reason." "No I didn't. You can still take him." "But now he wants to trip. Now you got him tripping like I'm taking him from ya'll. When he just was thinking 'I'm bout to go with my dad' now you done tricked it into like I'm taking him away from ya'll. It shouldn't be like that. He should feel happy like he did when I walked in and then you gonna con him into staying." "Well, he doesn't wanna go so we're not gonna make him go." I said "See, ya'll keeping...whatever ya'll wanna say look at the situations. Ya'll keeping the kids from me. I'm trying. Ya'll keeping the kids from me. I gotta walk out of here after trying to get my kids without them. For what? ...Just because you conned him and now he saying no, now you're like well we're not gonna make him go. Man, he shouldn't even have that choice. I'm his daddy! If I come get him he gotta come with me!"

Jason described how his daughter's mother blocks him from making a connection:

She just basically tells my daughter that I don't care about her, I got another kid on the way, another family. Just childish stuff she shouldn't be saying to a 10, or 11-year-old kid.

Harold talked about taking care of his daughter and emphasized "I'm the daddy. Momma is fine, but I'm the daddy." After he was released from prison, Harold attempted to arrange an extended visit with his daughter and was denied by her mother:

I said "I want my daughter to come over my house for a week." She told me "She ain't big enough. She ain't grown enough." "What do you mean?! That's my baby, what do you mean?!" She thinking about me messing with some other girl, gone have my daughter around this other girl. I don't got no girl right now, I don't want no girl right now. What the f***! That's our issue..."She's too young." She's 10 years old. She would love to come over my house with my sisters, and my niece, and nephews, my other little niece. She would love to come over and play. What do you mean? But she just on some bull crap right now. Like I say, I told her "Well I'll just take you to court. I'll just go get me a job and get me some custody, and take you to court and get custody of my own baby. If that's how you wanna play it." Then that's when she got mad. I went and told her it's a change in plans.

Micah discussed having a conflict with his child's mother who prevented him from checking on his daughter:

...me and my baby mother had words and I was telling her that's not right you keeping me from my child. She said, "no I'm not." I said, "well pretty much you is if I can't go up and see how she's doing in school when I was able to, but now all of a sudden you took me off the list and everything else. And I can't go into your house so how I'm gone expect to see her?" "Well you can write her and text her and everything else." "But still I would like to see how she's doing in school maybe I wanna go up there... I was able to... when I first got out me and you was cool... I was able to go up there. You signed my name and everything else, but now you see that I'm branching out in the world and you don't like the fact that I'm branching out in the world and trying to find myself. So you decide to take me off my daughter's thing so I can't see her in school, so I can't see how she's doing in school."

Harold believes he understands the reason for the conflict with his daughters' mother. He believes his daughter's mother resents him and stated:

"If I don't wanna be with her I ain't gonna be able to really connect with my daughter. If I'm with her it'll be wide open. She know that we not gonna be together. She probably holding some of that against me which is keeping my daughter away from me."

Jason has a similar understanding and believes his daughter's mother resents him for having another child. He says, "her mom's kinda upset cause I got another kid on the way. So she uses it to where it's like I gotta see my daughter on her terms or when she feels like I get to see my daughter." Darrin presented a conflict with his children's mother regarding their different approach to parenting. He expressed an issue with his kids being disrespectful and doing something to change that behavior. He stated, "I feel like I get somewhere. And then when I see the kids a week later, a couple days later, it's the same s***." Darrin continued:

...she can't vent to these kids about what they need to do, how they need to do it, and make them understand it. Make them wanna do the positive thing. She to me is just like "Well, ya'll better not be doing this or that." And leave it at that. Son go crazy, he over here tripping, yelling at her. "No!" Like that. "Hey girl, stop letting him do that. I'm not gone let him disrespect you like that. Stop letting him do that." She yell at me because he yelling at her. Like "He cool. I got him." "No! My son not gone be disrespectful like that. Stop letting him yell at you like that. Dude ain't even cried. He yelling at you. He yelling at you with a attitude and you letting that ride."

Darrin continued by explaining how he would handle the issue with his son:

Me, I would've seen that from the rear "Yo, hold up boy! Calm down boy. Come talk to Dad. Why you yelling? You need a whooping or something? Why you yelling son? Why you think you could yell at me?" That's how you should be acknowledging them situations. Just anything. I just feel like she don't handle situations the way she supposed to. She's just nonchalant about everything. So that's not teaching the kids nothing. She's teaching them that the negative things that they're doing is good. That's a bad a** kid growing up. I was one. No! My kids ain't gone do that.

Micah also described an issue with disrespect with his daughter. He explained:

I been in prison most of the time she been born. I didn't even know she was my daughter and whatever the case might be...so I get out and... I'm having to adjust to her personality. She come and visit me a few times, but I'm having to adjust to her personality and how she is and with me being a Black African American her mother being Caucasian she was raised under different ways than the way I was raised. So right now we clashing because you know she seem to feel like its ok to be disrespectful to her elders and she disrespectful to her mother so she feel like she can be disrespectful and say whatever she want to me so we clash.

Micah explained that his daughter is "more like the parent and my baby momma is like the daughter, but according to his daughters' mother he is "the juvenile and she's the adult;" she meaning his daughter.

It's father time. Most of the fathers articulated having frequent contact with their children since the time of release. The accounts presented were primarily related to discipline and play. All the fathers shared in some way their thoughts, feelings, and perceived responsibility as a father. This central theme is based on the expressed views of participants describing what they do as a father. Most of the fathers are employed and spend time with their children at the end of their work day. It is believed highly important to spend quality time and the fathers articulated quality time with their child as a top priority. Richard was asked to give his thoughts about quality time and stated that "it

means a lot" because he is "making up for lost time." Darrin agrees with Richard's view and said that quality time "means everything. It means a lot. I feel like I'm installing myself into them...I feel I need to install myself in them because they momma ain't gone give them what I can give them." Jeffrey's view of quality time, "a highlight of my day...it brightens my day even if I have a bad day. He makes me forget about what happened the day before."

Jason agrees that quality time is important. He said, "it means everything cause that's my kid...it's all I got for real." Jason stated that "a dad is something I pride myself on cause I didn't have it." For Timothy, "as long as he's happy I think that's quality time. Harold agrees with Timothy that quality time is all about making his daughter happy and "for us to be together as one." Willie said, quality time "means a lot" because "I'm getting to know them as they are now, young adults." See Table 4 for participants' estimate of the total amount of quality time they spent with their children during the course of a week.

Table 4

<u>Participant</u>	Duration
Jeffrey	30 hours
Micah	4-5 hours
Willie	14 hours
Richard	54 hours
Darrin	20 hours
Timothy	48-55 hours
Harold	Varies
Corey	8-10 hours (24/7 on weekend)
Jason	12 hours

Participants' Estimated Total Quality Time Spent with Children per Week

During quality time, the fathers expressed engaging their children in ways that were affordable and convenient. Timothy presented cooking as one of his favorite ways to spend quality time with his children. He enjoys cooking, but also sees it as a way to communicate to his children that he is a safe person:

You know, something that daddy's giving, that daddy won't hurt you. You know they could see that me and they momma get along. I guess you would say maybe little stuff to us but maybe was big stuff to them. Like say I just changed his diaper or something. Something that a momma would do, as like nurturing him. You know what I'm saying. So that's gone give him that connection like "He's changing my poopy diaper." You know what I'm saying. "Who's gonna do that? Momma does that, who else gone do that? Daddy doing that? He must really love me." Richard enjoys taking his daughters on road trips outside of town. When he decides to stay home with the kids, he picks them up from his sister's house to his apartment, and they just "be free":

...they be happy to come over...to play their little games, to watch the videos. Do what they want. To be free. You know, be free. "You got two bedrooms. Just do what ya'll do. Ya'll got everything ya'll need from the food, to the zoom zoom wam wam's, just have fun. Just make sure you do your homework before you start doing this."

Richard was asked to explain what he means by "zoom zoom wam wam." He laughed while responding and explained, "...zoom zoom wam wam means sunflower seeds, potato chips, and all that." Richard stated that these items are part of being "free" while at his house "because my sister she don't allow them to eat no type of junk food in the house so they gotta eat it outside."

Jeffrey spends most of his spare time with his youngest son. He gave his explanation while holding back his tears:

As a father, things that I do is what my youngest son and I... we go to the park...we do barber shops together...we play basketball. We do whatever interests that he has as far as a two-year-old could have. With my older children it's just spend time, talk...they give me advice and I give them advice. I sit and watch my grandkids play and I talk to them...I be the father that they needed me to be back then, now. Micah likes to take his daughter to basketball games. Other than that, they communicate a lot by Facebook since "sometimes...she get a little busy."

Some of the fathers expressed spending their time teaching their children how to make right decisions and to be respectful. For instance, Corey stated that there were some "behavioral patterns" that needed to change related to his son:

I told him off the back, I was like "Guess what? Daddy's back. You gone change that. You gone have to change that cause that's unacceptable to me. I don't want you going around thinking just because you see this on tv or you see somebody else doing this that it's acceptable. It's not acceptable. Society accepts a lot of things that are unacceptable and I know that for a fact." And I said "I don't want you to run around carrying yourself and become just another number." That's the way I put it.

Corey continued by giving an example of what needed to change:

Like for instance, he like to sag his pants. To me it's whore-ish. They went and explained where it came from numerous times. To me, it's a lack of respect. I don't care what anybody else have to say about it. It's a lack of respect. I mean you got grown men walking around doing this. I'll be d***** if I'm a grown...I can wear my pants at a reachable height. I won't let my son run around and have that disrespectfulness about his self. I don't. And that's one thing I told him he was gonna have to change. He struggled with it for about a week, but he changed it. Because he knew I wasn't gone play. He carry his self like he sees his father carry his self and that's why I make sure that whatever I do now that I present myself as reasonable and responsible as I can. I try to watch what I do cause I

know everything he tries to do now he tries to do as a reflection of me. Corey has established discipline as a practice he exercises as a father. Unlike Corey, Richard said, "I don't believe in disciplining my kids." He declared himself to be a good father and then explained:

They're real respectful. They pretty much like me, you know. They don't disrespect nobody. They talk to everybody politefully and they can see that I'm doing a good job when they come over there. Because I don't even let company come over my house when my kids is around.

Darrin described his approach to discipline and said, "I don't never just go off and then leave my kids crying...I talk to my kids and I make them understand...":

I have to sit down and talk to my kids. "Hey man, you're not gone get a attitude and you're not gone sit there and cry and yell and do all of that because I told you no." I gotta tell my kids. I just had a talk with them yesterday. "Ya'll gone learn how to accept no. What ya'll gone do when somebody tell ya'll no? Nobody in this world gets everything they want. What ya'll gone do when somebody tell ya'll no? Say okay." That's what they started saying, "Okay." "And accept it. And once you start doing that then I'm gone start giving you what you want.

Some of the fathers expressed the most difficult and rewarding activity they have to do with their children as a father. Richard candidly explained that the most difficult activity for him is taking his daughters to see a doctor: Only thing that kinda like throws me off is like when one of my sisters ask me to take the kids to the doctor. I be like "Woa!' You know, I can't. I ain't ready for that one there... I can't explain it. I just ain't ready for that. I'm trying to put myself in there to say, "Hey, I gotta do this." When it comes to the little girl talk, "hey sis, you need to pull up and talk about that. I ain't comfortable talking about that right there."

Richard laughed at himself as he continued explaining:

I don't like going to the doctors. That's what it is. I look at it like this, when I see me having to take them to the doctor or something I be like, "Is you in pain? Is you alright?" You know, cause I'm concerned.

The most rewarding activity for Richard is doing anything to spend time with his daughters. Harold expressed that the most difficult activity for him is talking to his daughter on the phone. He desires to see his daughter more frequently, but find it difficult due to her distance. The most rewarding activity is "being with her in person-to-person...at the park...playing with the dogs." For Corey, the most difficult activity is discipline. He said it is difficult because "you have to find a path and a pattern with children to discipline them and correct them that works for you and the child." The most rewarding activity is "seeing them achieve at stuff...just spending time with them." Jeffrey said the most difficult for him is taking his children to certain places where he is subject to being confronted by his past. Jeffrey's response to being asked to share his most rewarding activity is like the response that was given by Corey, "seeing them accomplish the goals that they set for they self, and seeing that they are doing better than

I was and I am." He also added, it is rewarding to see "the smiles on they face when we talk now and they listen to me.

Darrin said the most difficult for him is simply "getting through to them sometimes." The most rewarding is "just seeing them happy having fun." Willie denies encountering any problems but says it is rewarding for him to "see them and they give me hugs. Or when I talk to them on the phone and they say 'I love you daddy." Jason's response is similar to Corey's in that discipline is most difficult. Jason said, "…her and her ipad...cause she can't stay off of it and I don't like it." The most rewarding activity for Jason is "school programs and stuff...playing with them" and "when I get a smile out of them or laugh out of them."

Although spending quality time with children was expressed as important to the fathers, the difficulty in spending quality time was not always related to performing a parenting activity. A conflict was presented by Jeffrey related to the amount of time spent with his children. The conflict involves only the children themselves. He described his struggle with balancing his time for work, seeing his children, and returning back home to meet his curfew:

I would work from 8'o clock in the morning till 5. They gave me till 9 or 9:30 to get back in the building. And between that...them 4 and a half hours I had to go see children on north side, west side, and the south side. So, I had to get my food on the run, catch this bus, give this child some time [pointing north], catch this bus, give these two some time [pointing west], and then catch another bus give this one some time [pointing south], and get back in the building. And I usually

would walk back to the building eating my food. That was a typical day, and get up and do the same thing the next day.

The problem was not having enough personal time and needing to split his personal time amongst his children that often led to disappointment:

On Saturdays and Sundays, you was allowed 8 hours out the building if you had a job. And of course you want to give yourself some me time...and in the process of your me time you try to give whatever child you didn't give time to Saturday you would give it to 'em Sunday and you would hope that they would understand why they didn't see you both days. And explaining that and having to deal with that it was rough. Because when you hear your kids say 'well daddy you was gone for this long and I wanna see you every day'...'well, son or well, you know, daughter I can't see you every day. I have to split my time up with all of yall. If I could get yall all in one place then you'll see me every day, but' it wasn't gone happen. I had... "first you have to understand your mother don't get along with this person's mother, so I can't get her to drop you off to your brothers' because of their disagreements'. And explaining the disagreements and then having to say that it was my fault.

Micah expressed a similar challenge with his daughter. He decided to focus his time, money, and passion on his youngest daughter and believed it might create a problem. "The 18-year-old might be getting upset and jealous cause I'm spending and talking to her more [14-year-old] versus her [18-year-old].

Living Beyond Day 30

There are two central themes in this classification: *No Family, No Life* and *A Work in Progress.* The central themes focus on lived experience after the first 30 days of release. The questions related to this classification of experience was presented toward the end of the interview encounter as a means to diffuse any negative thoughts or emotions triggered during the interviewing process.

No family no life. The fathers expressed the need to have their children in their life. This central theme, No Family, No Life, is based on the fathers expressed views about their motivations while under parole supervision. Most of the fathers expressed being motivated by their children to maintain a "better" life. For instance, Richard said, "I know they motivate me and I motivate myself." He explained that his motivation would change if he lost his job or if he learns his children are mad at him. Corey expressed being motivated by his children and by family:

Everything is possible if you're willing to fight for it...I'm willing to continue to strive for my goals to better myself for a betterment of my children and my family. I mean that's why I'm really motivated... I'm motivated off of family. I'm motivated off of that love now... for me to not have my family would be something drastic for my mind to have to wrap itself around.

Jeffrey expressed being motivated by his children and the opportunity to prove society wrong:

I have to walk a straight and narrow all the time and I do it because of my children...not because of what they want me to do...I'm no longer in it...I'm no longer your property, I'm my own now so I live now for my kids.

Darrin also expressed being motivated by his children to maintain a "better" life. He places emphases on having care and concern for the life of his son in relationship to his nephew:

...my nephew, I been his Pops since he was two. His dad went to the feds...when I went to prison I seen he turned to everything I was. And the man I see him becoming is the man I used to be. So I run from that now. I see what's changed him cause a lot of things changed me in and out of my life. So I see what changed him and it affects me so dearly that that happened to that boy. I'm not gone let that happen to my son.

Darrin expressed that his inability to see his children would be a "problem" and would cause his motivation to change. But he said, "I don't think that will ever happen for the simple fact I'm such a good dad to them." The fathers were asked to share what they believe is unique about their experience as African American fathers on parole. Jeffrey acknowledged the changes he noticed within himself:

The uniqueness is that I came out... a better man and a better father to my children. I came out different than what I went in. I went in as a boy at the age of 35. I went in as a boy, thinking like a boy because of the choices I made in life...and came out a man, more responsible. Thinking more positive and thinking about everything that I have to take care of. Not that I need to take care of but I have to take care of and that was my kids and myself.

When given the opportunity to answer the question, Jason said "supervision kinda makes you be a better father whether you want to or not..." Harold's response is comparable to what Jason said. According to Harold, the uniqueness is having the status of parole that gives you access to "help." He said, "it's like a reviving in your life...it's something to benefit you, something that helps you." Willie believes his unique experience as an African American father on parole supervision is all about what he does. According to Willie:

...Because we're not gonna do the same things. We're not gonna see the things the same way. Our interaction with our parole officer might not be the same. So I think how I would choose to live under supervision is unique in its own way...I can be that statistic that a father completely gives up on his children and lets them go down whatever road they wanna go down. Ultimately end up incarcerating themselves or even end up dead. But I choose to think and live a different way other than that. My children's life is important. Making it off parole is important. So I think it is unique the way I live it.

Timothy explained what he believes is unique about his experience:

Even though I gotta report and stuff like that, I don't let it hurt my pride. I used to think like that's kiddie stuff. I'm not about to do that. I'm grown. I'm a man. I don't let it get to me. I still come home and then be a father to him and do what I need to do. I don't let it hurt my pride. Jeffrey responded similar to Timothy, "I didn't let my struggles hold me down...I didn't let 'em make me fall." Micah expressed that his need to have to "sell" himself as someone on parole is unique:

Is me selling myself despite the record of being on parole and being a father.... I mean white father on parole stand a better of a chance of getting a job.... the likelihood of him getting a job versus me filling out for the same job he probably get it before I would. That's just my opinion though...I done seen some strange things happen...

Darrin expressed a uniqueness due to his ability to mentor his children and other youth regarding the street life and involvement in the criminal justice system:

Besides the fact that I'm living through it, I can always tell my kids about what's gone happen before something happen. I can always vent to them about "You don't wanna do this. Cause after that then you got parole." You know what I'm saying. Cause I done lived it. That's why I say I can, I think I'm gone be very important to these kids. Not just my kids but all kids I be around because I done lived it.

The fathers were asked to share their biggest accomplishment as a father since returning to the community. Willie presented his struggle with his son who repeatedly refused his efforts to re-connect:

Getting in contact with my daughter was one. Now I get the chance to see my son which is the other. Well with my son he was gonna make it as difficult as possible [laughed] to meet with him. Cause he was making it real difficult. He was shooting me down in the text messages and stuff like that. He even asked his mom if he came to see me if she'd come with him and stuff like that. But for him to be like, "I'll be with my sister when I see you next time." I was just smiling from ear to ear when I read that. It was like "Yes! I got him." [laughing]

Harrold said that his biggest accomplishment was "getting involved with my daughter and for the first time in life I listened to my momma..." Timothy articulated being referred to as "daddy" was an honor and claimed it to be his biggest accomplishment:

Being realized that I am their dad. They all call me daddy. Cause I was young. I was 21 when I went in. I was there for them, but I wasn't like other fathers that I seen. I wasn't there like that. So for them to call me daddy that's a accomplishment. And I didn't just like "You better be calling me daddy! I'm your daddy!" They just did it. They just realized that. I don't know if it just came natural.

Richard said "earning my daughters and them trust...[and] getting my health back together" was his biggest accomplishment. While in tears, Jeffrey gave his response, "my biggest accomplishment is being able to look my children in the face and tell 'em I was wrong. And to show 'em that here I stand a better father." Micah stated that his biggest accomplishment is about accepting the role and responsibility of father:

Being able...to me its stepping up to be the father. Straight up, cause it's so easy to step down and say...I don't wanna...be bothered with that kid or that kid. Stepping up is my biggest accomplishment to myself.

Jason explained that his biggest accomplishment is about being present as a father:

I would say I was able to make it to see my daughter's birthday and a lot of school plays, and school things that I missed out on. Daddy daughter days and stuff like that. Those were my accomplishments as being a dad.

For Darrin, his biggest accomplishment was about acquiring a stable home and achieving a bond with his son;

My biggest accomplishment is with my kids, getting a crib to be able to spend time with them every day... the way my son looks at me like my daughter does now. That's a big accomplishment. From what he was...wouldn't come around me to when I walk in he's like her, "Daddy!" I love that. I never come home or come around and I don't get that. Soon as they see me, hands in the air. It's a party. I be like "Yeah!" That's all I need. That's all I need.

A work in progress. The fathers shared knowledge gained about themselves through interactions with their children. This central theme is based on the insights the fathers expressed about themselves while engaged in their role as parents. As a result of spending time with his daughter, Jason came to realize he is "too nice" because of how his father treated him as a child:

I have learned that I'm a little too nice as a dad to her. I think that's just me kinda...I don't know how to say it. Cause when I was younger like when my dad was around he wasn't nice. He was mean...when I was younger and got older I used to tell myself when I have my first kid I'm not gonna be nothing like him. Like whooping my kid and punishing and all that. That's not me. I see she knows that so she kinda uses it to her advantage. Willie came to realize that he is not gonna be "perfect" as a father and that he has an opportunity to start anew with his children:

...to have this opportunity again, it just makes me realize how precious every moment is that I spend with my daughter. And then how precious is this day's gonna be when I see my son for the first time. And then when I see my youngest and how it all comes together. I'm not saying that we're gonna be perfect in every way, but it begins a new chapter in my life. One that is gonna be filled with whatever I allow it to be filled with.... there's gonna have to be an even balance with both of them cause I'm not gonna get everything right all the time. I'm probably not gonna always say what they are expecting to hear.

Corey realized his diminished ability to cope in public:

...I have a real issue now sometimes doing stuff in public. I done kinda gotten over a lot of it. When I say gotten over it I really haven't gotten over it, but I kinda been able to cope with a lot of it and still go and do stuff. They like to go do stuff and I do too. I really do, but at first it was a lot of anxiety. I didn't really wanna be there type of feeling. I couldn't take it. Worried about this situation, that situation. It took time, some medication to help.... That was kind of a biggie for me... Just going out in public. Like I said I worry about me, situations and moments... I can't really say fearful. It's more like the what if's. But I had to really focus my mind and say "you can't really worry about the what if's all the time" Just got no control over it. Richard's children helped him to recognize an ongoing problem with drinking, smoking, and disposition:

...when they did come over and I used to go outside and I come back in cause I don't drink or smoke in the house, they see a little difference in me and then they smell it. So "Dad we don't approve of you drinking." When they got to telling me that right there that's a lesson and I'm gonna learn from it. So I backed up off everything and they see me being a better person now. Cause I used to say something real slick or real sharp and they look at me like "Huh, what did he just say?" And when I see them get up and go in the bedroom then don't come back out for a minute I said, "no, this is not them." But my oldest twin she come to me, she like "Dad we just giving you chance enough to cool off." Whoa! Now you just told me something. You giving me chance enough to back up off of this stuff. Timothy's children helped him to realize how significant he is in the lives of his children and that his life is of value:

That I am important. I'm more important than I thought I was. They make me feel more important than anything. Ain't too many people that's gone call on you or want you so when they do I feel I'm somebody.

Some of the participants shared thoughts about their success as a father since returning back to the community. Richard described himself as a "good father...back on track. Performing all the duties." However, he believed parole keeps him from reaching his full potential as a father. "I could be a d*** good father and a father figure...as it stands right

now my hands are tied right now. I just need to release some of this time." Darrin considers himself "fully qualified" as a father and provider for his children:

I feel like I'm fully qualified... I've always been a type of supporter. I've always bought my kids everything. My daughter was spoiled when I came home. I can't spoil my son like I want to but, he got the things he want. He go to the store with me, he pick out what he want. He get j's [Jordan's] and stuff like that.... personally I feel like I can give my kids anything. And I will give them anything as long as it's for the best of them.

Jason explained that since returning to the community "it's been hard for me to be a father besides paying my child support every month." He shared that his difficulty was in part due to the struggle with his daughter's mother. He stated, "when I do get to talk to her I tell her I love her. I tell just because she has a brother on the way don't mean I'm gone love her any less." For Jason, his success as a father is winning the battle against his daughter's mother to keep her fully persuaded that he "love her." At the time of his release, Willie expressed that initially, he felt "a little inadequate as a father." After spending time connecting with his children his impression of himself as a father changed. Willie claimed, "I feel better. I feel like I'm getting the hang of it."

The fathers developed aspirations related to their role and identity as a result of interactions with their children. The fathers' dreams forecast a positive image of self and a more meaningful quality of life for their children (see Table 5). The expressed hopes and dreams of the fathers see forward to a life without parole which remains for each of them a work in progress.

Table 5

Participants' Expressed Dreams as Fathers on Parole

Participant	Excerpt
Jeffrey	I hope that they don't follow in my footsteps
	as African American men we have to stand together to prove society wrong. And that's what I would love to prove to society, but I need other African American men to understand we got to get rid of the big I's and the little u's and must come together and take care of our children the way we supposed to
Micah	to be a better father than what my father was to meI know that in my mind, my heart, I wanna be a better father than my father was to me. I put that in my mind I wanna be able to be responsible.
Willie	I desire relationship. A real one. A chance to prove that I can give love as well as receive it. I just wanna give back for everything that I've taken. I want the opportunity to do thatmake amends with those that [I] have hurt
Richard	I just wanna have that bond with them.
Darrin	I don't want these kids growing up going through the things I went through. None of them. Plusthe only thing I'm gone leave on this earth to remember me byIf I'm gone be remembered, I wanna be remembered by the kids.
Timothy	That my kids respect me more, every day they pay attention to me, listen to me.
Harold	I want my daughter with mefor us to have that bond, that spacefor us to be together
Corey	I want our family, I want kids, I want a wife or a spouse or somebody to believe in or who can believe in me. I just wanna watch my kids grow and enjoy life.
Jason	I always wanted my kids to have a dad that they can rely on and talk to. I just want me and my daughters' mom to be able to communicate more

Summary

In this chapter, my research investigation on the lived experiences of parenting for formerly incarcerated African American fathers obligated to parole supervision was described. The details of execution regarding the criterion-based purposeful sampling strategy and qualitative in-depth interviewing technique was outlined. An explanation of the strategies used to achieve trustworthiness during and after the investigation process was outlined. The strategies used in this study include peer briefing, member checks, criterion-based sampling, audit trail, post-interview notes, reflexive journaling, structural corroboration, and auditing. All the data related to this study was collected, organized, managed and stored using Microsoft Word and NVivo 11. The details regarding these procedures was outlined consistent with the explanations provided in Chapter 3.

Information in this chapter also include details about the natural and familiar setting where the nine African American fathers were engaged in two separate interviewing encounters. The nine African American fathers engaged in research voluntarily by written consent and willingly shared characteristics about themselves that can be reviewed in the "participant profiles" section of this chapter. All of the fathers was given a "Thank You" letter for their participation and offered a copy of this study's results upon publication.

My research investigation generated a total of 17 open-ended question based interview transcripts representing over 20 hours of audio narrative. After being member checked and approved, I electronically organized the transcripts which led to the identification of 701 general units of experience. The data was reviewed extensively and was reduced to 20 clusters of meaningful experience. I arranged the clusters were arranged into three classifications representing nine central themes.

The first classification, Identity and Role, focused on the fathers' view of self and their role as a parent. This first classification corresponded to three central themes: A Father at the Crossroad, Surviving on the Edge, and By the Way...I've Changed. What it means to be a father was expressed as difficult due to the cause of parole and community pressures. Returning to prison was identified as a fear that negatively impacts their ability to actively engage as a father. The fathers also expressed a sense of failure due to incarceration, but a strong motivation to prove ability to be active in the life of their children.

The second classification, Father in Action, focused on the activities and events happening in the father's lives with their children since returning to the community. This second classification corresponded to four central themes: It's Been Too Long Without You, It Hurt Me but Helped Us, I'm the Father, and It's Father Time. The fathers discussed the thoughts and feelings held when seeing their children for the first time after release. Most of them reported being excited, happy, and relieved. A discussion about conversations had with their children to restore relationship after incarceration was reported. All of the fathers expressed a need to apologize to their children for their absence. These efforts were articulated as both mentally and emotionally challenging. The fathers shared stories of conflict with persons challenging their efforts to connect with their children. Most of the stories involved conflict with their child's mother. The Fathers also described how they engage and spend quality time with their children.

The third classification, Living Beyond Day 30, focused on fathers giving a perspective on their life after being 30 days in the community. This third classification corresponded to two central themes: No Family No Life, and A Work in Progress. The fathers shared lessons they learned through interactions with their children. Overall, the fathers communicated the need for help and to consistently be the best father to their children.

A unique description of lived experience was noted with every story articulated by the African American fathers that participated in this study. It is clear that the experience of parenting communicated by the African American fathers in this study deviate away from traditional conceptions of father and the fathering experience. Although the narratives created by the African American fathers in this study are distinct accounts of their lived experience of parenting, all the participants shared a significant common characteristic – a strong deep-seated desire to have a healthy intimate relationship with their children.

In Chapter 5, I provide an interpretation of the findings in the context of social constructionism. The limitation of trustworthiness and the potential impact of positive social change is discussed. A few recommendations for future research are given. Finally, I share my reflections as the researcher along with a conclusion.

Chapter 5: Discussion, Recommendations, and Conclusion

Introduction

In this transcendental phenomenological study, I explored the lived experience of formerly incarcerated African American fathers parenting minor children while obligated to community supervision. The purpose of this study was to advance knowledge and understanding of the experience and to influence the design of culturally relevant interventions intended to strengthen and support family structures for formerly incarcerated African American fathers. Specifically, I sought to support family reunification and restoration efforts involving formerly incarcerated African American fathers and provide insight and influence in the formation and implementation of family welfare policy. Expanding knowledge about the parenting experiences of formerly incarcerated African American fathers on parole may assist the efforts of practitioners to build and improve the life trajectory of the fathers themselves, their children, and the African American community.

A total of nine formerly incarcerated African American fathers obligated to parole supervision participated in this study. Each father reported returning to the Kansas City metropolitan area following incarceration within 6 to 12 months of study participation. All the fathers in this study reported having at least one minor child with whom he was actively involved. While actively participating in this study, the fathers completed two indepth interviews.

I recorded and digitally tracked the interviews using an audio recording device. I subsequently transcribed and stored the interview data using Microsoft Word and NVivo

11. I organized the transcribed data into clusters of experience and then defined them according to three classifications comprised of nine central themes representing the fathers' experience of parenting. The first classification, Identity and Role, relates to three central themes: A Father at the Crossroad, Surviving on the Edge, and By the Way...I've Changed. The second classification, Father in Action, relates to four central themes: It's Been Too Long Without You, It Hurt Me but Helped Us, I'm the Father, and It's Father Time. The third classification, Living Beyond Day 30, relates to two central themes: No Family No Life, and A Work in Progress.

In this chapter, I present the research findings according to the perspective of social constructionism. I compare the findings to the literature presented in Chapter 2. The limitations to trustworthiness that arose during the process of investigation is described. I also share the potential impact for positive social change. Finally, my reflections as the researcher are given along with a concluding message that captures the key essence of this study.

Interpretation of the Findings

The results of this transcendental phenomenological study clarified my understanding of the lived experience of parenting for formerly incarcerated African American fathers obligated to mandatory parole supervision. I acquired the information needed to understand this lived experience by conducting qualitative in-depth interviews with nine African American fathers recently returned to the Kansas City metropolitan area under a mandatory commitment of parole supervision. One central research question was used to guide my exploration: What are the lived experiences of African American fathers obligated to mandatory supervision following an incarceration?

I identified a total of nine central themes that represent the lived experience of parenting for formerly incarcerated African American fathers under parole supervision. In order to describe the meaning and reality of the fathers' lived experience, I explain the central themes of experience using the tenets of social constructionism. As presented with detail in Chapter 1, scholars who have adopted the social constructionism perspective favor the idea that all understanding of everyday life is shaped by human interaction and activity (Berger & Luckmann, 1966; Gergen, 1985). Each theme is presented from the perspective of the African American fathers involved in this study and highlights the influence of human social relationships on the construction of knowledge about their lived experience.

Theme 1: A Father at the Crossroad

The first central theme, A Father at the Crossroad, represents the perceived real meaning of the identity and role formation "African American father on parole" as shared by the fathers involved in this study. Most of the fathers articulated a negative consciousness of meaning about being an African American father on parole. The fathers described the meaning of being an African American father on parole as being a man forced to surrender to a life of deliberate disregard for personal privacy by others. The fathers described it to mean suffering a state of constant mental strain, and an enduring battle with acceptance and fairness, avoidance and isolation, and value and worth. According to these fathers, an African American father on parole means to be a man with an existence that has been objectified, and whose social participation is limited by systemic and individual discretion.

I believe the perspective of social constructionism may be used to explain the sense of awareness that the identity and role of being an African American father on parole represents. For instance, Jeffrey described his understanding of parole's disregard for personal privacy by saying that parole will be "in your business." His sense of awareness as a parolee shaped his reality as an African American father on parole. While articulating his experience, Jeffrey gave examples of how he negotiated avoiding difficulties with the parole authorities. He reported that questioning about his activities as an involved father indicated that parole authorities did not care about parolee privacy.

The perspective of social constructionism is used to suggest that individuals' experience of everyday life is "organized by the 'here' of my body and the 'now' of my present" (Berger & Luckmann, 1966; Gergen, 1985). The perspective of social constructionism is also used to suggest that individuals experience life in terms of zones (the "world within my reach") which dominates interest and focus toward either what is being done and needs to be done or what one plans to do (Berger & Luckmann, 1966). Jeffrey's interpretation that parole authorities will be "in your business" presents a conflict related to the here and now. When Jeffrey visits his parole officer, the zone of parole dominates his interest and focus because he is an active parolee. His involvement as a father is consciously understood by him to be in a zone outside the zone of parole; therefore, any questioning in relation to the father zone while present in the world of parole is interpreted by him as a disregard for privacy. Jeffrey's present sense of awareness about the meaning of being an African American father on parole is influenced by his status as an active participant in the supervised parole program governed by the Kansas department of corrections. This sense of awareness around relinquishing to a deliberate disregard for privacy is also part of a historical trend within the United States toward increased parole conditions and methods of accountability for parolees (Travis III & Stacey, 2010). Being subject to an unending imposed rule of constant monitor and scrutiny, Jeffrey satisfies conditions of his release by reluctantly surrendering the desire for personal privacy (i.e. "…you have to allow these people to be in your business…"), and reconciling such a surrender with his personal interest to avoid reincarceration due to violation.

Micah described the meaning of being an African American father on parole as an existence of constant mental strain. He expressed "a stressful situation" where "pressure sometimes gets to my nerves" in relation to regular encounters with the child support system. He presented a potential "burden" around the drafting of \$65 from his paycheck every two weeks. The drafts pose a risk in lacking the necessary funds to pay for other life expenses because of a shortage in the wages earned during a two-week period. Micah's interpretation of his identity and role is a testament to the threats formerly incarcerated African American fathers face in preserving a stable existence. His experience of mental strain is in keeping with what is already known about the elevation of stress and strain leading to crisis experienced by formerly incarcerated individuals returning to community (Gideon, 2009; Griswold & Pearson, 2007; Hanser, 2010; Roberts, 2001; Sachs, 2000). The mental strain or potential "burden" Micah described is

as a result of having to contend with two inter-related systems, criminal justice and child support, that hold coercive power in his everyday life. Social constructionists refer to the function of these two inter-related systems as habitualized institutionalism which is purposed to control the activity of its human product through various social means. The reality of Micah's potential "burden" is in prospect of the consequence, reincarceration, that arises for noncompliance with the institutionalized system of child support. Brito (2013) and Evans (2014) confirmed that failure to pay child support likely results in an arrest. A parolee arrested for failing to adhere to child support orders constitutes a parole violation by the institutionalized system of criminal justice, and consequently an indisputable return to prison.

The "stressful situation" of being an African American father on parole is real for Micah with respect to his 14-year-old daughter in part because her existence was not made known to him until sometime after her 13th birthday. Although Micah was oblivious to the existence of his daughter, as her identified father he is legally financially responsible and accountable for every year of her well-being per state child support statutes (Griswold & Pearson, 2005; Huang, Mincy, & Garfinkel, 2005; May, 2004; Roberts, 2001; Solomon-Fears, 2009). Child support enforcement is concerned with combating the issue of poverty on behalf of minors as opposed to bridging or building the parent-child relationship on their behalf. The "stressful situation" and potential "burden" as Micah expressed suggests an element of unfairness when it comes to his right to know he is a father versus his duty to pay for the everyday needs of the child he fathered. The habituated institutional force of the child support system does not cater to the possessive intricacies of parental identity and role, and therefore presents an unnatural shift away from the father-child sense of belonging that typifies and inspires the actions performed by a father in everyday life. The meaning of being an African American father on parole is "a stressful situation" for Micah since meeting the expectations of child support is a legal obligation bearing almost no leniency for whether the father can pay this accrued debt, or the father-child relationship is active and healthy. Micah's plainly expressed resolve, "I've learned to adjust and accept the fact that I gotta pay child support and pay it properly…", aids him in coping with "a stressful situation" and potential "burden" that constitutes the reality of his identity and role as an African American father on parole.

According to Willie, being stereotyped and then subject to occurrences of discrimination and prejudice is the meaning of being an African American father on parole. Willie makes several declarations: "It's a little bit more strict for us", "the boots on our neck", "we get a lot of negative backlash with everything", "the community sees African American males as a threat to community safety", "we're constantly having to fight...", "skin color plays a big role in whether or not you get hired..." Social constructionist thought posits that knowledge is the accumulation of various types of experiences, is socially distributed, and generationally communicated (Berger & Luckmann, 1966). Wilie's articulation of meaning given to his identity and role as an African American father on parole is presented in summary of experience concerning self and others across a span of time and context. His understanding seems to be a collection of evidence that demoralize the African American male existence by society through stereotyping (i.e. a threat to the community), discrimination (i.e. more strict), and prejudice (i.e. skin color). He infers the validation of this understanding by classifying brief examples using the pronoun plural, "we" and "us" which signifies his stock of knowledge regarding the meaning of being an African American father on parole goes beyond his own lived experience.

By using the phrase "boots on our neck" Willie referred to the practice of slavery where iron collars and Jim Crow laws were used as mechanisms to oppress African American people (Blake, 1857; Oxford University, 2007). The legacy of slavery in the United States has been shared generation to generation within the African American community and influences the way in which lived experience is mentally processed. Willie using the "boots on our neck" phrase placed the meaning given to his identity and role in a slavery-like context. He described parole and the community as present day oppressive forces making life "a little bit more strict", continuing the practice of unfair treatment (i.e. negative backlash with everything) against African American fathers on parole.

The idea of being a community threat as expressed by Willie is not a new understanding. African American men have been historically seen as threatening to the safety of individuals and the community. The perceivable practice of unfair treatment toward people of color exacerbates the potentially lived experience of African American fathers on parole because of their status as criminal justice involved persons. A conviction in addition to the nature of offense worsens any conception of threat perceived by members of the community. Like Willie, Darrin presented a similar understanding about the meaning of being an African American father on parole. He highlighted ill treatment, stereotyping, discrimination, and prejudice as his evidence. Darrin resorts to avoidance and isolation as a way to minimize conflict with others in the community. His response supports the evidence in the present literature regarding African American males perceived need to "camouflage" themselves or change in order to satisfy the discomfort of tension that arises when around persons who perceive them as a threat. Darrin does not change but instead avoids and isolates himself which is not consistent with the literature.

Darrin understands his identity and role by way of limitation, "I feel like we limited...we're already looked down upon." In this, Darrin acknowledges that his worth and value has been diminished by society and believes being an African American father on parole means he must rise to a level of exception to be accepted, worthy, and valuable to society. Willie acknowledged this same need to prove self to others to legitimize his identity and role. In other words, both Willie and Darrin have an understanding that being an African American father on parole means you are worthless and of no value, until you prove yourself otherwise. They seemingly interpret their identity and role as formerly incarcerated African American fathers on parole as a continuation of punishment in a society that is not forgiving to individuals meriting forgiveness. As they perceive it, society expects you to do more than just spend time in prison for the crime committed, but to also be held to an almost impossible standard in the community.

Jason and Corey presented similar meanings for being an African American father on parole. Jason's meaning is attributed to being a statistic that reflects negatively on the African American male, or perhaps validates the common stereotypes that are quite controversial. Scholarship pertaining to African American men report that they are disproportionately represented in the criminal justice system, and receive longer sentences than other ethnic groups for like crimes. Jason's understanding of what it means to be an African American father on parole is in line with the statistical trends that places African American males at a grave disadvantage. Jason admits that his reality makes his ability to live his identity and role harder, but he anticipates an ease to a challenging obligation with stable employment.

Being a statistic also means that as an African American father on parole one is not only subject to discrimination and prejudice but also is held back from participating in society as a "free" person. Formerly incarcerated African American fathers on parole are likely obstructed from freely accessing resources and opportunities. For Jason, to be an African American father on parole means to be a man barred or blocked from full social participation.

Corey understands the meaning of his identity and role as an African American father on parole is to be treated like an object. Objectification is part of the nature of habituated institutionalism as put forth in social constructionism. The criminal justice system is a capitalized habituated institution whose function and nature is to control. In thinking about habituated institutional objectification from a social constructionist perspective, the object exists but has no personal relational value or meaning worthy of time, effort or energy. Essentially, the object is a nuisance if for it there is no practical use. The system finds its use as free labor, a means for profit, the evidence to advance and continue cultural conditioning which defines African American men according to historically socialized views within the United States. Corey refers to a "cycle" created by the "system" that dehumanizes African American males through mechanisms of control that ultimately disenfranchise, marginalize, and stigmatize them as a collective group.

The "cycle" according to Corey, is a trap that African Americans don't recognize because they "set themselves up" or "is not paying attention enough." In this respect, Corey understands that being an African American father on parole is to be a pawn, subject to being duped, bamboozled, suckered, or fooled by the system. This thinking presents another aspect of the objectification that becomes the reality for African American fathers on parole. The nature of control embedded in the "system" mimics the institution of slavery. Like slavery, incarceration hinders the personal and social progress of development for African American males (Binder, 2002; QCEA, 2011; Wilkinson, Magora, Garcia, & Khurana, 2009). The grip of the "system" described by Corey acts as a camouflage that "some of them ain't smart enough to catch on to…and take they self out…" to slow, curtail, obstruct, and confine one's activity and movement. For Corey, to be an African American father on parole is to be an object of control.

Harold's interpretation of what it means to be an African American father on parole was in stark contrast to the other fathers involved in this study. To be an African American father on parole, for Harold, means to be a beneficiary of the criminal justice system. As stated by Harold, "you're in a situation where you need some help." The understanding he has of his identity and role as an African American father on parole is on a basis of a long history of substance abuse. Harold's battle with substance abuse led him to conclude the meaning of his identity and role as being the effect of his community sponsored status. Harold explained, "if I wasn't' under supervision there ain't no telling what I'd be doing...but I know I can't do nothing. That's helping me."

The positive position held by Harold is hopeful in view of research that claims relapse, drug overdose, and death for persons reintegrating into society battling substance abuse (Belenko, 2006; Binswanger et al., 2007). Harold recognizes his battle with substance abuse and accepts the access to resources offered by the criminal justice system as an active participant in the system. What makes his interpretation of being on parole different is his focus on and belief in needing help as a parolee. Unlike the other fathers involved who focused on and believed their need is freedom, privacy, and respect as a parolee.

Theme 2: Surviving on the Edge

The second central theme, Surviving on the Edge, brings into view the presence of fear in the lived experience of being an African American father on parole. For each of the fathers, the presence of fear was experienced in association with their parole status. Jeffrey, Timothy, Harold, and Jason expressed fear of reincarceration. The context of their concern regarding the potential for reincarceration was different. Timothy, for instance, acknowledged parole as a negative label and feared being fired from his job which would cause him to violate the conditions of parole. Harold acknowledged his battle with substance abuse and expressed fear of producing a dirty urinalysis which would result in a violation of his parole conditions. On the other hand, Corey communicated his fear in the context of social stereotyping. He stated being bothered by the judgment of others based on his conviction which could strip away his capacity to overcome hardship. Another difference was presented about the context in which fear rises came from Richard. For him, fear arises when he senses the potential for retaliation by his adversaries. The expressed awareness of fear present in experience was described in more than one context for some of the fathers. Harold, for example, described concerns of fear in the same context as Richard, but in relation to himself and his daughter. Jeffrey described concerns of fear in the same context presented by Corey.

The presence of fear is not uncommon to the African American experience. Franklin and Boyd-Franklin (2000), and Unnever (2014) discussed fear as being embedded in the consciousness of African Americans due to a history of inequality and other social woes. The fathers in this study did not describe the presence of fear as an occasional experience, but on that is consistently present in each day. An excessive experience of fear is problematic and traumatic in many ways. Reincarceration is both a problematic and traumatic experience; which lends itself to be explained as "shock" in the perspective of social construction (Berger & Luckmann, 1966).

The essence of survival is not in overcoming fear, staying on task with parole, or doing all necessary to prevent reincarceration. Surviving on the edge is all about guarding against anything and everything that can strip away the ability to be a father. It's about strategizing, with having the presence of fear, to guarantee remaining an active father in the community. The African American fathers on parole involved in this study ultimately feared being taken away from their children. Jeffrey stated, "they would take you away from your family for the least little thing you do." Richard explained, "I'm worried about if they gone do something to me." Harold said, "Locking me up, taking me away from my daughter, my family, my life for a drug issue...that's my fear..."

The presence of fear in the lived experience is not an irrational suspicion or emotion. The feeling of anxiety or alarm the African American fathers in this study experience is significant because interpersonal connection and relationship are extremely important to the mental, emotional, and spiritual well-being of members in the African American community (DeGruy, 2005).

Theme 3: By the Way...I've Changed

The third central theme, By the Way...I've Changed, discussed the impact of incarceration on view of self as an African American father on parole. Each of the fathers communicated positive shifts in their thinking and feeling about being an African American father that translated into positive behaviors in the community. Darrin's story provides an illustration. Before incarceration, Darrin believed being a father was about spending his money to buy whatever his children wanted. The more money he spent the better he was as a father. Once incarcerated his material possessions were confiscated having a mental and emotional effect that led him to consider the messages he was communicating to his children by his actions. By the time Darrin returned to the community he held the belief that money is not everything and held the relationship and connection with his children as most valuable above all other things.

Incarcerations impact on the thinking and feeling about self as a father produced shifts in beliefs that differed among each father. The social constructionist perspective suggests that what truly exists or happens is only meaningful in the context it is situated (Andrews, 2012; Patton, 2015). The accounts of mental and emotional change given by the African American fathers in this study hold meaning because they occurred in the context of incarceration and reintegration. Each account of change was a surrender to fatherhood. For example, Micah communicated that being a father "was a burden" because "I had my little cloudy ways of thinking." Incarceration stimulated a change in thinking he expressed by saying to his daughter "get to know me. I wanna get to know you...tomorrow ain't promised to nobody..." In this account, Micah described finding value in being a father as opposed to thinking and relating to it a burden.

Changing the view of self as a father to one that is useful, hopeful, and optimistic encourages an embrace of active fathering. Assuming the role of father is believed to increase a fathers' chances of having lived experiences that are positive and values based (Martinez, 2010). This notion is debatable. What is important with respect to African American fathers on parole is their belief in and ability to articulate and demonstrate their mental and emotional changes to others.

Theme 4: It's Been Too Long Without You

The fourth central theme, It's Been Too Long Without You, represents the thoughts and feelings expressed by the African American fathers in this study when seeing their children for the first time after release. The urgency to see children as described by the African American fathers involved confirms and supports research reporting that fathers intently desire connection with children upon release (Arditti, Smock, & Parkman, 2005; Eden & Nelson, 2013; Kenemore & Roldan, 2006; Leap, 2015). The fathers in this study communicated a range of positive and negative emotions. For instance, Harold reported being "excited and relieved." Corey explained, "I had a real warm…happy feeling inside…sad because I missed so much."

The fathers also described their thoughts that were mostly in the form of questions concerned about interacting with their children. Willie questioned, "...am I gonna be able to carry a conversation with her or am I just gonna sit there and stare at her..." According to social constructions, the most important experience of others is face-to-face interaction (Berger & Luckmann, 1966). When face-to-face, the person becomes fully real and close. Every expression of self is oriented to the person with whom one is interacting. What is clear is that each of the African American fathers moved to orient themselves toward their children to encourage a reciprocal social exchange. This can be recognized in Jason's account, "she ran to me. I hugged her. Told her 'I love you'...she told me she love me back..."

Though face-to-face interaction presents a person fully real and close, the position or role of that person is not so immediately real (Berger & Luckmann, 1966). Social construction posits that the attitude toward position or role provokes self-reflection that may alter the pattern of interaction to mirror the attitude of the other. The pattern of interaction, attitudes, and acts, shift and changes according to the attitude and acts of the other. In other words, the importance and acceptance of a position or role of a person is made known by the attitude and acts of the other engaged in face-to-face interaction. Harold, Jeffrey, Jason, Corey, Micah, Willie, and Richard described positive face-to-face interactions with their children when seeing them for the first time. The exchanges they described signified an acceptance of their position as their children's father. Instead of self-reflecting to make an adjustment to their pattern of interacting these fathers sought to influence a deeper and more close exchange with their children.

Alternatively, Darrin and Timothy described having negative face-to face interactions with one of their children. Darrin expressed, "my son didn't talk to me. He was kinda acting scared...I seen him start looking at me like 'who he?'...dud just wouldn't mess with me." Timothy stated, "I would see him playing and coming towards his grandma and his momma and auntie and it wasn't none of that for me." The exchanges experienced by the African American fathers in both cases signified a refusal to accept position or role and therefore conveyed an attitude of the father being of low importance. Darrin and Timothy negotiated their pattern of interaction with children. Timothy described his attempts to hug and kiss his son. Darrin explained that he made certain his son witnessed every interaction he had with his daughter. These fathers sought to influence a change in the attitude and acts of their children toward them that signified importance and acceptance.

Upon returning to the community, the first in-person exchange with children became the segue for establishing a lasting nurturing relationship. Ives, Draper, Pattison, and Williams (2008) studied the experiences of fathers and discovered that nurturing was valued more than biological relatedness. Because of incarceration, the African American fathers involved in this study spent a significant amount of time away from their children which eliminated their ability to engage in a nurturing way. DeGruy (2005), in her discussion about time and culture, stated "time serves the relationships among people..." (pg. 35). The African American fathers in this study unfortunately lost a significant number of years to incarceration that ideally could have been spent nurturing a lasting relationship with their children.

The emotional and mental responses experienced by the fathers of seeing their children for the first time essentially represents the sentiment, I've been too long without you. The African American fathers recognized the impact of their absence and decided to present themselves as father and nurturer with hopes to counteract the damage of their absence. The acts and attempted acts of affection is meaningful because, for African Americans, the relationship is highly important in social exchanges, and the most effective motivator for African American children is love (DeGruy, 2005).

Theme 5: It Hurt Me but Helped Us

The fifth central theme, It Hurt Me but Helped Us, discussed the statements made by the African American fathers to restore the relationship with their children. The efforts to communicate openly with children is significant. Language, as believed by social constructionists, holds the highest meaning and worth in human society. Through the use of language, we share life, objective and subjective processes, with others in our social environment. Through language, we can express our attitudes in face-to-face interactions using a variety of gestures, body movements, and vocal expressions that go beyond our face-to-face interactions. The described exchanges the African American fathers in this study had with their children are illustrations of the process of relationship building that is vital to the African American experience. In these exchanges, the fathers described a display of courage, strength, and a capacity to seek forgiveness. The accounts speak to the African American fathers' ability to adjust to life beyond the correctional facility to assume the duty of responsible fatherhood. The African American fathers displayed boldness and passion in their interactions which debunk demeaning characterizations of being weak-minded and a social nuisance (Franklin & Boyd-Franklin, 2000; Goff, Williams, Eberhardt, & Jackson, 2008; Unnever, 2014).

Incarceration is intended to have a significant effect on the personal and social existence (Alexander, 2012; Arat, 2006; Rodriguez, 2007) that is in no way to be interpreted as positive. However, the experience of incarceration for the African American fathers involved in this study functioned as a rite of passage or institution of socialization which is believed to be regarded as such within the African American community (Dailey Jr., 2001; Leap, 2015; Lee, Porter, & Comfort, 2014; Livingston & Nahimana, 2006; Maruna, 2011).

Prior to incarceration, the African American fathers in this study were not highly involved, if at all, in the lives of their children. At some point during their incarceration experience, a change occurred with the fathers that led them to prioritize a focus on relating and engaging with their children. The African American fathers made intentional effort to engage and build a healthy relationship with their children as opposed to avoiding them (Dyer, 2005; Pearson & Davis, 2003; Woldoff & Washington, 2008). This is meaningful since community reintegration is believed worse for African American males (Herman-Stahl, Kan, & McKay, 2008; Perry & Bright, 2012; Western & Wildeman, 2009; Wildeman & Western, 2010; Woldoff & Washington, 2008) and expected to have little to no success (Dyer, 2005; Kenemore & Roldan, 2006; Nelson, Deess, & Allen, 2011; Tripp, 2001; Woldoff & Washington, 2008).

The passionate display of emotion is also meaningful regarding the exchanges the African American fathers had with their children. This display of emotion in the exchanges with their children rejects the idea that African American fathers live with a diminished capacity to relate and care due to psychological distress produced by incarceration and a history of social bias (Smedley, 1998; Leap, 2015). Being able to feel the pain caused by their absence, see the hurt in the faces of their children, and hear the disappointment in the voices of their children was an experience each African American father seem to openly embrace. For these African American fathers, it was not about being hurt, but about healing and removing the hurt to build a strong bond in the relationship with their children.

Theme 6: I'm the Father

The sixth central theme, I'm the Father, represents the challenges the fathers faced when making efforts to connect with their children. The accounts articulated by the African American fathers confirms reports presented by scholars that mothers excessively guard and decline opportunities for fathers to interact with their children (McBride et al., 2005; Perry & Bright, 2012). The African American fathers accounts also confirm the gatekeeping of mothers is an effort to protect children from stigma and the discrimination associated with incarceration (Turney, 2014). The idea that African American fathers are likely to have multiple children with multiple partners was also supported (Edin & Nelson, 2013; Leap, 2015). The struggle and frustration experienced by the African American fathers in this study were not principally due to the interference of mothers disallowing them to deepen their relationship with their children. What was most important for these fathers is that they associated their value and worth with the relationship they have with their children.

The perspective of social constructionism advise that social roles are a habituated institution representing the order, character, and organized standard of the institution. The family is coined as an institution consisting of a group of people related to one another. For each role assumed in the family, there is an order of concentrated specialty or standardized division of labor. The problem with this idea of socially constructed roles is that it does not coincide with the reality experienced by formerly incarcerated African American fathers in the community. DeGruy (2005) points out issues within the African American community naming incarceration, "fragmented" and "powerless" families as reasons for instability. The African American fathers in this study attested to a post incarceration reality of a broken family structure with significant strain and pressure to negotiate challenges of social bias. The African American fathers competed with their maternal counterpart or child's guardian for a position of authority and partnership in the duty of raising their children.

The African American fathers in this study described an experience of emptiness and loss when away from their children. These feelings precipitate their efforts to confront and plead with their maternal counterpart for unhindered access to their children. An array of conflict was described by the fathers. The clash with their maternal counterpart sometimes led them to take positions of passivity reluctantly. Despite the roadblocks to involvement, the African American fathers demonstrated the commitment they openly stated to their children upon their return to the community. This validates the perception of their children's worth in their lives and their intense desire to be a better father than they were before incarceration.

Theme 7: It's Father Time

The seventh central theme, It's Father Time, presented what the African American fathers reported doing while spending time with their children. the time spent with children was described as quality time. This time was perceived highly important by the fathers which support the evidence of scholarly research (Doyle, Pecukonis, & Lindsey, 2013). More significantly, quality time was considered an attempt to reverse the effect of the fathers' absence. Time spent with children was also important to the African American fathers because it allowed the chance for bonding based on who they are in the present as opposed to who they were prior to incarceration. This connects with the idea of the "here and now" in the social constructionist perspective. Social construction also suggests that we experience life based on the "world within my reach" bringing conscious attention to what the fathers did during their time with children.

The activity of quality time as described by the African American fathers in this study catered to what was both convenient and affordable for them. The fathers also spent quality time engaging in activities they enjoyed doing with their children. Timothy, for instance, enjoyed cooking for his children, but Richard enjoyed buying all his children's favorite foods and snacks. Jeffrey enjoyed taking his son to the barbershop, but Micah enjoyed taking his daughter to basketball games. The activities of quality time provided the opportunity for the African American fathers to communicate and give their time to connect, share, and bond with their children. Quality time was in this sense particularly meaningful because the fathers regarded it as an investment.

The allotted time the fathers shared with their children was also spent performing activities related to discipline. It is an activity particularly believed to be associated with fathering (Brownson & Gilbert, 2002; Carlson, 2006; Hamer, 1997; Hawkins, Bradford, Palkovitz, Christiansen, Day, & Call, 2002; Ives, Draper, Pattison, & Williams, 2008; Wall & Arnold, 2007). Corey, Darrin, and Jason stated that discipline was part of quality time. Each of them identified discipline as the most difficult activity to carry out with their children. The evidence of scholarly research professes that fathers assume the responsibility of discipline because they disagree with the manner it is carried out by significant others (Hammer, 1997; Hauari & Hollingworth, 2009). This idea is confirmed in the account of experience described by Darrin. Aside from Corey, Jason, and Darrin, the remaining African American fathers articulated an activity most difficult for them that either was in the context of being at a distance from their children, subjecting children to potential harm (i.e. taking them to the doctor), or one that initiates or confronts conflict (i.e. taking iPad away).

As determined by the social constructionist perspective, the most important experience is face-to-face interaction. Every episode of quality time the African American fathers had with their children added to the knowledge and understanding they acquired about their father. This accumulated database of experience is established as what social construction calls a social stock of knowledge. For the African American fathers in this study, quality time with children was not essentially meaningful because of a need to redeem time or invest time for the sole purpose of bonding with their children as their present self. The social stock of knowledge as presented in the social constructionist framework is distributed generationally and communicates the true existence of happenings by degrees of familiarity. Therefore, the essence of quality time for the African American fathers is to create a legacy that casts them not just as a father, but as a "good" father.

Theme 8: No Family No Life

The eighth central theme, No Family No Life, presented the thoughts and feelings the African American fathers in this study expressed about their unique experience, motivations, and biggest accomplishment. The African American fathers identified their children as being the primary motivator while on parole. This connects and supports the scholarly research that was put forth (Arditti, Smock, & Parkman, 2005; Martinez 2010) emphasizing the strength of assuming pro-social roles in the community to increase the probability of success. Proclaiming their children as the primary motivator validates the father's claims of commitment given to secure parental involvement. More importantly, the African American fathers perceived involuntary separation from their children as detrimental and traumatic. The context surrounding motivation was different for Darrin than the other fathers. He described an unfortunate case regarding his nephew that shaped a need to guard the life and well-being of his son more closely compared to his daughter. The context surrounding motivation for Jeffrey was based on the social misconceptions of African American men. Jeffrey made it clear that his motivation to do his best was because of his children and not parole. It is significant that the children are the motivation for the African American fathers involved in this study. The point of meaning is that the children are substantially and essentially the fathers' declaration of purpose. Being motivated by family fits into the culture of the African American community.

The fathers differed in describing the uniqueness of their lived experience. Jeffrey, for instance, emphasized his ability to weather the storm of challenges following his release. Micah expressed his need to "sell" himself to prove he is acceptable is unique. In their descriptions of uniqueness, the African American fathers gave reference to challenges specific to being under parole supervision that was documented and validated by scholars (Geddes, 2008; Gordon, Nichter, & Henricksen, 2012; Turney, Lee, & Comfort, 2013). The ability to articulate uniqueness means that these African American fathers are aware of their reality; that it is unequal to persons not connected to the criminal justice system. The fathers have learned to be resilient in their lived reality. A trait recognized as a culturally based characteristic of members of the African American community (DeGruy, 2005; Rodriguez, 2007; Thomas et al., 2013).

The biggest accomplishment since returning to the community as described by the fathers was connecting with their children. Each father explained why their children were

identified as their biggest accomplishment. Willie told his story about being rejected by his son when he initially returned to the community. After weeks of failed attempts to connect with his son, Willie experienced a surprise visit from him during a scheduled social outing with his daughter. Timothy also had difficulty connecting with his son. Soon after his initial visit with his son, Timothy was referred and related to as "Dad" by his son. These two accounts highlight a change in attitude the children had toward their father. Jeffrey's biggest accomplishment, on the other hand, highlights a change in attitude toward his children. Micah's biggest accomplishment, stepping up to be a father, also highlights a change in attitude toward his children.

The accomplishments articulated by the fathers are more than just events that are marked by time. The biggest accomplishments described by the African American fathers represent movement toward progress which scholars say require the active involvement of family (CCJ, 2006; Kenemore & Roldan, 2006; LaVigne, Naser, Brooks, & Castro, 2005; Letiecq & Koblinsky, 2004; Naser & LaVigne, 2006; Nelson, Deess, & Allen, 2011; Petersilia, 2005).

Theme 9: A Work in Progress

The ninth central theme, A Work in Progress, presented the descriptions African American fathers gave regarding knowledge about self and their success since returning to the community. While interacting with their children, the fathers became more aware of self that influenced change in their thinking as a father. Corey described his struggle with anxiety and worry while in public with his children. Corey explained that he changed his thinking to accept that he "can't really worry about the what if's all the time." Jason learned that he is "too nice" and his daughter uses that to her advantage. Jason reconciled his being "too nice" with a sincere desire to be different that his father. The changes in thinking upon an increased awareness of self represents strength and the ability to apply parental wisdom. Becoming more aware of self allowed the fathers to deepen the connection with their children and realize a greater level of maturity.

Success, as described by the fathers in this study, was presented as an incomplete endeavor limited by time, resources, confidence, and willfulness. For example, Richard said parole prevents him from being a better father. Willie expressed feeling inadequate when he initially returned to the community but felt he was "getting the hang of it" during his second interview. The evidence of achievement, based on the detailed descriptions of experience given by the fathers, is easily recognized in the steady continuation of involvement with their children. Success, for these African American fathers, is not on the occasion of a positive father-child interaction, or in the ability to apply parental wisdom. It is in achieving a strong lasting bond with children despite their recognition of his flaws. These African American fathers remain a work in progress which simply means there is hope. Hope keeps the African American fathers in this study engaged to realizes a stronger, deeper, and more active relationship with their children.

Limitations of the Study

In this study I used qualitative phenomenological research to capture the lived experiences of formerly incarcerated African American fathers parenting minor children while obligated to community supervision. Qualitative research was best suited to achieve the purposes of this research; however, the procedures of the investigation was time-consuming and required the careful review of findings to discover meaningful results. I conducted this study with nine formerly incarcerated African American fathers on parole supervision with minor children living outside the home. No other ethnic group was represented in this study. The individuals involved identified themselves as male with a natural ability to reproduce. The African American fathers involved in this study experienced an incarceration lasting 3 to 15 years, was not granted early release, and reported convictions non-sexual in nature. I described the accounts of lived experience according to the fathers' retrospective understanding of their own parenting experience. Therefore, the research and its findings are not generalizable.

There was a small number of fathers involved in this study compared to the studies designed in the quantitative tradition. I used the strategy of criterion-based purposeful sampling to petition individuals to voluntarily participate in research and to maintain a small participant sample. The sampling strategy and sample size I used was intentional, necessary, and acceptable for qualitative research to generate information-rich data capable of informing the research question.

Research with formerly incarcerated individuals is challenging because they are deemed a vulnerable population. During the phase of recruitment, 37 individuals expressed an interest to voluntarily participate. A total of nine individuals was found to meet the defined criteria. It was tough securing participants for this study. Several of the 37 individuals who expressed interest in participating verbally rejected the opportunity due to concerns of parole interference. Despite my attempt to assure interested individuals of no connection to their parole officer or community corrections authorities, their rejection was maintained.

I asked the fathers involved in this study to meet me at a public library within their community at a time they determined most convenient. Overall, the public library as a contact location was appropriate and successful. For two of the involved fathers, the public library meeting could not take place due to parole imposed restrictions. An alternative meeting location was decided and each of the fathers completed the interviewing process. A member checking process was conducted with all the fathers. More than one option for receipt and return of the interview transcript was necessary to successfully complete the member checking process.

Finally, the data I generated as a result of the interview encounters was collected, organized, managed, and stored using Microsoft Word and NVivo 11. Use of the NVivo software program required training and practice for me to become familiar enough with the features of the software. I spent a significant amount of time learning the proper use of the software program. On more than one occasion, challenges with learning the effective use of the software led me to duplicate data organization and analysis using Microsoft Word. There are many benefits to using a computer software program for qualitative research. When making the decision to conduct computer assisted research, and the program of choice is unfamiliar, it is wise to factor into the research plan dedicated time to become proficient as a user of the chosen software program.

Recommendations

The findings generated in this study do not represent an exhaustive overview regarding the lived experiences of formerly incarcerated African American fathers obligated to mandatory supervision. There are social and systemic barriers that shape the experience of formerly incarcerated African American fathers in the community that was not particularly a focus in this study. Over the years, scholars and practitioners have reported on the extensive range of challenges confronting the individuals connected to the criminal justice system. The circumstances and consciousness of human existence specifically pertaining to African American men seem to be overshadowed by broad generalizations and the need to cater to a wide range of ethnic groups. Based on the findings generated by this study, my recommendations for future research is necessary. First, there is a need to continue the work of understanding the lived experience of formerly incarcerated African American fathers on parole. The fathers in this study described a dichotomy of experience that involved the presence of fear, sense of failure, and worthlessness. Research should be continued in the qualitative tradition using Afrocentric theoretical and conceptual frameworks which cater to the distinct culture of the African American community.

Second, research should focus on the mental, emotional, and behavioral connections of lived experience in the activities of parenting. Scholars have revealed that African American men shift their behaviors to alleviate tension that potentially arises because of their presence (Franklin & Boyd-Franklin, 200; Slatton & Spates, 2014). Understanding how this is lived through for African American fathers interacting with their children in the community can add to our knowledge of their fathering experience.

Further research should explore the practice of teaching racial discipline to children. Johnson and Stanford (2002) discussed this practice as being unique to the parenting behaviors of African Americans due to the presence of racism, discrimination, and prejudice within the United States. It seems fitting to explore this area by asking, how do African American fathers teach racial discipline in their activities of parenting? What are the messages and lessons children are receiving by their fathers in regards to racial discipline? When are these messages and lessons given to children, and how much time is spent communicating these messages and lessons?

Another area suitable for research is spirituality. The socialization of African Americans in the United States involved cultivation in spiritual consciousness that is believed to be a foundational element within the African American community (DeGruy, 2005; DeSouza, 2014; Rodriguez, 2007). It is reasonable to consider the role of spirituality in the activity of fathering for formerly incarcerated African American fathers. The influence of spirituality or religion was not a major theme in the accounts shared by the formerly incarcerated African American fathers in this study. This area can be explored by simply asking, how does spirituality or religion influence the thoughts, feelings, and behaviors of parenting for formerly incarcerated African American fathers?

This study seems to have attracted fathers who desperately need and want to be part of their children's lives. It may be necessary to consider whether the lived experience of fathering differs with formerly incarcerated African American fathers who do not have

277

a deep-seated desire to be part of the everyday lives of their children. Are there such fathers that exist? If they do exist, what are their intentions toward their children? Why is there an absence of desire for an everyday active relationship?

Finally, this study was conducted with formerly incarcerated African American fathers obligated to parole supervision in the community. Each of the fathers acknowledged having one minor biological child that was not presently residing in their home. Research with formerly incarcerated African American fathers should be expanded to specifically explore lived experience with formerly incarcerated African American fathers whose minor children live in the home, whose minor children are interracial, and whose minor children suffer because of a disability. Further research with formerly incarcerated African American fathers should be conducted with members of the LGBTQ community and should expand beyond the borders of the Kansas City metropolitan area to involve persons living in other regions of the country.

Implications

The criminal justice system is known to have a distressing impact on African American men, and their experience is considered more traumatizing compared to men in other ethnic groups (Dyer, 2005; Dees, & Allen, 2011; Wakefield & Uggen, 2014; Western & Wildeman, 2009). What is known presently is arguably not enough to answer the call of aiding formerly incarcerated African American fathers in efforts of parental involvement. The knowledge gained because of this study offers practitioners an opportunity to develop culturally specific and relevant programs to assist formerly incarcerated African American fathers in parenting. The ordinary, basic parenting training program will not be sufficient in the case of formerly incarcerated African American fathers. Although parenting training may be beneficial, there are other factors to be considered and advocated when working with this population.

A topic of concern expressed by the African American fathers in this study was the need to assure the cooperation of their maternal counterpart. Understanding this issue from the African American fathers' perspective raises an opportunity for practitioners to adapt their parenting program approaches to facilitate efforts toward conflict resolution for fathers and their maternal counterpart. The relationship between fathers and mothers may be strained due to communication problems, long standing disputes, differences in parenting philosophy and style as put forward by this study, which are unrelated to the fathers' criminal justice involvement. The insights gained because of this study gives practitioners cause to move away from practices that work with formerly incarcerated African American fathers in parenting programs absent their maternal counterpart. A solo approach to promoting the involvement of formerly incarcerated African American fathers in the lives of their children is counterproductive to the aim of building a quality relationship with children when there is a history of excessive maternal gatekeeping. Formerly incarcerated African American fathers would experience less mental and emotional distress having a cooperative rapport with the mother of their children that in turn would improve the quality of the father-child relationship.

The formerly incarcerated African American fathers in this study discussed having a range of emotions in relation to their children, having concerns about explaining the reasons for their absence, nurturing positive and healthy development daily, balancing quality time for multiple children, with multiple mothers, in multiple locations, in addition to dealing with child support, parole and other social woes. Although not exhaustive, this study confirms, supports, and gives evidence to an existence of multilevel, multigenerational trauma in the reality of formerly incarcerated African American fathers (DeGruy, 2005; Unnever & Gabbidon, 2011). The insights put forward by this study offers an opportunity to enact social change at the individual and community level. The practitioners in the various professional disciplines that work with formerly incarcerated African American fathers can work to connect these fathers with positive men and women in the community that will act as mentor and coach to help navigate and negotiate the challenges of active parenting. The persons acting as coach and mentor can help to constructively resolve the experience of mental and emotional upset. This would enrich community-based approaches that foster healthy functioning for formerly incarcerated African American fathers committed to building lasting relationships with their children. An increase in valuable input by the community to nurture the positive development of formerly incarcerated African American fathers would inspire them to become civically engaged members of the community. Thus, the sense of feeling isolated within the community would decrease for formerly incarcerated African American fathers, and the duty of practitioners working with this population would be shared with an interplay of a multiple of actors including members of the family.

The purpose of conducting this study was to describe the lived experience and the meaning of lived experiences for formerly incarcerated African American fathers

obligated to mandatory community supervision. The findings of this study now add to the knowledge advocates have about the plight of formerly incarcerated African American fathers. It is fitting to believe that the persons advocating for this population recognize that life, liberty, and the pursuit of happiness are not just for some Americans, but for all Americans; even those who have made mistakes. Gustafson (2016) ascertained that "when we defend the vulnerable and the marginalized, we give them a chance to realize their full potential" ("Who Are You Defending," para. 3). With a heightened level of understanding, advocates can plead for and defend the cause to reduce this groups experience of being isolated, marginalized, and demonized within the community. Advocates can lobby on behalf of formerly incarcerated African American fathers for policy incentives and reforms, and a program of exemptions related to parole conditions that pose unwarranted strain at the onset of the reintegration process. With the success of these efforts, the threat of reincarceration for a parole violation is lessened. Formerly incarcerated African American fathers can find a reason to willingly cooperate confidently in the program of community supervision as policy incentives and reforms remain and prove favorable outcomes for this population.

The mission to effect change in society for formerly incarcerated African American fathers can be further developed as advocates increase their awareness with the results of this study. Advocates in conjunction with practitioners and community members can raise awareness about the effects of system imposed barriers and encourage schools, businesses, housing authorities, and merchants to abandon the practices that support their existence. In favor of fathers dedicated to maintaining active parental involvement, advocates can also lobby to impose reasonable consequences against the maternal counterpart for excessive acts that intentionally delay and obstruct the development of the father-child relationship. The perceived gender bias would be replaced by a perceived evenhanded approach to family matters in the justice system. Formerly incarcerated African American fathers would perceive that their parental rights are valued, defended, and supported.

The serious attempt to realize an amendment to Kansas Statute 38-2269, legislation governing the ability to terminate parental rights, may be strengthened by the findings held in this study. It has been made clear by the fathers in this study that the biggest impact on their lives is the quality of relationship with their children. Their quality of life is associated with the quality of relationship they have with their children. The impact of this reality could humanize the socialized opinion held about formerly incarcerated African American fathers influencing the appeal made by advocates working to improve their well-being. Thus, an amendment to Kanas statute 38-2269 could be approved, sending a message that implies public support of formerly incarcerated African American fathers that could extend across the nation. Such a change may inspire other states still holding involuntary parental rights termination laws to move toward amendment.

Reflections and Conclusion

The investigation of lived experiences with formerly incarcerated African American fathers obligated to mandatory supervision offers an opportunity to gain a more meaningful understanding that stretches beyond the issues of access and opportunity. Formerly incarcerated African American fathers are part of a culture that is gravely misunderstood, immersed in a legacy of struggle and pain, but altogether brilliant in having the tenacity, capability, and will to survive. It was a privilege to have the nine formerly incarcerated African American fathers willingly engaged in the process of indepth interviewing. I was both humbled and enlightened by the experience. These nine formerly incarcerated African American fathers openly shared their experiences in a way that signaled an unhindered ease and comfort. The fathers received me as someone having genuine concern and expressed appreciation for me being the voice to tell their life story. As a licensed social worker and scholar-practitioner, I was strengthened by the confidence in my unending drive to serve and empower persons disaffected, marginalized, and demonized because of criminal justice system involvement. My ambition was justified through the work of this study. It is my hope that the public concern for fathering transforms into public action specifically on behalf of formerly incarcerated African American fathers.

African American fathers leaving Kansas state institutions transition back to the community with a conscious awareness of their incarceration experience. They each have unique life stories and seem to view fathering as a battle. The battle is for relationship and not from or because of relationship. Their strategy to combat this battle is also uniquely different. Clearly, the African American fathering experience of the formerly incarcerated persons participating in this study do not fit traditional conceptions of fathering. Traditional prescriptions of fathering are not suitable because of their distinctively different position and status in society, and the richness of their African

American heritage. In many cases, the formerly incarcerated African American fathers of this study formulated new or specially customized conceptions as well as patterns of behavior for fathering. This illustrates a kind of resiliency that needs to be explored further.

The thoughts and feelings toward parenting held by the formerly incarcerated African American fathers in this study are related to the children themselves and was constructed through the experiences of incarceration, reintegration, and fathering. Each father was confronted by numerous obstacles in the process of their transition from the institution to the community, and into the role of father. They questioned their mental, emotional, and physical ability to conquer the challenges faced in life daily. Scholars investigating the obstacles related to the criminal justice system provided evidence about the distressing struggle. Without a doubt, when an obstacle presents itself in the life experience of a person and the expectations for overcoming the obstacle conflict with conscious awareness and resource access of the individual, the capacity to overcome is weakened.

The formerly incarcerated African American fathers fight for survival was confronted carrying a saving grace. An intense desire to have a lasting healthy relationship with their children. These formerly incarcerated African American fathers immediately performed the work of distinguishing themselves as "father" to their children. Amid their community transition, they sought to gain respect, love, and care from their children while meeting the obligations of parole supervision. Timing was considered quite crucial to their effort to win over the hearts of their children. Generally, the time of bonding with children begins at birth and carries through the years of a person's life. For the formerly incarcerated African American fathers in this study, time was of the essence and a time of years was understood to be no longer available. In their estimation, they had only days or weeks to break the ice by making an effective plea to their children.

The formerly incarcerated African American fathers in this study communicated an undying need to be part of the everyday lives of their children. They expressed a desire to mold and shape the very existence, present and future, of their children. Each father struggled to have significant existence in their children's lives. What makes the formerly incarcerated African American fathers in this study unique is that they contrast with formerly incarcerated African American fathers who live with an absence of such an intense desire and willingness for fathering.

Each of the formerly incarcerated African American fathers in this study identified characteristics about themselves they do not like and need to change. With each day, they continue to evolve. The process of their evolution is not forced but intentional. They made effort to determine the traits and qualities within that are not serving themselves best nor is serving their children best. For the sake of illustration, Darrin discussed having a habit of using "filthy" language. When he speaks, the statements tend to be loaded with profanity. As stated by Darrin, the habit of using "filthy" language is part of who he used to be. He recognized that his "old self" comes back every now and then which compels him to address his use of language. Willie discussed having a fear of failure. This fear of failure influenced the decisions he made about his identity and role and interactions with his children. Each of the African American fathers in this study recognized the need to change, want to change, and began a journey toward change. They also accepted that change is not immediate, but occurs over a course of undetermined time because of consistent effort.

The maternal counterpart to the formerly incarcerated African American fathers in this study to some degree played a role in their struggle. Each of them carefully devised a method for dealing with their maternal counterpart in a way that does not sabotage their ability to engage with or be actively involved in the lives of their children. They each seem to believe they have something to prove. Extended and fictive kinship is not the primary focus of their proving; those individuals are secondary. No need to prove anything to their friends; those individuals have the potential to be unfriended. Society is also not the primary focus of their proving; those individuals seemingly don't care. The formerly incarcerated African American fathers in this study hold their children as the center of attention and primary focus of their proving. Being able to present themselves with evidence of being a changed person was plainly expressed by each of the fathers. Incarceration was credited for being a conduit of change. The fathers claimed that incarceration opened their eyes, and in conjunction with parole supervision, has in some way helped them to be a better father.

The men in this study are looking to make a deposit and that deposit is to be made in the lives of their children. They hope to make a deposit that will bloom and evolve to greatly impact the community and the broader world. It is their hope that this deposit will represent a productive, contributing, valuable, significant individual who lived to be an example of what is a "good" person. In their descriptions of experience, the formerly incarcerated African American fathers in this study acknowledged having a marginalized existence in society, and are in a position to live vicariously through the life of their children. The new vision they have for their own lives may not be possible to fully attain, but through their children, they hope what is imparted will manifest advancing their position and status in society.

Simply, the meaning of parenting for the formerly incarcerated African American fathers in this study is about life, purpose, and legacy. Life gives them a sense of being alive and not just existing by breathing day to day. Their active involvement as fathers gives them purpose and meaning for life. The fathers are working to reinvent themselves as men, to transform and rebuild themselves as fathers. They are seeking to establish a legacy for their children that is not in any way akin to their own life history. These fathers come from a position of criminal consciousness and socialization arriving at an awareness that provokes positive change extending beyond their community.

For these formerly incarcerated African American fathers, their lived experience after incarceration was not about trying to establish themselves as a "baller", "gangbanger", or "kingpin", but as responsible men and significant fathers. They have come to understand that their children are an extension of themselves. It is their desire to play an instrumental role in helping their children become better persons, living better lives, before their time of passing. The lived experience of formerly incarcerated African American fathers obligated to parole is an essential matter to understand, and the pursuit of understanding was not an endeavor easy to achieve. There is so much more knowledge to be gained. Despite any complexity of the work necessary to advance greater awareness, the work of learning the parenting experiences for formerly incarcerated African American fathers is necessary to promote their proper inclusion and freedom in society. As put forward by the findings, the formerly incarcerated African American fathers in this study endured internal and external struggles, yet the biggest impact on their life was the quality of relationship had with their children. A deep sense of purpose, value, and worth held their motivation to remain active and committed as fathers.

The knowledge generated by this study now adds to the scope of understanding presently available about the parenting experiences of formerly incarcerated African American fathers obligated to parole supervision. I encourage practitioners in the field serving this population to refrain from working consistent with generic opinions about attitude, needs, and overall capacity for fathering. It is therefore critical that practitioners pursue advances in scholarship to realize pertinent tools, resources, and decisions that reinforce the formerly incarcerated African American fathers' devotion to hold a favorable position within the family unit and in society.

References

- Adamsons, K. (2016, February). Commonalities and diversities of fathering. Overall commentary on fathering. *Encyclopedia of Early Childhood Development*.
 Retrieved from http://www.child-encyclopedia.com/sites/default/files/textes-experts/en/4513/commonalities-and-diversities-of-fathering.-overall-commentary-on-fathering.pdf
- Adamsons, K., & Palkovitz, R. (2014, December). Theorizing about fathering: An introduction to the special issue. *Journal of Family Theory & Review*, 6, 279-281. doi:10.1111/jftr.12053
- Ahalt, C., Binswanger, I. A., Steinman, M., Tulsky, J., & Williams, B. A. (2011).
 Confined to ignorance: The absence of prisoner information from nationally representative health data sets. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 27(2), 160-166. doi:10.1007/s11606-011-1858-7
- Akkerman, S., Admiraal, W., Brekelmans, M., & Oost, H. (2006). Auditing quality of research in social sciences. *Quality & Quantity*, 42(2), 257-274.
 doi:10.1007/s11135-006-9044-4
- Alexander, M. (2012). *The new Jim Crow: Mass incarceration in the age of colorblindness* (Rev. ed.). New York, NY: The New Press.
- Altman, S. (1997). *The encyclopedia of African-American heritage*. New York, NY: Facts on File.
- Andrews, T. (2012). What is social constructionism. *Grounded Theory Review*, *11*(1), 39-46. Retrieved from http://groundedtheoryreview.com/2012/06/01/what-is-social-

constructionism/

- Anfara, V. A., & Mertz, N. T. (2015). *Theoretical frameworks in qualitative research* (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Arat, Z. F. (2006). *Contemporary world issues: Human rights worldwide*. Santa Barbara, CA: ABC-CLIO.
- Archibald, J. (2015, June 25). So the confederate flag has come down. What the heck do we do now? *Alabama Media Group*. Retrieved from http://www.al.com/opinion index.ssf/2015/06/so_the_confederate_flag_is_dow.html
- Arditti, J. A., Smock, S. A., & Parkman, T. S. (2005, Fall). "It's been hard to be a father":
 A qualitative exploration of incarcerated fatherhood. *Fathering*, *3*(3), 267-288.
 doi:10.3149/fth.0303.267
- Ashbourne, L. M., Daly, K. J., & Brown, J. L. (2011, Winter). Responsiveness in fatherchild relationships: The experience of fathers. *Fathering*, 9(1), 69-86. doi:10.3149/fth.0901.69
- Audi, R. (Ed.). (1995). The Cambridge dictionary of philosophy. New York, NY: Cambridge University.
- Baillargeon, J., & Hoge, S. K. (2010, September). Addressing the challenge of community reentry among released inmates with serious mental illness. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 46, 361-375. doi:10.1007/s10464-010-9345-6
- Baillargeon, J., Penn, J. V., Thomas, C. R., Temple, J. R., Baillargeon, G., & Murray, O.
 J. (2009). Psychiatric disorders and suicide in the nation's largest state prison
 system. *Journal of the American Academy of Psychiatry and the Law*, 37, 188-

193. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/publication/26300549

- Balkin, J. M., & Levinson, S. (2012). Panel I: Thirteenth Amendment in context -The dangerous Thirteenth Amendment. *Columbia Law Review*, 112, 1459-1500.
 Retrieved from http://digitalcommons.law.yale.edu/cgi
- Banks-Wallace, J. (2002, March). Talk that talk: Storytelling and analysis rooted in
 African American oral tradition. *Qualitative Health Research*, 12(3), 410-426.
 doi:10.1177/104973202129119892
- Bankston, III, C. L. (Ed.). (2006). African American history. Pasadena, CA: Salem.
- Becker, H., & Dahlke, H. O. (1942, March). Max Scheler's sociology of knowledge. *Philosophy and Phenomenological Research*, 2(3), 310-322. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/2103163?seq

Belenko, S. (2006, January). Assessing released inmates for substance-abuse related service needs. *Crime & Delinquency*, 52(1), 94-113. doi:10.1177/0011128705281755

Bentley, J. P., & Thacker, P. G. (2004, March). The influence of risk and monetary payment on the research participation decision making process. *Journal of Medical Ethics*, 30, 293-298. doi:10.1136/jme.2002.001594

Berg-Nielsen, T. S., Vikan, A., & Dahl, A. A. (2002, October). Parenting related to child and parental psychopathology: A descriptive review of the literature. *Clinical Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 7(4), 529-552. doi:10.1177/1359104502007004006

Berger, P. L., & Luckmann, T. (1966). The social construction of reality: A treatise in the

sociology of knowledge. Garden City, NY: Doubleday & Company.

- Berglund, H. (2007). Researching entrepreneurship as lived experience. In N. H. Ulhoi,
 & J. P. (Eds.), *Handbook of qualitative research methods in entrepreneurship* (pp. 75-93). Edward Elgar, Cheltenham.
- Berkowitz, D., & Marsiglio, W. (2007, May). Gay men: Negotiating procreative, father, and family identities. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 69(2), 366-381 doi:10.1111/j.1741-3737.2007.00371.x
- Berry, K. S. (2014). Exploring the authority of whiteness in education: An autoethnographic journey. In D. E. Lund, & P. R. Carr (Eds.), *Revisiting the great white north? Reframing whiteness, privilege, and identity in education* (2nd ed., pp. 13-26). [Adobe]. Retrieved from www.sensepublishers.com
- Besemer, S., & Farrington, D. P. (2012). Intergenerational transmission of criminal behavior: Conviction trajectories of fathers and their children. *European Journal* of Criminology, 9(2), 120-141.
- Besthorn, F. H. (2002). Radical environmentalism and the ecological self: Rethinking the concept of self-identity for social work practice. *Journal of Progressive Human Services*, 13(1), 53-72. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/publication/233269661
- Beyer, C. (2013). Edmund Husserl. In E. N. Zalta (Ed.), *Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy*. Retrieved from http://plato.stanford.edu
- Binder, G. (2002, June 4). Punishment theory: Moral or political? *Buffalo Criminal Law Review*, 5, 321-372. Retrieved from http://web2.law.buffalo.edu/faculty/binder/

punishmentTheoryMoralPolitical.pdf

- Binswanger, I. A., Nowels, C., Corsi, K. F., Long, J., Booth, R. E., Kutner, J., & Steiner, J. F. (2011). "From the prison door right to the sidewalk, everything went downhill," A qualitative study of the health experiences of recently released inmates. *International Journal of Law and Psychiatry*, *34*, 249-255. doi:10.1016/j.ijlp.2011.07.002
- Binswanger, I. A., Redmond, N., Steiner, J. F., & Hicks, L. S. (2011). Health disparities and the criminal justice system: An agenda for further research and action. *Journal of Urban Health: Bulletin of the New York Academy of Medicine*, 89(1), 98-107. doi:10.1007/s11524-011-9614-1
- Binswanger, I. A., Stern, M. F., Deyo, R. A., Heagerty, P. J., Cheadle, A., Elmore, J. G.,
 & Koepsell, T. D. (2007, January). Release from prison A high risk of death for former inmates. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *356*(2), 157-165.
 doi:10.1056/NEJMsa064115
- Bonner, R. L. (2006). Stressful segregation housing and psychosocial vulnerability in prison suicide ideators. *Suicide and Life-Threatening Behavior*, *36*(2), 250-254. doi:10.1521/suli.2006.36.2.250
- Bonta, J., Rugge, T., Scott, T., Bourgon, G., & Yessine, A. K. (2008). Exploring the black box of community supervision. *Journal of Offender Rehabilitation*, 47(3), 248-270. doi:10.1080/10509670802134085
- Booth, T., & Booth, W. (1993). Parenting with learning difficulties: Lessons for practitioners. *British Journal of Social Work*, 23, 459-480.

doi:10.1093/bjsw/23.5.459

- Borchert, D. M. (Ed.). (2006). *Encyclopedia of philosophy* (2nd ed.). Farmington Hills, MI: Thomson Gale.
- Bowen, G. A. (2005, June). Preparing a qualitative research-based dissertation: Lessons learned. *The Qualitative Report*, 10(2), 208-222. Retrieved from http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol10/iss2/2
- Boyce, C., & Neale, P. (2006, May). Conducting in-depth interviews: A guide for designing and conducting in-depth interviews for evaluation input. *Pathfinder International*. Retrieved from www.cpc.unc.edu
- Branch, K. (2015, July). "A mockery in the name of a barrier": Literacy test debates in the reconstruction-era congress, 1864-1869. *Literacy in Composition Studies*, 3(2), 44-65. Retrieved from http://licsjournal.org/OJS/index.php/LiCS/article/ view/82
- Brisline, R., & Kim, E. (2003). Cultural diversity in people's understanding and uses of time. *Applied Psychology: An International Review*, 52(3), 363-382.
 doi:10.1111/1464-0597.00140
- Brito, T. L. (2013, October). Father behind bars: Rethinking child support policy toward low-income noncustodial fathers and their families. *Iowa Journal of Gender, Race & Justice*, *15*, 617-673. Retrieved from http://ssrn.com/abstract=2338159
- Brodie, K., Paddock, N., Gilliam, C., & Chavez, J. (2014, Spring). Father involvement and child welfare: The voices of men of color. *Journal of Social Work Values and Ethics*, 11(1), 33-41. Retrieved from http://jswve.org/download/2014-1/articles

- Brown, A. K. (2013, October). Cultural perspective on African American culture. International Journal of Education & Literacy Studies, 1(2), 54-68. Retrieved from http://journals.aiac.org.au/index.php/IJELS/article/view/444
- Brown, E. B. (1994). Negotiating and transforming the public sphere: African American political life in the transition from slavery to freedom. *Public Culture*, 7, 107-146. doi:10.1215/08992363-7-1-107
- Brown v. Board of Education. 347 U.S. 483 (1954).
- Brownson, C., & Gilbert, L. A. (2002). The development of the discourses about fathers inventory: Measuring fathers' perceptions of their exposure to discourses. *Psychology of Men & Masculinity*, 3(2), 85-96. doi:10.1037//1524-9220.3.2.85
- Bryan, A., Robbins, R. N., Ruiz, M. S., & O'Neill, D. (2006, April). Effectiveness of an HIV prevention intervention in prison among African Americans, Hispanics, and Caucasians. *Health Education & Behavior*, *33*(2), 154-177.

doi:10.1177/1090198105277336

- Burch, R. (1989). On phenomenology and its practices. *Phenomenology* + *Pedagogy*, 7, 187-217. Retrieved from http://www.phenomenologyonline.com
- Burghes, L. (1991). Supporting our children: Family impact of child maintenance.London: Family Policy Studies Centre.
- Burr, V. (2015). Social constructionism (3rd ed.). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Cabrera, N. J., Tamis-LeMonda, C. S., Bradley, R. H., Hofferth, S., & Lamb, M. E.
 (2000, January/February). Fatherhood in the twenty-first century. *Child Development*, 71(1), 127-136. doi:10.1111/1467-8624.00126

- Cadue, C. (2013). Parole services. Retrieved October 25, 2016, from http://www.doc.ks.gov/cfs/parole-services
- Caldwell, C. H., Rafferty, J., Reischl, T. M., De Loney, E. H., & Brooks, C. L. (2010).
 Enhancing parenting skills among nonresident African American fathers as a strategy for preventing youth risky behaviors. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 45, 17-35. doi:10.1007/s10464-009-9290-4
- Cammett, A. (2006, Summer). Expanding collateral sanctions: The hidden costs of aggressive child support enforcement against incarcerated parents. Georgetown Journal on Poverty Law & Policy, XIII(2), 313-339.
- Carlson, M. J. (2006, February). Family structure, father involvement, and adolescent behavioral outcomes. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 68, 137-154.
 doi:10.1111/j.1741-3737.2006.00239.x
- Carson, E. A. (2014, September). *Prisoners in 2013* (NCJ 247282). Retrieved from www.bjs.org
- Carson, E. A., & Golinelli, D. (2013). *Prisoners in 2012: Trends in admissions and releases, 1991-2012* (NCJ 243920). Retrieved from www.bjs.gov
- Carter, C. S. (1997). Using African-centered principles in family-preservation services. *Families in Society*, 78(5), 531-538. doi:10.1606/1044-3894.823
- Carter, P. L. (2008, August). Coloured places and pigmented holidays: Racialized leisure travel. *Tourism Geographies*, *10*(3), 265-284. doi:10.1080/14616680802236287
- Castillo, J. T., & Sarver, C. M. (2012). Nonresident fathers' social networks: The relationship between social support and father involvement. *Personal*

Relationships, 19, 759-774. doi:10.1111/j.1475-6811.2011.01391.x

- Caverley, S. J. (2006, October). Older mentally ill inmates: A descriptive study. *Journal* of Correctional Health Care, 12(4), 262-268. doi:10.1177/1078345806295546
- Cawthon, E., & Sgueglia, K. (2013, September 4). Black boss's n-word rant to black employee costs him, nonprofit \$280,000. *CNN* . Retrieved from www.cnn.com
- Chan, S. W., Levy, V., Chung, T. K., & Lee, D. (2002, September). A qualitative study of the experiences of a group of Hong Kong Chinese women diagnosed with postnatal depression. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, *39*(6), 571-579. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2648.2002.02326.x
- Charles, E. P., & Sommer, R. (2012). Ecological psychology. Encyclopedia of Human Behavior (2nd ed.). doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-375000-6.00142-7
- Child Welfare Information Gateway. (n.d.). Adoption and safe families act of 1997 P.L. 105-89. Retrieved from https://www.childwelfare.gov
- Cho, J., & Trent, A. (2006). Validity in qualitative research revisited. *Qualitative Research*, 6(3), 319-340. doi:10.1177/1468794106065006
- Christians, C. G., & Carey, J. W. (1989). The logic and aims of qualitative research. In G.
 H. I. Stempel, & B. H. Westley (Eds.), *Research methods in mass communication* (pp. 354-374). Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Cilesiz, S. (2009). Educational computer use in leisure contexts: A phenomenological study of adolescents' experiences at internet cafe's. *American Educational Research Journal*, 46, 232-274. doi:10.3102/0002831208323938

Clark, A. (2006, December). Anonymising research data. NCRM Working Paper. ESRC

National Centre for Research Methods. [Unpublished] Retrieved from http://eprints.ncrm.ac.uk/480/

- Clear, T. R. (2007). Impact of incarceration on community public safety and public health. In R. B. Greifinger (Ed.), *Public health behind bars: From prisons to communities* (pp. 13-24). New York, NY: Springer Science+Business Media.
- Clear, T. R. (2008). The effects of high imprisonment rates on communities. *Crime and Justice*, *37*(1), 97-132. doi:10.1086/522360
- Coates, E. E., & Phares, V. (2013, July). Predictors of paternal involvement among nonresidential, black fathers from low-income neighborhoods. *Psychology of Men & Masculinity*. doi:10.1037/a0032790
- Coleman, M., & Ganong, L. H. (2009, June). Fathering: Paradoxes, contradictions, and dilemmas. In *Handbook of contemporary families: Considering the past, contemplating the future* (pp. 224-244). doi:10.4135/9781412976022
- Coles, R. I. (2009). *The best kept secret: Single black fathers*. Lanham, MD: Rowman & Littlefield.
- Coles, R. L. (2001, Summer). The parenting roles and goals of single black full-time fathers. *The Western Journal of Black Studies*, 25(2), 101-116. Retrieved from http://epublications.marquette.edu
- Conklin, T. A. (2011, September). Discovering and following one's calling. *Journal of Management Inquiry*, 21(3), 298-317. doi:10.1177/1056492611414426
- Coombs, N. (2013). *The black experience in America: The immigrant heritage of America*. [Kindle]. Retrieved from www.amazon.com

- Corbie-Smith, G., Thomas, S. B., Williams, M. V., & Moody-Ayers, S. (1999). Attitudes and beliefs of African Americans toward participation in medical research. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, *14*, 537-546. doi:10.1046/j.1525-1497.1999.07048.x
- Corbin, J., & Strauss, A. (2015). *Basics of qualitative research: Techniques and* procedures for developing grounded theory (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Coward, D. D. (1990). The lived experience of self transcendence in women with advanced breast cancer. *Nursing Science Quarterly*, *3*, 162-169. doi:10.1177/089431849000300408
- Crain, W. (2011). *Theories of development: Concepts and applications* (6th ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Education.
- Creswell, J. W. (2013). *Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Creswell, J. W. (2014). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches* (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Creswell, J. W., & Miller, D. L. (2000, Summer). Determining validity in qualitative inquiry. *Theory Into Practice*, *39*(3), 124-130. doi:10.1207/s15430421tip3903_2
- Crowley, J. E. (2009). Taking custody of motherhood: Fathers' rights activists and the politics of parenting. *Women's Studies Quarterly*, 37(2), 223-240. doi:10.1353/wsq.0.0167
- Cuddeback, G. S., Scheyett, A., Pettus-Davis, C., & Morrissey, J. P. (2010, January). General medical problems of incarcerated persons with severe and persistent

mental illness: A population-based study. *Psychiatric Services*, *61*(1), 45-49. doi:10.1176/ps.2010.61.1.45

- Cunliffe, A. L. (2003). Reflexive inquiry in organizational research: Questions and possibilities. *Human Relations*, 56(8), 983-1003.
 doi:10.1177/00187267030568004
- Cutcliffe, J. R., & McKenna, H. P. (1999). Establishing the credibility of qualitative research findings: the plot thickens. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, *30*(2), 374-380. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2648.1999.01090.x
- Cutcliffe, J. R., & McKenna, H. P. (2004, January). Expert qualitative researchers and the use of audit trails. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 45(2), 126-135.
 doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2648.2003.02874.x
- Dahlberg, K. (2006). The essence of essences the search for meaning structures in phenomenological analysis of lifeworld phenomena. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies on Health and Well-being*, 1, 11-19.
 doi:10.1080/17482620500478405
- Dailey Jr., L. (2001). Reentry: Prospects for postrelease success. In D. Sabo, T. A.Kupers, & W. London (Eds.), *Prison masculinities* (pp. 255-264). Philadelphia, PA: Temple University.
- Darity, W. A., & Turner, C. B. (1972). Family planning, race consciousness and the fear of race genocide. *American Journal of Public Health*, 62(11), 1454-1459.
 doi:10.2105/AJPH.62.11.1454

Davis-Kean, P.E., & Tang, S. (2015). Parenting with digital devices. Emerging Trends in

the Social and Behavioral Sciences: An Interdisciplinary, Searchable, and Linkable Resource, 1-12. doi:10.1002/9781118900772.etrds0240

- Day, R. D., & Lamb, M. E. (2004). Conceptualizing and measuring father involvement:
 Pathways, problems, and progress. In *Conceptualizing and measuring father involvement* (pp. 1-14). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Degler, C. N. (1959, October). Slavery and the genesis of american race prejudice. *Comparative Studies in Society and History*, 2(1), 49-66.

doi:10.1017/S0010417500000542

- DeGruy, J. (2005). *Post traumatic slave syndrome: America's legacy of enduring injury and healing*. Portland, OR: Joy DeGruy.
- Denzin, N. K., & Lincoln, Y. S. (2005). Introduction: The discipline and practice of qualitative research. In N. K. Denzin, & Y. S. Lincoln (Eds.), *The sage handbook* of qualitative research (3rd ed., pp. 1-32). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Denzin, N. K., & Lincoln, Y. S. (Eds.). (2000). Software and qualitative research.
 Handbook of qualitative research (2nd ed., pp. 803-820). Thousand Oaks, CA:
 Sage Publications.
- Denzin, N. K., & Lincoln, Y. S. (Eds.). (2011). *The sage handbook of qualitative research*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Derdeyn, A. P. (1976). Child custody contests in historical perspective. *American Journal* of *Psychiatry*, *133*(12), 1369-1376. doi:10.1176/ajp.133.12.1369
- Descartes, R. (1960). *Meditations on first philosophy* (2nd Rev ed.). L. J. Lafleur (Ed. & Trans.). Indianapolis, IN: Bobbs-Merrill. (Original work published 1641)

- Descartes, R. (1960). *Meditations on first philosophy* (2nd Rev ed.). (L. J. Lafleur, Trans.). Indianapolis, IN: Bobbs-Merrill. (Original work published 1641)
- DeSouza, J. J. (2014). Spirituality and hope as influences on family cohesion among African American men (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from http://scholarworks.waldenu.edu
- Devers, K. J., & Frankel, R. M. (2000). Study design in qualitative research 2: Sampling and data collection strategies. *Education and Health*, 13(2), 263-271. doi:10.1080/13576280050074543
- Dick, G. L. (2011). The changing role of fatherhood: The father as a provider of selfobject functions. *Psychoanalytic Social Work*, *18*, 107-125.
 doi:10.1080/15228878.2011.611786
- Dickson-Swift, V., James, E. L., Kippen, S., & Liamputtong, P. (2007). Doing sensitive research: What challenges do qualitative researchers face? *Qualitative Research*, 7(3), 327-353. doi:10.1177/1468794107078515
- Dill, L. J., Mahaffey, C., Mosley, T., Treadwell, H., Barkwell, F., & Barnhill, S. (2016).
 "I want a second chance": Experiences of African American fathers in reentry. *American Journal of Men's Health*, 10(6), 459-465.
 doi:10.1177/1557988315569593
- Dion, M. R., Silman, T., Strong, D. A., & Santos, B. (2009). Marriage and relationship skills: Education as a way to prepare prisoners for reintegration [Research Brief]. Retrieved from U.S. Department of Health and Human Services website: http://aspe.hhs.gov

- Dishion, T. J., Owen, L. D., & Bullock, B. M. (2004). Like father, like son: Toward a developmental model for the transmission of male deviance across generations. *European Journal of Developmental Psychology*, 1(2), 105-126.
 doi:10.1080/17405620444000094
- Ditton, P. M., & Wilson, D. J. (1999). *Truth in sentencing in state prisons* (NCJ 170032). Retrieved from Office of Justice Programs: http://www.ojp.usdoj.gov/bjs/
- Doherty, W. J., Kouneski, E. F., & Erickson, M. F. (1998, May). Responsible fathering:
 An overview and conceptual framework. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 60(2), 277-292. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/353848
- Dowd, N. E. (2005). Fathers and the supreme court: Founding fathers and nurturing fathers. *Emory Law Journal*, *54*, 1271-1334. Retrieved from http://scholarship.law.ufl.edu/facultypub/646
- Dowd, N. E. (2012). Fatherhood and equality: Reconfiguring masculinities. *Suffolk University Law Review*, *XLV*, 1047-1081. Retrieved from http://scholarship.law.ufl.edu/facultypub/401
- Dowden, A. R., Gunby, J. D., Warren, J. M., & Boston, Q. (2014). A phenomenological analysis of invisibility among African-American males: Implications for clinical practice and client retention. *The Professional Counselor*, 4(1), 58-70. doi:10.15241/ard.4.1.58
- Doyle, O., Clark, T. T., Cryer-Coupet, Q., Nebbitt, V. E., Goldston, D. B., Estroff, S. E., & Magan, I. (2015, February). Unheard voices: African American fathers speak about their parenting practices. *Psychology of Men & Masculinity*, 15.

doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/a0038730

- Doyle, O., Pecukonis, E. V., & Lindsey, M. A. (2013, September). Correlates and consequences of father nurturance in an African American college sample. *Journal of Family Issues*, 1-22. doi:10.1177/0192513X13501665
- Drakich, J. (1989). In search of the better parent: The social construction of ideologies of fatherhood. *The Canadian Journal of Women and the Law*, *3*, 69-87.

Du Bois, W. E. (1899). The philadelphia negro. New York, NY: Schocken.

- Dumont, D. M., Brockmann, B., Dickman, S., Alexander, N., & Rich, J. D. (2012).
 Public health and the epidemic of incarceration. *Annu Rev Public Health*, 33, 325-339. doi:10.1146/annurev-publhealth-031811-124614.
- Dyer, W. J. (2005, Fall). Prison, fathers, and identity: A theory of how incarceration affects men's paternal identity. *Fathering*, 3(3), 201-219.
 doi:10.3149/fth.0303.201
- Edin, K., & Nelson, T. J. (2013). *Doing the best i can: Fatherhood in the inner city*. Los Angeles, CA: University of California.
- Edin, K., Nelson, T. J., & Paranal, R. (2001). Fatherhood and incarceration as potential turning points in the criminal careers of unskilled men. *Institute for Policy Research*. Retrieved from https:///www.researchgate.net/publication/246171509
- Edin, K., Tach, L., & Mincy, R. (2009, January 1). Claiming fatherhood: Race and the dynamics of paternal involvement among unmarried men. *Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 621(1), 149-177.
 doi:10.1177/0002716208325548

- Egan, G., & N.S.W. Parole Board (1995, January). Out but not about: A parole board perspective on community corrections. Brisbane: Conference on Community Corrections in the 21st Century. Retrieved from http://hdl.handle.net/10627/170
- Eggebeen, D. J., & Knoester, C. (2001, May). Does fatherhood matter for men? *Journal* of Marriage and Family, 63(2), 381-393. doi: 10.1111/j.1741-3737.2001.00381.x
- Embree, L. (2001, April). The continuation of phenomenology: A fifth period? *The Indo-Pacific Journal of Phenomenology*, *1*(1), 1-7. Retrieved from http://www.ipjp.org
- Englander, M. (2012). The interview: Data collection in descriptive phenomenological human scientific research. *Journal of Phenomenological Psychology*, 43, 13-35. doi:10.1163/156916212X632943
- Evans, D. N. (2014). The debt penalty: Exposing the financial barriers to offender reintegration. New York, NY: Research & Evaluation Center, John Jay College of Criminal Justice, City University of New York.
- Eversley, M. (2015, June 19). 9 dead in shooting at black church in Charleston, S.C. Retrieved from

http://www.usatoday.com/story/news/nation/2015/06/17/charleston-southcarolina-shooting/28902017/

- Fagan, J., & Stevenson, H. C. (2002, July). An experimental study of an empowermentbased intervention for African American head start fathers. *Family Relations*, 51(3), 191-198.
- Fairclough, A. (2000, June). "Being in the field of education and also being a negro...seems...tragic": Black teachers in the Jim Crow south. *The Journal of*

American History, 87(1), 65-91.

- Fass, P. S. (Ed.). (2004). Encyclopedia of children and childhood in history and society. New York, NY: Macmillan Reference.
- Fazel, S., & Benning, R. (2006, January). Natural deaths in male prisoners: A 20 year mortality study. *European Journal of Public Health*, *16*(4), 441-444.
 doi:10.1093/eurpub/cki223
- Fazel, S., & Billargeon, J. (2010). The health of prisoners. *The Lancet*, 377, 956-965. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(10)61053-7
- Feagin, J. R. (2014). Racist america: Roots, current realities, and future reparations (3rd ed.). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Ferguson, P. M., & Young, T. A. (1995). Kwanzaa: A holiday of principles. *Reading Horizons*, 35(5), 442-456. Retrieved from

http://scholarworks.wmich.edu/reading horizons

- Few, A. L., Stephens, D. P., & Rouse-Arnett, M. (2003). Sister-to-sister talk:
 Transcending boundaries and challenges in qualitative research with black
 women. *Family Relations*, 52(3), 205-215. doi:10.1111/j.1741-3729.2003.00205.x
- Finkelman, P. (Ed.). (2009). Encyclopedia of African American history 1896 to the present: From the age of segregation to the twenty-first century. New York, NY: Oxford University.
- Finlay, L. (2009). Debating phenomenological research methods. *Phenomenology & Practice*, 3(1), 6-25. Retrieved from

https://www.scribd.com/document/132960351/Phenomenology-Practice

- Finlay, L. (2012). Unfolding the phenomenological research process: Iterative stages of "seeing afresh". *Journal of Humanistic Psychology*, 53(2), 172-201. doi:10.1177/0022167812453877
- Flanagan, T. J. (1980). Time served and institutional misconduct: Patterns of involvement in disciplinary infractions among long-term and short-term inmates. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, 8, 357-367. doi:10.1016/0047-2352(80)90111-7
- Flick, U. (2014). *An introduction to qualitative research* (5th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Flick, U., Von Kardorff, E., & Steinke, I. (Eds.). (2004). A companion to qualitative research. (B. Jenner, Trans.). London: Sage. (Original work published 2000)
- Forste, R. (2002, July). Where are all the men? A conceptual analysis of the role of men in family formation. *Journal of Family Issues*, 23(5), 579-600. doi:10.1177/0192513X02023005001
- Forste, R., Bartkowski, J. P., & Jackson, R. A. (2009, Winter). "Just be there for them": Perceptions of fathering among single, low-income men. *Fathering*, 7(1), 46-69. doi:10.3149/fth.0701.49
- Fossey, E., Harvey, C., McDermott, F., & Davidson, L. (2002). Understanding and evaluating qualitative research. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 36, 717-732. doi:10.1046/j.1440-1614.2002.01100.x
- Foucault, M. (1977). Discipline and punish: The birth of the prison (A. Sheridan, Trans.). New York, NY: Random House.

Franke, K. M. (1999). Becoming a citizen: Reconstruction era regulation of African

American marriages. *Yale Journal of Law & the Humanities*, *11*(2), 251-309. Retrieved from http://digitalcommons.law.yale.edu/yjlh/vol11/iss2/2

- Frankfort-Nachmias, C., & Nachmias, D. (2008). *Research methods in the social sciences* (7th ed.). New York, NY: Worth.
- Franklin, A. J., & Boyd-Franklin, N. (2000, January). Invisibility syndrome: A clinical model of the effects of racism on African-American males. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 70(1), 33-41.
- Franklin, D. L., & James, A. D. (2015). Ensuring inequality: The structural transformation of the African American family. New York, NY: Oxford University.
- Freeman, R. B., & Waldfogel, J. (1998). Dunning delinquent dads: The effects of child support enforcement on child support receipt by never married women (No. w6664). Cambridge, MA: National Bureau of Economic Research.
- Furstenberg Jr, F. F., & Harris, K. (1993). When and why fathers matter: Impacts of father involvement on the children of adolescent mothers. In R. Lerman, & T. Ooms, *Young unwed fathers: Changing roles and emerging policies* (pp. 150-176). Philadelphia, PA: Temple University.
- Galletta, A. (2013). *Mastering the semi-structured interview and beyond: From research design to analysis and publication*. New York, NY: New York University.
- Galvan, F. H., Davis, E. M., Banks, D., & Bing, E. G. (2008). HIV stigma and social support among African American. AIDS Patient Care and STDs, 22(5), 423-436. doi:10.1089/apc.2007.0169

Garasky, S., Stewart, S. D., Gundersen, C., & Lohman, B. J. (2010). Toward a fuller understanding of nonresident father involvement: An examination of child support, in-kind support, and visitation. *Population Research & Policy Review*, 29, 363-393. doi:10.1007/s11113-009-9148-3

Gardner, D. S., Tuchman, E., & Hawkins, R. (2010, Winter). A cross-curricular, problem-based project to promote understanding of poverty in urban communities. *Journal of Social Work Education*, 48(1). doi:10.5175/JSWE.2010.200800094

- Geddes, H. (2008, November). Reflections on the role and significance of fathers in relation to emotional development and learning. *British Journal of Guidance & Counseling*, 36(4), 399-409. doi:10.1080/03069880802364544
- Geither, G. J. (2012, April/May). Mentoring4success: Mentoring adult offenders in Kansas. *Corrections Today*, 74(2), 28-32.
- Geller, A., & Curtis, M. A. (2011, July). A sort of homecoming: Incarceration and the housing security of urban men. *Social Science Research*, 40(4), 1196-1213. doi:10.1016/j.ssresearch.2011.03.008
- Geller, A., Garfinkel, I., & Western, B. (2011, February). Paternal incarceration and support for children in fragile families. *Demography*, 48(1), 25-47.
 doi:10.1007/s13524-010-0009-9
- Genty, P. M. (2002). Damage to family relationships as a collateral consequence of parental incarceration. *Fordham Urban Law Journal*, *30*(5). Retrieved from http://ir.lawnet.fordham.edu/ulj

Gergen, K. J. (1985). The social constructionist movement in modern psychology.
 American Psychologist, 40(3), 266-275. (Original work published 1983).
 doi:10.1037/0003-066X.40.3.266

Gergen, K. J. (2001). Social construction in context. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Gergen, K. J., & Hosking, D. M. (2006). If you meet social construction along the road: A dialogue with Buddhism. In M. Kwee, K. J. Gergen, & F. Koshikawa (Eds.), *Horizons in Buddhist psychology* (pp. 299-314). Chagrin Falls, OH: Taos Institute.

- Gibbons, M. M., Woodside, M., Hannon, C., Sweeney, J. R., & Davison, J. (2011, December 23). The lived experience of work and career: Women whose parents lack postsecondary education. *The Career Development Quarterly*, *59*(4), 315-329. doi:10.1002/j.2161-0045.2011.tb00072.x
- Gibson, S., Benson, O., & Brand, S. L. (2012). Talking about suicide: Confidentiality and anonymity in qualitative research. *Nursing Ethics*, 20(1), 18-29. doi:10.1177/0969733012452684
- Gideon, L. (2009, February). What shall I do now? Released offenders' expectations for supervision upon release. *International Journal of offender Therapy and Comparative Criminology*, 53(1), 43-56. doi:10.1177/0306624X07309753
- Gillis, J. R. (2000). Marginalization of fatherhood in western countries. *Childhood*, 7(2), 225-238. doi:10.1177/0907568200007002007
- Ginther, M. A. (2015). The cult of quality: White eugenics and black responses in the united states, 1900-1934. USURJ: University of Saskatchewan Undergraduate

Research Journal, 1(2). Retrieved from http://hdl.handle.net/10515/sy5vt1h64

- Giorgi, A. (2006). Difficulties encountered in the application of the phenomenological method in the social sciences. *Análise Psicológica*, 24(3), 353-361.
 doi:10.14417/ap.175
- Given, L., & Saumure, K. (2008). Trustworthiness. In L. M. Given (Ed.), *The sage encyclopedia of qualitative research methods* (pp. 896-897). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Glaze, L. E., & Maruschak, L. M. (2010). Parents in prison and their minor children (NCJ 222984). Retrieved from Bureau of Justice Statistics: www.bjs.gov
- Glaze, L. E., & Parks, E. (2012). Correctional populations in the united states, 2011 (NCJ 239972). Retrieved from Bureau of Justice Statistics: http://www.bjs.gov
- Goff, P. A., Williams, M. J., Eberhardt, J. L., & Jackson, M. C. (2008). Not yet human: Implicit knowledge, historical dehumanization, and contemporary consequences. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 94(2), 292-306. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.94.2.292
- Golembeski, C., & Fullilove, R. (2005). Criminal (in)justice in the city and its associated health consequences. *American Journal of Public Health*, 95, 1701-1706. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2005.063768)
- Gordon, B. L. (2011). What brings people to leadership roles: A phenomenological study of beef industry leaders (Doctoral dissertation, University of Nebraska-Lincoln).
 Retrieved from http://digitalcommons.unl.edu

Gordon, T. V., Nichter, M., & Henriksen, R. C. (2012). Raising black males from a black

father's perspective: A phenomenological study. *The Family Journal*, 21(2), 154-161. doi:10.1177/1066480712466541

- Gray, D. E. (2013). *Doing research in the real world* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Greifinger, R. B. (2007). Thirty years since estelle v. gamble: Looking forward, not wayward. In R. B. Greifinger (Ed.), *Public health behind bars: From prisons to communities* (pp. 1-12). New York, NY: Springer Science+Business Media.
- Griswold, E. A., & Pearson, J. (2005, July). Turning offenders into responsible parents and child support payers. *Family Court Review*, 43(3), 358-371. doi:10.1111/j.1744-1617.2005.00039.x
- Griswold, R. L. (1993). Fatherhood in america: A history. New York, NY: Basic Books.

Groenewald, T. (2004, March). A phenomenological research design illustrated.
 International Journal of Qualitative Methods, 3(1), 42-55.
 doi:10.1177/160940690400300104

- Guba, E. G. (1981, Summer). Criteria for assessing the trustworthiness of naturalistic inquiries. *ECTJ*, *29*(2), 75-91. doi:10.1007/BF02766777
- Gustafson, T. (2016, August). *Who are you defending?* Grand Rapids, MI: Our Daily Bread Ministries.
- Haas, L., & O'Brien, M. (2010, Fall). New observations on how fathers work and care: Introduction to the special issue-Men, work and parenting - Part I. *Fathering*, 8(3), 271-275. doi:10.3149/fth.0803.271

Haile, J. (2015, May). Americas disappeared black men. The Sentencing Project.

Retrieved from http://www.sentencingproject.org/news/americas-disappearedblack-men/

- Hall, J. R. (1988). Collective welfare as resource mobilization in peoples temple: A case study of a poor people's religious social movement. *Sociological Analysis*, 49(Special Issue), 64S-77S. doi:10.2307/3711144
- Hamer, J. F. (1997). The fathers of "fatherless" black children. *Families in Society: The Journal of Contemporary Social Services*, 78(6), 564-578.
 doi:10.1606/1044-3894.3387
- Hammer, M. R., Bennett, M. J., & Wiseman, R. (2003). Measuring intercultural sensitivity: The intercultural development inventory. *International Journal of Intercultural Relations*, 27, 421-443. doi:10.1016/S0147-1767(03)00032-4
- Hammett, T. M. (2006, June). HIV/AIDS and other infectious diseases among correctional inmates: Transmission, burden, and an appropriate response. *American Journal of Public Health*, 96(6), 974-978.
 doi:10.2105/AJPH.2005.066993
- Hammett, T. M., Roberts, C., & Kennedy, S. (2001, July). Health-related issues in prisoner reentry. *Crime & Delinquency*, 47(3), 390-409.doi:10.1177/0011128701047003006
- Haney, C. (2012, July). Prison effects in the era of mass incarceration. *The Prison* Journal, XX(X), 1-24. doi:10.1177/0032885512448604
- Hanser, R. D. (2010). Community Corrections. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Harding, D. J., Morenoff, J. D., & Herbert, C. W. (2013, May). Home is hard to find:

Neighborhoods, institutions, and the residential trajectories of returning prisoners. *The ANNALS of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 647, 214-236. doi:10.1177/0002716213477070

Harper, S. R., & Quaye, S. J. (2007, March/April). Student organizations as venues for black identity expression and development among African American male student leaders. *Journal of Student College Development*, 48(2), 127-144. doi:10.1353/csd.2007.0012

- Harris, K., Furstenberg Jr, F. F., & Marmer, J. K. (1998). Paternal involvement with adolescents in intact families: The influence of fathers over the life course. *Demography*, 35(2), 201-216. doi: 10.2307/3004052
- Harris, L. J. (2011). Questioning child support enforcement policy for poor families. *Family Law Quarterly*, 45, 157-161. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/23034387
- Harris, P. M., & Keller, K. S. (2005, February). Ex-offenders need not apply: The criminal background check in hiring decisions. *Journal of Contemporary Criminal Justice*, 21(1), 6-30. doi:10.1177/1043986204271678
- Harrison, B., & Schehr, R. C. (2004). Offenders and post-release jobs: Variables influencing success and failure. *Journal of Offender Rehabilitation*, 39(3), 35-68. doi:10.1300/J076v39n03_03
- Harzke, A. J., Baillargeon, J., Paar, D. P., Pulvino, J., & Murray, O. J. (2009, June).Chronic liver disease mortality among male prison inmates in texas, 1989-2003.*The American Journal of Gastroenterology*, *104*, 1412-1419.

doi:10.1038/ajg.2009.106

- Hatcher, D. L., & Lieberman, H.(2003). Breaking the cycle of defeat for 'deadbroke' noncustodial parents through advocacy on child support issues. *Journal of Poverty Law and Policy*. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/ publication/228262263
- Hauari, H., & Hollingworth, K. (2009). Understanding fathering: Masculinity, diversity and change. York, London: Joseph Rowntree Foundation.
- Havens, D. S., & Vasey, J. (2005, Nov/Dec). The staff nurse decisional involvement scale: Report of psychometric assessment. *Nursing Research*, *54*(6), 376-383.
 Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/publication/5430705
- Hawkins, A. J., Bradford, K. P., Palkovitz, R., Christiansen, S. L., Day, R. D., & Call, V.
 R. (2002, Winter). The inventory of father involvement: A pilot study of a new measure of father involvement. *The Journal of Men's Studies*, *10*(2), 183-196. doi:10.3149/jms.1002.183
- Haynes, S. N., Richard, D. C., & Kubany, E. S. (1995). Content validity in psychological assessment: A functional approach to concepts and methods. *Psychological Assessment*, 7(3), 238-247. doi:10.1037/1040-3590.7.3.238
- Head, E. (2009, September). The ethics and implications of paying participants in qualitative research. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, *12*(4), 335-334. doi:10.1080/13645570802246724
- Heath, R. L. (2007, September). Social construction of reality theory. *Encyclopedia of Public Relations*, 781-784. doi:10.4135/9781412952545

- Henry, J. S., & Jacobs, J. B. (2007, October). Ban the box to promote ex-offender employment. *Criminology & Public Policy*, 6(4), 755-761. doi:10.1111/j.1745-9133.2007.00470.x
- Herman-Stahl, M., Kan, M. L., & McKay, T. (2008). Incarceration and family: A review of research and promising approaches for serving fathers and families. Retrieved from U.S. Department of Health and Human Services website: http://aspe.hhs.org
- Hirsch, A. E., Dietrich, S. M., Landau, R., Schneider, P. D., & Ackelsberg, I. (2002). *Every door closed: Barriers facing parents with criminal records*. Philadelphia,
 PA: Community Legal Services.
- Hoffman, L. (1990, March). Constructing realities: An art of lenses. *Family Process*, 29(1), 1-12. doi:10.1111/j.1545-5300.1990.00001.x
- Hoghughi, M. (2009). Parenting An introduction. In M. Hoghughi, & N. Long, Handbook of parenting: Theory and research for practice (pp. 2-19). doi:10.4135/9781848608160.n1
- Hohmann-Marriott, B. E. (2009, July). Father involvement ideals and the union transitions of unmarried parents. *Journal of Family Issues*, *30*(7), 898-920. doi:10.1177/0192513X08327885

Holland, T., H. Clare, I. C., & Mukhopadhyay, T. (2002, May). Prevalence of 'criminal offending' by men and women with intellectual disability and the characteristics of 'offenders': Implications for research and service development. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*, 46(1), 6-20.
doi:10.1046/j.1365-2788.2002.00001.x

Homer A. Plessy v. John H. Ferguson. 163 U.S. 537 (1896)

- Huang, C., Mincy, R. B., & Garfinkel, I. (2005, December). Child support obligations and low-income fathers. *Journal of Marriage & Family*, 67(5), 1213-1225. doi:10.1111/j.1741-3737.2005.00211.x
- Huebner, B. M., & Gustafson, R. (2007). The effect of maternal incarceration on adult offspring involvement in the criminal justice system. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, 35, 283-296. doi:10.1016/j.jcrimjus.2007.03.005
- Hughes, D., & Chen, L. (1997). When and what parents tell children about race: An examination of race-related socialization among african american families. *Applied Developmental Science*, 1(4), 200-214.
 doi:10.1207/s1532480xads0104_4
- Hughes, D., Rodriguez, J., Smith, E. P., Johnson, D. J., Stevenson, H. C., & Spicer, P. (2006). Parents' ethnic-racial socialization practices: A review of research and directions for future study. *Developmental Psychology*, 42(5), 747-770. doi:10.1037/0012-1649.42.5.747
- Hunter, A. G., & Davis, J. E. (1994, September). Hidden voices of black men: The meaning, structure, and complexity of manhood. *Journal of Black Studies*, 25(1), 20-40. doi:10.1177/002193479402500102
- Husserl, E. (1917). *Pure phenomenology: Its method and its field of investigation*. Retrieved from http://www.stanford.edu
- Husserl, E. (1962). *Ideas: General introduction to pure phenomenology*. (W. R. Boyce Gibson, Trans.). London, NY: Collier Macmillan. (Original work published 1913)

- Husserl, E. (1982). Ideas pertaining to a pure phenomenology and to a phenomenological philosophy. First book: General introduction to a pure phenomenology (F. Kersten, Trans.). *Edmund Husserl Collected Works*, *II*. (Original work published 1913). Norwell, MA: Kluwer Academic. doi:10.1007/BF01569209
- Husserl, E. (2003). *Introduction to transcendental phenomenology*. (C. Welch, Trans.). New Brunswick, Canada: Atcost Press. (Original work published 1929)
- Hutchinson, M. K., & Cederbaum, J. A. (2011, February). Talking to daddy's little girl about sex: Daughters' reports of sexual communication and support from fathers. *Journal of Family Issues*, 32(4), 550-572. doi:10.1177/0192513X10384222
- Hycner, R. H. (1985). Some guidelines for the phenomenological analysis of interview data. *Human Studies*, 8, 279-303. doi:10.1007/BF00142995
- Israel, M. (2004, May). Strictly confidential? Integrity and teh disclosure of criminological and socio-legal research. *British Journal of Criminology*, 1-26. doi:10.1093/bjc/azh033
- Ives, J., Draper, H., Pattison, H., & Williams, C. (2008). Becoming a father/refusing fatherhood: An empirical bioethics approach to paternal responsibilities and rights. *Clinical Ethics*, *3*, 75-84. doi:10.1258/ce.2008.008008
- Jacob, S. A., & Furgerson, S. P. (2012). Writing interview protocols and conducting interviews: Tips for students new to the field of qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report*, 17(42), 1-10. Retrieved from http://nsuworks.nova.edu
- Janesick, V. J. (2011). "Stretching" exercises for qualitative researchers (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Jeffries, J. M., Mehghraj, S., & Hairston, C. F. (2001, February). Serving incarcerated and ex-offender fathers and their families: A review of the field. Retrieved from https://www.vera.org/publications/serving-incarcerated-and-ex-offender-fathersand-their-families-a-review-of-the-field

Jim Crow Museum of Racist Memorabilia. (2014). www.ferris.edu/jimcrow

- Johnson, A., & Johnston, E. (2015). Up the years with the bettersons: Gender and parent education in interwar america. *History of Psychology*, 18(3), 252-269. doi:10.1037/a0039521
- Johnson, D. J. (1996). *Father presence matters: A review of the literature* (NCOFF-LR-FP-96-02). Philadelphia, PA: National Center on Fathers and Families.
- Johnson, R. L., & Stanford, P. (2002). Strength for their journey: 5 essential disciplinesAfrican American parents must teach their children and teens. New York, NY:Harlem Moon Broadway.
- Jones, A. (2010). Low-income African-American fathers and their feelings toward fatherhood in their own voices. Retrieved from http://www.umd.edu
- Jones, J., & Mosher, W. D. (2013, December). *Fathers' involvement with their children:* United states, 2006-2010. National Health Statistics Report (Report No. 71).
 Hyattsville, MD: National Center for Health Statistics.
- Jong, Y. O., & Jung, C. K. (2015, June). The development of interview techniques in language studies: Facilitating the researchers' views on interactive encounters. *English Language Teaching*, 8(7), 30-39. doi:10.5539/elt.v8n7p30

Josselson, R. (2013). Interviewing for qualitative inquiry: A rational approach. New

York, NY: The Guilford.

- Kaiser, K. (2009, November). Protecting respondent confidentiality in qualitative research. *Qualitative Health Research*, *19*(11), 1632-1641.doi:10.1177/1049732309350879
- Kalil, A., Ziol-Guest, K. M., & Coley, R. L. (2005, April). Perceptions of father involvement patterns in teenage-mother families: Predictors and links to mothers' psychological adjustment. *Family Relations*, 54(2), 197-211. doi:10.1111/j.0197-6664.2005.00016.x
- Kann, M. E. (2001). Penitence for the privileged: Manhood, race, and penitentiaries in early america. In D. Sabo, T. A. Kupers, & W. London (Eds.), *Prison masculinities* (pp. 21-34). Philadelphia, PA: Temple University.
- Kay, H. H., & Philips, I. (1966, January 1). Poverty and the law of child custody. *California Law Review*, 54, 717-740. doi:10.2307/1602481
- Kelly, J. B. (1994, Spring). The determination of child custody. *The Future of Children-Children and Divorce*, 4(1), 121-142. doi:10.2307/1602481
- Kenemore, T. K., & Roldan, I. (2006). Staying straight: Lessons from ex-offenders. *Clinical Social Work Journal*, 34(1), 5-21. doi: 10.1007/s10615-005-0003-7
- Kerbs, J. J., & Jolley, J. M. (2007, April). Inmate-on-inmate victimization among older male prisoners. *Crime & Delinquency*, 53(2), 187-218. doi:10.1177/0011128706294119
- Kershaw, T. (2001, Winter). African American national leadership: A model for complementarity. Western Journal of Black Studies, 25(4), 211-218. Retrieved

from https://www.questia.com/library/journal/1G1-93086110/african-americannational-leadership-a-model-for

- Ketola, K. (Producer). (2015, June 10). Alabama protecting the back alley. In *Cradle My Heart* [Audio podcast]. Retrieved from www.cradlemyheart.org
- Kici, G., & Westhoff, K. (2004). Evaluation of requirements for the assessment and construction of interview guides in psychological assessment. *European Journal* of Psychological Assessment, 20(2), 83-98. doi:10.1027/1015-5759.20.2.83
- Kim, J. S. (2014, April). A father's race to custody: An argument for multidimensional masculinities for black men. *Berkeley Journal of African-American Law & Policy*, 16(1), 32-63. Retrieved from http://scholarship.law.berkeley.edu
- Kimmel, M. S. (2006). Manhood in america: A cultural history (2nd ed.). New York, NY: Oxford University.
- Klingele, C. (2013, Fall). Rethinking the use of community supervision. Journal of Criminal Law and Criminology, 103(4), 1015-1070. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/43895387
- Kluge, M. A. (2002). Understanding the essence of a physically active lifestyle: A phenomenological study of women 65 and older. *Journal of Aging and Physical Activity*, *10*, 4-27. doi:10.1123/japa.10.1.4
 Koch, T. (1995). Interpretive approaches in nursing research: The influence of

Husserl and Heidegger. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, *21*(5), 827-836. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2648.1995.21050827.x

Koch, T., & Harrington, A. (1998). Reconceptualizing rigour: The case for reflexivity.

Journal of Advanced Nursing, 28(4), 882-890.

doi:10.1046/j.1365-2648.1998.00725.x

Kockelmans, J. J. (Ed.). (1967). *Phenomenology: The philosophy of Edmund Husserl and its interpretation*. Garden City, NY: Doubleday Anchor.

Kolvin, I., Miller, F. J., Fleeting, M., & Kolvin, P. A. (1988). Social and parenting factors affecting criminal offense rates: Findings from the Newcastle thousand family study (1947-1980). *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, *152*, 80-90. doi:10.1192/bjp.152.1.80

- Kowal, S., & O'Connell, D. C. (2004). The transcription of conversations. In U. Flick, E.
 Von Kardorff, & I. Steinke (Eds.), *A companion to qualitative research* (pp. 248-252). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Krampe, E. M. (2009, February). When is the father really there?: A conceptual reformulation of father presence. *Journal of Family Issues*, *30*(7), 875-897. doi:10.1177/0192513X08331008
- Krefting, L. (1991, March). Rigor in qualitative research: The assessment of trustworthiness. *The American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 45(3), 214-222. doi:10.5014/ajot.45.3.214
- Kvale, S. (2007). Ethical issues of interviewing. In S. Kvale (Ed.), *Doing interviews* (pp. 24-33). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- La Vigne, N. G., & Cowan, J. (2005). *Mapping prisoner reentry: An action research guidebook*. Retrieved from Urban Institute Justice Policy Center: www.urban.org

La Vigne, N. G., Naser, R. L., Brooks, L. E., & Castro, J. L. (2005, November).

Examining the effect of incarceration and in-prison family contact on prisoners' family relationships. *Journal of Contemporary Criminal Justice*, *21*(4), 314-335. doi:10.1177/1043986205281727

Larkin Jr., P. J. (2014, Summer). Managing prisons by the numbers: Using the good-time laws and risk-needs assessments to manage the federal prison population.
 Harvard Journal of Law and Public Policy, 37(3), 1-29. Retrieved from https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=2450492

- LaRossa, R. (2007). The culture and conduct of fatherhood in america, 1800 to 1960. Japanese Journal of Family Sociology, 19(2), 87-98. Retrieved from http://sociology.gsu.edu/files/2014/10/LaRossa-JJFS-2007.pdf
- LaSala, M. C. (2003). When interviewing "family": Maximizing the insider advantage in the qualitative study of lesbians and gay men. *Journal of Gay & Lesbian Social Services*, 15(1/2), 15-30. doi:10.1300/J041v15n01_02
- Lamb, M. E., Pleck, J. H., Charnov, E. L., & Levine, J. A. (1987). A biosocial perspective on paternal behavior and involvement. In J. B. Lancaster, J. Altmann, A. S. Rossi, & L. R. Sherrod (Eds.), *Parenting across the life span: Biosocial dimensions* (pp. 111-142). Piscataway, NJ: Transaction.
- Lamb, M. E., & Tamis-Lemonda, C. S. (2004). The role of the father: An introduction. InM. E. Lamb, *The role of the father in child development* (pp. 1-31). Hoboken, NJ:John Wiley & Sons.
- Langeveld, M. J. (1944). What is the meaning of being and having a father?. *Phenomenology* + *Pedagogy*, 5(1), 5-21. Retrieved from

https://journals.library.ualberta.ca/pandp/index.php/pandp/article/view/15036

- Langford, D. R. (2000, January). Developing a safety protocol in qualitative research involving battered women. *Qualitative Health Research*, 10(1), 133-142. doi:10.1177/104973200129118192
- Leap, J. (2015). Project fatherhood: A story of courage and healing in one of America's toughest communities. Boston, MA: Beacon.
- Lee, B. A., Tyler, K. A., & Wright, J. D. (2010, March). The new homelessness revisited. *The Annual Review of Sociology*, 36, 501-521. doi:10.1146/annurev-soc-070308-115940
- Lee, H., Porter, L. C., & Comfort, M. (2014, January). Consequences of family member incarceration: Impacts on civic participation and perceptions of the legitimacy and fairness of government. *The ANNALS of the American Academy of Political and Social* Science, 651, 44-73. doi:10.1177/0002716213502920
- Letiecq, B. L. (2007, Spring). African American fathering in violent neighborhoods:What role does spirituality play? *Fathering*, 5(2), 111-128.doi:10.3149/fth.0502.111
- Letiecq, B. L., & Koblinsky, S. A. (2004, September). Parenting in violent neighborhoods: African American fathers share strategies for keeping children safe. *Journal of Family Issues*, 25(6), 715-734. doi:10.1177/0192513X03259143
- Levy, S. A. (2014). Heritage, history, and identity. *Teachers College Record*, 116(6), 134. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/publication/286915798

Levy-Pounds, N. (2013). Par for the course?: Exploring the impacts of incarceration and

marginalization on poor black men in the U.S. *The Journal of Law in Society*, *14*, 29-63. Retrieved from http://heinonline.org

Lewis Jr, C. E., Garfinkel, I., & Gao, Q. (2007, September). Incarceration and unwed fathers in fragile families. *Journal of Sociology & Social Welfare*, 34(3), 77-94. Retrieved from http://scholarworks.wmich.edu/jssw/vol34/iss3/5

Library of Congress (n.d.). Robert Allen Cole [1868-1911]. Retrieved from www.loc.gov

- Liebson, R. (2012, April 20). Officer shouted racial slur before 2nd cop killed black man. *USA Today*. Retrieved from www.usatoday.com
- Lietz, C. A., & Zayas, L. E. (2010, Fall). Evaluating qualitative research for social work practitioners. *Advances in Social Work*, 11(2), 188-202. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/publication/230613056
- Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. G. (1982). Establishing dependability and confirmability in naturalistic inquiry through an audit. Retrieved from http://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED216019.pdf
- Lindsay, W. R., Taylor, J. L., & Sturmey, P. (Eds.). (2004). *Offenders with developmental disabilities*. West Sussex, England: John Wiley & Sons.
- Listwan, S. J., Cullan, F. T., & Latessa, E. J. (2006). How to prevent prison reentry programs from failing: Insights from evidence-based corrections. *Federal Probation*, 70(3), 19-24. Retrieved from

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/285717014

Livingston, J. N., & Nahimana, C. (2006, Winter). Problem child or problem context: an ecological approach to young black males. *Reclaiming Children and Youth*, *14*(4),

Lock, A., & Strong, T. (2010). Social constructionism: Sources and stirrings in theory and practice. New York, NY: Cambridge University.

Loeber, R., Burke, J. D., Lahey, B. B., Winters, A., & Zera, M. (2000, December).
Oppositional defiant and conduct disorder: A review of the past 10 years, part 1. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 39(12), 1468-1484. doi:10.1097/00004583-200012000-00007

- Long, N. (2004). The changing nature of parenting in America. *Pediatric Dentistry*, 26, 121-124. Retrieved from http://www.aapd.org/assets/1/25/Long-26-02.pdf
- Lopez, K. A., & Willis, D. G. (2004, May). Descriptive versus interpretive phenomenology: Their contributions to nursing knowledge. *Qualitative Health Research*, 14(5), 726-735. doi:10.1177/1049732304263638
- Love, K. (Ed.). (2012). *Studies in qualitative methodology: Ethics in social research* Bingley, WA, UK: Emerald Group
- Luft, S. (2002, January). Husserl's notion of the natural attitude and the shift to transcendental phenomenology. *Philosophy Faculty Research and Publications*, 19. Retrieved from http://epublications.marquette.edu/cgi
- Luther, J. B., Reichert, E. S., Holloway, E. D., Roth, A. M., & Aalsma, M. C. (2011). An exploration of community reentry needs and services for prisoners: A focus on care to limit return to high-risk behavior. *AIDS Patient Care and STDs*, 25(8), 475-481. doi:10.1089/apc.2010.0372

Lynch, J. P., & Sabol, W. J. (2004, March). Assessing the effects of mass incarceration

on informal social control in communities. *Criminology & Public Policy*, *3*(2), 267-294. doi:10.1111/j.1745-9133.2004.tb00042.x

- MacKenzie, D. L., & Goodstein, L. (1985). Long-term incarceration impacts and characteristics of long-term offenders: An empirical analysis. *Criminal Justice* and Behavior, 13, 395-414. doi:10.1177/0093854885012004001
- MacNeil, J. R., Lobato, M. N., & Moore, M. (2005, October). An unanswered health disparity: Tuberculosis among correctional inmates, 1993 through 2003. *American Journal of Public Health*, 95(10), 1800-1805.
 doi:10.2105/AJPH.2004.055442
- Magill, F. N. (Ed.). (1990). *Masterpieces of world philosophy* (1st ed.). New York, NY: Harper Collins.
- Mahar, W. J. (1999). Behind the burnt cork mask: Early blackface ministrelsy and antebellum American popular culture. Champaign, IL: University of Illinois.
- Mallik-Kane, K., & Visher, C. A. (2008). *Health and prisoner reentry: How physical, mental, and substance abuse conditions shape the process of reintegration.*Retrieved from Urban Institute Justice Policy Center: www.urban.org
- Malterud, K. (2001, August). Qualitative research: Standards, challenges, and guidelines. *The Lancet*, 358(9280), 483-488. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(01)05627-6
- Maltz, E. M. (2013). The presidency, the electoral college, and the three-fifths clause. *Rutgers Law Journal*, *43*, 439-470. doi:10.2139/ssrn.1348676
- Mannheim, K. (1936). *Ideology and utopia: An introduction to the sociology of knowledge*. London, England: Routlage & Kegan Paul.

- Mannheim, K. (1952). *Essays on the sociology of knowledge*. P. Kecskemeti (Ed.). New York, NY: Oxford University.
- Marbley, A. F., & Ferguson, R. (2005, May). Responding to prisoner reentry, recidivism, and incarceration of inmates of color: A call to the communities. *Journal of Black Studies*, 35(5), 633-649. doi:10.1177/0021934704270254
- Marlow, E., & Chesla, C. (2009). Prison experiences and the reintegration of male parolees. *ANS Advances in Nursing Science*, *32*(2), 1-13.

doi:10.1097/ANS.0b013e3181a3b36a

- Maron, M. M. (Producer). (2015, June 22). Episode 613- President Barack Obama. In WTF with Marc Maron [Audio podcast]. Retrieved from www.potus.wtfpod.com
- Marsh, M. (1988, June). Suburban men and masculine domesticity, 1870-1915. *American Quarterly*, 40(2), 165-186. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. B. (2015). *Designing qualitative research* (6th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Marshall, M. N. (1996). Sampling for qualitative research. *Family Practice*, *13*(6), 522-525. doi:10.1093/fampra/13.6.522
- Marsiglio, W., Amato, P., Day, R. D., & Lamb, M. E. (2000, September). Scholarship on fatherhood in the 1990s and beyond. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 62, 1173-1191. doi:10.1111/j.1741-3737.2000.01173.x
- Martinez, D. J. (2010). Role accumulation theory and prisoner reintegration: The pursuit of transformative social roles. *Probation Journal*, *57*(2), 139-151. doi:10.1177/0264550510362560

- Martinez, N. (2009). *Reintegrating into society: Challenges and successes encountered by offenders* (Masters thesis). Retrieved from http://media.proquest.com
- Martins, C. A., Pinto de Abreu, W., & Barbieri de Figueiredo, M. (2014). Becoming a father and a mother: A socially constructed role. *Revista de Enfermage m Referencia*, 4, 121-131. doi:10.12707/RIII1394
- Martins, D. C. (2008). Experiences of homeless people in the health care delivery system:
 A descriptive phenomenological study. *Public Health Nursing*, 25(5), 420-430.
 doi:10.1111/j.1525-1446.2008.00726.x
- Maruna, S. (2011). Reentry as a rite of passage. *Punishment & Society*, *13*(1), 3-28. doi:10.1177/1462474510385641
- Maruschak, L. M., & Parks, E. (2012). *Probation and parole in the united states*, 2011 (NCJ 239686). Retrieved from Bureau of Justice Statistics: http://www.bjs.gov
- Marx, K. (1904). A contribution to the critique of political economy (2nd ed.). (N. I.Stone, Trans.). Chicago, IL: Charles H. Kerr. (Original work published 1859)
- Mason, M. (2010, September). Sample size and saturation in phd studies using qualitative interviews. *Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, *11*(3). Retrieved from http://www.qualitative-research.net/index.php/fqs/article/view/1428
- Mason, M. A. (2011, January). The roller coaster of child custody law over the last half century. *Journal of the American Academy of Matrimonial Lawyers*, 24, 451-466. Retrieved from http://www.aaml.org/sites/default/files/Mason.pdf
- Matas, L., Arend, R. A., & Sroufe, L. A. (1978). Continuity of adaptation in the second year: The relationship between quality of attachment and later competence. *Child*

Development, 49, 547-556. doi:10.2307/1128221

- Matsumoto, D., & Juang, L. (2008). *Culture & Psychology* (4th ed.). Belmont, CA: Wadsworth.
- Matsuyama, K., & Prell, L. (2010, August). Education, employment and offender reentry. *Corrections Today*, 72(4), 90-91.
- Maxwell, J. A. (2009). Designing a qualitative study. In L. Bickman, & D. Rg (Eds.), *The sage handbook of applied social research methods* (2nd ed., pp. 214-254).
 Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Maxwell, J. A. (2013). *Qualitative research design: An interactive approach* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- May, R. (2004). The effect of child support and criminal justice systems on low-income noncustodial parents. *Center on Fathers, Families, and Public Policy*. Retrieved from http://www.cffpp.org/publications/Effect%20of%20Child%20Support.pdf
- McAdoo, H. P. (2002). African American parenting. In M. H. Bornstein (Ed.), *Handbook* of parenting: Social conditions and applied parenting (2nd ed., pp. 47-58).
 Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- McBride, B. A., Brown, G. L., Bost, K. K., Shin, N., Vaughn, B., & Korth, B. (2005, July). Paternal identity, maternal gatekeeping, and father involvement. *Family Relations*, 54, 360-372. doi:10.1111/j.1741-3729.2005.00323.x
- McCoy, R. (2011, Fall). African American elders, cultural traditions, and the family reunion. *Generations Journal of the American Society on Aging*, 35(3), 16-21.
 Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/publication/289850384

- McDonald, L., & Holsinger, A. (2010). *Examining offender reentry in the Kansas City metropolitan area: A gaps analysis*. Retrieved from Kansas City Metropolitan Crime Commission: www.kc-crime.org
- McGregor, A., & McConnachie, M. (1995). Social exclusion, urban regeneration and economic reintegration. *Urban Studies*, 32(10), 1587-1600. doi:10.1080/00420989550012249
- McKay, T., Corwin, E., Herman-Stahl, M., Bir, A., Lindquist, C., Smiley-McDonald, H.,
 & Siegel, S. (2010). *The national evaluation of the responsible fatherhood, marriage, and family strengthening grants for incarcerated and re-entering fathers and their partners*. Retrieved from U.S. Department of Health and Human
 Services website: http://aspe.hhs.gov
- McLoyd, V. C. (1998, February). Socioeconomic disadvantage and child development. American Psychologist, 53(2), 185-204. doi:10.1037/0003-066X.53.2.185
- Meho, L. I. (2006). E-mail interviewing in qualitative research: A methodological discussion. Journal of the American Society for Information Science and Technology, 57(10), 1284-1295. doi:10.1002/asi.20416
- Merriam, S. B. (2002). Introduction to qualitative research. In *Qualitative research in practice: Examples for discussion and analysis* (1st ed., pp. 3-17). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Mertens, D. (2014). Ethical use of qualitative data and findings. In U. Flick (Ed.), *The sage handbook of qualitative data analysis* (pp. 510-524). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Meyrick, J. (2006). What is good qualitative research? A first step towards a

comprehensive approach to judging rigour/quality. Journal of Health Psychology,

11(5), 799-808. doi:10.1177/1359105306066643

- Mid-America Regional Council. (2014a). *Kansas city metropolitan statistical area*. Retrieved from www.marc.org
- Mid-America Regional Council. (2014b). *Population estimates for states, counties, and cities*. Retrieved from www.marc.org
- Miles, M. B., Huberman, A. M., & Saldana, J. (2013). *Qualitative data analysis: A methods sourcebook* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Miller, B. L., & Spillane, J. F. (2012). Civil death: An examination of ex-felon disenfranchisement and reintegration. *Punishment & Society*, *14*(4), 402-428. doi:10.1177/1462474512452513
- Milner, C. (2003). Every father is a son: A qualitative study of the meaning fathers give to the experience of fathering (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from http://media.proquest.com
- Mittal, M., & Wieling, E. (2006, July). Training experiences of international doctoral students in marriage and family therapy. *Journal of marital and family therapy*, *32*(3), 369-383. doi:10.1111/j.1752-0606.2006.tb01613.x
- Moen, T. (2006). Reflections on the narrative research approach. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, *5*(4), 56-69. doi:10.1177/160940690600500405
- Moerer-Urdahl, T., & Creswell, J. W. (2004). Using transcendental phenomenology to explore the "ripple effect" in a leadership mentoring program. *International*

Journal of Qualitative Methods, *3*(2), 19-35. Retrieved from http://wiganojs.library.ualberta.ca

Moran, D. (2000). Introduction to phenomenology. New York, NY: Routledge.

- Moran, D. (2008). Husserl's transcendental philosophy and the critique of naturalism. *Continental Philosophy Review*, *41*(4), 401-425. doi:10.1007/s11007-008-9088-3
- Morman, M. T., & Floyd, K. (2002, Fall). A "changing culture of fatherhood": Effects on affectionate communication, closeness, and satisfaction in men's relationships with their fathers and their sons. *Western Journal of Communication*, 66(4), 395-411. doi:10.1080/10570310209374746
- Morman, M. T., & Floyd, K. (2006, Spring). Good fathering: Father and son perceptions of what it means to be a good father. *Fathering*, 4(2), 113-136.doi:10.3149/fth.0402.113
- Morrison, G. M., & Cosden, M. A. (1997, Winter). Risk, resilience, and adjustment of individuals with learning disabilities. *Learning Disability Quarterly*, 20, 43-60. doi:10.2307/1511092
- Morrow, S. L. (2005). Quality and trustworthiness in qualitative research in counseling psychology. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 52(2), 250-260.
 doi:10.1037/0022-0167.52.2.250
- Mottern, R. (2013). Teacher-student relationships in court-mandated adult education: A phenomenological study. *The Qualitative Report*, *18*(13), 1-40. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/publication/288581400

Moustakas, C. (1994). Phenomenological research methods. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

- Moyer, J. W. (2015, March 9). University of oklahoma fraternity closed after racist chant. *Washington Post*. Retrieved from www.washingtonpost.com
- Moynihan, D. P. (1965). *The negro family. The case for national action*. [Digital Archive]. Retrieved from www.dol.gov/oasam/library/digital

Mullings, B. (1999). Insider or outsider, both or neither: Some dilemmas of interviewing in a cross-cultural setting. *GeoForum*, *30*, 337-350. doi:10.1016/S0016-7185(99)00025-1

- Murray, J. (2007). The cycle of punishment: Social exclusion of prisoners and their children. *Criminology & Criminal Justice*, 7(1), 55-81.
 doi:10.1177/1748895807072476
- Murray, J., & Farrington, D. P. (2005). Parental imprisonment: Effects on boy's antisocial behavior and delinquency through the life course. *Journal of Child Psychology & Psychiatry*, 46, 1269-1278.
- Naser, R. L., & La Vigne, N. G. (2006). Family support in the prisoner reentry process: Expectations and realities. *Journal of Offender Rehabilitation*, 43(1), 93-106. doi:10.1300/J076v43n01_05
- Naser, R. L., & Visher, C. A. (2006). Family members' experiences with incarceration and reentry. Western Criminology Review, 7(2), 20-31. Retrieved from http://www.westerncriminology.org/documents/WCR/v07n2/naser.pdf
- Nelson, J. (2004). Everyday self defense for social workers. Retrieved from www.everydayselfdefense.com

Nelson, M., Deess, P., & Allen, C. (2011). The first month out: Post-incarceration

experiences in new york city. *Federal Sentencing Reporter*, 24(1), 72-75. doi:10.1525/fsr.2011.24.1.72

- Nepomnyaschy, L., & Garfinkel, I. (2010). Child support enforcement and fathers' contributions to their nonmarital children. *The Social Service Review*, 84(3), 341-380. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/10.1086/655392
- New Jersey Division of Youth and Family Services v. R.G. and J.G., (069970), A-116-11 N.J. (N.J. 2014).
- Nielsen, J. M., Walden, G., & Kunkel, C. A. (2000, Spring). Gendered heteronormativity: Empirical illustrations in everyday life. *Sociological Quarterly*, 41(2), 283-296.
- Noeske, J. (2012). TB control in prisons. In J. Maddock (Ed.), *Public health- Social and behavioral health* (pp. 433-448). Retrieved from www.intechopen.com
- Novak, W. (2013). Blood over bond? A call to define kansas's requirements for biological fathers to retain parental rights. *Kansas Law Review*, *61*, 1123-153.
 Retrieved from www.law.ku.edu
- Nunez-Neto, B. (2008). Offender reentry: Correctional statistics, reintegration into the community, and recidivism (Order Code RL34287). Washington, DC: Government Printing Office.
- Nunkoosing, K. (2005, May). The problems with interviews. *Qualitative Health Research*, 15(5), 698-706. doi:10.1177/1049732304273903
- Ogden, R. (2008). Privacy. In L. M. Given (Ed.), *The sage encyclopedia of qualitative research methods* (pp. 681-682). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Onwuegbuzie, A. J., & Leech, N. L. (2007, June). Sampling designs in qualitative

research: Making the sampling process more public. *The Qualitative Report*, *12*(2), 238-254. Retrieved from http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol12/iss2/7

- Orb, A., Eisenhauer, L., & Wynaden, D. (2001, March). Ethics in qualitative research. Journal of Nursing Scholarship, 33(1), 93-96. doi:10.1111/j.1547-5069.2001.00093.x
- Ortner, S. B. (1972). Is female to male as nature is to culture?. *Feminist Studies*, 1(2), 5-31. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/3177638
- Osborne, J. W. (1990). Some basic existential-phenomenological research methodology for counsellors. *Canadian Journal of Counselling*, 24(2), 79-91. Retrieved from http://cjcp.journalhosting.ucalgary.ca/cjc/index.php/rcc/article/view/1178
- Ostermann, M. (2013). Active supervision and its impact upon parolee recidivism rates. *Crime & Delinquency*, *59*(4), 487-509. doi:10.1177/0011128712470680
- O'Donnell, R. J. (2010, April). A second chance for children and families: A model statute to reinstate parental rights after termination. *Family Court Review*, 48(2), 362-379. doi:10.1111/j.1744-1617.2010.01315.x
- Pager, D. (2003, March). The mark of a criminal record. American Journal of Sociology, 108(5), 937-975. Retrieved from

http://scholar.harvard.edu/pager/publications/mark-criminal-record

- Pager, D. (2007). Marked: Race, crime, and finding work in an era of mass incarceration. Chicago, IL: The University of Chicago.
- Pager, D., & Quillian, L. (2005, June). Walking the talk? What employers say versus what they do. *American Sociological Review*, 70, 355-380.

doi:10.1177/000312240507000301

- Palkovitz, R. (1997). Reconstructing "involvement": Expanding conceptualizations of men's caring in contemporary families. In J. Hawkins, & D. C. Dollahite, *Generative fathering: Beyond deficit perspectives*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Paparozzi, M. A., & Guy, R. (2009). The giant that never woke: Parole authorities as the lynchpin to evidence-based practices and prisoner reentry. *Journal of Contemporary Criminal Justice*, 25(4), 397-411. doi:10.1177/1043986209344561
- Paterson, B. L., Gregory, D., & Thorne, S. (1999, March). A protocol for researcher safety. *Qualitative Health Research*, 9(2), 259-269. doi:10.1177/104973299129121820
- Patterson, G. R., & Stouthamer-Loeber, M. (1984, August). The correlation of family management practices and delinquency. *Child Development*, 55(4), 1299-1307. doi:10.2307/1129999
- Patton, M. Q. (2015). *Qualitative research & evaluation methods* (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Pearson, J. (2004, Winter). Building debt while doing time: child support and incarceration. *Judges' Journal*, 43(1), 5-12. Retrieved from https://csgjusticecenter.org/wp-content/uploads/2007/09/Building-Debt-While-Doing-Time-Child-Support-and-Incarceration.pdf
- Pearson, J., & Davis, L. (2003, July). Serving fathers who leave prison. *Family Court Review*, 41(3), 307-320. doi:10.1177/1531244503041003004
- Pearson, J., & Griswold, E. A. (2005, July). Lessons from four projects dealing with

incarceration and child support. *Corrections Today*, 67(4), 92-95,102.

- Perry, A. R., & Bright, M. (2012). African American fathers and incarceration: Paternal involvement and child outcomes. *Social Work in Public Health*, 27, 187-203. doi:10.1080/19371918.2011.629856
- Petersilia, J. (1999). Parole and prisoner reentry in the united states. *Crime and Justice*, 26, 479-529. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/1147691
- Petersilia, J. (2005, April). Hard time: Ex-offenders returning home after prison. *Corrections Today*, 67(2), 66-71.
- Peterson, B., Fontaine, J., Kurs, E., & Cramer, L. (2015, June). Children of incarcerated parents framework document: Promising practices, challenges, and recommendations for the field. Retrieved from Urban Institute Justice Policy Center: www.urban.org
- Petty, N. J., Thomson, O. P., & Stew, G. (2012, March). Ready for a paradigm shift? Part
 2: Introducing qualitative research methodologies and methods. *Manual Therapy*, *17*, 378-384. doi:10.1016/j.math.2012.03.004
- Piazza, J., & Bering, J. M. (2008). The effects of perceived anonymity on altruistic punishment. *Evolutionary Psychology*, 6(3), 487-501. doi:10.1177/147470490800600314
- Piehl, A. M. (2009). Preparing prisoners for employment: The power of small rewards. Civic Report No. 57. *Center for Civic Innovation*. Retrieved from http://hdl.voced.edu.au/10707/42781
- Pieterse, A. L., & Carter, R. T. (2007). An examination of the relationship between

general life stress, racism-related stress, and psychological health among black men. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, *54*(1), 101-109. doi:10.1037/0022-0167.54.1.101

Pilgrim, D. (2012). The coon caricature. Retrieved from www.ferris.edu

Pleck, E. (2001, Summer). Kwanzaa: The making of a black nationalist tradition, 1966-1990. Journal of American Ethnic History, 20(4), 3-28. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/27502744

- Plous, S., & Williams, T. (1995). Racial stereotypes from the days of American slavery: A continuing legacy. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 25(9), 795-817. doi:10.1111/j.1559-1816.1995.tb01776.x
- Porporino, F. J., & Robinson, D. (1992). Can educating adult offenders counteract recidivism? (Research Report No. R-22). Retrieved from Correctional Service Canada: http://www.csc-scc.gc.ca
- Premberg, A., & Lundgren, I. (2006, Spring). Fathers' experiences of childbirth education. *Journal of Perinatal Education*, 15(2), 21-28. doi:10.1624/105812406X107780
- Pretorius, H. G., & Hull, R. M. (2005, December). The experience of male rape in noninstitutionalized settings. *Indo-Pacific Journal of Phenomenology*, 5(2), 1-11. doi:10.1080/20797222.2005.11433902
- Public Broadcasting Service. (2005). *Slavery and the making of America*. Retrieved from www.pbs.org

Puckering, C. (2009). Parenting in social and economic adversity. In M. Hoghughi, & N.

Long (Eds.), *Handbook of parenting: Theory and research for practice* (pp. 38-55). doi:10.4135/9781848608160.n3

- Qu, S. Q., & Dumay, J. (2011). The qualitative research interview. *Qualitative Research in Accounting & Management*, 8(3), 238-264. doi:10.1108/11766091111162070
- Quaker Council for European Affairs. (2011). *The social reintegration of ex-prisoners: In council of europe member states*. Retrieved from http://www.cepprobation.org
- Rakt, M. V., Murray, J., & Nieuwbeerta, P. (2012). The long-term effects of paternal imprisonment on criminal trajectories of children. *Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency*, 49(1), 81-108. doi:10.1177/0022427810393018
- Ramirez-Barrett, J., Ruhland, E., Whitham, H., Sanford, D., Johnson, T., & Dailey, R.
 (2006, March). The collateral effects of incarceration on fathers, families, and communities (Research Report). Retrieved from http://crimeandjustice.org/rdi/htdocs/reports_collateral.php
- Ratele, K., Shefer, T., & Clowes, L. (2012). Talking south african fathers: A critical examination of men's constructions and experiences of fatherhood and fatherlessness. *South African Journal of Psychology*, 42(4), 553-563. Retrieved from http://hdl.handle.net/10520/EJC128245
- Reid, C. D. (2011). *Ain't no fathers in the hood: constraint and confinement of black fatherhood in the contemporary united states* (Masters thesis). Retrieved from www.wesscholar.wesleyan.edu
- Revised Kansas Code for Care of Children, art. 22 §§ 38-2266 38-2271 (2014).
- Rich, J. D., Wakeman, S. E., & Dickman, S. L. (2011, June). Medicine and the epidemic

of incarceration in the united states. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *364*(22), 2081-2083. doi:10.1056/NEJMp1102385

- Richards, L. (2015). *Handling qualitative data: A practical guide* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Richter, L., Desmond, C., Hosegood, V., Madhavan, S., Makiwane, M., Makusha, T., ... Swartz, S. (2012, September). *ID 322 fathers and other men in the lives of children and families*. Retrieved from www.carnegie3.org.za
- Rickets, E. (1989). The origin of black female-headed families. Focus, 12, 32-35.
- Ritchie, J., Lewis, J., Nicholls, C. M., & Ormston, R. (2014). *Qualitative research practice: A guide for social science students and researchers* (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Ritzer, G. (2007, September). Phenomenology. *Encyclopedia of Social Theory*, 558-563. doi:10.4135/9781412952552
- Roberts, D., Coakley, T. M., Washington, T. J., & Kelley, A. (2014, January-March).
 Fathers' perspectives on supports and barriers that affect their fatherhood role. *Sage Open*, 4, 1-10. doi:10.1177/2158244014521818
- Roberts, P. (2001). An ounce of prevention and a pound of cure: Developing state policy on the payment of child support arrears by low-income parents. Washington, DC: Center for Law and Social Policy. Retrieved from http://www.policyarchive.org/handle/10207/13717
- Roberts, R., Goddard, J., Graves, K., & Williams, T. (2013). *Kansas department of corrections: Annual report fiscal year 2013*. Retrieved from www.doc.ks.gov

- Rocha, A. E. (2014). *The successful reintegration from prison to community experienced by men of color* (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from www.scholarworks.csustan.edu
- Rodriguez, J. P. (Ed.). (2007). *Slavery in the united states: A social political, and historical encyclopedia*. Santa Barbara, CA: ABC-CLIO.
- Roettger, M. E., & Swisher, R. R. (2011). Associations of fathers' history of incarceration with sons' delinquency and arrest among black, white, and Hispanic males in the United States. *Criminology*, 49, 1109-1147. doi:10.1111/j.1745-9125.2011.00253.x
- Rolfe, G. (2006). Validity, trustworthiness and rigour: quality and the idea of qualitative research. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, *53*(3), 304-310.
 doi:10.1111/j.1365-2648.2006.03727.x
- Roth, M. P. (2011). *Crime and punishment: A history of the criminal justice system* (2nd ed.). Belmont, CA: Wadsworth.
- Roy, K. M. (2004, Fall). You can't eat love: Constructing provider role expectations for low-income and working-class fathers. *Fathering*, 2(3), 1-21.

doi:10.3149/fth.0203.253

- Roy, K. M. (2006, January). Father stories: A life course examination of paternal identity among low-income African American men. *Journal of Family Issues*, 27(1), 31-54. doi:10.1177/0192513X05275432
- Roy, K. M., & Dyson, O. (2010). Making daddies into fathers: Community-based fatherhood programs and the construction of masculinities for low-income

African American men. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 45(1-2), 139-154. doi:10.1007/s10464-009-9282-4

- Roy, W. (2004, June). "Race records" and "hillbilly music": Institutional origins of racial categories in the American commercial recording industry. *Poetics*, *32*, 265-279. doi:10.1016/j.poetic.2004.06.001
- Rubin, G. (1975). The traffic in women: Notes on the "political economy" of sex. In R.R. Reiter (Ed.), *Toward an anthropology of women* (pp. 157-210). New York, NY: Monthly Review.
- Rubin, H. J., & Rubin, I. S. (2012). *Qualitative interviewing: The art of hearing data* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Rudestam, K. E., & Newton, R. R. (2015). *Surviving your dissertation: A comprehensive guide to content and process* (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Rupprecht, P. M. (2011). "Sometimes I feel like I'd do this job for free." A phenomenological study exploring public relations practitioners' beliefs about immensely satisfying work (Doctoral dissertation, University of Nebraska-Lincoln). Retrieved from http://digitalcommons.unl.edu
- Russell, M. L., Moralejo, D. G., & Burgess, E. D. (2000). Paying research subjects: Participants' perspectives. *Journal of Medical Ethics*, 26, 126-130. doi:10.1136/jme.26.2.126
- Sachs, H. (2000, June). Support services for incarcerated and released noncustodial parents. Retrieved from http://eric.ed.gov

Scannapieco, M., & Jackson, S. (1996). Kinship care: The african American response to

family preservation. Social Work, 41(2), 190-196. doi:10.1093/sw/41.2.190

- Schindler, H. S., & Coley, R. L. (2007, January). A qualitative study of homeless fathers:
 Exploring parenting and gender role transitions. *Family Relations*, 56(1), 40-51.
 doi:10.1111/j.1741-3729.2007.00438.x
- Schirmer, S., Nellis, A., & Mauer, M. (2009, February). Incarcerated parents and their children: Trends 1991-2007. *The Sentencing Project*. Retrieved from www.sentencingproject.org
- Schneider, M. L. (2010, Spring). From criminal confinement to social confinement: Helping ex-offenders obtain public housing with a certificate or rehabilitation. *New England Journal on Criminal & Civic Confinement*, *36*(2), 335-358.
 Retrieved from http://offerofproof.net/wpcontent/uploads/Volumes/Volume%2036/36.2/36-2.6-Note-Schneider.pdf
- Schneider, P. D. (2002). Criminal convictions, incarceration, and child welfare: Exoffenders lose their children. In A. E. Hirsch, S. M. Dietrich, R. Landau, P. D.
 Schneider, I. Ackelsberg, J. Bernstein-Baker, & J. Hohenstein (Eds.), *Every door closed: Barriers facing parents with criminal records* (pp. 56-86). Washington, DC: Center for Law and Social Policy.
- Schwandt, T. A., & Halpern, E. S. (Eds.). (1988). Constructing an audit trail. *Linking auditing and metaevaluation*. doi:10.4135/9781412984768
- Schwartz-Soicher, O., Geller, A., & Garfinkel, I. (2011, September). The effect of paternal incarceration on material hardship. *Social Service Review*, 85(3), 447-473. doi:10.1086/661925

Scott-Hayward, C. S. (2011, Fall). The failure of parole: Rethinking the role of the state in reentry. *New Mexico Law Review*, 41, 421-465. Retrieved from http://lawlibrary.unm.edu

Sears, J. M. (2001, May). The payment of research subjects: Ethical Concerns. Oncology Nursing Forum, 28(4), 657-663. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/publication/11956162

Seidman, I. (2013). *Interviewing as qualitative research: A guide for researchers in education & the social sciences* (4th ed.). New York, NY: Teachers College.

Seiler, C. (2006, December). "So that we as a race might have something authentic to travel by": African American automobility and cold-war liberalism. American Quarterly, 58(4), 1091-1117. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/40068407

- Shapiro, C. (1999, December). Integrating family- Focused interventions into the criminal justice system. *Vera Institute of Justice*. Retrieved from https://www.vera.org/publications/integrating-family-focused-interventions-intothe-criminal-justice-system
- Shenton, A. K. (2004, January). Strategies for ensuring trustworthiness in qualitative research projects. *Education for Information*, 22(2), 63-75. doi:10.3233/EFI-2004-22201
- Sheris, J. (2011). *The lived experiences of nonresidential fathers in the coparenting relationship* (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from http://media.proquest.com

Ex-offenders reentering the workforce. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, *54*(4), 466-473. doi:10.1037/0022-0167.54.4.466

- Shoben Jr, E. J. (1949). The assessment of parental attitudes in relation to child adjustment. *Genetic Psychology Monographs*, 39, 101-148. Retrieved from http://psycnet.apa.org/psycinfo/1949-03511-001
- Shoichet, C. E. (2014, August, 13). Missouri teen shot by police was two days away from starting college. Retrieved from www.cnn.com
- Sigler, J. A. (1998). *Civil rights in America 1500 to the present*. Detroit, MI: Gale Research.
- Slatton, B. C., & Spates, K. (2014). *Hyper sexual, hyper masculine?: Gender, race and sexuality in the identities of contemporary black men.* Burlington, VT: Ashgate.
- Slomka, J., McCurdy, S., Ratliff, E. A., Timpson, S., & Williams, M. L. (2007).
 Perceptions of financial payment for research participation among African
 American drug users in HIV studies. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 22(10), 1403-1409. doi:10.1007/s11606-007-0319-9
- Smedley, A. (1998, September). "Race" and the construction of human identity. American Anthropologist, 100(3), 690-702. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/682047

Smetana, J. G., Metzger, A., & Campione-Barr, N. (2004). African American late adolescents' relationships with parents: Developmental transitions and longitudinal patterns. *Child Development*, 75, 932-947. doi:10.1111/j.1467-8624.2004.00715.x

- Smith, J. A., Flowers, P., & Larkin, M. (2009). Interpretative phenomenological analysis. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Smith, J. K. (1984). The problem of criteria for judging interpretive inquiry. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, 6(4), 379-391. doi:10.3102/01623737006004379

Smithsonian National Museum of American History (2015). *Separate is not equal: Brown v. board of education.* Retrieved from www.americanhistory.si.edu

- Snyder, C., Van Wormer, K., Chadha, J., & Jaggers, J. W. (2009, April). Older adult inmates: The challenge for social work. *Social Work*, 54(2). doi:10.1093/sw/54.2.117
- Solomon, A. L., Kachnowski, V., & Bhati, A. (2005, March). Does parole work? Analyzing the impact of postprison supervision on rearrest outcomes. Retrieved from http://webarchive.urban.org/publications/311156.html
- Solomon-Fears, C. (2009). *Child support enforcement and ex-offenders* (R40499). Retrieved from http://greenbook.waysandmeans.house.gov/.
- Somekh, B., & Lewin, C. (2011). *Theory and methods in social research* (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Sorensen, E., & Zibman, C. (2000, January). *To what extent do children benefit from child support?* Urban Institute, Assessing the New Federalism. Retrieved from http://www.urban.org/research/publication/what-extent-do-children-benefit-childsupport
- Spaulding, A. C., Seals, R. M., McCallum, V. A., Perez, S. D., Brzozowski, A. K., & Steenland, N. K. (2011, January). Prisoner survival inside and outside of the

institution: Implications for health-care planning. American Journal of

Epidemiology, 173(5), 479-487. doi:10.1093/aje/kwq422

- Spooner, L. (1997). The unconstitutionality of slavery. *Pacific Law Journal*, 28, 1015-1157.
- Sturges, J. E., & Hanrahan, K. J. (2004). Comparing telephone and face-to-face qualitative interviewing: A research note. *Qualitative Research*, 4(1), 107-118. doi:10.1177/1468794104041110
- Summers, J. A., Boller, K., Schiffman, R. F., & Raikes, H. H. (2006, April-September).
 The meaning of "good fatherhood:" Low-income fathers' social constructions of their roles. *Parenting: Science and Practice*, 6(2), 145-165.
 doi:10.1080/15295192.2006.9681303
- Swaine, J. (2015, April 13). Walter Scott shooting: Officer laughs about adrenaline rush in recording. Retrieved from www.theguardian.com
- Taylor, K. M. (2014). Identity and African American men: Exploring the content of our characterization. Lanham, MD: Lexington Books.
- Taylor, Y. (2005). Growing up in slavery: Stories of young slaves as told by themselves.Chicago, IL: Lawrence Hill Books.

Texas v. Inclusive Communities Project, 576/2 S. Ct 1 (2015).

- Thatcher, M. (1990, January 17). The George Thomas society lecture at national children's home. Retrieved from http://www.margaretthatcher.org
- The NY Public Library Digital Collections. (2015). *The Negro Motorist Green Book* [1936-1967]. Retrieved from http://digitalcollections.nypl.org

- The National Academies Press. (2009). On being a scientist: A guide to responsible conduct in research (3rd ed.). Washington, DC: The National Academies Press.
- The National Association of Social Workers. (2010). *Code of Ethics*. Retrieved from http://www.naswdc.org/pubs/code/code.asp
- The Sentencing Project (2015). The sentencing project: Research advocacy for reform. Retrieved from www.sentencingproject.org
- Thomas, A. J., Blackmon, S., Speight, S. L., Hewitt, A., Witherspoon, K. M., & Selders, M. (2013). Factor analysis of the parent experience of racial socialization scale. *Journal of Black Psychology*, XX(X), 1-12. doi:10.1177/0095798413483558
- Thompson, A. C. (2004, March 1). Navigating the hidden obstacles to ex-offender reentry. *Boston College Law Review*, 45(2), 255-306. Retrieved from http://lawdigitalcommons.bc.edu
- Threlfall, J. M., Seay, K. D., & Kohl, P. L. (2013, January). The parenting role of African American fathers in the context of urban poverty. *Journal of Child Poverty*, 19(1), 45-61. doi:10.1080/10796126.2013.764846
- Tinker, C., & Armstrong, N. (2008, March). From the outside looking in: How an awareness of difference can benefit the qualitative research process. *The Qualitative Report*, 13(1), 53-60. Retrieved from http://hdl.handle.net/2381/8415
- Toma, J. (2011). Approaching rigor in applied qualitative research. In C. Conrad, & R.
 Serlin (Eds.), *The sage handbook for research in education: Pursuing ideas as the keystone of exemplary inquiry* (2nd ed., pp. 263-281). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Tornello, S. L., Farr, R. H., & Patterson, C. J. (2011). Predictors of parenting stress

among gay adoptive fathers in the united states. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 1-10. doi:10.1037/a0024480

- Travis III, L. F., & Stacey, J. (2010). A half century of parole rules: Conditions of parole in the united states, 2008. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, *38*, 604-608. doi:10.1016/j.jcrimjus.2010.04.032
- Travis, J., McBride, E. C., & Solomon, A. L. (2005, June). Families left behind: The hidden costs of incarceration and reentry. Retrieved from http://webarchive.urban.org/publications/310882.html
- Tripp, B. (2001). Incarcerated African American fathers: Exploring changes in family relationships and father identity. *Journal of African American Studies*, 6(1), 13-29. doi:10.1007/s12111-001-1011-5
- Turanovic, J. J., Rodriguez, N., & Pratt, T. C. (2012). The collateral consequences of incarceration revisited: A qualitative analysis of the effects on caregivers of children of incarcerated parents. *Criminology*, *50*(4), 913-959.
 doi: 10.1111/j.1745-9125.2012.00283.x
- Turetsky, V. (2007, March). Staying in jobs and out of the underground: Child support policies that encourage legitimate work. *Center for Law and Social Policy Child Support Series* (Policy Brief No. 2). Retrieved from http://www.clasp.org/resources-and-publication/files/0349.pdf
- Turney, K. (2014). Incarceration and social inequality: Challenges and directions for future research. *The ANNALS of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 651, 97-101. doi:10.1177/0002716213501273

- Turney, K., Lee, H., & Comfort, M. (2013, October). Discrimination and psychological distress among recent released male prisoners. *American Journal of Men's Health*, 7(6), 482-493. doi:10.1177/1557988313484056
- Turney, K., & Wildeman, C. (2013). Redefining relationships: Explaining the countervailing consequences of paternal incarceration for parenting. *American Sociological Review*, 78(6), 949-979. doi:10.1177/0003122413505589
- Turney, K., Wildeman, C., & Schnittker, J. (2012). As fathers and felons: Explaining the effects of current and recent incarceration on major depression. *Journal of Health* and Social Behavior, 53(4), 465-481. doi:10.1177/0022146512462400
- Tyler, K. M. (2014). *Identity and African American men*. Lanham, MD: Lexington Books.
- Uggen, C., Manza, J., & Thompson, M. (2006, May 4). Citizenship, democracy, and the civic reintegration of criminal offenders. *The ANNALS of the American Academy* of Political and Social Science, 605(281). doi:10.1177/0002716206286898
- Unnever, J. D. (2014). A theory of African American offending: A test of core propositions. *Race and Justice*, 1-26. doi:10.1177/2153368714531296
- Unnever, J. D., & Gabbidon, S. L. (2011). A theory of African American offending: Race, racism, and crime. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Useem, B., & Piehl, A. M. (2006). Prison buildup and disorder. *Punishment & Society*, 8(1), 87-115. doi:10.1177/1462474506059141
- Vagle, M. D. (2014). *Crafting phenomenological research*. Walnut Creek, CA: Left Coast.

- Van Manen, M. (1990). Researching lived experience: Human science for an action sensitive pedagogy. Albany, NY: SUNY.
- Van Manen, M. (2007). Phenomenology of practice. *Phenomenology & Practice*, 1(1), 11-30. Retrieved from http://www.maxvanmanen.com/files/2011/04/2007-Phenomenology-of-Practice.pdf
- Van Manen, M. (2014). *Phenomenology of practice: Meaning-giving methods in phenomenological research and writing*. Walnut Creek, CA: Left Coast.
- Varghese, F. P., Hardin, E. E., Bauer, R. L., & Morgan, R. D. (2010, October). Attitudes toward hiring offenders: The role of criminal history, job qualifications, and race. *International Journal of Offender Therapy and Comparative Criminology*, 54(5), 769-782. doi:10.1177/0306624X09344960
- Veneziano, R. A. (2003). The importance of paternal warmth. *Cross-Cultural Research*, *37*, 265-281. doi:10.1177/1069397103253710
- Vesneski, W. (2011, April). State law and the termination of parental rights. *Family Court Review*, 49(2), 364-378. doi:10.1111/j.1744-1617.2011.01377.x
- Visher, C. A., Bakken, N. W., & Gunter, W. D. (2013). Fatherhood, community reintegration, and successful outcomes. *Journal of Offender Rehabilitation*, 52(7), 451-469. doi:10.1080/10509674.2013.829899
- Visher, C. A., & O'Connell, D. J. (2012, June). Incarceration and inmates' selfperceptions about returning home. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, 40, 386-393. doi:10.1016/j.jcrimjus.2012.06.007

Visher, C. A., & Travis, J. (2011). Life on the outside: Returning home after

incarceration. The Prison Journal, 9(3), 102S-119S.

doi:10.1177/0032885511415228

- Visher, C. A., Winterfield, L., & Coggeshall, M. B. (2005). Ex-offender employment programs and recidivism: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Experimental Criminology*, *1*, 295-315. doi:10.1007/s11292-005-8127-x
- Vogt, D. S., King, D. W., & King, L. A. (2004). Focus groups in psychological assessment: Enhancing content validity by consulting members of the target population. *Psychological Assessment*, 16(3), 231-243. doi:10.1037/1040-3590.16.3.231
- Wakeman, S. E., McKinney, M. E., & Rich, J. D. (2009). Filling the gap: The importance of medicaid continuity for former inmates. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 24(7), 860-862. doi:10.1007/s11606-009-0977-x
- Wakefield, S., & Uggen, C. (2010). Incarceration and stratification. *The Annual Review of Sociology*, 36: 37-406. doi:10.1146/annurev.soc.012809.102551
- Walker, A., Hempel, L., Unnithan, N. P., & Pogrebin, M. R. (2014). Parole reentry and social capital: The centrality of homelessness. *Journal of Poverty*, 18: 315-334. doi:10.1080/10875549.2014.923962
- Wall, G., & Arnold, S. (2007, August). How involved is involved fathering? An exploration of the contemporary culture of fatherhood. *Gender & Society*, 21(4), 508-527. doi:10.1177/0891243207304973
- Warren, R. K. (2007, August). Evidence-based practice to reduce recidivism:Implications for state judiciaries. U.S. Department of Justice, National Institute of

Corrections. Retrieved from http://static.nicic.gov

- Wattchow, B. (2004). Lived-experience in outdoor education: Explorations for the educational practitioner/researcher. *International Outdoor Education Research Conference*. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/publication/238702559
- Weingus, L. (2014, November 5). Students ask not to be called African-American, teacher allegedly calls them n-word. *Huffington Post*. Retrieved from www.huffingtonpost.com
- Weiner-Levy, N. (2009). When the hegemony studies the minority- An Israeli Jewish researcher studies Druze women: Transformations of power, alienation, and affinity in the field. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 15(4), 721-739. doi:10.1177/1077800408330343
- Weingus, L. (2014, November 5). Students ask not to be called African-American, teacher allegedly calls them n-word. *Huffington Post*. Retrieved from www.huffingtonpost.com
- Weitzman, E. A. (2000). Software and qualitative research. In N. K. Denzin, & Y. S.Lincoln (Eds.), *Handbook of qualitative research* (2nd ed., pp. 803-820).Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Welch, K. (2007, August). Black criminal stereotypes and racial profiling. *Journal of Contemporary Criminal Justice*, 23(3), 276-288. doi:10.1177/1043986207306870
- Werth, R. (2011). I do what I'm told, sort of: Reformed subjects, unruly citizens, and parole. *Theoretical Criminology*, *16*(3), 329-346. doi:10.1177/1362480611410775

Western, B. (2006). Punishment and inequality. New York, NY: Russell-Sage.

- Western, B., & Wildeman, C. (2009, December). The black family and mass incarceration. *The ANNALS of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 621, 221-242. doi:10.1177/0002716208324850
- Wheeler, D. P., & Patterson, G. (2008, May). Prisoner reentry. *Health & Social Work*, 33(2), 145-147. Retrieved from https://www.questia.com/library/journal/1G1-179158817/prisoner-reentry
- Whelan, R. W. (1954, November/December). An experiment in predicting delinquency. Journal of Criminal Law, Criminology & Police Science, 45(4), 432-441. doi:10.2307/1140014
- Whelan, T. J. (2007, October). Anonymity and confidentiality: Do survey respondents know the difference? Retrieved from http://www4.ncsu.edu/~tjwhelan/SSSP07 Whelan.pdf
- White, C. (2006, Summer). Federally mandated destruction of the black family: The adoption and safe families. *Northwestern Journal of Law & Social Policy*, 1(1), 303-337. Retrieved from http://scholarlycommons.law.northwestern.edu
- Whiting, L. S. (2008, February). Semi-structured interviews: Guidance for novice researchers. *Nursing Standard*, 22(23), 35-40. doi:10.7748/ns2008.02.22.23.35.c6420
- Whittemore, R., Chase, S. K., & Mandle, C. L. (2001, July). Validity in qualitative research. *Qualitative Health Research*, 11(4), 522-537. doi:10.1177/104973201129119299

Wildeman, C. (2014). Parental incarceration, child homelessness, and the invisible

consequences of mass imprisonment. *The ANNALS of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 651(1), 74-96.

Wildeman, C., & Western, B. (2010, Fall). Incarceration in fragile families. *The Future of Children*, 20(2), 157-177. doi:10.1353/foc.2010.0006

Wiles, R., Crow, G., Heath, S., & Charles, V. (2006, July). Anonymity and confidentiality. NCRM Working Paper. (Unpublished). Retrieved from http://eprints.ncrm.ac.uk/423/

- Wiles, R., Crow, G., Heath, S., & Charles, V. (2008). The management of confidentiality and anonymity in social research. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 11(5), 417-428. doi:10.1080/13645570701622231
- Wilkinson, D. L., Magora, A., Garcia, M., & Khurana, A. (2009, March 17). Fathering at the margins of society: Reflections from young, minority, crime-involved fathers. *Journal of Familiy Issues*, 30(7), 945-967. doi:10.1177/0192513X09332354
- Williams, A. F., Moffatt, C. J., & Franks, P. J. (2004). A phenomenological study of the lived experiences of people with lymphoedema. *International Journal of Palliative Nursing*, 10(6), 279-286. doi:10.12968/ijpn.2004.10.6.13270
- Williams, D. R., & Williams-Morris, R. (2000). Racism and mental health: the African American experience. *Ethnicity & Health*, 5(3/4), 243-268.
 doi:10.1080/13557850020000935
- Wilson, W. J. (2011). Being poor, black, and american: The impact of political, economic, and cultural forces. *American Educator*, 35(1), 10-23, 46. Retrieved from http://www.aft.org/sites/default/files/periodicals/Wilson.pdf

- Wilson, W. J. (2012). The truly disadvantaged: The inner city, the underclass, and public policy (2nd ed.). Chicago, IL: The University of Chicago.
- Woldoff, R. A., & Washington, H. M. (2008). Arrested contact: The criminal justice system, race, and father engagement. *The Prison Journal*, 88(2), 179-206. doi:10.1177/0032885508319154
- Wolff, N., Blitz, C. L., Shi, J., Bachman, R., & Siegel, J. A. (2006). Sexual violence inside prisons: Rates of victimization. *Journal of Urban Health: Bulletin of the New York Academy of Medicine*, 83(5), 835-848. doi:10.1007/s11524-006-9065-2
- Wolff, N., & Shi, J. (2009, January). Contextualization of physical and sexual assault in male prisons: incidents and their aftermath. *Journal of Correctional Health Care*, *15*(1), 58-82. doi:10.1177/1078345808326622
- Wormith, J. S. (1986, August). *The effects of incarceration: Myth-busting in criminal justice*. Paper presented at the 94th Annual Convention of the American Psychological Association, Washington, DC.
- Wronka, J. (2008). *Human rights and social justice: Social action and service for the helping and health profession*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Yahner, J., Visher, C., & Solomon, A. (2008, July). Returning home on parole: Former prisoners' experiences in Illinois, Ohio, and Texas. Retrieved from http://www.urban.org/research/publication/returning-home-parole-formerprisoners-experiences-illinois-ohio-and-texas
- Yang, S., Kadouri, A., Revah-Levy, A., Mulvey, E. P., & Falissard, B. (2009). Doing time: A qualitative study of long-term incarceration and the impact of mental

illness. International Journal of Law and Psychiatry, 32, 294-303.

doi:10.1016/j.ijlp.2009.06.003

- Yeung, W. J., Sandberg, J. F., Davis-Kean, P. E., & Hofferth, S. L. (2001, February).
 Children's time with fathers in intact families. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 63, 136-154. doi:10.1111/j.1741-3737.2001.00136.x
- Zahavi, D. (2003). Husserl's phenomenology. Stanford, CA: Stanford University.
- Zhang, S., & Fuller, T. (2012, July). Neighborhood disorder and paternal involvement of nonresident and resident fathers. *Family Relations*, 61, 501-513. doi:10.1111/j.1741-3729.2012.00705.x

Appendix A: Research Announcement Flyer

FORMERLY INCARCERATED AFRICAN AMERCAN FATHERS INVITED TO PARTICIPATE IN RESEARCH

Study focused on learning the meaning formerly incarcerated African American fathers give to the experience of parenting.

Who can participate?

African American fathers 28 thru 50 years of age who meet the following:

- Released within the last 6-12 months; incarceration lasting at least 3 years
- Currently under community supervision as a result of mandatory release
- Day reporting requirements as a condition of community supervision
- Father to a child above 3 years and less than 17 years living outside your home
- Lives within the Kansas City metropolitan area or no more than 25 miles outside

How you can participate?

- Complete in-person interviews with researcher lasting 60-90 minutes
- Assist researcher in verifying the accuracy of the information you share

What are the risks?

By participating you will be asked to share personal information such as stories talking about your thoughts and feelings that may make you uncomfortable.

Why participate?

This is an opportunity to let your voice be heard. Your experience and views can be used to influence the work of social service organizations, and create new ways to support African American fathers seeking to reunite with their children after an incarceration.

To learn more or request to participate contact the researcher Sherece Shavel at [redacted] OR [redacted]

This research is being conducted under the direction of Dr. Andrew S. Garland-Forshee, School of Social Work and Human Services, and has been reviewed and approved by the Walden University Institutional Review Board.

359

Appendix B: Participant Eligibility Form

ELIGIBILITY TO PARTICPATE IN RESEARCH

The purpose of this form is to identify and confirm your ability to be invited to participate in a research study that will examine the experience of parenting for fathers under post release supervision following an incarceration. Please answer the following questions below.

Date	Race/Ethnicity	Gender: Male \Box Female \Box
Name		State of Residence
Did you experience in	carceration during the past	6 to 12 months? Yes \Box No \Box
-	l for a period totaling at lea	st 3 years? Yes □ No □
Are you currently serv	ving under mandatory comm	nunity supervision? Yes \Box No \Box
	required to meet day report unity supervision? Yes \Box	ting requirements as a condition of post No □
Do you currently live Metropolitan area?		hin 25 miles of the Kansas City
• •	e at least 1 minor child over t live? Yes □ No □	3 years and less than 17 years of age
If yes, are you	a legal custodian of the min	nor child? Yes \Box No \Box
Are you between 28 a	nd 50 years of age? Yes \square	$No \square$
I certify that the inform	mation contained within thi	s document is true and correct.
Signature / Date		

Researcher Initials

Not Eligible □

Appendix C: Participant Information Sheet

Please answer the following questions.

1. Date of birth. _____

2.	County/State of residence.
3.	What is the highest grade level completed.
4.	 How many children do you have? a. How many of them are female? b. How many of them are male?
5.	What is your custodial status for each child described above?

- 6. How often do you see your child/children described above? (please be specific for each child)
- 7. Describe the relationship you have with the mother of your child/children. (please be specific if more than one mother is involved)

8. Do you take responsibility for any child that is not biologically your child?

- a. If yes, please provide details regarding this situation.
- 9. Are you currently employed? _____
 - a. Briefly describe your job title/work assignment.
- 10. What was the length of your most recent incarceration?
 - b. Briefly state the nature of your conviction.
 - c. Briefly describe the conditions of your supervision.

Appendix D: Safety Protocol

The following protocol outlines action steps to be considered and practiced by the researcher during points of participant contact in effort to minimize risks to personal well-being.

Ahead of Participant Contact

- Know and learn where you are going. Have a working understanding of the research site and its surrounding area (i.e. highways, major roads, gas station, hospital, police station, etc.). Outline alternative routes to and from the research site.
- All activity will be conducted in a public location.
- Prepare to carry a charged cell phone programmed to call for assistance in the event of an emergency (i.e. 911).
- All activity will be conducted in a public location.
- Identify someone to inform of interview schedule (i.e. dates, start and end times, location, etc.) including dissertation chairperson.

Participant Contact - Recruitment & Interview

- Dress appropriately for the setting to prevent being a distraction or prompting negative responses.
- Arrive at least 15 minutes early to the research site.
- Use caution when parking. Seek to park in a well-lighted highly visible space that is as close to the research site entrance as possible.
- Keep all private and personal valuables away from the research site (i.e. trunk of car, etc.) to avoid loss, damage, or theft.
- Identify self to research site staff each time you arrive to verify meeting space and provide an anticipated end time for use of space.
- Be aware of surroundings including safety threats or risks both present and possible.
- Know where and how to access safety aids and exits.
- Attend to all needs prior to the start of the interview (i.e. bathroom, smoking, etc.). Encourage participants to do the same.
- Maintain direct unrestricted access to identified exits in case of emergency. Check to make sure exit doors do not lock automatically when closed.
- Be aware of and maintain appropriate boundaries to support the researcherparticipant exchange.
- Pay attention to the verbal and non-verbal cues of participants that may signify distress, irritation, or a heightened sense of anxiety.
- The researcher will not prolong contact, maintain contact, or exit with research participants following the conclusion of a meeting.
- Remain in meeting space until interview has ended and the participant has departed.

Notify research site staff of your departure and that the meeting space has been vacated.

Participant Contact – Interview

- Interviews will not exceed 2 hours.
- Discuss limits with participant including confidentiality, termination, and interview schedule.
- Remain calm and reiterate boundaries of the relationship when necessary.

Subsequent to Participant Contact

- Notify appointed individual including dissertation chairperson of the completion of interview, upon safe departure from the research site, and return home.
- Debriefing of interviews will be completed with dissertation chairperson.
- Know the signs of burnout and when recognized extend efforts to rid or mange.
- Rest breaks to avoid physical, mental, and emotional strain will be scheduled as needed.
- Counseling will be sought if any information from interview proves harmful.
- In the event of a personal attack or emergency notify the local police authority and the dissertation chairperson.

Appendix E: Interview Protocol

- > Arrange meeting space for a safe and productive interview.
- > Check digital recorder for any technical concerns.

Opening & Pre-brief

Thank you for accepting the opportunity to participate in my research study that involves in-person interviewing. The reason for this study is to learn the real meaning of the parenting experience for African American fathers following an incarceration. I will ask you a series of questions I think will take 60-90 minutes to complete. The information I collect during this interview will be made available to you for review, correction, or explanation. A copy of the transcript for this interview will be given to you using your preferred method of receipt.

Before we can begin, it is important that we review the details of consent so that you are clear about what you are being asked to do. [Review informed consent with participant] Before you leave I will provide you with a list of community resources you may use as necessary after the interview. Do you have any questions for me at this time?

Part of my research is to collect basic demographic information from each participant. Before beginning the actual interview, please take a few minutes to answer the questions listed on the Participant Information Sheet. [Provide copy of the Participant Information Sheet] Do you have any questions for me at this time?

Thank you for taking the time to complete the Participant Information Sheet. At this time, I would like to start the interviewing process. The interview is expected to take the next 60-90 minutes to complete. Our meeting will be recorded and tracked using an audio recording device to note all information shared during this time. In the event you become uncomfortable, prefer not to answer a question, or desire to terminate the interview please let me know. I want to be sure that the questions asked are clearly communicated so if you do not understand a question, please let me know and I will do my best to re-ask the question. Remember, your identity will be kept confidential in the reporting of this interview. Are you ready to begin?

Main I: Identity and Role

We are meeting here today so that I may learn from your experiences as an African American father under mandatory supervision. I would like to start our discussion by learning more about who you are and how you see yourself. Usually that is based on an image or picture we have about ourselves in our mind. And this may be different from how others see you.

1. Please describe how you view yourself as an African American man.

- 2. Please describe what it means to be an African American father under community supervision?
 - a. How did incarceration affect your thinking and feeling about being a father?
 - b. How did returning to the community affect your thinking and feeling about being a father?
 - c. To what extent do you discuss being a father with others?
 - d. With whom do you have these conversations?
 - e. How do these conversations come up?
 - f. How do the conversations make you feel?
- 3. Please describe some of the thoughts and feelings you learned people have about you as an African American father under community supervision.
 - a. Describe how you think and feel about these thoughts.
 - b. Describe what you say and do when you believe people are having these thoughts and feelings.

Main II: Reintegration

Now I would like to learn more about what you do as a father. The questions I will ask are about your return to the community and interactions with your child since your return.

- 1. Please tell me about your recent experience of being released back to the community.
 - a. What were your immediate thoughts and feelings?
 - b. What were your immediate concerns?
 - c. How did you prepare for your return into the community?
 - d. What did you think and feel about your ability to return successfully?
- 2. Please tell me about your experience seeing your child(ren) for the first time after your release.
 - a. What did you say and do during this time?
 - b. What thoughts and feelings did you have during this time?
 - c. How does your relationship with your child(ren) mother effect your relationship with your child?
- 3. Please describe how you manage your responsibilities of community supervision and being a father every day.
 - a. Describe what is a "typical" day for you.
 - b. Describe what it means to spend quality time with your child(ren).
 - c. What has been your biggest obstacle since returning home?
 - d. How comfortable are you in discussing the obstacles faced with other people?

The decisions that a father makes are mostly about what he can do, want to do, and need to do for his child(ren).

- 4. Please describe how you think and feel about your ability to raise your child(ren) since returning to the community?
 - a. How does community supervision effect your ability to raise your child(ren)?
 - b. How much time do you spend each week carrying out your responsibilities as a father?
- 5. Please describe what motivates you as an African American father while under community supervision.
 - a. What causes that motivation to change?
- 6. Please describe what you believe is unique about your experience as an African American father under community supervision.
- 7. Since returning to the community, please describe any life lessons that support your ability to be a father.
 - a. Describe any lessons learned about yourself from your child(ren) during your interactions?
 - b. What advice would you give to an African American father just being released?

Debrief & Closing

We are coming to the end of our interview meeting.

- 1. Please describe what has been your biggest accomplishment as a father since your return.
- 2. Please describe any thoughts you have about the interview experience.
 - a. How comfortable did you feel in answering the questions asked?
 - b. Are there any questions you would like to ask me?

Thank you for taking out the time to complete this interview. You may contact me directly by phone at [redacted] or by email using the address [redacted] with your questions or concerns.

- Remind participant of the limits of confidentiality.
- Review and provide an outline of community resources.
- Discuss next steps and researcher contact.
- Bid participant farewell.
- > Check digital recorder to assure full interview interaction was documented.
- Complete post-interview note-taking activities.